Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment

Of the

Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

Prepared By



Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Indian Program Branch, Program Support Division Western Region Office – Denver, Colorado

March 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LI	ST OI	F FIGURES	6
LI	ST OI	F TABLES	7
LI	ST OI	F APPENDICES	8
LI	ST OF	FACRONYMS	9
1	INTI	RODUCTION	.10
1	.1 R	egulatory Environment	12
	1.1.1	CHIA Revision Rationale	13
	1.1.2	Cumulative Impact Area	13
	1.1.3	Material Damage to the Hydrologic Balance	13
	1.1.4	Material Damage Criteria	14
1	.2 B	ackground	14
	1.2.1	Climate	15
	1.2.2	Regional Geology	15
2	DEL	INEATION OF CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA	.22
2	.1 S	urface Water Cumulative Impact Area	22
	2.1.1	Cumulative Surface Water Impact Potential	22
	2.1.2	Impact Potential to the San Juan River	26
	2.1.3	Impact Potential to the Chaco River	30
	2.1.4	Surface Water Impact Area	31
2	.2 G	round Water Cumulative Impact Area	32
	2.2.1	Ground Water Impact Area	32
3	WAT	TER RESOURCE USES AND DESIGNATIONS	.36
3	.1 D	irect Human Use	36
3	.2 In	dustrial Supply Water	
3	.3 Ir	rigation Supply Water	38
3	.4 Li	ivestock Supply Water	. 39
3	.5 A	quatic and Wildlife Habitat Water Supply	.40
4	BASI	ELINE HYDROLOGIC CONDITIONS	.44
4	.1 Su	urface Water	44
	4.1.1	Surface Water Regulatory Requirements	.44
	4.1.2	Surface Water Regime	.45
	4.1.3	El Segundo Mine	.45
	4.1.4	Morgan Lake	.46

4.1	.5	Chaco River	48
4	4.1.5.1	Surface Water Quantity	48
2	4.1.5.2	Surface Water Quality	48
	4.1.5	5.2.1 Methodology	48
	4.1.5	5.2.2 Analysis	50
4.1	.6	Historic Mining Area North of the Navajo and Pinabete Permit Areas	50
4.1	.7	Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas	50
Z	4.1.7.1	Surface Water Baseline Quantity	50
	4.1.7	7.1.1 Morgan Lake-Chaco River Watershed	54
	4.1.7	7.1.2 Chinde Wash Watershed	54
	4.1.7	7.1.3 Chinde Wash-Chaco River Watershed	54
	4.1.7	7.1.4 Coal Creek-Chaco River Watershed	55
8	4.1.7	7.1.5 Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed	55
4	4.1.7.2	Surface Water Baseline Quality	55
	4.1.7	7.2.1 Baseline with NAPI	56
	4.	1.7.2.1.1 Chinde Wash	56
	4.	1.7.2.1.2 Cottonwood Arroyo	57
	4.1.7	7.2.2 Baseline without NAPI	58
4.2	Grou	Ind Water	59
4.2	.1	Ground Water Regulatory Requirements	59
4.2	.2	Chaco River Alluvium	59
4.2	.3	Historic Mining Area North of Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas	60
4.2	.4	Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas	62
4	1.2.4.1	Alluvial Baseline Quantity	62
4	1.2.4.2	Alluvial Baseline Quality	63
4	1.2.4.3	Fruitland Formation Baseline Quantity	64
4	1.2.4.4	Fruitland Formation Baseline Quality	65
4	1.2.4.5	Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Aquifer Baseline Quantity	66
4	4.2.4.6	Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Aquifer Baseline Quality	67
5 HY	YDR	OLOGIC IMPACT ASSESSMENTS	70
5.1	Mini	mization of Impact	70
5.2	Mon	itoring Program	70
5	5.2.1.1	Monitoring Program Updates	71
5.3	Impa	act Assessment	73
5.3.	.1	Potential Cumulative Impact between NTEC operations and El Segundo Mine	76
5.3.	.2	Potential Impact of NTEC operations on NAPI	76

5.3.3	Potential Impact of NTEC Operations on Morgan Lake and APS	76
5.3.4	Chaco River	77
5.3.4.	1 Surface Water Quantity	77
5.3.4.2	2 Surface Water Quality	78
5.3.4.3	3 Chaco River Alluvium	79
5.3.5	Historic Mining Area North of the NTEC Permit Areas	
5.3.5.1	1 Surface Water	
5.3.5.2	2 Alluvium	
5.3.5.3	3 Fruitland Formation and PCS	81
5.3.	5.3.1 CCB Disposal	
5.3.6	Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas	
5.3.6.1	1 Surface Water Quantity	85
5.3.	6.1.1 Morgan Lake-Chaco River Watershed	
5.3.	6.1.2 Chinde Wash Watershed	
5.3.	6.1.3 Chinde-Chaco River Watershed	87
5.3.	6.1.4 Coal Creek-Chaco River Watershed	
5.3.	6.1.5 Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed	90
5.3.6.2	2 Surface Water Quality	91
5.3.	6.2.1 Chinde Wash	
5.3.	6.2.2 Cottonwood Wash	93
5.3.7	Groundwater	
5.3.7.1	l Alluvium	
5.3.	7.1.1 Alluvial Quantity	94
5.3.	7.1.2 Alluvial Quality	96
5.	.3.7.1.2.1 Bighan Alluvium	96
5.	.3.7.1.2.2 Chinde Wash Alluvium	97
5.	.3.7.1.2.3 Cottonwood Arroyo Alluvium	
5.3.7.2	2 Fruitland Formation Quantity	
5.3.7.3	3 Fruitland Formation Quality	
5.3.7.4	Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Quantity	
5.3.7.5	5 Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Quality	
MATE	CRIAL DAMAGE	106
6.1 Cun	nulative Impact of NTEC Operations and El Segundo Mine	106
6.2 NTH	EC Operations Impact on NAPI	
6.3 NTH	EC Operations Impact to Morgan Lake and APS	106
6.4 Cha	co River	106

6

6	.5 Hist	oric Mining North of the Navajo Mine Permit	. 107
6	.6 Nav	ajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Area	. 107
	6.6.1	Material Damage Assessment	. 109
	6.6.1.1	Surface Water	. 109
	6.6.1.2	Alluvium	. 110
	6.6.1.3	Fruitland Formation and PCS	. 110
	6.6.2	Conclusion	. 110
7	WORF	AS CITED	111

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: NTEC Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas	17
Figure 2: Navajo Tribal Coal Lease Location Map	18
Figure 3: San Juan Basin Structural Geology	19
Figure 4: Navajo Tribal Coal Lease Area and Surrounding Area Stratigraphy	20
Figure 5: Surface Geology Map, NW New Mexico	21
Figure 6: Navajo Tribal Coal Lease Primary Drainages and HUC 12 Watersheds	23
Figure 7: Historical and Existing Coal Mining, San Juan Watershed	24
Figure 8: USGS Active and Historical Gaging Stations, San Juan Watershed	27
Figure 9: San Juan River Discharge and Mine Operational Period Comparison (1931-2010)	28
Figure 10: San Juan River TDS and Mine Operational Period Comparison (1957-2010)	29
Figure 11: Surface Water CIA and Non-NTEC Surface Water Impoundments	34
Figure 12: Groundwater CIA and Non-NTEC use Wells	35
Figure 13: Non-NTEC Surface Water Impoundments within the vicinity of the Navajo Tribal Coal Le	ease
	42
Figure 14: Select Tributary Irrigation Project Lands	43
Figure 15: PCS Potentiometric surface and Outcrop Location	47
Figure 16: Baseline Monthly Flow along the Chaco River	48
Figure 17: Surface Water Monitoring Locations	52
Figure 18: SEDCAD Modeled Sub-Drainages	53
Figure 19: Groundwater Monitoring Locations	61
Figure 20: No. 3 Coal Seam Potentiometric Surface	68
Figure 21: No. 8 Coal Seam Potentiometric Surface	69
Figure 22: Chinde Diversion and Monitoring Locations	74
Figure 23: Monthly Flow along the Chaco River	78
Figure 24: Custer Water Elevations	81
Figure 25: Approximate Pre-2008 Coal Combustion By-Product (CCB) Placement Area	84
Figure 26: Percentage of the Morgan Lake-Chaco River Watershed Managed by Impoundments	86
Figure 27: Percentage of the Chinde-Chaco River Watershed Managed by Impoundments	88
Figure 28: Percentage of the Coal Creek Watershed Managed by Impoundments	90
Figure 29: Percentage of the Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed Managed by Impoundments	91
Figure 30: Chinde and Bighan Alluvial Water Elevations	95
Figure 31: Chinde Alluvium Concentrations over Time	99
Figure 32: Post-Mining Potentiometric Surface in the PCS Aquifer (NTEC 2013)	105

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Area – Material Damage Summary 11
Table 2: Mining History in the San Juan Watershed 25
Table 3: Surface Water Criteria 49
Table 4: Chinde-Wash Chaco River Sub-Watershed Details
Table 5: Coal Creek Sub-Watershed Details 55
Table 6: Chinde Alluvium Monitoring Approach (BNCC 2012, MMCo. 2015) 73
Table 7: Impact Assessment and Designation Methodology 75
Table 8: Comparison of Pre-Mine and Post-Mine Peak Flows in the Chinde Wash Watershed (NTEC 2013) 87
Table 9: Comparison of Pre-Mine and Post-Mine Peak Flows in Chinde-Chaco River Watershed
Table 10: Comparison of Pre-Mine and Post-Mine Peak Flows in Chinde-Chaco River Watershed
Table 11: Comparison of Pre-mine and Post-Mine Peak Flows in the Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed (NTEC 2013)
Table 12: Material Damage Limits and Hydrologic Balance Thresholds
Table 13: Assessment of Material Damage for the Waters of the Navajo Mine 109

LIST OF APPENDICES

- Appendix A: USGS Data for the San Juan River
- Appendix B: Water Uses
- Appendix C: Navajo Mine Impoundments
- Appendix D: Surface Water Data Summary
- Appendix E: SEDCAD Modeling Reports
- Appendix F: Groundwater Data Summary
- Appendix G: Coal Combustion Byproducts Assessment
- Appendix H: Hydrologic Monitoring Program Enhancements Technical Memorandum

LIST OF ACRONYMS

~ ~ ~ ~ ~

%RSD	Percent Relative Standard Deviation
AOC	Approximate Original Contour
APS	Arizona Public Service
AST	Above-Ground Storage Tank
BIA	Bureau of Indian Affairs
BLM	Bureau of Land Management
BMP	Best Management Practice
BNCC	BHP Navajo Coal Company
CCB	Coal Combustion Byproduct
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CHIA	Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment
CIA	Cumulative Impact Area
CWA	Clean Water Act
FCPP	Four Corners Power Plant
HUC	Hydrologic Unit Code
LOM	Life-of-Mine
MAD	Median Absolute Deviation
MMCo.	BHP Mine Management Company
MSL	Mean Sea Level
NAPI	Navajo Agricultural Products Industry
NHD	National Hydrologic Database
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology
NMEMNRD	New Mexico Energy Minerals and Natural Resource Division
NNEPA	Navajo Nation Environmental Protection Agency
NTEC	Navajo Transitional Energy Company, LLC
NPDES	National Pollution Discharge Elimination System
OSMRE	Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement
PAP	Permit Application Package
PCS	Pictured Cliff Sandstone
PHC	Probable Hydrologic Consequences
SMCRA	Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977
TDS	Total Dissolved Solids
TOJ	Termination of Jurisdiction
TSS	Total Suspended Solids
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
USGS	United States Geological Survey
VWP	Vibrating Wire Piezometer

1 INTRODUCTION

The Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (OSMRE) is the regulatory authority for coal mining operations on Indian Lands under the Surface Mining Reclamation and Control Act of 1977 (SMCRA) (U.S. Congress, 1977). As such, OSMRE is responsible for the review and decisions on all permit applications to conduct surface coal mining operations within the boundaries of the Navajo Nation Reservation. On April 29, 2013, the Navajo Nation Council passed legislation to form Navajo Transitional Energy Company (NTEC), a Navajo Nation owned Limited Liability Company (LLC) organized under the Navajo Nation's Limited Liability Company Act. The Navajo Nation informed OSMRE that they are seeking to purchase all interests in BHP Navajo Coal Company (BNCC) from BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal, Inc. OSMRE has received and is reviewing a Permit Application Package (PAP) submitted by Navajo Transitional Energy Company (NTEC) to develop an approximately 5,600 acre new permit area to continue surface coal mining and reclamation operations post July 6, 2016 at the Navajo Mine (Navajo Tribal Coal Lease 14-20-603-2505). The new permit area, referred to as the Pinabete Permit (NM-0042A), consists of portions of the current Navajo mine permit area (NM-0003F) and unpermitted areas of NTEC's mining lease, located immediately south of the Navajo Mine permit area. NTEC's Navajo Mine and Pinabete permit areas are located on Navajo Nation lands and within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. By regulation, OSMRE must prepare a Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment (CHIA) for these permit areas. The CHIA determines whether the proposed operation has been designed to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area (30 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 780.21(g)).

A CHIA is an assessment of the probable hydrologic consequences (PHC) of the proposed operation and all anticipated coal mining upon surface and groundwater systems in the cumulative impact area (CIA). The PHC is prepared by the applicant, as required by 30 CFR § 780.21(f), and approved by the regulatory authority. Congress identified in SMCRA (U.S. Congress, 1977) that there is "a balance between protection of the environment and agricultural productivity and the Nation's need for coal as an essential source of energy" (SMCRA, 1977 Sec 102(f)). The hydrologic reclamation plan required by the rules at 30 CFR § 780.21(h) recognizes that disturbances to the hydrologic balance within the permit and adjacent area should be minimized, material damage outside the permit area should be prevented, applicable Federal, Tribal, and State water quality laws should be met, and the rights of present water users protected. Additionally, 30 CFR § 816.42 states "discharges of water from areas disturbed by surface mining activities shall be made in compliance with all applicable State and Federal water quality laws and regulations and with the effluent limitations for coal mining promulgated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) set forth in 40 CFR part 434." Discharges of disturbed area runoff at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease are conducted in accordance with the terms and conditions of a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit issued by the USEPA and certified by the Navajo Nation and Hopi Tribe under the Clean Water Act (CWA).

OSMRE considered USEPA approved surface water quality standards for the Navajo Nation Environmental Protection Agency (NNEPA) as part of this assessment. Protection of existing and foreseeable water uses within the various delineated cumulative impact areas was a focus of this assessment. Additionally, potential impacts associated with the historic disposal of coal combustion byproducts (CCB) at the Navajo Mine were specifically evaluated. Additional data and analysis of CCB impacts associated with the Four Corners Power Plant (FCPP) are available in the FCPP and Navajo Mine Energy Project Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) (OSMRE 2015, Sect. 4.15). The original CHIA was written in February, 1984 (Kaman Temp 1984), and addendum to the 1984 CHIA in 1989 (OSMRE 1989), and significantly updated in 2012. This 2015 CHIA supersedes the previous CHIA's and continues to evaluate all mining activities in the lease area, which are currently the Navajo Mine Permit Area, and the Pinabete Permit Area. Findings with regard to material damage of these operations are summarized below (Table 1). Table 1: Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Area – Material Damage Summary

Water Resource	Assessment Approach	Hydrologic Balance Threshold Reached	Material Damage Limit Reached	Measures to Minimize Impact	Adequate Monitoring Program
Fruitland & PCS Quantity	Evaluation of potentiometric surface contour maps	No	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation	Yes
Alluvial Quantity	Comparison of water levels at individual wells over-time	No	No	Contemporaneous	Yes
Surface Water Quantity	SEDCAD modeling- assessment of pre- and post-mining impacts; Percent of HUC12 Watersheds controlled with impoundments	Yes	No	Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones	Yes
Fruitland & PCS Quality	Comparison of baseline water quality to potentially impacted or non-baseline wells, including spoil and CCB wells	No	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mixing of overburden/ backfill materials	Yes
Alluvial Quality	Comparison baseline (upstream/pre-mining) water quality to non- baseline (post- mining/downstream) water quality	Yes	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones	Yes
Surface Water Quality		No	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones; Sedimentation Ponds	Yes

The finding that the mining operation is designed to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area is supported by the following chapters. The CHIA is organized as follows:

- Chapter 1 describes the regulatory environment and general background of the assessment area.
- Chapter 2
 - Assesses the cumulative impact potential with historical and active coal mines.
 - o Delineates the surface water CIA.
 - o Delineates the groundwater CIA.
- Chapter 3 identifies water resource uses and water use designations within the CIAs.

- Chapter 4 provides a description of baseline surface and groundwater quantity and quality within the CIAs.
- Chapter 5 contains an impact assessment of the NTEC operation on surface and groundwater quantity and quality, and includes a determination of:
 - The minimization of impacts within the lease area; and,
 - The adequacy of the monitoring program to assess potential impacts.
- Chapter 6
 - Establishes hydrologic balance thresholds and material damage limits; and,
 - o Contains the summary CHIA findings statement.

1.1 Regulatory Environment

Surface coal operations within the Navajo Nation are managed through the coordinated collaboration of several regulatory agencies. Depending on the permitting action, several regulatory agencies may be involved in the review, comment, and public participation process. Regulatory agencies that may have a permitting action on the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease include:

- OSMRE (regulatory authority for coal mining operations within the Navajo Nation)
- Bureau of Indian Affairs (protect and improve trust assets of the Tribes)
- Navajo Nation Environmental Protection Agency (NNEPA) (develop and administer water quality standards)
- Navajo Nation Minerals Department (represent Tribal mineral interests)
- Navajo Nation Water Management Branch (implement Navajo Nation's Water Code)
- USEPA (issue and administer NPDES permits)
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (ensure protection of threatened and endangered species)
- Bureau of Land Management (ensures maximum resource recovery)
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (issue permits and associated impact assessments for the discharge of fill material into waters of the United States, including wetlands under section 404 of the CWA)

The 2012 Navajo Mine CHIA was peer reviewed by the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), Navajo Nation Environmental Protection Agency (NNEPA), Navajo Nation Minerals Department (NNMD), U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), and OSMRE technical staff. Additionally, separate face-to-face discussions were conducted with the aforementioned organizations to review the assessment approach, and to identify any potential major concerns prior to finalization of the assessment. BIA, NNMD, and USACE concurred that the assessment approach for the 2012 Navajo Mine CHIA was reasonable, and the conclusions were appropriate. NNEPA found that the process used to determine water quantity impact was appropriate and that comparison between baseline and post-mining results was acceptable.

OSMRE developed a use impact assessment approach, specific to the evaluation of potential impacts from NTEC operations. This approach developed by OSMRE in part referenced and used NNEPA water quality standards for comparison and also considered Baseline (background) water quality as well as research supported water quality criteria for livestock. OSMRE did not use NNEPA guidance for assessing the quality of Navajo Nation surface waters to determine impairment because OSMRE has no authority to implement 303d impaired stream listing protocols. For this reason NNEPA cannot concur with OSMRE's conclusions without first assessing water quality impairment using NNEPA guidance. NNEPA has expressed future plans to conduct analysis on the available data set using NNEPA guidance. The 2015 CHIA update is administrative in nature to reflect a change in permittee from BNCC to NTEC, and to clarify the assessment of two active mining areas (Navajo Mine Permit and Pinabete Permit) within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, which was completed during the 2012 CHIA update.

1.1.1 CHIA Revision Rationale

The CHIA is not updated at a specified interval. 30 CFR § 780.21(g)(2) states "an application for permit revision shall be reviewed by the regulatory authority to determine whether a new or updated CHIA shall be required." On May 3, 2013, OSMRE received and application from BNCC, to transfer Federal Permit NM0003F to NTEC. OSMRE provided conditional approval in letter to BNCC dated November 1, 2013. Additionally, OSMRE received a Permit Application Package (PAP) on March 30, 2012 to develop an approximately 5,600 acre new permit area to continue surface coal mining and reclamation operations post July 6, 2016 at the Navajo Mine (Navajo Tribal Coal Lease 14-20-603-2505). The application has since been updated by NTEC's mine manager BHP Mine Management Company (MMCo.) in response to OSMRE's ongoing technical evaluation. The application was updated on: December 13, 2013, January 27, 2014, March 6, 2014 and March 17, 2014. A Final FCPP and Navajo Mine Energy Project EIS is anticipated for publication May 2015. The factors below describe the major differences from the 2012 CHIA to the 2015 CHIA.

The 2015 CHIA for NTEC operations:

- Changes the permittee of Federal Permit NM0003F from BNCC to NTEC in text and PAP references,
- Clarifies the assessment of two active permit areas (Navajo Mine Permit NM-0003F and The Proposed Pinabete Permit NM-0042A) within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, which was completed during the 2012 CHIA update in anticipation of the Pinabete PAP,
- Updates illustrations, tables, and text to reflect the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas,
- Updates ongoing revisions to the hydrologic monitoring program described at Section 5.2 and Appendix H of this document, and
- Updates references to locations in the electronic permit application packaged approved on June 30, 2014.

1.1.2 Cumulative Impact Area

A CIA is defined at 30 CFR § 701.5 as, "... the area, including the permit area, within which impacts resulting from the proposed operation may interact with the impacts of all anticipated mining on surfaceand ground-water systems." The CIA is an area where impacts from the coal mining operation, in combination with additional coal mining operations, may cause material damage (OSMRE 2002). The size and location of a given CIA will depend on the surface water and groundwater system characteristics, the hydrologic resources of concern, and projected impacts from the operations included in the assessment (OSMRE 2007). For this CHIA, one surface water CIA and one groundwater CIA are delineated to assess impacts associated within these distinct hydrologic resource areas.

1.1.3 Material Damage to the Hydrologic Balance

Sections 507(b) (11) and 510(b) (3) of SMCRA, and 30 CFR § 780.21 (g) require OSMRE to determine if a mining and reclamation operation has been designed to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area. "Hydrologic balance" is defined at 30 CFR § 701.5 as, "the relationship between the quality and quantity of water inflow to, water outflow from, and water storage in a hydrologic unit such as a drainage basin, aquifer, soil zone, lake or reservoir. It encompasses the dynamic relationships among precipitation, runoff, evaporation, and changes in ground and surface water storage."

"Material damage to the hydrologic balance" is not defined in SMCRA or at 30 CFR § 701.5. The intent of not developing a programmatic definition for "material damage to the hydrologic balance" was to

provide the regulatory authority the ability to develop a definition based on regional environmental and regulatory conditions. Therefore, for the purpose of this CHIA;

<u>Material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area</u> means any quantifiable permanent adverse impact from surface coal mining and reclamation operations on the quality or quantity of surface water or groundwater that exceeds the identified material damage limits and that would preclude any existing or reasonably foreseeable use of surface water or groundwater outside the permit area.

SMCRA recognizes that coal mining will have some hydrologic impacts; therefore, differentiates between impacts within the permit area and outside the permit area. Disturbances to the hydrologic balance within the permit and adjacent area should be minimized, and material damage outside the permit area should be prevented (30 CFR 780.21). The 2015 CHIA evaluates the entire lease area (Figure 1). The lease area includes NTEC coal mining areas prior to the enactment of SMCRA north of the permit area, and includes lease areas IV south and V. In an effort to evaluate historical CCB disposal north of the permit area, and to include baseline information from areas IV south and V, the assessment includes the entire lease area.

1.1.4 Material Damage Criteria

Except for water quality standards and effluent limitations established at 30 CFR § 816.42, the determination of material damage criteria is the discretion of the regulatory authority (48 FR 43972-43973, 1983 and 48 FR 43956, 1983). Material damage criteria for both groundwater and surface water quality should be related to existing standards that generally are based on the maintenance and protection of specified water uses such as public and domestic water supply, agriculture, industry, aquatic life, and recreation (OSMRE, 1998). A CHIA also can include material damage standards for parameters of local significance to water use (OSMRE, 1998). The 2015CHIA includes hydrologic balance thresholds and material damage limits (Ch. 6).

1.2 Background

The Navajo Tribal Lease Area was originally under the operation of Utah International, beginning operation in 1963. Utah International was acquired by GE in 1977, and then by BHP in 1984. Navajo Mine operation became part of BHP Billiton with the merger of BHP and Billiton in 2001. Navajo Mine operates under Permit NM-0003(A-F). Permit NM-0003 was renewed in 1991, 1993, 1994, 1999, 2004, and 2010; pursuant to 30 CFR 774.15(c). On May 3, 2013, OSMRE received an application from BNCC, to transfer Federal Permit NM0003F to NTEC. OSMRE provided conditional approval in letter to BNCC dated November 1, 2013. Additionally, OSMRE received a Permit Application Package (PAP) on March 30, 2012 to develop an approximately 5,600 acre new permit area to continue surface coal mining and reclamation operations post July 6, 2016 at the Navajo Mine (Navajo Tribal Coal Lease 14-20-603-2505). The application has since been updated by NTEC's mine manager BHP Mine Management Company (MMCo.) in response to OSMRE's ongoing technical evaluation. The application was updated on: December 13, 2013, January 27, 2014, March 6, 2014 and March 17, 2014.

The Navajo Tribal Coal Lease is located 18.6 miles southwest of Farmington, New Mexico, on a contiguous lease within the northeastern portion of the Navajo Nation (Figure 2). The Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area is divided into five areas (I-V) (Figure 1) (USEPA n.d.). These lands are divided into Pre-Law, Interim, Termination of jurisdiction (TOJ), and Permanent Program land classifications (Figure 1) (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 40). NTEC is currently conducting surface coal mining operations in Areas III and IV North, and anticipates conducting surface coal mining operations in the Pinabete Permit Area, south of Area IV North, beginning in 2016.

The NTEC operations currently supply coal from the Navajo Mine to support the operations of Units 4 and 5 at the Four Corners Power Plant (FCPP). The operation of Units 1, 2, and 3 were discontinued after 2013, reducing FCPP coal consumption from approximately 8.5 million tons of coal per year to 5-6 million tons of coal per year. As such, FCPP has two operational units, producing approximately 1,500 megawatts of power annually. Coal from Navajo Mine will be used to support operation of the FCPP until July 2016. After July 2016, coal resources in the Pinabete Permit Area will be available to support operation of the FCPP until 2041. The Proposed Pinabete PAP indicates that 5.38 million tons will be produced annually, on average, for the 25-year life-of-mine (NTEC 2014, Sect. 20). MMCo. relies on strip mining as the primary mining method in the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area for multiple coal seam mining. Strip mining involves the removal of overburden material covering the coal using blasting and large draglines. The coal is then removed by truck shovels or front-end loaders and transported to coal preparation facilities using haulage trucks. Coal seams are exposed in pits ranging in depth from 5 feet to 240 feet, mine pit lengths vary from 1,000 feet to 15,000 feet. After the coal is removed, the overburden material is regraded to the approved topography and drainages to support the approved post-mining land uses. Stockpiled topsoil and other suitable material are spread on top of the graded overburden material to support the re-establishment of approved post-mining vegetation (NTEC 2013, Part 3 Sect. 20). NTEC must then demonstrate the persistence of reestablished vegetative cover sufficient to support post-mining land use in accordance with 30 CFR 816.116.

1.2.1 Climate

The lease area ranges in elevation from 5,000 feet to 5,600 feet above sea level. The climate at Navajo Tribal Coal Lease varies from arid to semi-arid based on Navajo Mine precipitation records. Navajo Mine has collected climatological data from two onsite meteorological monitoring stations since 1991, designated Met Station I and II. Met Station I is located in Area I, and Met Station II is located at an area referred to as "the Neck" between Area II and Area III (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 12).

Temperatures at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease are characterized by cold winters and warm summers, with wide variations in diurnal and annual temperature (URS 2009). Summer days are typically warm (90-95°F) and dry, while nights are cool (55-60°F). During the winter months of December and January, air temperatures commonly fall below 20°F in early morning, while daytime highs typically range from 35 to 45°F. The frost-free period averages 162 days from early May to mid-October (Smeal, et al. 2006).

The average relative humidity at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease ranges from 33 percent in July to 65 percent in January, with an annual average of 45 percent relative humidity (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 12). The area receives precipitation during the summer months, when afternoon showers form as a result of moist air from the Gulf of Mexico moving over the area, and in the fall and winter, when cold fronts moving to the east and southeast from the Pacific Ocean create steady, usually light rain and snow showers across the area (URS 2009). The majority of precipitation occurs during monsoon season (July-October), when prevailing winds shift to the southwest and carry sub-tropical moisture into the area, resulting in localized, high intensity, short duration thunderstorms (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 12, Smeal, et al. 2006, URS 2009). However, considering the entire year, most precipitation events are of short duration and deposit less than 0.10 inch of rain per event (Smeal, et al. 2006). During the winter, snows are infrequent and light. Snow accumulations melt or sublimate within a few days, and snow depths greater than 6 inches are uncommon (Smeal, et al. 2006, URS 2009).

1.2.2 **Regional Geology**

The area of interest for this CHIA is within the Colorado Plateau physiographic province of the Western United States, geographically west of the 100th meridian west longitude (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 12). The Colorado Plateau covers approximately 130,000 square miles (mi²) and includes parts of Arizona, Colorado, New Mexico, and Utah (Hereford, Webb and Graham 2005). The Navajo Tribal Coal Lease is located on the western flank of the San Juan Structural Basin in northwestern San Juan County

approximately 15 miles southwest of Farmington, New Mexico (Figure 3). This basin is an asymmetric, structural basin with a northwest trending axis parallel to the Hogback Monocline in northwest New Mexico. The basin is bounded on the northwest by the Hogback Monocline and on the north by the San Juan Uplift. The eastern rim is formed by the Brazos Uplift and the Nacimiento Uplift. The Zuni Uplift and the Chaco Slope form the southern margin of the basin while the Defiance Uplift and Four Corners Platform complete the northwestern basin rim (Figure 3) (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 17). The San Juan Watershed lies on the eastern edge of the Colorado Plateau and extends from northwestern New Mexico into portions of northeastern Arizona along the New Mexico/Arizona border, southwestern Colorado, and the southeastern most corner of Utah. The San Juan Watershed is approximately 140 miles wide by 200 miles long, and covers a total area of 21,600 square miles (URS 2009).

The rock strata in the southern part of the lease area strike north-south while the strata in the northern part strike northeast-southwest (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 17). The geologic formation dips gently to the east toward the center of the San Juan Basin at an angle of one to two degrees, and steepens toward the outcrop areas where the fairly abrupt monocline (Hogback) can be observed (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 18). The stratigraphic section in the lease area reflects the Late Cretaceous transition of shallow marine depositional environment to a terrestrial fluvial depositional environment (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 17). During the late Cretaceous geologic period, the shoreline of a vast shallow inland sea shifted back and forth across the basin and ultimately receded, depositing alternating marine and nonmarine sediments (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18.O). The strata in the lease area have not been intensively folded, and faults in the strata have limited displacement and extent (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). The mine lease area surface, and adjacent areas, are comprised of the Lewis Shale, Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Formation, Fruitland Formation, Kirtland Shale and unconsolidated alluvial deposits in the valleys of the San Juan River, Chaco River, and the Chaco River tributaries (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 18). A generalized stratigraphic section and geologic map of the lease area are presented in Figures 4 and 5.











2 DELINEATION OF CUMULATIVE IMPACT AREA

A CIA is defined in 30 CFR 701.5 as the area, including the permit area, within which impacts resulting from the proposed operation may interact with impacts of all anticipated mining on the surface and groundwater system. CIA delineation for the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease consists of both surface and ground water delineations, with specific impact areas delineated for both surface and ground waters based upon the resource extent and potential use impacts.

2.1 Surface Water Cumulative Impact Area

The Navajo Tribal Coal Lease covers all or part of the drainage areas of the Bitsui, Chinde, Hosteen, No Name, and Barber Washes, and the Neck, Lowe, Cottonwood, and Pinabete Arroyos (Figure 6).

Since mining operations at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease are the only SMCRA regulated operations in the above mentioned drainage basins, surface water impacts cannot be cumulative with other SMCRA operations unless the impacts extend farther downstream. Bitsui Wash discharges directly to the San Juan River, all other washes and arroyos discharge to the Chaco River, which in turn discharges to the San Juan River. The San Juan River and Chaco River channels and flood plains will not be directly impacted by active mining activities. Therefore, potential coal mining impact on these rivers would be through the discharge of surface or groundwater from the mine area or from reclaimed surface and backfill (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). OSMRE will assess (1) the cumulative surface water impact potential of all NTEC mining operations on the Chaco and San Juan watersheds, and (2) the potential for cumulative surface water quality and quantity impacts of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit area on either the Chaco or San Juan Rivers.

2.1.1 Cumulative Surface Water Impact Potential

Surface coal mining and reclamation activities are required to minimize disturbance to the hydrologic balance within the permit and adjacent areas, prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area, to assure the protection or replacement of water rights, and to support approved post-mining land uses and conditions (30 CFR 816.41(a)). Surface water quality protection of the hydrologic balance is accomplished, to the extent possible, by using the best technology currently available to minimize acidic or toxic drainage and additional contribution of suspended solids to streamflow outside the permit area (30 CFR 816.41(d)(l)).

The 1984 Navajo Mine CHIA (with addendum in 1989) was prepared considering the entire San Juan Watershed as the CIA (Kaman Temp 1984, OSMRE 1989). Therefore, this delineation considers the cumulative surface water impact potential of all SMCRA regulated activities in the San Juan Watershed. The San Juan Watershed contains the following historical or existing coal mines: Chimney Rock Mine, Coal Gulch Mine, Carbon Junction Mine, Peacock Mine, National King Coal Mine, La Plata No. 1 Mine, Blue Flame Mine, La Plata Mine, Black Diamond Mine, San Juan Mine, Navajo Mine, Burnham Mine, De-Na-Zin Mine, Gateway Mine, El Segundo Mine, and the Pinabete Permit (Figure 7). Lee Ranch Mine, which began surface coal operations in 1984, is identified on Figure 7 for illustration purposes only. Existing and planned operations boarder but are not within the San Juan Watershed; therefore, Lee Ranch Mine will not be included in the potential cumulative impacts discussion at this time.

The Chimney Rock, Coal Gulch, Gateway, De-Na-Zin, and Black Diamond Mines were surface coal mines (Table 2). Mining was completed at each of these mines, as well as final bond release. The Blue Flame and La Plata No. 1 Mines were underground mines, which began operation in 1950 and 1905 respectively. Mining was completed at each in 1991 and 1988 respectively; final bond release occurred in 2008 and 2004 respectively. The Peacock Mine was on underground coal mine, which began mining in 1905, and reclamation was completed in 1996.





The Carbon Junction, La Plata and Burnham mines are surface mines, which have not achieved final bond released. The Carbon Junction Mine achieved final reclamation in 2008. Phase II bond release was achieved for the entire La Plata Mine site, and the location is now in final reclamation. The Burnham Mine was conditionally approved for the initial seven years of operation; however, was never issued a permit under the Permanent Program, and the location is currently under reclamation. The King Coal Mine is an underground operation, which began in 1941, and is currently active. The San Juan Mine is both a surface and underground mine operation, which began in 1973 and 2000 respectively. Both the San Juan surface and underground mines are currently active. El Segundo Mine is a surface mine, which began in 2008, and is currently active. The Navajo Mine has operated since 1963, and is the subject of this assessment.

Mine	Туре	Start of Mining	End of Mining	Status
Chimney Rock	Surface	1976	1985	Final Bond Release 2005
Coal Gulch	Surface	1978	1998	Final Bond Release 2010
Gateway	Surface	1982	1990	Final Bond Release 2004
De-Na-zin	Surface	1980	1992	Final Bond Release 2003
Black Diamond	Surface	1983	1993	Final Bond Release 2007
Blue Flame	Underground	1950	1991	Final Bond Release 2008
La Plata No. 1	Underground	1905	1988	Final Bond Release 2004
Peacock	Underground	1905	1981	Reclamation Completed 1996
Carbon Junction	Surface	1983	1990	Reclamation Completed 2008
La Plata	Surface	1986	2003	In Final Reclamation
Burnham	Surface	1980	1984	Under Reclamation
King Coal Mine	Underground	1941	NA	Active
San Juan Mine	Surface/Underground	1973/2000	NA	Active
El Segundo	Surface	2008	NA	Active
Navajo	Surface	1963	NA	Active

Table 2: Mining	History in	the San Juan	Watershed
-----------------	------------	--------------	-----------

Generally, Phase I bond release requires submission and approval of all documentation for permanent drainage control structures. Phase II bond release generally requires documentation that the permittee or the landowner has provided for sound future maintenance of all approved permanent impoundments in accordance with 30 CFR 800.40(c)(2). Phase III bond release requires a demonstration in accordance to 30 CFR 816.41 that all surface mining and reclamation activities have been conducted to minimize disturbance of the hydrologic balance within the permit and adjacent areas, to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the lease area, to assure quantity and quality are suitable to support approved postmining land uses, the water rights of other users have been protected or replaced, and in accordance with terms and conditions of the approved permit.

All mines approved for final bond release are eliminated from the potential impact discussion since a determination has been made that material damage to the hydrologic balance has been prevented. Peacock mine is also excluded from the potential impact discussion, since reclamation has been completed to the satisfaction of the Colorado Department of Mining and Safety. Inactive operations, and permit areas currently under reclamation, especially those further along in the bond release process, will most likely not have a cumulative impact; however, they are considered in the potential impacts discussion. All currently active mines are also considered in the potential impact discussion. Therefore, mines which are considered in the potential impact discussion are Carbon Junction, La Plata, Burnham, King Coal, San Juan, El Segundo, Pinabete, and Navajo Mine.

2.1.2 Impact Potential to the San Juan River

The San Juan River is a major tributary to the Colorado River, with a drainage area of 24,900 square miles. The San Juan River Watershed is within New Mexico, Arizona, Colorado, and Utah. Originating on the western slope of the Continental Divide in southwestern Colorado, the San Juan River flows perennially from the San Juan Mountains north of Pagosa Springs, Colorado, and enters northwestern New Mexico through the Navajo Reservoir in Rio Arriba County, west of the Jicarilla Apache Reservation and the Carson National Forest. The course of the San Juan River turns westward for approximately 140 miles through New Mexico and southern Utah to its confluence with the Colorado River.

The United States Geologic Survey (USGS) located three stream gaging stations along the San Juan River within the general area of the Navajo Mine (Figure 8). These stations were assigned the following site numbers by the USGS; 09368000, 09367540, and 09365000. Station 09368000 is active and located on the San Juan River approximately 0.9 miles south of Shiprock New Mexico, and 2 miles west of the Chaco River confluence. Station 09367540 is not active, and located approximately 0.4 miles west of Fruitland New Mexico, 13.8 miles east of the Chaco River confluence, and 8.3 miles west of the La Plata confluence. Station 09365000 is active, and located approximately 0.9 miles southwest of Farmington New Mexico, 1.7 miles southeast of the La Plata River confluence, and 0.7 miles northwest of the confluence with the Animas River (Figure 8).

The San Juan River is perennial, and part of its flow originates from groundwater discharge. The historic average mean annual flow at USGS station 09368000 near Shiprock is 2024 ft³/sec, with a historical low of 657 ft3/sec in 2002. BNCC holds Surface Water Permit Number 2838, issued by the New Mexico Office of the State Engineer in October 1958, and supplies water to the Four Corners Generating Station, the San Juan Generating Station, and the Navajo Mine under this permit. Permit number 2838 provides BNCC a total diversionary right of 51,600 acre-feet annually (~71 ft3/second), with a consumptive right of 39,000 acre-feet annually (~54 ft3/second), for waters drawn from the San Juan River. BNCC typically diverts 825 acre feet per year (~1.14 ft3/second) for use at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease (United States of America 2011, Table L-1), or less than 0.2% of the San Juan River historic low flow rate from 2002. Therefore, diversion from the San Juan River for use at Navajo Mine or Pinabete Mine is not expected to result in material damage to the surface water quantity of the San Juan River given the ratio of the diversion to the total flow of the San Juan River. Surface Water Permit Number 2828 may be transferred from BNCC to NTEC, but has not occurred at the time of the 2015 CHIA update.

The San Juan alluvial aquifer is estimated to have an average flow of approximately 30,000 ft³/day, or approximately 0.02% of the historic average flow within the San Juan River. Approximately 1% of the alluvial aquifer flow, or 300 ft³/day, is estimated to discharge from the backfilled mining areas to the San Juan River (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Leaching studies from overburden and spoil sample analysis indicate that the chemical quality expected from backfill leachate would be similar to baseline quality in coal seams. Therefore, groundwater discharge from the mine area will have a negligible effect on the water quantity or quality of the San Juan River due to low discharge estimates and water quality analysis comparison.



Figure 9 illustrates discharge data collected by the USGS at three stations San Juan River gaging stations from 1931 to 2010. The data demonstrates there has been consistent flow variability along the San Juan, with a general decreasing flow trend for the period of record. Although flows initially increased upstream to downstream along the San Juan during the monitoring period, this trend reversed, such that downstream flows were less than upstream flows. Based on linear trend lines, the tipping point at which this occurred was around 1972. However, the general trend of decreasing flows, and the difference in the rate of decrease between the downstream and upstream stations, was apparent before mining, and appears unrelated to the changing mining activity in the San Juan Watershed.





Historic data was analyzed for over 20 constituents collected by the USGS along the San Juan River at the three stations from 1958 to 2010 (Appendix A). Analysis indicates high variability, generally increasing pH, and generally decreasing or relatively unchanged concentrations in constituents of interest over time. Additionally, changes in data trends do not show correlation with mining activities.

For instance, the measured Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) concentrations indicate variability in concentrations along the San Juan River, with a general trend of decreasing concentration throughout the duration of monitoring. TDS increases from upstream to downstream along the San Juan River, and is consistently higher at downstream monitoring stations. Based on linear trend lines, TDS concentrations are decreasing at downstream locations, and the general trend appears to be unrelated to the changing mining activity in the San Juan Watershed (Figure 10).



Figure 10: San Juan River TDS and Mine Operational Period Comparison (1957-2010)

Assessment of historic USGS data suggests that cumulative surface water quality impacts from mining are not distinguishable from baseline surface water quality for the San Juan River. All surface water drainages that traverse the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease discharge into the Chaco River, which in turn discharges into the San Juan River, except Bitsui Wash. Bitsui Wash is located near the northernmost portion of the lease area, flows intermittently, and discharges directly to the San Juan River (Figure 6). Bitsui Wash drains an area of 7,835 acres. Approximately 17.5% of the Bitsui watershed, or 1,371 acres, were disturbed by historical mining at Navajo Mine. All mining disturbance within the Bitsui watershed predates the establishment of SMCRA in 1977, and is consider pre-law (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 18). Bitsui receives drainage from pre-law jurisdictional lands on the northern area of the mine lease, but receives no drainage from the reclaimed areas from the Navajo Mine or Pinabete permanent program permit areas (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Historically, Bitsui Wash would flow ephemerally in response to precipitation; however, the development of NAPI causes Bitsui Wash to flow intermittently. Surface water monitoring was conducted along the Bitsui Wash from 1986-1992. Comparison of median water quality monitoring data to the 2007 NNEPA numeric standards for designated uses indicated exceedances of the aquatic and wildlife standards for cadmium, chromium, and selenium. However, median concentrations are only slightly elevated, and impact to the hydrologic balance is not expected to be significant. The San Juan River is the closest surface water body which could be impacted by Bitsui Wash outside the lease area. Analysis of USGS data indicates concentrations of cadmium, chromium, and selenium have all been decreasing with time in the San Juan River. Therefore, material damage to the San Juan River uses is not expected. Since discharge from Bitsui Wash is not expected to result in material damage to the hydrologic balance, and since the Bitsui Wash area was mined and reclaimed prior to the jurisdiction of SMCRA, it is excluded from the surface water CIA.

Additionally, the Mining and Minerals Division of the New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural Resource Division (NMEMNRD) completed CHIAs for both the La Plata and San Juan Mines. La Plata CIA, as determined in the 1999 La Plata CHIA, was found to be entirely contained within the La Plata

Watershed, and potential impacts from the La Plata Mine were not found to extend to the San Juan River. The northern boundary of the La Plata mine CIA is the Colorado-New Mexico border, which is downstream of the King Coal Mine, indicating impacts were not found to be cumulative between the King Coal and La Plata mines along the La Plata River (NMEMNRD 1999). The 1999 San Juan Mine CIA includes the Shumway Arroyo and Stevens Arroyo, which are both tributaries to the San Juan River, but does not extend to the San Juan River (NMEMNRD 1999). Considered in conjunction with hydrologic assessments completed by the NMEMNRD, impacts from the King Coal, La Plata and San Juan mines will have a negligible cumulative potential with the Navajo Mine impacts.

Based on historical quantity and quality data along the San Juan River and CHIA analysis completed by the NMEMNRD, the San Juan River will not be included in the Navajo Mine surface water CIA.

2.1.3 Impact Potential to the Chaco River

The Chaco River has a watershed area of approximately 4,350 square miles, of which, the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area occupies approximately 0.6-percent. The Chaco River lies to the west of the lease area, and flows north to the San Juan River, downstream of the lease area. Flow in the Chaco River is ephemeral except for the last 12.5 miles near the confluence of the Chaco and San Juan rivers. The surface expression of the Chaco River is approximately 0.1 mile wide. The Chaco River is subject to high sediment loadings. The Bureau of Land Management (BLM) Farmington Field Office estimated an average sediment yield from the Chaco watershed at 5.8 tons per acre per year (URS 2009). The only coal mining activities in the Chaco Watershed that have not achieved final bond release, other than Navajo Mine, are the Burnham Mine and the El Segundo Mine.

The Burnham Mine is located in Burnham, New Mexico approximately 15 miles east of U.S. Highway 491 on BIA Road 5 in San Juan County, New Mexico (Golder Associates Inc. 2008). In 1978, Consol proposed mining 6,831 acres at Burnham Mine. OSMRE conditionally approved Burnham Mine for 7 years, and mining operations commenced in 1980. However, the mine only produced coal for 4 years, and production ceased in 1984. Consol submitted an application under the permanent program as a result of the approval of the Federal Program for Indian Lands (30 CFR § 750) in 1984. However, prior to OSMRE completing review of the application, lease negotiations between Consol and the Navajo Nation failed resulting in lease termination in 1990. For this reason in 1991 OSMRE rejected the Permanent Program application, returned the application, and requested Consol reclaim the disturbed lands of about 140 acres. Consol submitted the "Plan for the Reclamation of the Burnham Mine" to OSMRE and it was approved in 1994 (Blake 1994).

The existing Burnham Mine site encompasses approximately 203 acres; containing a former pit area, reclamation areas, and the main facility. The main facility area contains an office building, abandoned guard house, abandoned trailer, and two 500 gallon above ground storage tanks (ASTs). In 1992 a release of diesel fuel was confirmed from an AST system that provided fuel to a generator. The product lines from two 8,000 gallon ASTs to the generator leaked an unknown volume of diesel fuel. The release affected the subsurface soil and shallow groundwater. The majority of soil contamination was present at the air-water interface between 16 and 26 feet below ground surface not exceeding four feet in thickness. The extent of soil contamination roughly mirrored the extent of non-aqueous phase liquid (NAPL) and was present south of the former ASTs and extended south to the office building. Results of groundwater monitoring indicated that dissolved phase contamination had not migrated extensively ahead of the NAPL contamination (Golder Associates Inc. 2013, Golder Associates Inc. 2008). In letter dated August 26, 2014 from NNEPA to Consol Energy, it is stated that "Downgradient groundwater monitoring wells were sampled in April 2013 and analyzed for diesel range organics. Results indicate that no diesel hydrocarbons were detected. Therefore, the excavation, landfarming and backfilling operations are judged to have been successful. Tiis Tsoh Sikaad Chapter has resolved that the remediation of the diesel contamination has been completed to their satisfaction. The decision has been approved by the chapter

membership and set forth in the Chapter Resolution TTS-RES-14-05-067 dated 18th day of May, 2014. This site appears to no longer pose a current threat to human health and the environment" (NNEPA 2014). The nearest major surface water is the Chaco River located approximately seven miles west of the site, with the Brimhall Wash a tributary feature to the Chaco River located 0.5 miles south of the site. The impacts associated with Burnham mine will not be considered further in this surface water CIA.

There are two historic United States Geologic Survey (USGS) stream reach stations along the Chaco River. These stations were assigned the following site numbers by the USGS; 09367950 and 09367938. Station 09367950 is located on the Chaco River approximately 6 miles southwest of Waterflow New Mexico and 4.6 miles southeast of the San Juan River confluence. Station 09367938 is located on the Chaco River approximately 15 miles southwest of Burnham New Mexico and 0.7 miles north of the Brimhall Wash confluence. Discharge data was collected from 1977 to 1994, and water quality data was collected from 1969 to 1989. The period of record does not sufficiently cover the more recent mining activity in the watershed, and therefore cannot be used to rule out cumulative SMCRA related surface water impacts along the Chaco.

In addition to the USGS data, the Mining and Minerals Division of the NMEMNRD has completed a CHIA assessment for the El Segundo Mine. El Segundo coal mine is located in the eastern end of the Standing Rock Cleary Coal area which is located in the southern part of the San Juan Watershed in an area known as the Chaco Slope. The Chaco Slope is a broad, gently dipping part of the San Juan Watershed extending from the edge of the Zuni uplift on the south, northward to the central area of the basin. The proposed lease area straddles the continental divide at elevations approximating 7,000 feet above mean sea level (MSL) in an area that is crossed by several unnamed ephemeral, arroyos. The continental divide separates the lease area into two surface watersheds; only the western section is included as part of the Chaco watershed. There are no named drainages to the west of the continental divide within the proposed lease area. The main drainage through the western mine area has the National Hydrologic Database (NHD) reach code of (14080106000944) and is identified as ephemeral as it leaves the lease area. The drainage area for the main western drainage as it leaves the lease area is approximately 24.7 square miles of which about 6.1 square miles (25%) of the total watershed are proposed to be disturbed by mining (NMEMNRD 2005).

Cumulative surface water quantity and quality impacts from the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease with other mining operations in the Chaco River Watershed cannot be ruled out based solely on historical quantity and quality data along the Chaco River and analysis from the Mining and Minerals Division of the NMEMNRD.

2.1.4 Surface Water Impact Area

The Surface water CIA for assessing cumulative impacts of the permit areas on the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and El Segundo Mine will be the entire Chaco River watershed (Figure 11). However, the NTEC lease area covers a relatively small percentage of the entire Chaco Watershed. Therefore to insure adequate protection of water uses adjacent to the lease impacts will also be assessed using smaller evaluation areas. Impact of surface water quality will be assessed for the Chaco River within the immediate vicinity of NTEC permits and the primary washes and arroyos traversing the lease area; Pinabete Arroyo, No Name Wash, Cottonwood Arroyo, and Chinde Wash, as these washes are representative of the water quality conditions of the lease area. Impacts on surface water quantity are analyzed using Hydrologic Unit Code (HUC) 12 watersheds. The USGS has divided and sub-divided the United States into successively smaller hydrologic units and assigned each a HUC number. HUC 12 watersheds are among the smallest of these hydrologic units and represent 6 levels of divisions (USGS 2012). HUC 12 watersheds are used rather than individual drainage basins in order to standardize the analysis as flow is impacted by watershed size which varies significantly between drainages. Impacts on surface water quantity were analyzed using the following HUC 12 watersheds; Morgan Lake-Chaco River

(140801062008), Chinde Wash (140801062006), Chinde Wash-Chaco River (140801062007), Coal Creek-Chaco River (140801062005), and Cottonwood Arroyo (140801062002)

2.2 Ground Water Cumulative Impact Area

Based on drilling and excavation activities, the Quaternary Alluvium, the coal seams and inter-bedded lithologic units of the Fruitland Formation, and the Pictured Cliffs Sandstone (PCS) bear appreciable amounts of water within the mine area. All coal seams at Navajo and Pinabete Mines are within the Fruitland Formation, and the majority of water within the Fruitland Formation is concentrated within these lenticular coal strata, therefore the Fruitland Formation will be assessed in this CHIA with an emphasis on the coal strata. The Kirtland Shale is relatively impermeable, contains no coal seams and was not found to contain appreciable amounts of water within the permit areas; therefore the Kirtland Shale is not considered for impact assessment in this CHIA (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 18). The potentiometric gradients in Fruitland Coal and in the PCS trend north to northwest towards the San Juan River (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18.O), with localized gradients toward the topographic lows along the Chaco tributaries. Ground water in the Fruitland coals and Pictured Cliffs Sandstone may discharge at a very low rate at some locations within the topographic lows along arroyos, where it is removed by evapotranspiration. These discharges are insufficient to sustain baseflow, although they may be sufficient to enhance localized vegetation growth (URS 2009). Alluvial groundwater will also be included in this groundwater CIA. Ground water recharge of the bedrock is thought to be enhanced along the select channels and at existing pond locations where water is available for recharge from storm runoff and pond storage. Recharge water, although limited, is thought to move predominantly downward through the overburden and coal units of the Fruitland Formation and into the PCS. For this reason the PCS will also be assessed in this CHIA. The Lewis Shale underlies the PCS; however, the Lewis Shale is relatively impermeable and does not receive significant discharge from the PCS and will not be considered for impact assessment in this CHIA. Therefore, potential groundwater quality and quantity affects on the Fruitland and Picture Cliffs Sandstone (PCS) Formations and valley alluvium in the permits and adjacent area will be evaluated in this CHIA.

2.2.1 Ground Water Impact Area

A single groundwater CIA will be used to encompass all three groundwater resources (Figure 12); Fruitland Formation, PCS and alluvium. The CIA will be bounded on the north by the San Juan River. Both the PCS and the Fruitland outcrop in the vicinity of the San Juan River, and given that the San Juan is perennial and receives groundwater baseflow, it is expected that the groundwater potentiometric elevation is close to the elevation of the San Juan River channel bottom. The San Juan River can therefore be assumed to act as a hydrologic barrier.

The San Juan alluvial aquifer is estimated to have an average flow of approximately 30,000 ft³/day, of which 1% or 300 ft³/day is estimated to be discharged from the backfilled mining areas (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Leaching studies of overburden and spoils indicate that the chemical quality expected from backfill leachate would be very similar to baseline quality in coal seams (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 19). Consequently, groundwater discharge from the mine area will have a negligible effect on the water quantity or quality of the San Juan River alluvium.

Both the PCS and Lewis Shale outcrop to the west of the Lease area, serving as a physical barrier to groundwater impact for the PCS. In this area the PCS potentiometric surface is above the base of the coal layers and should therefore also serve as an impact boundary for the Fruitland formation. However, in order to address all potential impact to the alluvial system the western boundary of the CIA will be extended beyond the outcrop of the PCS/Lewis shale stratigraphic interface to the western boundary of the Chaco River alluvium.

Both the southern and eastern CIA boundaries are based on groundwater model boundaries developed by Norwest Corporation for NTEC, and presented in the PHC. Two distinct models were developed by Norwest one for the southern mine area (Areas IV and V) and one for the northern mine area (Area I). The southern CIA boundary is the southern boundary developed for the model of Areas IV and V. The eastern CIA boundary is a composite of the eastern boundaries of both models extended correspondingly north and south to their natural intersection. Current and historic water level monitoring data from wells, drainage and outcrop locations, and previously conducted studies in the area, were used to generate a potentiometric surface for the PCS. This potentiometric surface was then used to establish boundaries at a sufficient distance to the east and south of the coal lease where the required assumptions about hydrogeologic conditions at the boundary were expected to have minimal influence on the predicted changes in the groundwater system. The models represent the most comprehensive compilation and evaluation of geologic and hydrologic data in the area, and are therefore appropriate tools for assessing NTEC hydrologic impacts. Figure 12 illustrates the boundaries of the groundwater CIA for this CHIA.

It should be noted that this groundwater CIA extends south of the Burnham Mine. The depth to groundwater at Burnham Mine ranges from approximately 16 to 30 feet below ground surface. Hydrologic monitoring at Burnham Mine indicates groundwater is moving to the southeast away from the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease (Golder Associates Inc. 2008). Additionally, the area has a low hydraulic gradient and reclamation has been completed (Golder Associates Inc. 2013).. Therefore, the groundwater contamination at Burnham is not expected to result in cumulative groundwater affects with the Navajo Mine or Pinabete Permit areas, and the groundwater impacts associated with Burnham mine will not be considered further in this CHIA.






3 WATER RESOURCE USES AND DESIGNATIONS

As the regulatory authority, OSMRE has the responsibility of assessing the potential impacts of the mining operation on the hydrologic balance, and to provide a determination for the potential to materially damage the hydrologic balance outside the lease area. Material damage implies that a quantifiable adverse degradation or reduction of surface or ground waters outside the permit area has occurred, resulting in the inability to utilize water resources for existing and foreseeable uses. Therefore, it is necessary to identify the existing and foreseeable water uses within the CIA's.

Surface and ground water within the CIA's will be evaluated for the following existing and foreseeable uses:

- Direct human use (including domestic and municipal water supply),
- Industrial water supply,
- Irrigation supply water,
- Livestock watering, and
- Aquatic and wildlife habitat

Multiple uses may be present at some locations. Tables summarizing use information within the surface Water and groundwater CIA's can be found in Appendix B, additionally Figure 12 shows all groundwater wells identified in the groundwater CIA and Figure 11 shows all surface water impoundments identified in the surface water CIA.

3.1 Direct Human Use

Within the surface water CIA Morgan Lake and the Chaco River from its mouth to the mouth of Dead Man's Wash are the only water bodies designated by the NNEPA for Primary Human Contact; all surface waters within the CIA are designated by the NNEPA for Secondary Human Contact. Primary Human Contact means use of water that causes the human body to come into direct contact with the water, typically to the point of submergence in the water body, or probable ingestion of the water, or contact by the water with membrane material of the body. Examples include ceremonial uses, swimming and waterskiing. Secondary Human Contact means the use of water which may cause the water to come into direct contact with the skin of the body but normally not to the point of submergence, ingestion of the water, or contact of the water with membrane material of the body, such contact would occur incidentally and infrequently, examples include boating and fishing (NNEPA 2007). Both Primary and Secondary Human Contact may occur during ceremonial or other cultural uses. Based on currently available information no cultural use waters have been identified within the vicinity of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease.

The Chaco River and all tributaries including the Chinde Wash and Cottonwood Arroyo are designated by the NNEPA for Fish Consumption. Fish Consumption means the use of water by humans for harvesting aquatic organisms for consumption. Harvestable aquatic organisms include, but are not limited to, fish, shell-fish, turtles, crayfish, and frogs. The lease does not contain any streams or ponds with fish, and Morgan Lake is the closest water body within the surface water CIA that provides a fishing habitat.

The closest surface water body to the mine designated by the NNEPA for domestic water supply is the San Juan River, which is outside of the surface water CIA. There are no surface water sources for municipal supply water within the CIA, however, the San Juan River, downstream of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, is used as a municipal water source for Shiprock, NM. A hydrographic survey was conducted as part of an ongoing water rights settlement agreement between the State of New Mexico, the United States Federal Government, and the Navajo Nation. The survey did not distinguish between historic and current uses. The survey identified 59 impoundments within the surface water CIA that are used for municipal waste water treatment. These impoundments are supplied by local sewer systems and

used for waste settling. Of the 59 impoundments, 56 are west and/or south of the Chaco, and 3 are north of the Chaco and east of the Permit (United States of America 2011, Appendix D).

Within the groundwater CIA, the Burnham chapter was identified as a community whose water supply may be included for groundwater impact assessment. However, the Burnham Chapter used to get their water from a nearby well, but currently has water piped in from the Carson/Huerfano area to the east, outside of the groundwater CIA. Additionally, the water withdrawn from the Carson/Huerfano area is from the Ojo Alamo aquifer, located well above the Fruitland formation. Therefore, although the Burnham Chapter is within the groundwater cumulative impact area, a specific water quantity assessment related to Burnham water use is not warranted since water used at this location is derived from a source outside the CIA. Well #90 located west of Area V and the Chaco River (Figure 12) is completed in the PCS (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). The hydrographic survey identified W-0312 east of the permit just south of the San Juan River, it is owned by the Navajo Tribal Utility Authority and W-0349 east of Area IV South along the Pinabete Arroyo (United States of America 2011, Appendix D). New Mexico State Engineer's Office Records and the USGS have identified SJ 00248 (G7, #6) in the alluvium of the San Juan River Northwest of the NTEC lease (Thorn 1993). NTEC also provides the community potable water at two locations, one near the Navajo North facilities and the other near the Area III facilities (NTEC 2013, Exhibit 41-2).

3.2 Industrial Supply Water

The Arizona Public Service (APS) Four Corners Power Plant (FCPP) and NTEC are the primary industrial water users within the CIA's. In addition to APS and NTEC, significant oil and gas extraction occurs within the San Juan Basin, including the Chaco Watershed. Oil and Gas extraction wells use groundwater resources within the vicinity of the permit areas. A few gas wells were identified within the GW CIA just north and east of the NTEC permits. Gas extraction is the only industrial use of groundwater within the groundwater CIA beyond water required for operation of the FCPP and NTEC mining and reclamation activities.

San Juan River surface water is used at the FCPP and by NTEC through the use of Surface Permit Number 2838 issued by the New Mexico Office of the State Engineer in October 1958. This permit provides a total diversionary right of 51,600 acre-feet annually (~71 ft3/second), with a consumptive right of 39,000 acre-feet annually (~54 ft3/second), for waters drawn from the San Juan River (United States of America 2011, Table L-1).

Water diverted from the San Juan River is diverted to Morgan Lake [P-0016] (Figure 13), which is the primary source of industrial water in the area, and is used by both NTEC and APS. NNEPA has designated Morgan Lake for primary and secondary human contact, fish consumption, aquatic wildlife and habitat, and livestock watering. Morgan Lake is a manmade reservoir approximately 1.2 miles wide and 2.2 miles long; it has a maximum depth of about 100 feet and a surface area of 1,260 acres at its maximum storage. Built in 1961 and operated by APS, Morgan Lake holds approximately 39,200 acrefeet of water at normal storage and 42,800 acre-feet of water at maximum storage. Water from Morgan Lake is used as cooling water at the FCPP and also for use in dust suppression and reclamation irrigation activities associated with the NTEC Lease Area. APS uses an ultra-filtration system to purify the water before using it to cool the turbines, and diverts a small portion for drinking water within the plant.

APS manages 11 impoundments northwest of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area which are supplied by industrial water from the power plant and used for industrial purposes [P-0430 through P-0440]. There are an additional 3 impoundments supplied by industrial sources just south of Morgan Lake [P-0022 through P-0024] (United States of America 2011, Table K-1). NTEC manages several impoundments on the current lease area, as outlined in PAP Part 4 Section 26 and summarized in Appendix C, from which they extract water for use in dust suppression. In addition to impoundments operated by APS and NTEC, 6 impoundments supported by the Navajo Indian Irrigation Project (NIIP) irrigation channel are used as a

fish hatchery east of the Neck section of Area II of the Navajo Mine permit [P-1430 through P-1435] (United States of America 2011, Table K-1). Although El Segundo Mine is partially within the surface water CIA, the water supply for the mine is from a groundwater well outside of the groundwater CIA. All of these impoundments within the immediate vicinity of the NTEC Lease Area can be seen on Figure 13.

3.3 Irrigation Supply Water

Groundwater is not used for irrigation within the groundwater CIA. However, there is significant use of surface water for irrigation within the surface water CIA. The closest surface water body to the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease to be designated by the NNEPA for agricultural water supply is the San Juan River. Water from the San Juan River is used for irrigation by NAPI, NTEC and Navajo Nation Fruitland-Cambridge irrigation projects within the vicinity of the lease area. The Fruitland-Cambridge project is just north of the lease area and has a diversion right of 18,180 acre feet per year and depletion right of 7,970 acre feet per year, however all fields on the southern edge of the San Juan drain into the San Juan and do not extend south into the Chaco watershed. Therefore, this project does not extend into the surface water CIA. NTEC operates an irrigation pipeline (initiated in 1975), which provides water from Morgan Lake for the irrigation of revegetation plots as part of the approved reclamation plan (NTEC 2013, Part 3 Sect. 22.3). NAPI withdrawals water from the Navajo Reservoir. The Navajo Reservoir is approximately 33 miles east of Farmington, NM and outside of the surface water CIA.

NAPI is part of the Navajo Indian Irrigation Project (NIIP). On June 13, 1962, Congress authorized the NIIP to furnish irrigation water to 110,630 acres of land with an average annual diversion of 508,000 acre feet of water. The initial 1962 project authorization allowed for development of 77,543 acres of land east and 33,087 acres west of the Chaco River. On September 25, 1970, following a reevaluation of the project, the site descriptions authorized by the original 1962 Act were amended to exclude the proposed irrigated lands west of the Chaco River and include additional townships east of the river such that all proposed irrigated 110,630 acres were east of the Chaco River (United States of America 2011). NAPI was created by the Navajo Tribal Council on April 16, 1970 (Moore 2006). NAPI has developed in stages and by blocks; eleven blocks of approximately 10,000 acres each were created (United States of America 2011). On April 10, 1976 Farm Block I received its first release of water (Moore 2006).

Today, the project is still under construction. Blocks 1 through 8 and the first six fields of Block 9 of NIIP have been completed and are operational. Since 1962, of the acres authorized for development, 79,760 acres have been developed and are subject to project irrigation. Blocks 1, 2 and 4 are east of Gallegos Canyon and outside of the surface water CIA. Block 3 is just east of Area I and II and well within the surface water CIA. Block 2 is just north and east of Block 3, and while part of it drains into the Bitsui watershed it is outside of the Chaco watershed (surface water CIA). Block 7 is just east of Block 3 and partially contained within the CIA. Block 8 and 9 are south of Block 7 and also partially contained in the CIA (United States of America 2011, Appendix E).

In addition to NAPI and NTEC impoundments, 77 impoundments are supplied by surface water sources, other than the San Juan River, which are used for irrigation within the surface water CIA. The 77 impoundments include diversions, in-channel impoundments, and off-channel impoundments. All 77 of these impoundments drain into the Chaco from the opposite side of the basin from NTEC and are located either west or south of the Chaco. Additionally there are 15 impoundments used for irrigation within the SW CIA that are supplied by groundwater or spring sources, all drain into the Chaco from the opposite side of the basin from NTEC and are located either west or south of the Chaco from the opposite side of the Chaco from the opposite side of the basin from NTEC and are located either west or south of the Chaco from the opposite side of the basin from NTEC and are located either west or south of the Chaco from the opposite side of the basin from NTEC and are located either west or south of the Chaco from the opposite side of the basin from NTEC and are located either west or south of the Chaco from the opposite side of the basin from NTEC and are located either west or south of the Chaco (United States of America 2011, Appendix F).

The hydrographic survey also identifies acreage associated with tributary irrigation project lands that utilize water from sources other than the Mainstem of the San Juan River (Figure 14). One project which irrigates by diversion of surface flows from the No Name Wash is just South of Area IV

North, and east of the Chaco River. Two projects which also irrigate by diversion of surface flows from the Teec-ni-di-tso Wash are southwest of Area V and east of the Chaco River. None of these tributary irrigation projects have associated impoundments. The fourth tributary irrigation project is the R.L. Tanner project located north of the Chaco River and southeast of the NTEC lease area in the Lower De-na-zin Wash HUC-12 Watershed. The project has an associated reservoir and irrigates by diversion of surface flows from the De-na-zin Wash. All other tributary irrigation project lands are located either west or south of the Chaco on the opposite side of the basin from the NTEC permit area (United States of America 2011, Appendix E).

3.4 Livestock Supply Water

Livestock grazing has been and is currently the largest land use on Navajo Lands. Within the San Juan Watershed a variety of water sources exist to meet the demands of livestock. Surface water from the mainstem of the San Juan River and its tributaries has been, and continues to be, used for livestock purposes. In addition, groundwater sources are also utilized to meet livestock demands. On Navajo Lands within the San Juan Watershed, there are 650 wells and 138 springs that have been identified as serving livestock purposes. Finally, on Navajo Land, stock impoundments have been built or maintained to create an additional source of water for livestock. These stock impoundments are supplied with water and are filled and refilled annually to the extent that water is available. The United States has identified that the reserved water right associated with livestock grazed on the lands held in trust for the Navajo Nation is 304 acre feet per year (afy) of depletion (486 afy diversion). Additionally, the Navajo Nation water rights associated with stock impoundments as water is available (United States of America 2011).

NTEC has completed an inventory of wells and springs within the permit and adjacent area (NTEC 2013, Appendix 41.A). The inventory was extended beyond the Navajo Mine and Pinabete permit areas and includes wells completed in the alluvium of the Chaco River and the San Juan River. The hydrographic survey conducted as part of the ongoing water rights settlement agreement also identified wells and springs used for livestock watering within the groundwater CIA (United States of America 2011).

All together thirty-nine wells used for stock watering were identified within the groundwater CIA. Three wells are located along the San Juan River north of the NTEC lease, two of these are specifically identified as alluvial wells [W-0695 (G-2), SJ 00264 (#7)], and the other well [W-0593] does not have an identified completion level. There are fifteen wells along the Chaco, nine of which are identified to be alluvial [W-0202, W-0607, W-0203, W-0204, W-0519, W-0645, 13-AW, GM-32], one is identified to be in the PCS [#90], and the other four [W-0342, W-0520, W-0538, W-0539] have unidentified completion levels. Two wells are located along Bitsui Wash, one east [W-0313] and one north [W-0603] of the lease, both have unidentified completion levels. One improved spring [S-0767] is located adjacent to the Chinde Wash east of the lease area. Two wells used for stock watering are located west of the lease area within the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium [W-0618, W-0644]. Seven wells are identified along Pinabete Arroyo, 4 within the lease area [W-0343, W-0345, W-0344, W-0346] and 3 west of the lease boundary [W-0348, W-0349, GM-22], six are identified to be in the alluvium, and one has no identified completion level. There is one well within the lease area along No Name Wash which has no identified completion level [W-0606]. Six wells have been identified as used for stock watering along Brimhall Wash, none of which have identified completion levels [W-0314, W-0537, W-0540, W-0544, W-0545, W-0624]. There are an additional seventeen wells identified within the groundwater CIA with no identified use. Livestock watering is the primary use of groundwater within the CIA. The location of all referenced wells can be found in Appendix B and Figure 12.

All surface waters within the CIA are designated by the NNEPA for livestock watering use, including Morgan Lake. Surface water flows are used opportunistically by sheep or other livestock which might be

in the vicinity when the channels are carrying water. However, livestock normally use stock watering ponds which have been constructed to catch surface flows. Surface water use adjacent to the El Segundo mine is confined to opportunistic use by ranchers for livestock watering (NMEMNRD 2008).

NTEC has conducted an inventory of the stock watering ponds within the permit and adjacent area (NTEC 2013, Exhibit 16-3). The inventory found 11 pre-mine stock ponds, which have been disturbed, or will be disturbed by mining. NTEC also identified 4 ponds west of Area II, 3 east of Area II, 2 west of Area III, and 11 east of Area III.

The hydrographic survey conducted as part of the ongoing water rights settlement agreement also identified stock ponds within and adjacent to the lease area (United States of America 2011). One inchannel impoundment [P-5378] was indentified east of Area II slightly south of Area I. Five impoundments were identified east of the Chaco, west of the Areas II and III, three in Chaco tributaries north of the Cottonwood [P-5358, P-5354, P-5305], one in a Cottonwood tributary south of the main fork [P-5294], and one in a Chaco tributary south of Cottonwood [P-0384]. Fourteen in-channel stock impoundments were identified east of Area II and III, six in the Chinde [P-0365, P-1769, P-0366, P-5352, P-0367, P-0354], two in the north fork of Cottonwood [P-5306, P-5318], one in the South Barber Arroyo [P-5344], and five in Lowe Arroyo [P-5325, P-5324, P-5323, P-5320, P-5316]. All referenced impoundment locations can be found in Appendix B and page 1 of Figure 13.

Additionally, twelve in channel impoundments were identified east of Areas III and IV North, in Cottonwood Arroyo and Cottonwood Arroyo tributaries [P-5318, P-0382, P-0355, P-0356, P-5311, P-0695, P-0691, P-0690, P-5280, P-5357, P-0700, P-0692]. South of Area IV North, 41 stock impoundments were identified; sixteen in-channel impoundments are within Pinabete Arroyo and Pinabete Arroyo tributaries [P-5274, P-5261, P-5233, P-5232, P-0350, P-0349, P-0348, P-5241, P-0346, P-0345, P-5262, P-0685, P-0688, P-0687, P-5250, P-0689], two in No Name Wash [P-0332, P-0342], and 23 in Brimhall Wash and Brimhall Wash tributaries [P-0337, P-0339, P-5192, P-5184, P-0341, P-5187, P-5190, P-5209, P-0343, P-5213, P-0344, P-0813, P-5180, P-0608, P-5183, P-0610, P-0611, P-0594, P-0593, P-5195, P-5189, P-0593, P-0591] (United States of America 2011, Appendix M). All referenced impoundment locations can be found in Appendix B and Figure 13.

Outside of the permit and adjacent area, 242 stock impoundments were identified northeast of the Chaco River on the same side of the watershed as the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease; 205 are in-channel, two are offchannel, three are NIIP supplied, and one is a diversion. 791 stock impoundments were identified southwest of the Chaco River; 767 are in-channel, nine are off-channel, and fifteen are diversions (United States of America 2011, Appendix M). Additionally, NTEC provides water to local permitees in tanks for livestock use in areas around the lease, when requested (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Given the total number of stock impoundments, it is evident that livestock watering is the primary use of surface water within the CIA.

3.5 Aquatic and Wildlife Habitat Water Supply

The Chaco River and all tributaries including the Chinde Wash and Cottonwood Arroyo are designated by the NNEPA for Aquatic & Wildlife Habitat use. The Aquatic and Wildlife Habitat designated use indicates that the water body supports use by animals, plants or other organisms, including salmonids and non-salmonids, and non-domestic animals (including migratory birds) for habitation, growth or propagation (NNEPA 2007).

All water sources are considered wildlife habitats, particularly in the arid region within which the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease occurs. The vegetation around water sources may be more vigorous or comprised of different species than found in the surrounding area. The predominant wildlife water sources are ponds and impoundments on the lease and nearby areas. Of particular interest are three ponds located on pre-law lands at the french drain discharge point in Area II, based on observations the ponds appear to be

permanent year long features. Other small ponds only contain water after precipitation events and are dry most of the time; off lease stock ponds depend on runoff for their water supply. Wildlife and their habitats on and adjacent to the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease have been surveyed during several studies conducted at various times since 1973 through 1987 and 1989. The lease does not contain any streams or ponds with fish, and Morgan Lake is the closet water body within the surface water CIA that provides fishing habitat. The scarcity of suitable water sources on the lease limits the potential habitat for amphibians. The lesser earless lizard, western whiptail, and sagebrush lizard were the most frequently observed reptiles on the lease (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 16).

Waterfowl in the area use water sources such as stock ponds and impoundments on the lease opportunistically as they migrate through the area. Morgan Lake, which is located off lease but within the surface water CIA, provides more suitable waterfowl habitat than is available on the lease. Horned larks are by far the most abundant passerine bird species throughout the year. Other common breeding birds are mourning doves and rough-winged swallows. Mourning doves were the most frequently observed game bird, and mourning dove and waterfowl hunting is provided at Morgan Lake. Blue-winged or cinnamon teal were the most common species observed using the small ponds. White-faced ibis migrate through the region and are occasionally observed at stock ponds or other water sources. Raptors nesting within the lease and adjacent buffer zone during 1987 were ferruginous hawk, red-tailed hawk, American kestrel, and burrowing owl. One active ferruginous hawk nest was located on the lease and several were located within approximately one-quarter mile of the lease boundary. Three red-tailed hawk nests were located on the lease. Additional raptors nesting beyond the one-quarter mile buffer include ferruginous hawk, redtailed hawk, golden eagle, prairie falcon, and barn owl (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 16).

Mule deer are the only big game animal that has been reported on the lease, though they are infrequently observed. Deer mice and silky pocket mice are the most abundant small mammals throughout most of the habitats on the lease. Prairie dogs and kangaroo rats are relatively common on the upland habitats on the lease. Blacktailed jackrabbits and cottontails are common medium-sized mammals. Common predators include red fox, kit fox, coyote, and badger. The prairie dog colonies on the lease provide potential habitat for the endangered black-footed ferret, however, no black-footed ferret has been found during over 1000 hours of night spotlight surveys conducted on the lease. Other endangered species that may use the area are bald eagle and peregrine falcon. Neither of the species nests on the lease and no suitable nesting habitat for either of them occurs on the lease. Both species may occasionally use the area during the migration or winter periods. Other species of high interest that breed on the lease are ferruginous hawk and mountain plover (NTEC 2013, Part 2 Sect. 16).







4 BASELINE HYDROLOGIC CONDITIONS

The issuance of the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 (SMCRA) established that surface coal mining operations are to be conducted as to protect the environment, and to assure that a balance between the protection of the environment and the production of coal as a source of energy is maintained (SMCRA, Section 102(d) and (f), 1977). Therefore, as presented in OSMRE's guidance document for the preparation of PHC's and CHIA's, the goals in establishment of baseline hydrologic conditions are to characterize the local hydrology, understand the regional hydrologic balance, and identify any water resource or water use that could be affected by the mining operation (US DOI, 2002). The guidance document is consistent with 30 CFR 780.21: Hydrologic Information. However, NTEC mining operations commenced prior to the issuance of SMCRA, making quantification of baseline conditions for impact assessment challenging for some hydrologic resources in the northern lease area due to the absence of pre-mining information since it was not required prior to 1977.

In compliance with the issuance of SMCRA, in the late 1970's an extensive hydrologic monitoring program was initiated documenting the interaction between the surface water system and alluvial and Fruitland ground water systems within the lease area. Although the majority of hydrologic information was collected after mining operations began, the data sets developed over the last 30 years of monitoring provide insight regarding baseline conditions based on water quality and quantity trend analysis. Assessment of predictive impacts from the 1984 CHIA, 2012 CHIA, and this 2015 CHIA are based on the available information in the approved PAP at time of publication. Information from data sets for the period of record is used and applied to understand baseline conditions and inform the evaluation of predictive impacts.

The general approach for hydrologic impact assessment is similar to the 1984 CHIA, and the same as the 2012 CHIA. Chapter 3 of this document identified the water resource uses and designations within the surface and ground water CIA's delineated in Chapter 2. The following discussion on the baseline hydrologic conditions will consider available surface and ground water information to characterize both regional and local hydrologic quantity and quality in the assessment areas. Chapter 5 will utilize the characterization of regional and local hydrologic quantity and quality to facilitate hydrologic impact analysis related to the existing and foreseeable water uses, and Chapter 6 make hydrologic determinations of the potential for the mining operation to result in material damage outside the lease area.

4.1 Surface Water

The drainages in the surface water CIAs are considered ephemeral, intermittent and perennial based on OSMRE definitions at 30 CFR 701.5. An ephemeral stream is when a stream flows only in direct response to precipitation in the immediate watershed or in response to the melting of a cover of snow and ice, and which has a channel bottom that is always above the local water table. An intermittent stream is considered a stream, or reach of a stream, that is below the water table for a least some part of the year, and obtains its flow from both surface runoff and groundwater discharge. OSMRE further defines intermittent at 30 CFR 701.5 as a stream, or reach of stream, that drains a watershed of a least one square mile. A perennial stream is defined as a stream or part of a stream that flows continuously during all of the calendar year as a result of ground-water discharge or surface runoff.

4.1.1 Surface Water Regulatory Requirements

Water Quality

Surface water runoff from areas disturbed by mining operations is required to be managed in a manner that prevents additional contribution of suspended solids to stream flow outside the lease area to the extent possible with the best technology currently available, and otherwise prevents surface water pollution (30 CFR 816.41(d)). NTEC ensures compliance of surface water protection by designing,

constructing, and maintaining siltation structures, impoundments, diversions, and designating stream buffer zones within the lease area.

NTEC is required to submit a monthly report to the USEPA regarding NPDES Permit No. NN0028193. The NPDES monthly reports document the water quality and quantity of discharge to the washes when high runoff events exceed the storage capacity design of the structure and surface water discharge to the wash occurs. Additionally, NTEC may dewater ponds in order to ensure sufficient design capacity by either transferring water to nearby ponds with available capacity, or by discharging water into the downstream wash in accordance with the NPDES permit.

Water Quantity

NTEC is required to reclaim lands disturbed by mining so the lands may be returned to the appropriate land management agency in a condition compatible with and capable of supporting the approved postmining land uses. Therefore, the reclamation plan has been designed by NTEC to produce lands which will be compatible with and will support livestock grazing. The approved post-mining land use is livestock grazing, which is consistent with the pre-mining land use. In order to support the livestock grazing post-mining land use, and after consultation with the Navajo Nation and the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), NTEC proposed to replace the 11 livestock ponds impacted by mining as part of reclamation to ensure a greater viability of post-mining land use success. All the reconstructed ponds will be built to accommodate a similar volume to estimated pre-mining volumes and in the vicinity of the pre-mining locations. The reclamation plan has been previously agreed to by the BIA and the Navajo Nation.

4.1.2 Surface Water Regime

The surface water CIA flow regime is influenced by the duration, intensity, and extent of the precipitation events and the transmission loss rates to the alluvium along the channels. NTEC has conducted several field investigations to better understand these intricate influences of the surface water regime within the lease area. Additionally, the surface water monitoring program continues to provide information necessary for hydrologic evaluation and compliance with SMCRA regulatory requirements. The continued collection and analysis of hydrologic data is utilized to continually assess and update probable hydrologic consequences to the surface water regime.

4.1.3 El Segundo Mine

El Segundo coal mine is located approximately 70 miles southeast from the southern tip of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease boundary. The proposed lease area is divided into two subwatersheds by the continental divide and is crossed by several unnamed ephemeral, arroyos. The western portion of the lease area drains into the Chaco River through an unnamed, ephemeral channel that drains to Laguna Castillo before flowing into a named drainage, Kim-me-ni-oli Wash, and into the Chaco River. The USGS maintained a gaging station on Kim-me-ni-oli wash from October 1981 to September of 1983. The utility of this station is questionable due to a baseflow discharge to the wash from the proposed Phillips Petroleum, Nose Rock Uranium Mine at that time period. The 2 year data set indicates that surface flows in the ephemeral channel are highly variable, ranging from zero to 1060 cfs. The ephemeral arroyos passing through the lease area flow only in direct response to storm events and have channel bottoms that are above the local water table. The drainage area for the main western drainage as it leaves the lease area is approximately 24.7 square miles of which about 6.1 square miles (25%) of the total watershed are proposed to be disturbed by mining (NMEMNRD 2008). In the western unnamed Arroyo drainages bicarbonate is the dominant anion and calcium is the major cation followed by sodium. Additionally, total suspended solids and possibly aluminum concentrations exceed various New Mexico water quality standards under baseline conditions (NMEMNRD 2008).

4.1.4 Morgan Lake

Built in 1961, Morgan Lake is a manmade reservoir and perennial surface water body, west of Area I (Figure 15). It was constructed to supply water to mining and power generation activities in the area. Morgan Lake is approximately 1.2 miles wide and 2.2 miles long with a maximum depth of about 100 feet and a surface area of 1,260 acres at its maximum storage. Morgan Lake has a volume of approximately 39,200 acre-feet of water at normal storage and 42,800 acre-feet of water at maximum storage.

Morgan Lake has influence on baseline conditions of Navajo Mine areas I, II, and III. It has had a significant impact to baseline conditions with respect to both surface water quantity and groundwater quantity in the area. One of the principal impacts in which Morgan Lake has affected surface water is at its outflow point where it discharges into the Chaco River. Flow in the Chaco River is ephemeral except for the last 12.5 miles of the river, where perennial flow is the result of spillway overflows from Morgan Lake. It has also had an effect on the groundwater regime in the area, specifically within the PCS. The PCS potentiometric surface in Figure 15 shows how Morgan Lake has likely affected groundwater quantity around its perimeter and within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease Area.

Water from the San Juan River is pumped to Morgan Lake for use as cooling water at the APS Four Corners Generating Station and also for use in dust suppression and reclamation irrigation activities associated with the NTEC Lease Area. Therefore, baseline water quality in Morgan Lake is most likely similar to that found in the San Juan River. The San Juan River has a better water quality compared to water within the Chaco River Watershed; specifically a comparison of water quality from USGS stations along the San Juan and Chaco Rivers shows that TDS concentrations within the Chaco River are approximately three times more than TDS concentration within the San Juan River. Morgan Lake is designated for the following uses by the NNEPA; livestock watering, aquatic and wildlife habitat, secondary and primary human contact and fish consumption (NNEPA 2007).



4.1.5 Chaco River

4.1.5.1 Surface Water Quantity

The Chaco River is an ephemeral drainage up until the last 12.5 miles of the stream where runoff from Morgan Lake has caused it to be perennial. All of the primary drainages of interest at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease except for Bitsui Wash drain into the Chaco River. Water monitoring historically occurred at two USGS gage stations along the Chaco River, station #09367950 near Waterflow, NM and station #09367938 near Burnham, NM. The locations of these two water monitoring stations are illustrated in Figure 8. The stations were actively monitored for stream flow and select water quality parameters from 1977-1994 and from 1977-1982, respectively. Station #09367938 exhibits the original ephemeral nature of the Chaco River, which existed prior to the construction of Morgan Lake. USGS station #09367938 is considered to be representative of baseline conditions within the Chaco River relative to mining impacts as it is upstream of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit areas. Flow at USGS station #09367938 is shown in Figure 16. All of the large flow events occur in response to precipitation.



Figure 16: Baseline Monthly Flow along the Chaco River

4.1.5.2 Surface Water Quality

The Chaco River within the vicinity of the NTEC lease area is designated for the following uses by the NNEPA; livestock watering, aquatic and wildlife habitat, secondary human contact and fish consumption. Additionally, the Chaco River from its mouth to the mouth of Dead Man's Wash is designated by the NNEPA for Primary Human Contact (NNEPA 2007). The principal use of surface waters near the lease area is for stock watering ponds (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41).

4.1.5.2.1 Methodology

Surface water quality analysis, where data was available, has been done for all constituents for which there are NNEPA criteria, as these constituents have been identified by NNEPA to have potential impact on use (NNEPA 2007). Additionally, analysis has been conducted on TDS, sulfate, chloride, and fluoride as these are generally considered to be harmful to livestock at elevated concentrations (Lardy, Stoltenow and Johnson 2008). Select surface water use criteria are presented in Table 3 below. Analysis was also conducted for dissolved iron based on the water quality definition referenced in SMCRA at 30 CFR §

816.42, which for western alkaline mining is defined in 40 CFR § 434.81 to be a drainage effluent maximum of 10mg/L. No manganese criteria is defined for western alkaline mining in 40 CFR § 434.81.

Table 3: Surface Water Criteria

		Aquatic &	Aquatic &	Secondary	Fich		
Constituent	Livestock	(Acute)	(Chronic)	Contact	Consumption		
Aluminum	NNS	0.75	0.087	NNS	NNS		
Arsenic	0.2	0.34	0.15	0.28	0.08		
Barium	NNS	NNS	NNS	98	NNS		
Boron	5	NNS	NNS	126	NNS		
Cadmium ¹	0.05	.0041	.00041	0.47	0.008		
Chloride	600**	NNS	NNS	NNS	NNS		
Chromium (III+IV)	1	NNS	NNS	NNS	NNS		
Chromium III	NNS	.00061	.035	1400	75		
Chromium IV	NNS	.016	.011	2.8	0.15		
Copper ¹	0.5	.027	.017	9.33	NNS		
Fluoride	2*	NNS	NNS	56	NNS		
Lead ¹	0.1	.14	.0056	0.015	NNS		
Mercury	NNS	0.0024	0.000001	0.28	0.00015		
Nitrate	500*	NNS	NNS	1493.33	NNS		
рН	6.5-9.0	6.5-9.0	6.5-9.0	6.5-9.0	NNS		
Radium 226+228	30	NNS	NNS	NNS	NNS		
Selenium	0.05	0.033	0.002	4.67	0.67		
Silver ¹	NNS	.012	NNS	4.67	8		
Sulfate	1000*	NNS	NNS	NNS	NNS		
TDS	3000*	NNS	NNS	NNS	NNS		
Zinc ¹	25	.0375	.0378	280	5.1		
Note all values are NNEPA 2007 criterion unless otherwise specified							

NNS = No Numeric Standard

¹ Aquatic & Wildlife Criterion are hardness dependent and calculated for a hardness of 210 mg/L as CaCO3, which is the median across all surface water samples

*Lardy, Stoltenow and Johnson 2008

**NNEPA 2004 Criterion

Several statistical parameters were run during the analysis of surface water quality including, average and standard deviation, median and median absolute deviation (MAD), third quartile (Q3), and ninety-fifth percentile. Variability of surface water quality data in the area was found to be high with the Percent Relative Standard Deviation (%RSD) across all parameters at all sites ranging from 44% to 126% with a median of 85%. Therefore, given the high variability in the data, the use of medians and MAD as compared to other parameters was considered more appropriate for characterization, as it is a more robust measure of variability of a data set and more resilient to the influence of outliers (NIST 2010). The

median and MAD are therefore used throughout the characterization of baseline within this CHIA; however, all statistical values can be found in Appendix D.

4.1.5.2.2 Analysis

Surface water quality data is available on the Chaco at two historic USGS monitoring stations, which bracket all Chaco River tributaries traversing the lease area; station 09367950 downstream of the Morgan Lake discharge point and station 09367938 upstream of No Name Wash confluence (Figure 8). USGS station 09367938 is considered representative of baseline conditions within the Chaco River since it is upstream of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. Water quality data was collected by the USGS at this site from July of 1977 to August of 1982.

Baseline data has a high variability, with a calculated median percent relative standard deviation for all constituents of 44 percent. There were no exceedances of NNEPA and other relevant livestock watering criteria or NNEPA secondary human contact criteria. However aluminum, cadmium, copper, mercury, selenium and zinc exceeded NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria for 50%, 100%, 57%, 100%, 67% and 17% of all samples respectively. Chromium, copper, mercury and zinc levels also exceeded NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife criteria for 100%, 14%, 31%, and 17% of all samples respectively. Mercury also exceeded NNEPA fish consumption standards for 100% of all samples. Additionally, the median aluminum, cadmium, copper mercury and selenium values were 2, 1.2, 1.2, 2100, and 1.5 times greater than the NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat standards. The median chromium value was 12 times the NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat standard. The median mercury value was also 14 times the NNEPA and other relevant criteria is appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing. However, elevated levels of aluminum, cadmium, chromium, copper, mercury, and selenium were found relative to aquatic and wildlife habitat and fish consumption NNEPA criteria. There were no exceedances of the SMCRA dissolved iron standard.

4.1.6 Historic Mining Area North of the Navajo and Pinabete Permit Areas

Prior to mining and before the development of up gradient agricultural lands, surface flows in channels traversing this area were predominantly ephemeral. The ephemeral surface flows carry high sediment loads. The increased application of surface water from NAPI has impacted the area hydrology and water quality. NAPI impacts in this area consist of indirect discharges from irrigation return flows. The indirect NAPI related discharges are a result of return flows caused by infiltrating irrigation water. The impacts of the NAPI activities on the baseline channel hydrologic balance are expressed as highly variable increases in flow and discharge. The indirect NAPI related discharges result in leaching of the unconfined geologic surface formations and soils. NAPI impacts increase the already highly variable hydrologic balance as a result of mining (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41).

The historic mining area north of the NTEC permit areas include the Watson, Bitsui, Dodge, and Custer pits, of these only the Custer pit area is within the surface water CIA. The Custer Pit area is within the Morgan Lake-Chaco River HUC12 watershed along with the Bighan Pit area. The Bighan Pit area is within the Navajo Mine permit area therefore the characterization of the baseline water quantity for the Morgan Lake-Chaco River HUC12 watershed is included below in Section 4.1.2.1.5.1. There are no major tributaries to the Chaco River which traverse this area, and no baseline surface water data is available for this area within the surface water CIA.

4.1.7 Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

4.1.7.1 Surface Water Baseline Quantity

Prior to mining and before the development of up gradient agricultural lands, surface flows in channels traversing the permit areas were predominantly ephemeral. The ephemeral surface flows carry high

sediment loads. Stock watering ponds are the principal use of surface water on or near the lease area, and these are not located on the larger tributaries where pond embankments are susceptible to failure due to flash floods.

The increased application and discharge of surface water from NAPI has impacted the permit area hydrology. NAPI impacts include direct discharges of water from irrigation canals and indirect discharges from irrigation return flows. NAPI direct discharges are a result of an oversupply of water in the canal that is released directly to a wash. Discharge events for the streams are highly variable, occur quickly, and can last up to 12 hours causing significant erosion and sediment transport in the channel (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). The indirect NAPI related discharges are a result of return flows to the wash caused by the infiltrating irrigation water. The impacts of the NAPI activities on the baseline channel hydrologic balance are expressed as highly variable increases in flow and discharge.

The irrigation return waters have changed the Chinde Wash from ephemeral conditions to perennial conditions. Cottonwood Arroyo does not have perennial conditions. Water quantity impacts of NAPI activities on the baseline hydrologic balance of the Cottonwood Arroyo will be highly variable increases in the flow and discharge. Moreover these impacts increase the already highly variable hydrologic balance as a result of mining.

Quantitative and qualitative data to characterize the NAPI impacts to these drainages is being collected as part of the surface water monitoring plan. Historically, nineteen surface water monitoring stations were established on drainages that pass through the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area, of which seventeen are within the surface water CIA (Figure 17). The stations within the CIA cover the Chinde, and No Name Washes along with Lowe (only one sample was taken along this wash before the stations were abandoned), Cottonwood, and Pinabete Arroyos. All of the monitoring stations north of station CS-1 have been impacted by irrigation activities derived from the NAPI project located to the east of the permit (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). There is little to no flow that passes through the lease area along Hosteen Wash, Barber Wash and Lowe Arroyo. The combination of upstream check dams, the present mining topography, and higher soil infiltration rates in the case of reclaimed areas causes surface water flow to be attenuated as it passes through the lease area along these drainages.

Mining and reclamation activities occur primarily within four HUC12 watersheds that either intersect or contain portions of the lease area (Figure 6). The watersheds include the Morgan Lake-Chaco River, Chinde Wash-Chaco River, Coal Creek-Chaco River, and Cottonwood Arroyo watersheds. Each major tributary to the Chaco River are described by watershed in the following sections.

Modeling using SEDCAD 4 was implemented to assess peak flows in response to the 10-year, 6-hour storm events within each HUC 12 watershed. NTEC developed SEDCAD models for all major drainages which traverse the lease area. The Chinde Wash and Cottonwood Arroyo Watersheds are both representative of HUC 12 range, as they were modeled directly in the PHC, and models have been reviewed by OSMRE; this modeling was not duplicated for purposes of this CHIA, rather results of NTEC models presented in the PHC are used. The PHC SEDCAD modeling only evaluated specific parts of the Coal Creek and Chinde-Chaco River HUC12 watersheds within the lease area where mining has occurred. Therefore for these HUC 12 watersheds information from the PHC on the pre-mining and post-mining SEDCAD inputs (curve numbers, runoff volumes, etc.) were integrated into simplified larger watershed scale models for the purpose of this evaluation. Excerpts from the OSMRE-generated SEDCAD models showing specific routing details, curve numbers, and other pertinent information are located in Appendix E. Figure 18 shows SEDCAD subwatersheds used in OSMRE modeled HUC 12 watersheds.





4.1.7.1.1 Morgan Lake-Chaco River Watershed

The Morgan Lake-Chaco River Watershed (HUC 12 number 140801062008) is located north of the Chinde Wash and Chinde Wash-Chaco River watersheds and comprises part of the northern section of the Navajo Mine. The surface area of the entire watershed is about 32,600 acres, and about 1,400 acres of the Navajo Mine permit area is within this watershed. The entirety of the permitted area that overlaps with this watershed is in the Area I section of the mine. Conditions within this watershed are dominated by the presence of Morgan Lake, which has significantly altered baseline conditions from what they might have been before the mine. SEDCAD modeling was not implemented on the watershed due to the small contribution that activities within the permit area would have on the total watershed, because of the effect that contributing perennial flow to the watershed outfall (Chaco River) from Morgan Lake would have on the model, and because most of the permit area present in this watershed either predates SMCRA regulatory requirements or OSMRE has terminated jurisdiction.

4.1.7.1.2 Chinde Wash Watershed

Chinde Wash (HUC 12 number 140801062006) has been disturbed by mining since before SMCRA was passed in 1977, so it is difficult to estimate pre-mining conditions along the stream reach. Little data was collected prior to this time period that characterized pre-development conditions along the Chinde Wash. Therefore, advanced techniques involving iterative modeling (SEDCAD) were utilized in the approved PHC, to address pre-mining conditions. The present watershed area of Chinde Wash is about 27,130 acres. An area of an additional 7,000 acres initially contributed to the present Chinde watershed but was diverted by NAPIs Ojo Amarillo canal into Cottonwood Arroyo. The baseline estimate of peak runoff for the entire drainage from the 10 year, 6-hour precipitation event is 715 cubic feet per second. Model details including SEDCAD subwatersheds can be found in the PHC (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41).

4.1.7.1.3 Chinde Wash-Chaco River Watershed

The Chinde Wash-Chaco River watershed (HUC 12 code 140801062007) is approximately 14,225 acres, of which the Navajo Mine permit area is 4,200 acres. It is composed of 3 principal sub-watersheds, namely Hosteen Wash, Barber Arroyo, and South Barber Arroyo. SEDCAD modeling was utilized to determine pre-mining estimates for peak flow from a 10 year, 6 hour storm event for the entire watershed. Figure 18 and Table 4 outline the details of the sub-watersheds for the area. Hosteen Wash is represented by the S1, S2, S4, and S5 sub-watersheds in the model and comprises a total of 5,860 acres, comparable to the 5,833 acres of the pre-mining area stated in the PHC model. South Barber Arroyo is represented by the S3 and S7 sub-watersheds and Barber Arroyo is represented as the S6 watershed. All of these watersheds collectively drain into the Chaco River, contributing runoff that is attenuated, to an extent, as it moves through each stream reach towards the ultimate discharge point in the HUC 12 watershed. The baseline estimate of peak discharge for the entire watershed is about 2,100 cubic feet per second for the 10 year, 6 hour rain event.

Chinde Wash- Waters	Chaco River shed
Subwatershed	Area (acres)
S1	1210
S2	2010
S3	1565
S4	1540
S5	1100
S6	1235
S7	1650
S8	980
S9	2930
Total	14220

Table 4: Chinde-Wash Chaco River Sub-Watershed Details

4.1.7.1.4 Coal Creek-Chaco River Watershed

The total watershed area for Coal Creek-Chaco River Watershed (HUC 12 code 140801062005) is 28,235 acres; of which approximately 2,900 acres is Navajo Mine lease area. The lease area-portion of the watershed is comprised of 2 separate sub-watersheds, the Neck Arroyo and Lowe Arroyo. The Lowe Arroyo is the larger of the two, approximately 7,700 acres, and is represented in SEDCAD as S10, S11, and S12. The Neck Arroyo is smaller in comparison, about 1,700 acres, little of which is disturbed by mining related impacts. Both the Lowe and the Neck Arroyo drain into the Chaco River, which ultimately exits the watershed to the northwest of its tributaries. To determine peak flows from the pre-mining surface configuration in the Coal Creek Watershed, SEDCAD modeling was utilized using a 10 year, 6 hour storm event as a basis of comparison. The area of each subwatershed is displayed in Table 5. Although the surface area of this watershed is quite large, the peak flow for the 10 year 6 hour storm event at the exit point of the watershed was estimated to be about 1,720 cubic feet per second.

Tuble Di Com Citer Du	b trater shear Details				
Coal Creek V	Coal Creek Watershed				
Subwatershed	Area (acres)				
S10	2860				
S11	3930				
S12	940				
S13	1740				
S14	1280				
S15	3530				
S16	7300				
S17	5060				
S18	1590				
Total	28230				

Table 5: C	Coal Creek	Sub-Watershed	Details

4.1.7.1.5 Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed

Cottonwood Arroyo is a major sand bed ephemeral drainage that passes through the southern portion of the Navajo Mine permit area and eastern portion of the Pinabete permit area. The HUC 12 watershed number 140801062002 is 29,845 acres and the ultimate outlet of the watershed is from Cottonwood Arroyo itself just before it drains into the Chaco River. Approximately 10 percent of the drainage area of the Cottonwood Arroyo watershed lies within the lease area. The total drainage area of the watershed includes 7,000 acres of the Chinde Wash drainage that is diverted by the NAPI Ojo Amarillo canal into the Cottonwood drainage. About 49 percent of this watershed is occupied by badlands that account for the high discharge and flow intensities observed in this drainage.

The total watershed area that was modeled in the PHC includes the 7,000 acres diverted from the Chinde Watershed, the Cottonwood Arroyo HUC12 Watershed, and an additional unnamed HUC12 number 140801062001 watershed directly south of the Cottonwood Arroyo watershed. The total of these three areas, as modeled in the Navajo Mine PHC, is 51,269 acres.

The modeled flow response in Cottonwood Arroyo is characterized by a rapid increase in discharge from a dry channel to peak discharge, followed by a recession to a low discharge over several hours. The premining estimate of peak flow in response to the 10-year, 6-hour storm event is 1,551 cubic feet per second. Model details including SEDCAD subwatersheds can be found in the PHC (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41).

4.1.7.2 Surface Water Baseline Quality

All surface waters which cross the lease area are designated for the following uses by the NNEPA; livestock watering, aquatic and wildlife habitat, secondary human contact and fish consumption (NNEPA)

2007). The principal use of surface waters on or near the lease area is for stock watering ponds (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Surface water quality analysis, where data was available, has been done using the same methodology used for analysis of the Chaco River as described in Section 4.1.5.2.1 above.

Prior to mining and before the development of up gradient agricultural lands, surface flows in channels traversing the lease area were predominantly ephemeral. Under baseline conditions, these tributary channels carry very high concentrations of suspended solids and bed loads during storm runoff (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Generally surface waters within the northern lease area, specifically Chinde watershed, are of the sodium sulfate type while surface waters in the southern lease area, specifically Cottonwood watershed, are of the sodium sulfate/sodium bicarbonate type. This difference might be explained by different salts being present in the soils of the different watersheds (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18-G).

Monitoring of tributaries to the Chaco River that traverse the lease area has revealed a range of surface water conditions that are considered representative of similar tributaries traversing the lease area, on which there has been no monitoring. Historically, fifteen surface water monitoring stations were established on drainages that pass through the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area, of which thirteen are within the surface water CIA (Figure 17). The stations within the CIA cover the Chinde, and No Name Washes along with Lowe (only one sample was taken along this wash prior to the station being abandoned), Cottonwood, and Pinabete Arroyos. All of the monitoring stations north of station CS-1 have been impacted by irrigation activities derived from the NAPI project located to the east of the permit (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Since the effects of NAPI discharge are not attributable to the mine, the changes brought about by NAPI will be treated as baseline conditions. For this reason the baseline surface water quality discussion of Chaco River tributaries is divided into two sections: a discussion of baseline with NAPI impacts in the northern lease area, and a discussion of baseline without NAPI impacts in the southern lease area. Baseline water quality for the Chaco River and its major tributaries as they cross the lease area from north to south are described in the following sections. A complete summary of water quality data including tables and graphs can be found in Appendix D.

4.1.7.2.1 Baseline with NAPI

NAPI impacts include direct discharges of water from irrigation canals and indirect discharges from irrigation return flows. Direct discharge events are highly variable, occur quickly, and can last up to 12 hours causing significant erosion and sediment transport in the channel (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). The indirect NAPI related discharges result in leaching of the unconfined geologic surface formations and soils. NAPI impacts increase the already highly variable hydrologic balance and further decrease the potential for changes to the hydrologic balance as a result of mining. Quantitative data to characterize NAPI impacts is being collected as part of the surface water monitoring plan. For the purpose of this CHIA analysis, the results of NAPI discharges are taken into account when evaluating baseline surface water conditions for Chinde Wash and Cottonwood Arroyo.

A comparison of median baseline values at NAPI influenced stations on Chinde Wash and Cottonwood Arroyo to median baseline values at stations without NAPI influence on Pinabete Arroyo and No Name Wash showed that values were relatively consistent for aluminum, pH, and selenium. Aluminum and total iron values were relatively higher at non-NAPI influenced stations, whereas values were higher at NAPI influenced stations for barium, boron, cadmium, chloride, chromium, fluoride, lead, nitrate, silver, sulfate, TDS, zinc, conductivity, and manganese. Total Suspended Solids (TSS) was highest along Cottonwood Arroyo and lowest along Chinde Wash.

4.1.7.2.1.1 Chinde Wash

Surface water quality data is available on Chinde Wash at four monitoring stations which bracket the lease area; CD-2 and CD-2A downstream of the mine and CD-1 and CD-1A upstream of the mine (Figure

17). Water quality data was collected at CD-1 and CD-2 from 1986 to 1997 and at CD-1A and CD-2A from 1996 to present. There is no pre-mining data on Chinde Wash, however, CD-1 and CD-1A can be considered as baseline as they are upstream of the mine. It is important to note that while upstream of mining, CD-1 and CD-1A are both downstream of NAPI activities, and there is no pre-NAPI data on Chinde Wash. Chinde Wash is subject to both direct and indirect NAPI influences. Direct discharge events for the streams are highly variable, occur quickly, and can last up to 12 hours causing significant erosion and sediment transport in the channel. The indirect NAPI related discharges are a result of return flows to the wash caused by the infiltrating irrigation water, and most likely result in the continuous baseflow within Chinde Wash. TSS values are most likely lowest along Chinde Wash as some samples are taken during baseflow, whereas all TSS values for other drainages correspond to periodic high flow events. NAPI irrigation return waters leach the unconfined surface formations resulting in greater dissolved solids concentrations in base flow (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Section 41).

Baseline water quality data at CD-1 and CD-1A was found to have a relatively higher variability than that of Chaco River where the median percent relative standard deviation for all constituents was 85. Baseline water quality within Chinde Wash occasionally exceeded NNEPA and other relevant livestock watering criteria. Specifically fluoride, TDS, sulfate, lead, and selenium exceeded livestock criteria for 16%, 4%, 16%, 0.35%, and 0.29% of all samples respectively. Cadmium, chromium, lead, selenium, silver and zinc exceeded NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat standards for 4, 100, 0.3, 1, 2, and 64 percent of all samples respectively. Aluminum, cadmium, chromium, lead, selenium, and zinc exceeded NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat standards for 27, 100, 2, 65, 76, and 64 percent of all samples respectively. Lead exceeded NNEPA secondary human contact criteria for 4% of all samples and arsenic exceeded NNEPA fish consumption criteria for 35% of all samples. Median cadmium, lead, selenium and zinc concentrations were 6, 2, 1.4, and 2 times greater than NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria. Median chromium and zinc concentrations were 16 and 2 times greater than NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria. Arsenic, aluminum and selenium median values are below all criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. Therefore baseline surface water quality within the Chinde Wash as compared to NNEPA and other relevant criteria is considered generally appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing. However, elevated levels of cadmium, chromium, lead, and zinc were found relative to aquatic and wildlife habitat and fish consumption NNEPA criteria. One sample or approximately 0.5 percent of all samples exceeded the SMCRA dissolved iron standard; however, the median dissolved iron concentration of 0.2 mg/L is fifty times smaller than the criterion.

4.1.7.2.1.2 Cottonwood Arroyo

Surface water quality data was collected on the Cottonwood Arroyo from 1990 to 1999 at three monitoring stations CN-1 along the North Fork upstream of the mine, CNS-1 downstream of mining, and CS-1 along the main stem within the mine lease area (Figure 17). All data was collected prior to mining in the area. It is important to note that while data is pre-mining there is no pre-NAPI data along the Cottonwood Arroyo. Cottonwood Arroyo is not subject to indirect NAPI irrigation return flows, but NAPI does directly discharge from irrigation canals into the North Fork, therefore monitoring station CN-1 and the downstream monitoring station CNS-1 are both influenced by NAPI, whereas station CS-1 is not. Direct discharge events are highly variable, occur quickly, and can last up to 12 hours causing significant erosion and sediment transport in the channel. These recurrent higher flow NAPI discharges could be the cause of higher TSS levels in Cottonwood Arroyo as compared to non-NAPI influenced drainages to the south. The Cottonwood Arroyo is geochemically impacted by NAPI as evident through the increased mineralization deposited on the stream banks as a result of seeps in the upper reaches, resulting in highly variable increases in water quality parameter concentrations.

Baseline data at CN-1, CNS-1, and CS-1 was found to have a relatively higher variability than that of the Chaco River or Chinde Wash where the median percent relative standard deviation for all constituents

was 108. Baseline water quality pH within Cottonwood Arroyo dropped below the NNEPA criteria range once at both CN-1 and CNS-1. Arsenic exceeded NNEPA criteria for all five categories for 0.5% of all samples. Cadmium exceeded NNEPA fish consumption criteria for 0.4% of all samples, and lead exceeded NNEPA livestock and secondary human contact criteria for 0.3% and 20% of all samples respectively. Additionally, nitrate, sulfate and TDS exceeded livestock criteria for 38%, 3%, and 4% of all samples respectively. NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria where exceeded for arsenic, cadmium, chromium, lead, silver, and zinc for 0.5, 2, 100, 1, 1, and 77 percent of all samples respectively. NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria where exceeded for arsenic, cadmium, chromium, lead, selenium, and zinc for 0.5, 100, 5, 78, 64, and 77 percent of all samples respectively. Median concentrations for chromium and zinc were 16 and 3 times greater respectively than NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria. Median concentrations for cadmium, lead, selenium and zinc were 6, 2, 1.25, and 3 times greater respectively than NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria. All other median values are below all criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. Therefore baseline surface water quality within the Cottonwood Arroyo, as compared to NNEPA and other relevant criteria, is considered generally appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing. However, elevated levels of cadmium, chromium, lead, selenium and zinc were found relative to aquatic and wildlife habitat NNEPA criteria. Thirty samples or approximately 15 percent of all samples exceeded the SMCRA dissolved iron standard; however, the median dissolved iron concentration of 0.5 mg/L is twenty times smaller than the criterion.

Comparison of median concentrations at each station showed that barium, cadmium, chromium, lead, nitrate, pH, selenium, silver, zinc and manganese concentrations were approximately equal across all stations. Arsenic, boron and total iron were all lowest on the North Fork (CN-1). Arsenic was approximately equal on the main fork within the mine lease (CS-1) and downstream of the lease area (CNS-1), boron was highest downstream of mining (CNS-1), and iron was highest along the main fork within the lease area (CS-1). Chloride, sulfate, TDS, TSS and conductivity were all highest along the North Fork (CN-1) upstream of the lease area.

4.1.7.2.2 Baseline without NAPI

Surface water quality data was collected on Pinabete Arroyo and No Name Wash at upper and lower stations in 1998 and from 2007 to 2008, where all stations are within the mine lease area (Figure 17). All data is pre-mining in the area and neither drainage is impacted by NAPI activities. Baseline data on Pinabete and No Name was found to have a relatively higher variability than that of the Chaco River where the median percent relative standard deviation for all constituents was 86 for Pinabete Arroyo and 77 percent for No Name Wash. This places Pinabete Arroyo at roughly the same variability as Chinde Wash and No Name Wash at a relatively lower variability. Both Pinabete Arroyo and No Name Wash express less variability in water quality than Cottonwood Arroyo.

There were no exceedances of NNEPA secondary human contact criteria. Aluminum, cadmium, copper, lead, mercury, selenium and zinc exceeded NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria for 41, 23, 7, 3, 100, 56, and 7 percent of all samples respectively. Aluminum, cadmium, chromium, and zinc exceeded NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife criteria for 7, 8, 46, and 7 percent of all samples respectively. Cadmium and zinc NNEPA fish consumption standards were also exceeded for 8% and 3% of all samples respectively. Cadmium also exceeded NNEPA livestock criteria for 4% of all samples and TDS exceeded criteria for 7% of all samples. Median concentrations for mercury and selenium were 100 and 1.25 times greater respectively than NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria. All other median values are below all criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances for these parameters are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. Therefore baseline surface water quality within Pinabete and No Name as compared to NNEPA and other relevant criteria is considered generally appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of

livestock grazing. However, elevated levels of mercury and selenium were found relative to aquatic and wildlife habitat NNEPA criteria. There were no exceedances of the SMCRA dissolved iron standard along No Name Wash. One sample along Pinabete Arroyo or approximately 4 percent of all samples exceeded the SMCRA dissolved iron standard; however, the median dissolved iron concentration of 0.12 mg/L is 80 times smaller than the criterion.

Cadmium, pH, and selenium were relatively consistent across Pinabete Arroyo. Chloride and pH were relatively consistent across No Name Wash. Aluminum and copper median values were higher at upper stations, whereas barium, boron, lead and manganese median values were all higher at lower stations for both Pinabete Arroyo and No Name Wash. Along Pinabete Arroyo arsenic, chloride, fluoride, nitrate, sulfate, TDS, TSS and conductivity median values were higher at upper stations; whereas chromium, silver, zinc and iron median values were all higher at lower stations. Along No Name Wash cadmium, chromium, silver, zinc, and iron median values were higher at upper stations; whereas arsenic, fluoride, nitrate, selenium, sulfate, TDS, TSS and conductivity median values were higher at upper stations; whereas arsenic, fluoride, nitrate, selenium, sulfate, TDS, TSS and conductivity median values were higher at upper stations; whereas arsenic, fluoride, nitrate, selenium, sulfate, TDS, TSS and conductivity median values were higher at upper stations; whereas arsenic, fluoride, nitrate, selenium, sulfate, TDS, TSS and conductivity median values were all higher at lower stations.

4.2 Ground Water

Since mining at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease started in 1963, before SMCRA became law in 1977, baseline hydrologic monitoring data generally does not exist for Area I and portions of Area II of the Navajo Mine. Nevertheless, the "GM-" monitoring wells installed in the late 70's provide baseline information for Areas III, IV, V, and portions of Area II. Many of the GM wells have been mined through or reclaimed and additional monitoring wells were installed during the mid 80's. Monitoring wells were installed in 1998 and in 2007 for baseline characterization of Areas IV South and V. Groundwater monitoring locations can be seen on Figure 19.

4.2.1 Ground Water Regulatory Requirements

30 CFR 816.41(h) states that a water supply of an owner of interest used for domestic, agricultural, industrial, or for other legitimate use that is adversely impacted by contamination, diminution, or interruption proximately resulting from surface mining activities shall be replaced. The Fruitland and PCS formations are utilized in oil production west of the lease area, and the alluvial aquifer has limited use as a livestock watering supply.

4.2.2 Chaco River Alluvium

Data was collected along the Chaco River alluvium from 1974 to 1977 at GM-24 located between the No-Name and Pinabete confluences, GM-25 located upstream of No Name Wash, and GM-34 located upstream of the NTEC lease. The Chaco River alluvium is mostly saturated across the length of the lease area and provides limited stock water supply at several dug wells as shown in Figure 12. The Chaco River alluvium had water for all sampling events at GM-34 upstream of the lease area, for 67% of all sampling events downstream of No Name Wash, and for 87.5% of sampling events at GM-24 between No Name Wash and Pinabete Arroyo. The characterization of Chaco River alluvial quantity was limited to the percent of dry sampling events as no water elevation data was available.

Groundwater use in the groundwater CIA is limited in extent and is mostly derived from wells completed within surficial valley-fill deposits of Quaternary age, or alluvium. Water derived from alluvial wells is predominantly used for livestock watering. Given the predominant use of alluvial waters for livestock watering and the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing, alluvial baseline quality will be evaluated in part by comparison to applicable livestock watering criteria (Table 3). The criteria are not enforceable standards with respect to groundwater and are included only as a reference for the suitability of the groundwater quality for livestock use.

Baseline alluvial quality data was found to have a higher variability compared to surface water quality where the median %RSD for all constituents was 127 or 2.9 times greater than the surface water %RSD. A general comparison of median concentrations across different wells within the alluvial systems showed

the following. The Chaco River alluvium pH was relatively consistent across all sites. Moving downstream along the Chaco River, selenium and nitrate tended to increase while arsenic, copper, mercury and zinc tended to decrease, and other constituents did not show any apparent trend.

All pH values for all other Chaco River alluvial samples were within the appropriate range. Arsenic, lead, selenium, chloride, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria for the Chaco River for 21%, 5%, 16%, 11%, 6%, 67% and 72% of all samples respectively. Median values for arsenic, lead, selenium, chloride, and fluoride were below the criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. Median sulfate and TDS values exceed the livestock criteria. Based on these relevant use criteria, the water in the alluvium systems is a poor source of supply for livestock watering use. This is especially apparent when considering sulfate and TDS concentrations. These water quality parameters often exceed relevant criteria for livestock use, although the alluvium has been historically and is currently used for this purpose.

4.2.3 Historic Mining Area North of Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

Two alluvial wells exist along drainages that are tributary to Morgan Lake; data was collected from 1996 to 2000 at Custer-1 located along the western lease boundary, and Custer-4 located within the NTEC lease area close to the eastern lease boundary. The Custer wells were not monitored prior to mining impact in the area and can therefore not be used for baseline characterization. Two additional alluvial wells exist along Bitsui Wash; data was collected from GM-7 from 1975 to 1976 and no data is available at GM-37. GM-7 is located upstream of mining and can therefore be used for baseline characterization. The Bitsui Wash alluvium had water for all sampling events at GM-7 upstream of the lease area. No water elevation data was available for characterization of Bitsui Wash alluvial quantity.

Only four samples were collected at GM-7 from 1975 to 1976. Baseline alluvial quality data was found to have a lower variability compared to surface water quality where the median %RSD for all constituents was 70% less than the surface water %RSD. All pH values for all other Bitsui Wash alluvial samples were within the appropriate range. Arsenic, selenium, chloride, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria for the Chaco River for 25%, 25%, 25%, 100%, 75% and 25% of all samples respectively. Median values for arsenic, selenium, chloride, and TDS were below the criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. Median fluoride and sulfate values exceed the livestock criteria. Based on these relevant use criteria, the water in the alluvium systems is a poor source of supply for livestock watering use. This is especially apparent when considering fluoride and sulfate concentrations. These water quality parameters often exceed relevant criteria for livestock use, although the alluvium has been historically used for this purpose.

No pre-mining Fruitland data is available in this area. However, there is post-mining data for the #8 coal seam. The Fruitland formation outcrop is located to the north of this area and this is the point of discharge to the San Juan alluvium. No pre-mining PCS data is available in this area. However, there is limited post-mining data for the PCS. Post-mining data along with modeling efforts has been made by the coal operator and OSMRE to assess post-mining conditions and impact potential for this area. This analysis is completed in section 5.3.5



No. 4 Coal Monitoring Well

- OCB Monitoring Well
- Nested Vibrating Wire Piezometer
- Data Sources: Aerial Photography (San Juan County) 2009 ¹ USGS National Hydrography Dataset ² NMBMMR RM-19 Beaumont 1998

Coordinate System: StatePlane New Mexico West North America Dalum 927 Feet

Figure 19 (pg 1 of 2)



Legend

- San Juan Alluvium above Fruilland Formation Outcrop 110
- Approximate Coal Subcrop²
- C Pictured Cliffs Formation (Kpc)
- Proposed Monitoring Well
- 0 Abandoned Alluvial Monitoring Well
- 🛕 Existing Alluvial Monitoring Well
- No. 2 Coal Monitoring Well
- No 3. Coal Monitoring Well No. 4 Coal Monitoring Well

- No. 4 6 Coal Monitoring Well No. 6 Coal Monitoring Well
- No. 7 Coal Monitoring Well
 - A No. 8 Coal Monitoring Well
- A Fruitland Well or Nested Wells
- Abandoned PCS Monitoring Well
- Existing PCS Monitoring Well Backfill Monitoring Well
- OCB Monitoring Well
- - Nested Vibrating Wire Piezorneter Coordinate System: StatePlane New Mexico West North America Datum 927 Feet

🗂 Pinabete Permit Area

RESOURCE AREAS

- Artificial Canal/Ditch

Data Sources: Aerial Photography (San Juan County) 2009 ¹ USGS National Hydrography Dataset ² NMEMMR RM-19 Beaumont 1998

Natural Stream¹

PIT NAMES

Coal Lease Area

🗋 Navajo Mine Permit Area

Groundwater **Monitoring Locations**

> Figure 19 (pg 2 of 2)

4.2.4 Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

4.2.4.1 Alluvial Baseline Quantity

Alluvial quantity was assessed using two methods, the percent of all sampling events which were dry and the water elevation in feet above Mean Sea Level (MSL). Water elevation was not collected for all samples; however, inference of water presence was based on the presence of water quality data. Therefore the total number of samples used to calculate the percent of dry sampling events is often higher than the number of samples used for the water elevation comparisons. Given data availability baseline quantity could only be characterized for the Chaco River, No Name Wash, Pinabete Arroyo and Cottonwood Arroyo.

One alluvial well, Bighan-1, exists along drainages that are tributary to Morgan Lake within the permit area; data was collected from 1995 to 2001 at this location along the eastern lease boundary just south of the permit boundary. The location of Bighan-1 along the eastern mine permit boundary suggests that the well would be representative of baseline; however, it was installed after mining impact in the area. For these reasons it is unclear if this well should be included as baseline, and it will be analyzed in Ch. 5 of this CHIA assessment.

Along Chinde Wash alluvial data was collected from 1979 to 1980 at GM-9 within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, from 1985 to present at QAC-1 at the western mine lease boundary, and from 1975 to 1982 at GM-10 just downstream of QAC-1. Wells along Chinde Wash were not monitored prior to mining impact in the area and can therefore not be used for baseline characterization.

Alluvial data was collected along Cottonwood Arroyo, from 1975 to 1982 at GM-17 along the North Fork at the eastern lease boundary, from 1985 to 1998 at QAC-1 along the North Fork downstream of GM-17 in Area III, during 1975 at GM-16 along the North Fork just upstream of the confluence with the Main Fork, from 1986 to 1999 at QACW-2B just downstream of the western lease boundary, and from 1974 to 2008 at QACW-2 downstream of QACW-2B. Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium was found to be variably saturated, and is known to provide limited stock water supply at wells shown in Figure 12, specifically W-0644 (QACW-2B), which is not owned by NTEC and has been used for stock water supply. QACW-2B and GM-17 had water for all sampling events, QACW-2, QACW-1, and GM-16 had water for 66%, 54%, and 50% of all sampling events.

Data was collected along No Name Wash alluvium during 1975 at GM-23 located just upstream of the Chaco River confluence, and during 1998, 2007 and 2008 at NNA-1 and NNA-2 located within the NTEC lease where NNA-1 is downstream of NNA-2. No Name Wash alluvium was found to be mostly dry where both NNA-2 was found to be dry for all sampling events; however, NNA-1 had water for 27% of all sampling events.

Along Pinabete alluvial data was collected from 1974 to 1977 at GM-22 located upstream of the NTEC lease, and during 1998, 2004, 2007 and 2008 at PA-2 located just west of the eastern lease boundary, and PA-1 located within the lease downstream of PA-2. Pinabete alluvium was found to be mostly saturated, and is known to provide limited stock water supply at wells shown in Figure 12. PA-2 and GM-22 had water for all sampling events and PA-1 had water for 96% of all sampling events. Estimated hydraulic conductivities based on aquifer test results for the Pinabete Arroyo alluvium are 51.3 ft per day (ft/day) (1.8 x 10-2 cm per second (cm/sec)) at PA-1 and 10.7 ft/day (3.8 x 10-3 cm/sec) at PA-2. Both are within the range expected for clean sand and considerably higher than the bedrock values in the area. Well yields from the alluvium, however, are limited by a very low saturated thickness of about 5 ft or less (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18.N).

Water elevation data was available for Cottonwood Arroyo, Pinabete Arroyo and No Name Wash, although not at any of the GM historic monitoring locations. The percent relative standard deviation for

water elevation data showed that Cottonwood had the highest variability where the %RSD was 6 times greater than that of No Name and 2.5 times greater than that of Pinabete. The relatively higher variability of water elevation levels in Cottonwood Arroyo may in part be due to NAPI discharges which have generated high variability in surface water flows. Under baseline conditions the alluvial systems of both Cottonwood and Pinabete Arroyos have decreasing water levels as you move downstream. No Name however, had no water for any sampling events for the upstream well but had water for 27% of sampling events at the downstream well. This could in part be due to the influence of tributary drainages which confluence with the main channel in between the two wells. More detailed alluvial quantity data including graphs and tables can be found in Appendix F.

4.2.4.2 Alluvial Baseline Quality

Groundwater use in the vicinity of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease is limited in extent and is mostly derived from wells completed within surficial valley-fill deposits of Quaternary age, or alluvium. Water derived from alluvial wells is predominantly used for livestock watering. Given the predominant use of alluvial waters for livestock watering and the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing, alluvial baseline quality will be evaluated in part by comparison to applicable livestock watering criteria (Table 3). The criteria are not enforceable standards with respect to groundwater and are included only as a reference for the suitability of the groundwater quality for livestock use. Alluvial quality data was not collected at GM-23 and NNA-2 along No Name Wash and at GM-16 and QACW-1 along Cottonwood Arroyo as they were either dry or had insufficient water for sampling during baseline monitoring. Generally the alluvial systems are of sodium-sulfate type with variable TDS concentrations.

Baseline alluvial quality data was found to have a higher variability compared to surface water quality for all drainages except No Name Wash, where the median relative percent standard deviations for all constituents was 142, and 121 for the Pinabete Arroyo and Cottonwood Arroyo respectively or 1.7, and 1.1 times greater than their respective surface water %RSDs. The median %RSD for all constituents for No Name Wash alluvium was 68 or roughly 10% less than the respective surface water %RSD. A general comparison of median concentrations across different wells within the alluvial systems showed the following. The Pinabete Arroyo alluvium pH was relatively consistent across all sites. Moving downstream along Pinabete Arroyo, iron and mercury tended to increase while arsenic, boron, cadmium, copper, lead, selenium, zinc, and nitrate tended to decrease, and other constituents did not show any apparent trend. Moving downstream along the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium pH, selenium, and fluoride tended to increase while boron, manganese, mercury, nitrate, sulfate and TDS tended to decrease, and other constituents did not show any apparent trend. No comparison was made along the No Name Wash alluvium as only one well had sufficient water for sampling.

Baseline water quality pH within the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium dropped below the livestock criteria range once at GM-17, however, all other pH values for all other alluvial samples were within the appropriate range. Arsenic, selenium, chloride, fluoride, sulfate and TDS exceeded livestock criteria for the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium for 6%, 4%, 3%, 26%, 91% and 55% of all samples respectively. All median values for arsenic, selenium, chloride and fluoride were below the criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. The median sulfate and TDS values exceed the livestock criteria. Based on these relevant use criteria, the water in the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium system is a poor source of supply for livestock watering use. This is especially apparent when considering sulfate and TDS concentrations. These water quality parameters often exceed relevant criteria for livestock use, although the alluvium has been historically and is currently used for this purpose.

All pH values for all samples within the Pinabete Arroyo alluvium were within the appropriate range. Arsenic, selenium, chloride, fluoride, sulfate and TDS exceeded livestock criteria for the Pinabete Arroyo alluvium for 5%, 4%, 4%, 86%, 75% and 46% of all samples respectively. All median values for arsenic, selenium, and chloride were below the criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more

characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. The median fluoride, sulfate and TDS values exceed the livestock criteria. Based on these relevant use criteria, the water in the Pinabete Arroyo alluvium system is a poor source of supply for livestock watering use. This is especially apparent when considering fluoride, sulfate and TDS concentrations. These water quality parameters often exceed relevant criteria for livestock use, although the alluvium has been historically and is currently used for this purpose.

All pH values for all samples within the No Name Wash alluvium were within the appropriate range. Sulfate and TDS exceeded livestock criteria for the No Name Wash alluvium for 100% and 100% of all samples respectively. The median sulfate and TDS values exceed the livestock criteria. Based on these relevant use criteria, the water in the No Name alluvium system is a poor source of supply for livestock watering use. This is especially apparent when considering sulfate and TDS concentrations. These water quality parameters often exceed relevant criteria for livestock use, although the alluvium has been historically and is currently used for this purpose.

4.2.4.3 Fruitland Formation Baseline Quantity

Only a small amount of groundwater is found in the coal units of the Fruitland Formation and in the PCS, which underlies the Fruitland Formation at the Navajo Mine site. The geologic strata within the permit and adjacent area dip gently to the east toward the center of the San Juan Watershed at an angle of 1 to 2 degrees. Based on both regional and site-specific information, the Fruitland Formation and associated coal units, and the PCS are unsaturated or partially saturated near the outcrop of these units on the western side of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area but become saturated to the east and down dip of the outcrop.

The Fruitland Formation has been mined extensively throughout the history of the Navajo Mine. Most of the wells that were present at one time or another have been mined through or abandoned, making the monitoring program inconclusive with respect to the finer details of how groundwater flow has been affected at the mine site. Modeling efforts and other estimates have been made by the coal operator to determine (1) what the pre-mining groundwater flow conditions were like in the Fruitland Formation and (2) what the post-mining conditions will likely be for this aquifer.

Based on baseline information obtained from water level elevations measured in the wells and piezometers, the general groundwater flow directions in the Fruitland Formation within Areas III, IV and V of the NTEC coal lease are vertically downward through the interbedded shale and coal units of the Fruitland Formation and into the PCS and laterally within individual coal seams toward the north-northeast with some localized flow toward the topographic lows along Cottonwood and Pinabete Arroyos (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18-E).

Direct recharge rates measured by chloride mass balance methods on undisturbed areas of the lease area ranged from 0.002 to 0.09 in/yr (Stone, Phase-III Recharge Study at the Navajo Mine - Impact of Mining on Recharge 1987). The highest recharge rate of 0.09 in/yr was for valley terraces while the lowest recharge rate of 0.002 in/yr was for badland areas. Recharge from upland flats averaged 0.03 in/yr. Recharge is expected to be higher from saturated alluvium and surface water impoundments. Although Stone's research (1986 and 1987) did not include recharge estimates for surface impoundments, it does provide an estimate of an average recharge rate of 0.16 in/yr from depressions within reclaimed mine areas at the Navajo Mine (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18-E).

Baseline potentiometric elevations measured in the wells in Areas IV and V were recorded by NTEC. The potentiometric surface for the No. 3 coal seam is provided in Figure 20. This potentiometric surface was constructed from the baseline potentiometric elevations for the No. 3 coal seam presented in Navajo Mine and Pinabete PAP's and the July 1989 baseline potentiometric elevations measured in the No. 3 coal wells located within Area III. The modeled baseline potentiometric surface for the No. 3 coal was also used to

estimate the potentiometric contours beyond the limits of the monitoring data. The potentiometric gradient in the No. 3 coal seam indicates groundwater flow components toward the north-northeast with local gradients toward Pinabete Arroyo and Cottonwood Arroyo. The lower coal seams pinch out and do not extend north of Area III. The groundwater moving perpendicular to the potentiometric gradients to the northeast flows through the undifferentiated Fruitland Formation into either the upper coal units or into the underlying PCS (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18.E).

Potentiometric gradients in the other coal seams within Areas III, IV, and V of the coal lease area are expected to be generally toward the northeast, similar to the gradients shown for No. 3 coal. However, the upper coal seams (No. 6, No. 7, and No. 8) outcrop to a greater extent within the valleys of Pinabete Arroyo, No Name Wash, and Cottonwood Arroyo within the coal lease area. The groundwater associated with these upper coal seams is expected to show greater local influence from the topographic lower elevations along the arroyos. The local influence of topography on potentiometric gradients was greatest for the shallowest coal, the No. 8 seam. Field observations of salt deposits and enhanced vegetation production also indicate that local discharge may occur from the No. 8 coal at the coal outcrop along Pinabete Arroyo. Baseline groundwater model simulations and potentiometric elevations at wells within the No. 8 coal seam were used to prepare the potentiometric surface in Figure 21. The modeled baseline potentiometric surface for the No. 8 coal was also used to estimate the potentiometric contours beyond the limits of the monitoring data. Higher hydraulic conductivities are characteristic of the higher coal units (No. 7 and No. 8) relative to the lower coal units (No. 2, No. 3, and No. 4-6) (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18-E).

4.2.4.4 Fruitland Formation Baseline Quality

Groundwater use in CIA is limited in extent, and water derived from the Fruitland formation has no known use within the vicinity of the coal lease area other than for oil and gas extraction to the west of the coal lease area. This is in part due to the very low well yields within the Fruitland system within the general area of the mine lease, which do not tend to support beneficial use. However, given the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing, Fruitland baseline quality will be evaluated in part by comparison to livestock watering criteria (Table 3). The criteria are not enforceable standards with respect to groundwater and are included only as a reference for the suitability of the groundwater quality for livestock use. Fruitland water quality will only be evaluated for pH, conductivity, boron, total iron, manganese, selenium, chloride, fluoride sulfate, and TDS, as these parameters most generally define water quality and tend to be of concern within the region as evident in both the surface water and alluvial analysis. Generally water quality monitoring data from Fruitland Formation coal wells show that baseline groundwater in the coals is very saline (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18-E).

Fruitland water quality data has been collected at several historic and current locations as seen on Figure 19. All data collected from Areas IV and V and all data collected prior to 2001 within Area III and II is considered to be baseline relative to quality because during mining gradients within the Fruitland were towards the mine pits therefore impact to water quality would be minimal. This data used to characterize baseline Fruitland quality within the lease area consists of samples collected at 12 well locations from 1984 to 2008 as follows; KF2007-01 from 2007 to 2008, KF98-02 from 1998 to 2008; KF84-21A, KF84-22B, and KF84-20A from 1984 to 2001; KF84-21C, KF84-22D, and KF84-22E during 1984; KF84-22A from 1991 to 2001; KF84-20C and KF84-18A from 1985 to 2001; KF84-18B from 1984 to 2000.

Baseline Fruitland quality data was found to have a lower variability compared to alluvial water quality, and the median relative percent standard deviations for all constituents was 58 for the baseline coals within the lease area. Comparison of median concentrations across wells within the Fruitland baseline within the lease area showed a general trend where moving towards the northeast from Area V to II; conductivity, TDS, chloride, manganese and iron tended to increase, whereas sulfate, fluoride, selenium, and pH tended to decrease. The TDS concentrations in the coal units at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease also

typically increase from shallow to deep, whereas sulfate tends to decrease from shallow to deep, which could in part due to sulfate reduction in the groundwater (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18-E).

Baseline Fruitland water quality within the lease area showed that pH, fluoride, and sulfate were not within the range of acceptable criteria for 4%, 16%, and 11% of all samples respectively. Baseline Fruitland quality exceeded the chloride and TDS criteria for 85% and 88% of all samples respectively, where the median concentration for chloride and TDS were 6 times and 2.5 times greater than the criteria, respectively. Based on comparison to livestock criteria, the water in the Fruitland systems would be a very poor source of supply for livestock watering use, specifically because of elevated chloride and TDS concentrations, which are well above livestock criteria.

4.2.4.5 Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Aquifer Baseline Quantity

The PCS is a well-cemented, low-permeability, marine sand and is the first water-bearing unit below the Fruitland Formation. The PCS is approximately 110 to 120 ft thick and follows the structure of the Fruitland Formation, dipping to the east at approximately 2 degrees, although the structure varies locally. The PCS conformably overlies the Lewis Shale, with the contact marked by a zone of interbedded sandstones and mudstones in the lower part of the PCS (Stone, Hydrogeology and Water Resources of San Juan Basin, New Mexico 1983). It outcrops just west of the mine lease and east of the Chaco River. The PCS is a marginal water resource due to low permeability, poor water quality, gas production, and low yields. The PCS is also a natural gas reservoir in the San Juan Watershed. Stone et al. (1983) state that the PCS cannot be considered a major aquifer and it is important only because it is the water-bearing horizon immediately underlying the coals in the Fruitland Formation.

The PCS has neither been used as a groundwater source nor has it been extensively affected by the mining activities at the Navajo Mine. NTEC modeled the potentiometric surface and came to some conclusions regarding both baseline and mine-impacted conditions within the PCS. Although the modeling done by NTEC focuses primarily on the areas proposed for mining associated with the Pinabete PAP, the baseline quantity information for the PCS aquifer in this area sufficiently reflects prevalent conditions in other areas of the Navajo Mine.

Well KPC-98-01 was installed in 1998 near the PCS outcrop at the location shown in Figure 19. In 2007, wells KPC2007-01, KPC2007-02, and KPC2007-03 were completed in the PCS at locations around the perimeter of Area IV South. Vibrating Wire Piezometers (VWPs) were installed in the PCS at four of the five locations as shown in Figure 19. A VWP was not installed in the PCS at the VWP2007-03 location because monitoring well KPC2007-02 was installed in the PCS at this location.

The modeled baseline potentiometric surface for the PCS together with the baseline potentiometric elevations from the PCS wells and VWPs were used to prepare the PCS potentiometric surface provided in Figures 15. The measurements of the baseline potentiometric elevations for the abandoned GM wells were obtained in June 1989. The potentiometric surface for the PCS shows overall gradients to the north. The highest potentiometric elevations for the PCS correspond with a structural high in the PCS located within the southeast portion of Area V of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. There are also local gradients toward the topographic lows along No Name Wash, Pinabete Arroyo and Cottonwood Arroyo.

Water yields are quite low from the PCS monitoring wells completed around Navajo Tribal Coal Lease Area IV South. Two of the PCS wells were quickly pumped or bailed dry during conventional sampling. The yield from one of the PCS wells was sufficient to sustain a rate of about 0.4 gallons per minute (gpm) during a constant rate pumping test. The fourth PCS monitoring well was pumped dry after about 140 minutes during a constant-rate pumping test at a rate of about 1 gpm.

4.2.4.6 Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Aquifer Baseline Quality

Groundwater use in the vicinity of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area is limited in extent, and water derived from the PCS has no known use within the vicinity of NTEC mining operations other than for oil and gas extraction to the north and west of the lease area. This is in part due to the very low well yields within the PCS system within the general area of the mine lease, which do not tend to support beneficial use. However, given the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing, PCS baseline quality will be evaluated in part by comparison to livestock watering criteria (Table 3). The criteria are not enforceable standards with respect to groundwater and are included only as a reference for the suitability of the groundwater quality for livestock use. PCS water quality will only be evaluated for pH, conductivity, boron, total iron, manganese, selenium, chloride, fluoride sulfate, and TDS, as these parameters most generally define water quality and tend to be of concern within the region as evident in both the surface water and alluvial analysis. Generally water quality monitoring data from PCS show that baseline groundwater is sodium-sulfate type with high TDS concentrations (NTEC 2013, Appendix 18-E).

PCS water quality data has been collected at several historic and current locations as seen on Figure 19. All data collected from Areas IV and V and all data collected during the mid-1970s from the GM series of wells is considered to be baseline relative to quality. This data used to characterize baseline PCS quality within the lease area consists of samples collected at 13 well locations from 1974 to 2008 as follows; KPC-2007-01 from 2007 to 2008, KPC-98-01 in 1998,2007, and 2008; GM-14, GM-15, and GM-8 from 1975 to 1976; GM-19, GM-20, and GM-21 from 1974 to 1979; GM-11 and GM-5 from 1975 to 1977; GM-6 from 1976 to 1977; GM-28 from 1974 to 1976; GM-30A from 1976 to 1979. Baseline PCS quality data was found to have a lower variability compared to alluvial water quality, and a higher variability compared to Fruitland water quality, where the median relative percent standard deviations for all constituents was 76.

Comparison of median concentrations across wells within the PCS baseline showed that pH and TDS were relatively consistent across the lease area, other constituents were much more variable, and fluoride and boron tended to increase moving towards the northeast from Area III to I. Baseline PCS water quality showed that pH, boron, selenium, chloride, fluoride, sulfate and TDS were not within the range of acceptable criteria for 19%, 2%, 12%, 61%, 23%, 82% and 98% of all samples respectively. Additionally the median concentration for chloride, sulfate and TDS were 1.6, 2.5 and 2 times greater than the criteria, respectively. Based on comparison to livestock criteria, the water in the PCS would be a very poor source of supply for livestock watering use, specifically because of elevated chloride, sulfate and TDS concentrations, which are well above livestock criteria.




5 HYDROLOGIC IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

Required by 30 CFR 780.21(g), as the regulatory authority, OSMRE shall provide an assessment of the probable cumulative hydrologic impacts of the mining operation upon surface water and groundwater systems in the cumulative impact area. OSMRE must make a determination that the NTEC operation has been designed to minimize impact within the permit area and prevent material damage outside the permit area. OSMRE must also evaluate that the monitoring program has been appropriately designed to provide the surface water quantity and quality information necessary to assess potential impacts per 30 CFR 780.21(g).

5.1 Minimization of Impact

NTEC outlines impact minimization procedures in the Hydrologic Reclamation Plan of the PAP (NTEC 2013, Part 5 Sect. 35). Minimization of impacts to the hydrologic balance is focused on reducing the disturbance footprint to the extent practical via contemporaneous reclamation. Additionally, local areas of acid forming material are managed through proper chemical characterization and placement, including blending and mixing, of overburden materials. The amount of upgradient surface water commingled with disturbed area drainage is limited utilizing best management practices (BMPs) to contain or divert upgradient flows. Upgradient flows diverted around active mining pits and into downgradient natural channels or upgradient impoundments have been established to contain upstream water runoff. Migration of sediment during storm events is limited utilizing BMPs to contain or treat flows via impoundments downgradient of the mine site. NTEC also minimizes potential effects to the surface water and alluvial groundwater quantity by instituting stream buffer zones when practical to limit disturbances in channel reaches unaffected by mining. These measures are reviewed and approved during the permit application and revision process. The measures provide the highest degree of water management and treatment practicable to maintain designated uses and existing water quality. Additionally, discharges of water from areas disturbed by surface mining activities comply with water quality-based effluent limitations administered through NPDES Permit No. NN0028193. OSMRE finds that the mining operations are designed to minimize impacts within the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit areas.

5.2 Monitoring Program

A surface water monitoring plan is provided in the PAP; Section 42. NTEC's surface water monitoring programs are established to monitor surface water quantity and quality at locations where major watercourses enter and leave the permit areas. The monitoring provides the basis for assessment of the impact of mining on the surface water resource and has been developed to collect water quantity and quality information for use in the identification of potential impacts to the prevailing hydrologic regime. The plan identifies the parameters to be monitored, sampling frequency, and site locations. The permit application also complies with NPDES Permit No. NN0028193 (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 42). Current surface monitoring locations can be seen on Figure 17. A list of surface water sampling parameters is located in the PAPs at Section 42, Table 42.1-2, and includes pH, TDS, TSS, conductivity, settleable solids, total sediment, aluminum, arsenic, boron, calcium, cadmium, chloride, fluoride, total and dissolved iron, lead, total and dissolved manganese, nitrate, potassium, selenium, sulfate, sodium, bicarbonate, and carbonate (NTEC 2013). Additionally, each sample is accompanied with a cation/anion balance for quality assurance. OSMRE finds that the surface water monitoring program has supplied sufficient information to support the required evaluation for material damage potential in this CHIA.

A groundwater monitoring plan is provided in the Navajo Mine PAP; Section42. The groundwater monitoring program was established to monitor groundwater quantity and quality in alluvial systems, the Fruitland formation, and the PCS. The monitoring program provides the basis for assessment of mining impact on groundwater resources and has been developed to collect water quantity and quality information for use in the identification of potential impacts to the prevailing hydrologic regime. The plan identifies the parameters to be monitored, sampling frequency, and site locations (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 42). Current groundwater monitoring locations are illustrated on Figure 19. A list of groundwater

sampling parameters is located in the PAPs at Section 42, Table 42.2-3, and includes TDS, conductivity, pH, water level, calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium, carbonate, bicarbonate, sulfate, chloride, fluoride, and selenium. Additionally, each sample is accompanied with a cation/anion balance for quality assurance. Additional monitoring parameters, are only used if the reference criteria are exceeded, and are found in the Navajo Mine PAP, Chapter 6, Section 6.6.13.2 and footnote 1 of Table 6.5 Additional monitoring parameters include iron, manganese, nitrate, and boron. Table 6.5 lists the reference criteria. OSMRE finds that the groundwater monitoring program has supplied sufficient information to support the required evaluation for material damage potential in this CHIA.

5.2.1.1 Monitoring Program Updates

Monitoring programs are periodically updated to enhance the available data sets for predictive analysis. OSMRE approved enhancements to the hydrologic monitoring program in 2012 proposed by BNCC. Monitoring program enhancements are provided in Appendix H and summarized below along with implementation status as of March 2015 (BNCC 2012, MMCo. 2015):

Surface Water:

- 1. Chinde Wash
 - a. One continuous flow gauge will be installed upstream, off lease in the proximity of agricultural fields.

b. One continuous flow gauge will be installed on-lease, downstream of the "big fill" Status: Upstream location CD-1A and downstream location CD-2A have been implemented. Quarterly water quality monitoring is ongoing.

- 2. Cottonwood Arrovo
 - a. Four upstream flow gauges will be installed (one each) along the North Fork, Middle Fork and two branches of the South Fork
 - i. Above mentioned upstream gauges will be installed at the outfall of culverts along the proposed Burnham Road re-route
 - b. One downstream flow gauge will be installed on an already existing cable structure across the channel; periodic channel surveys will confirm accurate channel cross section
 - c. All stations will consist of flow meters to sample flow quantity and water samplers for water quality analysis

Status: Upstream locations CN-2, CM-2, CS-2A, CS-2B and downstream location CNS-1 have been implemented. Quarterly water quality monitoring is ongoing and flow meters have been installed.

Groundwater:

- 1. Bitsui Area used on part to evaluate the Area I groundwater model
 - a. Existing well Bitsui-2 will be used for #8 seam groundwater level monitoring and for groundwater sampling.
 - b. Existing wells KF84-16 and KF83-1 will be used for monitoring #8 seam groundwater levels.

Status: Quarterly water quality and water level monitoring at Bitsui-2, and quarterly water levels at KF84-16 and KF83-1 were reinstated in 2012. Monitoring is ongoing.

- 2. Chinde Wash Area
 - a. One off-lease, upstream pre-packed well (CA-1) will be installed via hand augur
 - b. CA-2 will be installed near the lease boundary as a well to monitor water quality of Chinde Arroyo up gradient of mining activities.
 - c. One off-lease, downstream pre-packed well (CA-6) may be installed via hand augur; this will be replaced by a drilled well once final approvals have been acquired
 - d. Three piezometers (CA-3, CA-4, CA-5) will be installed in the "big fill" wetland area

e. All Chinde wells and piezometers will be monitored quarterly for a period of two years, followed by an assessment of continued monitoring frequency.

Status: Proposed locations CA-1 and CA-6 are located off-lease and are currently awaiting Navajo Nation approval for implementation. CA-2 through CA-5 and QAC-1 on Chinde Arroyo have neen implemented and quarterly water level and water quality monitoring is ongoing.

- 3. Cottonwood Arroyo Area
 - a. A new alluvial well (proposed CWA-4) will be installed to replace the hand-dug, dry well QACW-2B along the main Cottonwood Arroyo just south of Dixon.
 - b. A new alluvial well (proposed CWA-1) will be installed to replace the abandoned well GM-17 along the North Fork of the Cottonwood Arroyo just inside the lease boundary.
 - c. Two new alluvial wells (proposed CWA-2 and CWA-3) will be installed along the Main Fork and South Fork, respectively, of the Cottonwood Arroyo near the lease boundary.
 - d. Two new Fruitland wells (proposed KF-1 #3 and KF-1 #8) will be installed on the northwest side of Area IV North near the lease boundary. These will be used to evaluate Area IV north groundwater model predictions of drawdown, recharge and TDS transport. Monitoring of the No. 3 and No. 8 coal seam should provide information about potential impacts prior to influences on the alluvial water system, which will be protective of downstream alluvial users on the Cottonwood and Chaco.

Status: Proposed locations CWA-1b, CWA-2, CWA-3, and CWA-4 were implemented for groundwater monitoring on the Cottonwood Arroyo, and quarterly water quality and water level monitoring is ongoing at these locations. Additionally, groundwater monitoring wells KF3-12-1, KF4-12-1, and KF7-12-1 were implemented for annual monitoring.

- 4. Groundwater Reference Criteria
 - a. Criteria will be based on the entire set of baseline data from 10/17/2011
 - b. Reference criteria will be established for QACW-2, which is currently awaiting Navajo Nation approval for implementation.
 - c. QACW-2B is a dry, unsuitable hand-dug well and will be replaced by well CWA-4; new reference criteria will be developed for well CWA-4
 - d. GM-17 well will be replaced by proposed well CWA-1; local variation in natural soil properties precludes comparing these two wells as being chemically equivalent so new reference criteria will be developed for CWA-1
 - e. Reference criteria are based on the median + 2 median absolute deviations for the baseline monitoring data through year 2001; detection values are calculated as the product of 0.5 and the detection limit
 - f. Reference Criteria have been established for well QACW-2 as requested; detection values were calculated as the product of 0.5 and the detection limit.

Modifications to the Chinde alluvial monitoring are particularly important in light of the potential mining related impacts to this system discussed in section 5.3.7.1.2.2. The objective of these new monitoring locations is to characterize and monitor hydrogeologic conditions of the Chinde Alluvium as follows:

The first monitoring location would be a drive point well that would be installed down-gradient of the NAPI fields and up-gradient of the wetland east of the mine lease. The purpose of this monitoring location would be to assess the groundwater quality immediately down-gradient of NAPI.

- The second monitoring location would be a well installed adjacent to the wetland east and upgradient of the mining activities. The purpose of this well would be to monitor water quality immediately up-gradient of mining activities.
- The third monitoring location would be a well installed in the Chinde Wash down-gradient of existing well QAC-1. The purpose of this well would be to monitor water quality down-gradient

of the mine. Since this monitoring location is located off-lease installation has been delayed due to the approvals that must be obtained.

• Three new monitoring locations have been installed in the wetland immediately up-gradient of the Big Fill. The purpose of these is to monitor potential impacts of the wetland on alluvial water quality, and to monitor groundwater elevations and enable groundwater flow direction to be determined.

Proposed and implemented additions are outlined in Table 6 and approximate locations are shown in Figure 22.

Target Unit	Well Designatio n	General Location	Monitoring Type	Screen Interval	Sampling Frequency
Top of competent	CA-1	Chinde Wash – downgradient of	Drive Point	Dependent on refusal	
bedrock		NAPI			
Н	CA-2	Chinde Wash – adjacent to wetland east of mine lease	Monitoring Well	Varies – 5' above the water table plus thickness	Quarterly
A 11	CA-4*	Chinde Wash –		of aquifer	
Alluvium	CA-5*	wetland on lease			
	CA-6 Chinde Wash – downgradient of mine lease		Drivepoint/ Monitoring well	Dependent on refusal/ Varies – 5' above the water table plus thickness of aquifer	

Table 6: Chinde Alluvium Monitorin	Approach (BNCC 2012, MMCo. 2015)
------------------------------------	----------------------------------

*Water level measurements only

5.3 Impact Assessment

The assessment presented in Chapter 5 of this document considers available quantity and quality information related to surface water and groundwater potentially affected by NTEC operations. The assessment approach used for each resource is outlined in Table 7. Impact assessment relied upon analysis of monitoring data, several models, relevant published and unpublished reports and papers, experience from past mining and reclamation operations at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and other mines located along the western rim of the San Juan Watershed, as well as observations made by mine personal and OSMRE staff during the day-to-day operations and regulation of the mine. Impacts are designated as negligible, minor, moderate or major as defined in Table 7. Table 7 also outlines current mitigation techniques and updates to the NTEC monitoring program.



Table 7: Impact Assessment and Designation Methodology

W Re:	/ater source	Fruitland & PCS Quantity	Alluvial Quantity	Surface Water Quantity	Fruitland & PCS Quality	Alluvial Quality	Surface Water Quality	
Asse Apj	essment proach	Evaluation of potentiometric surface contour maps	Comparison of water levels at individual wells over-time	SEDCAD modeling- pre- and post-mining; Percent of HUC12 Watersheds controlled with impoundments	Comparison of baseline water quality to potentially impacted or non- baseline wells, including spoil and CCB wells	Comparison basel mining) water qua (during and post-n water quality ar applicable Water	ine (upstream/pre- lity to non-baseline nining/downstream) nd comparison to Quality Standards	
Major		Changes in water level contours that are significantly less than baseline levels	Changes in water levels that are consistently (>60% of the time) below baseline fluctuations as Characterized by the Median minus 2 MAD	Impounded areas relative to HUC 12 watersheds or change in peak flows relative to baseline are >60%	Changes in water quality that consistently (>60%) ex baseline fluctuations as Characterized by the Median MAD			
Designation	Moderate	Changes in water level contours that are moderately less than baseline levels	Changes in water levels that are regularly (30%- 60%) below baseline fluctuations as Characterized by the Median minus 2 MAD	Impounded areas relative to HUC 12 watersheds or change in peak flows relative to baseline are between 30% and 60%	Changes in wate baseline fluctuatio	in water quality that regularly (30-60%) exceed ictuations as Characterized by the Median plus 2 MAD		
Impact	Minor	Changes in water level contours that are slightly less than baseline levels	Changes in water levels that are occasionally (10%- 30%) below baseline fluctuations as Characterized by the Median minus 2 MAD	Impounded areas relative to HUC 12 watersheds or change in peak flows relative to baseline are between 10% and 30%	Changes in water quality that occasionally (10%-30%) exc baseline fluctuations as Characterized by the Median plu MAD			
	Impacts to Groundw capable of providing a supply for use or tha baseline fluct		ndwater that is not g a sustainable water that are similar to luctuations	Impounded areas relative to HUC 12 watersheds or change in peak flows are <10% (considered within baseline)	Impacts to water quality that are within baseline fluctuation (<10%) as Characterized by the Median plus 2 MAD or Impacts to Groundwater that is not capable of providing sustainable water supply for use or that are similar to baseline fluctuations			
In Mit	npact igation	Contemporaneous Reclamation	Contemporaneou reclamation of app contour (AOC); m ephemeral channe zon	us Reclamation; proximate original nining limited to els; stream buffer es	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mixing of overburden/ backfill materials; material classification and handling procedures	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones; Sedimentation Ponds	
Mor Pro Up	nitoring ogram dates	Submittal of 5 yr Potentiometric Surface Contour Maps	Addition of new monitoring stations	Addition of new monitoring stations	Additional coal seam well in area IV north	procedures Addition of new Addition of seam well in area IV north stations stations		

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas Page | 75

5.3.1 Potential Cumulative Impact between NTEC operations and El Segundo Mine

El Segundo coal mine is located approximately 70 miles southeast from the southern tip of the Navajo Mine lease boundary. The proposed lease area is divided into two subwatersheds by the continental divide, and is crossed by several unnamed ephemeral arroyos. The western portion of the lease area ultimately drains into the Chaco River through an unnamed, ephemeral channel that drains to Laguna Castillo before flowing into a named drainage, Kim-me-ni-oli Wash, and into the Chaco River. The ephemeral arroyos passing through the lease area flow only in direct response to storm events, or discharges derived from NAPI. The drainage area for the main western drainage as it leaves the lease area is approximately 24.7 square miles of which about 6.1 square miles (25%) of the total watershed are proposed to be disturbed by mining. The effects of mining relative to surface water quantity is limited to the interception of surface flows, which has potential to impact the stock watering capability of rangelands (NMEMNRD 2008).

The El Segundo mine lies approximately 70 miles away from the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and the Chaco River is an ephemeral, losing stream. Therefore, only under tremendous regional storm conditions is it possible for surface water flows from the El Segundo Mine to reach the Chaco River in the vicinity of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and comingle with surface waters that cross the NTEC permit areas. Overall, El Segundo Mine covers less than one percent of the total Chaco Watershed. The surface water runoff generated from the small percentage of the Chaco Watershed is imperceptible relative to the total runoff volume generated from the entire Chaco Watershed. Therefore, OSMRE concludes that surface water cumulative impacts to the Chaco River from the El Segundo Mine are negligible.

5.3.2 Potential Impact of NTEC Operations on NAPI

NAPI uses surface water sourced from the San Juan River upstream of NTEC mining operations. Additionally, NAPI operations are located upstream of NTEC operations. Therefore, given the surface water flow directions, NTEC operations are determined to have negligible surface water impacts on NAPI operations.

However, NAPI operations have been documented to have significant impact on NTEC operations. NAPI impacts include direct discharges of water from irrigation canals and indirect discharges from irrigation return flows. NAPI direct discharges are a result of an oversupply of water in the canal that is released directly to a wash. Discharge events for the streams are highly variable, occur quickly, and can last up to 12 hours causing significant erosion and sediment transport in the channel (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). The indirect NAPI related discharges are a result of return flows to the wash caused by the infiltrating irrigation water. The indirect NAPI related discharges result in leaching of the unconfined geologic surface formations and soils. The impacts of the NAPI activities on the baseline channel hydrologic balance are expressed as highly variable increases in flow and discharge.

5.3.3 Potential Impact of NTEC Operations on Morgan Lake and APS

Water from the San Juan River is pumped to Morgan Lake for use as cooling water at the Four Corners Generating Station and also for use in dust suppression and reclamation irrigation activities in the permit area. Approximately 825 acre-feet annually is diverted and consumed annually for mining and reclamation activities; Approximately 35,421 acre-feet is diverted annually for power plant operations of which 28,611 acre-feet is consumed annually (United States of America 2011, Table L-1). The total volume of water in Morgan Lake is approximately 39,200 acre-feet at normal storage and 42,800 acre-feet at maximum storage. Variation between normal storage and maximum storage in Morgan Lake encompasses a difference of 3,600 acre-feet, or 10% of the normal storage. A comparison of total (power plant and mine permit area) diversion and consumption to the Morgan Lake volume shows that at normal storage roughly 90% of the Morgan Lake volume is diverted every year, of which roughly 75% is consumed. Of these total diversion and consumption percentages only 2% is attributed to mining

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Pag 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas operations. NTEC annual diversion and consumption from Morgan Lake is less than the difference between normal and maximum storage of Morgan Lake, therefore, the impact of NTEC operations on Morgan Lake water quantity is negligible. The contribution to Morgan Lake from tributaries which traverse the NTEC permit is also considered to be negligible.

Given the total (power plant and mine permit area) diversion rate from the San Juan River into Morgan Lake, which results in approximately 90% of the normal storage volume being replaced on an annual basis, and the negligible flow contribution to Morgan Lake from tributaries which traverse the NTEC permit area, quality impacts associated with these tributaries are considered to be negligible. NTEC diversion and consumption is roughly 2% of the total power plant diversion and 3% of the total power plant consumption, therefore NTEC operations are not expected to adversely impact the water availability for power plant operations. Quality impacts to Morgan Lake associated with NTEC operations are considered to be negligible, and NTEC operations should not impact Morgan Lake water quality, such that, it would not be suitable for power plant operation use.

5.3.4 Chaco River

There are periods when precipitation runoff from the drainages that normally flow across the areas intersected by mining will not make it to the Chaco River during operations, but will either be intercepted by the mine pits or captured in temporary pit protection ponds (highwall impoundments) located up gradient of mining. Once reclamation is completed within the mining area, precipitation runoff from these reclaimed areas will flow through channels in the reconstructed topography and then to the Chaco River.

5.3.4.1 Surface Water Quantity

The Chaco River is an ephemeral drainage up until the last 12.5 miles of the stream where runoff from Morgan Lake create perennial conditions. All of the primary drainages crossing the lease area, except for Bitsui Wash flowing into the San Juan River, drain into the Chaco River. Water monitoring historically occurred along two USGS gage stations along the Chaco River, station #09367950 near Waterflow, NM and station #09367938 near Burnham, NM. The locations of these two water monitoring stations are illustrated in Figure 8. The stations were actively monitored for stream flow and select water quality parameters from 1977-1994 and from 1977-1982, respectively. Station #09367938 exhibits the original ephemeral nature of the Chaco River, which existed prior to the construction of Morgan Lake, whereas Station #09367950 is downstream of the confluence with the Morgan Lake drainage where the river flows perennially. USGS station 09367938 is considered to be representative of baseline conditions within the Chaco River as it is upstream of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease.

Precipitation runoff from reclaimed areas may be reduced somewhat from pre-mine levels due to any of the following factors: lower slopes, enhanced vegetative growth, engineered traditional or geomorphic drainage designs, and the use of sediment-control BMPs that operate to retain water in the reclaimed areas reducing storm-water runoff to the channels. Although some perennial flow occurs along the lower reach of the Chaco, all of the large flow events occur in response to precipitation. Figure 23 indicates that flow in response to heavy precipitation events increases moving downstream. Therefore, there is not a substantial loss in surface water flows within the Chaco River downstream of mining, and impacts of the NTEC mining operations on Chaco River surface water quantity considered negligible.





5.3.4.2 Surface Water Quality

Surface water quality data is available on the Chaco at two historic USGS monitoring stations which bracket all Chaco River tributaries traversing the lease area; 09367950 downstream of the Morgan Lake discharge point and 09367938 upstream of No Name Wash confluence (Figure 8). USGS station 09367938 is considered to be representative of baseline conditions within the Chaco River as it is upstream of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. Water quality data was collected by the USGS at 09367938 from July of 1977 to August of 1982.

USGS station 09367950 is used to assess the non-baseline or downstream, conditions within the Chaco River as it is downstream of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, however it is not necessarily considered to be representative of mining impacts as it is also downstream of the Morgan Lake discharge point, which affects the Chaco River quantity by changing the normally ephemeral drainage into a perennial drainage at this point. Additionally, between two USGS stations, the Chaco river changes from flowing over Quaternary Alluvium Deposit to flowing over the outcrop of the Mesa Verde Aquifer (Cliff House Sandstone, Menefee Formation, Point Lookout Sandstone formation) before discharging into the San Juan River (Figure 5). The Chaco River is a discharge area for the Mesa Verde Aquifer within the San Juan Watershed. Water quality data for this aquifer in the San Juan Watershed is sparse, specifically within the discharge zone to the Chaco River adjacent to the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. However, the data available to the west of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease indicate that the dissolved-solids concentration ranges from about 1,000 to over 4,000 milligrams per liter (Robson and Banta 1995). Despite these potential nonmining impacts, Chaco River data from USGS 09367950 will be used for the assessment. Water quality data was collected by the USGS at 09367950 from October of 1969 to August of 1989.

Although USGS 09367950 is downstream of the NTEC permit areas, it is also downstream of the power plant operations and the Morgan Lake discharge; therefore it is not possible to completely differentiate mining impact from these other potential sources with the available information. Nevertheless, analysis will be done using data from this station as data collected upstream of the power plant operation and Morgan Lake discharge is not available.

Review of downstream data indicates high variability relative to baseline data where the median percent relative standard deviation for all constituents was 96 percent as compared to 44 percent for baseline data. The NNEPA criterion for pH was exceeded for 1 sample where the pH was 11.3. Mercury exceeded the NNEPA fish consumption criteria for 85 percent of all samples. Cadmium exceeded NNEPA secondary human contact, fish consumption, and livestock criteria for 8 percent of all samples. NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria were exceeded for cadmium, chromium, copper, mercury, selenium, and zinc for 8, 100, 25, 17, 8, and 8 percent of all samples respectively. NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria were exceeded for cadmium, copper, mercury, selenium, and zinc for 100, 25, 100, 85, and 8 percent of all samples respectively. Livestock criteria for boron, chloride, fluoride, sulfate and TDS were exceeded for 23, 1, 46, 24, and 5 percent of all samples. The median cadmium, mercury and selenium concentrations were 1.2, 300, and 3 times greater than NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat standards. The median chromium concentration was 1.6 times greater than NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat standards. The median mercury value also exceeds the NNEPA fish consumption criteria. All other median values are below all criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. Therefore surface water quality within the Chaco River as compared to NNEPA and other relevant criteria is appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing. However, elevated levels of cadmium, chromium, mercury, and selenium were found relative to aquatic and wildlife habitat and fish consumption NNEPA criteria. There were no exceedances of the SMCRA dissolved iron standard.

The comparison to baseline median plus 2 MAD from the upstream station USGS 09367938 showed the following; minor impacts for manganese where 15% of all samples exceeded baseline; moderate impacts for barium, cadmium, fluoride, radium, and selenium where 35, 31, 54, 1, 38, and 58 percent of all samples exceeded baseline; major impacts for boron, sulfate, TDS and conductivity where 96, 94, 100, and 96 percent of all samples exceeded baseline. Of these the median concentrations of boron, chloride, fluoride, nitrate, selenium, sulfate, TDS, and conductivity all exceeded the baseline median plus 2 MAD. The median concentrations for all of these criteria except selenium and nitrate, however, were below the relevant use criteria. Impacts for all other constituents were determined to be negligible. Therefore while the impact designation can be considerable for certain constituents it does not appear to transfer to a significant impairment of use. Surface water quality within the Chaco River is generally appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing, except for possible concerns over nitrate concentrations. Additional potential concerns exist regarding selenium concentrations relative to aquatic and wildlife habitat use.

5.3.4.3 Chaco River Alluvium

Groundwater use in the groundwater CIA is limited in extent and is mostly derived from wells completed within surficial valley-fill deposits of Quaternary age, or alluvium. Water derived from alluvial wells is predominantly used for livestock watering. Baseline alluvial water quality was found to be a poor source for livestock watering use. This is especially apparent when considering sulfate and TDS concentrations. No downstream alluvial data is available for comparison.

5.3.5 Historic Mining Area North of the NTEC Permit Areas

5.3.5.1 Surface Water

The increased application of surface water from NAPI has affected the area hydrology and water quality. NAPI effect in this area consist of indirect discharges from irrigation return flows. The indirect NAPI related discharges are a result of return flows caused by infiltrating irrigation water. The effects of the NAPI activities on the baseline channel hydrologic balance are expressed as highly variable increases in flow and discharge. The indirect NAPI related discharges result in mobilization of chemical constituents from the unconfined geologic surface formations and soils. NAPI effects increase the already highly variable hydrologic balance and further decrease the potential for changes to the hydrologic balance as a result of mining (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41).

The historic coal mining area north of the NTEC permit area includes the Watson, Bitsui, Dodge, and Custer pits. Only the Custer pit area is within the surface water CIA, and is within the Morgan Lake-Chaco River HUC12 watershed along with the Bighan Pit area. The Bighan Pit area is within the NTEC permit area therefore the characterization of impact to water quantity for the Morgan Lake-Chaco River HUC12 watershed is included below in Section 5.3.7.1.1. There are no major tributaries to the Chaco River which traverse this area, and no surface water data is available for this area within the surface water CIA.

5.3.5.2 Alluvium

There are no current uses of the alluvium in this area; however, historic uses of alluvium in the area have been attempted for livestock watering (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Two alluvial wells exist along drainages that are tributary to Morgan Lake; water quantity data was collected from 1996 to 2000 at Custer-1 located along the western lease boundary, and Custer-4 located within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease close to the eastern lease boundary. Two additional alluvial wells exist along Bitsui Wash; data was collected from GM-7 from 1975 to 1976 and no data is available at GM-37. Data collected at GM-7 represents the only alluvial quality data available for this area, however, it is located upstream of mining and was used for baseline characterization. Therefore no assessment of alluvial quality is presented in this discussion.

The Custer wells were not monitored prior to mining impacts in the area, therefore, not used for baseline characterization. Therefore, alluvial quantity assessment at these locations cannot rely upon comparison of pre to post mining conditions. Alluvial quantity was assessed using two metrics: the percent of all sampling events which were dry and the water elevation in feet above Mean Sea Level (MSL). Water elevation was not collected for all samples; however, inference of water presence was based on the presence of water quality data. Therefore the total number of samples used to calculate the percent of dry sampling events is often higher than the number of samples used for the water elevation comparisons. Alluvium at Custer-1 and 4 was found to be dry for 75% of all sampling events, and only two water elevation data points are available for each well as shown in Figure 24. Although data in the area is limited, hydrology, geologic, and climatological information indicate that changes in groundwater levels will not preclude use as they are steadily increasing over time, and potential mining related impact considered negligible.



Figure 24: Custer Water Elevations

5.3.5.3 Fruitland Formation and PCS

The mine pits remain dry except on occasions when surface flows from precipitation events are captured. Groundwater seeps observed along highwalls, Fruitland overburden, and coals are typically consumed by evaporation (NTEC 2013). The few seeps observed during mining were at locations where the highwall was near NAPI irrigation plots. The projected and observed impacts to the water quantity within the Fruitland Formation and the coal seam aquifers resulting from coal mining have been minimal to date. There are no current uses for the Fruitland formation in or adjacent to this area and no foreseeable uses other than oil and gas extraction, therefore impacts to the Fruitland formation resulting from the historic mining activity are not expected to interrupt existing or foreseeable water users. Additionally, the observed impacts to the Fruitland do not extend outside of the immediate areas surrounding the mine pits and subsequent reclaimed areas and the unit is generally not capable of providing a sustainable water supply (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Therefore for the purpose of this assessment, the impacts to the Fruitland groundwater quantity are considered to be negligible.

Laboratory spoil leaching tests were performed in support of the PHC assessment for the Navajo Mine and Pinabete permit areas. The spoil leaching test results indicate a considerable range in concentrations of TDS and sulfate, which are constituents of concern with respect to spoil leachate. The leaching test results are similar with the results for the Bitsui #5 spoil well completed in the mine spoils in the Bitsui Pit, located in the pre-SMCRA mining areas. The Bitsui Pit was backfilled in the 1980s and is the only pit where saturation of mine spoils has been observed to date. Arsenic and selenium were below detection in most of the leaching test results and in the Bitsui 5 spoil well. Fluoride is also lower in the spoil water leachate than in the coal water and is attenuated in flow through mine spoil. Boron and manganese concentrations are also elevated in mine spoil water (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). A postreclamation increase in TDS and sulfate concentrations in mine spoil backfill may result in increased TDS and sulfate concentrations in the coal seams adjacent to the historic mining areas. Spoil leaching test results found an increase in TDS concentrations in spoil water leachate ranging from 400 to 2,700 mg/l and an increase in sulfate concentrations in spoil water leachate ranging from 630 to 2,580 mg/l (NTEC 2013, Appendix 41-B). Spoil data within this area is generally consistent with spoil data within the NTEC

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Pag 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

Page 81

permit area, for a detailed assessment of spoil data relative to baseline within the permit area see Section 5.3.7.2.2.

The PCS is a well-cemented, low-permeability, marine sand and is the first water-bearing unit below the Fruitland Formation. The PCS is approximately 110 to 120 ft thick and follows the structure of the Fruitland Formation, dipping to the east at approximately 2 degrees, although the structure varies locally. The PCS conformably overlies the Lewis Shale, with the contact marked by a zone of interbedded sandstones and mudstones in the lower part of the PCS (Stone, Hydrogeology and Water Resources of San Juan Basin, New Mexico 1983). It outcrops just west of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and east of the Chaco River. The PCS is a marginal water resource due to low permeability, poor water quality, gas production, and low yields. The PCS is also a natural gas reservoir in the San Juan Watershed. Stone et al. (1983) state that the PCS cannot be considered a major aquifer and it is important only because it is the water-bearing horizon immediately underlying the coals in the Fruitland Formation. There is no non-baseline PCS data available in the area; therefore there will be no comparison of non-baseline PCS quality to baseline conditions.

Since there are no current uses for the Fruitland or PCS formations in or adjacent to this historic mining area and no foreseeable uses other than oil and gas extraction, mining related impacts are not anticipated to interrupt the existing or foreseeable water uses. Potential impacts are localized and are not anticipated to extend outside of the immediate areas surrounding the reclaimed areas. Additionally, the geologic units are generally not capable of providing sustainable water supply (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Therefore for the purpose of this assessment, the impacts to the Fruitland groundwater quantity are considered to be negligible.

5.3.5.3.1 CCB Disposal

Navajo Mine accepted CCBs from the Four Corners Power Plant units 4 and 5 for disposal in final pits and ramps from 1971 to 2008. CCBs disposed of at Navajo Mine included: fly ash, scrubber sludge, and bottom ash. CCBs from the Four Corners Power Plant were placed in mined-out pits and ramps of the Navajo Mine to help achieve approximate original contours (AOC) (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). The CCB disposal designs considered the natural conditions prevalent in the area and targeted for placement above water table conditions to limit mobility of dissolved constituents.

CCB disposal predominantly occurred within this historic mining area north of the active NTEC permit areas, and can be seen on Figure 25. Additionally, the only saturated CCB area, Bitsui, is located within this pre-SMCRA historic area. No baseline Fruitland coal data is available for this area, however, baseline Fruitland data from upgradient wells located within the NTEC permit areas is available for comparison.

The variability of CCB data is relatively similar to that of the baseline Fruitland coal within the permit where the median %RSDs was 46. A comparison of CCB wells to the Median + 2MAD for baseline Fruitland coals within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease showed the following; negligible impact for chloride; minor impacts for conductivity and manganese where 20 and 26 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively; moderate impacts for total iron and TDS where 40 and 59 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively; major impacts for pH, boron, selenium, fluoride and sulfate were 70, 100, 82, 63 and 100 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively. Of these the median concentrations for boron, selenium, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded the baseline Median + 2MAD where they were 13, 4, 1.1, 150 and 1.25 times larger respectively. Median pH was within the livestock criteria range, and no individual sample was below 6.5. However, 16 percent of pH samples were above 9. The median concentrations for boron, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria; however, median concentrations for boron, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria; however, median concentrations for boron, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria; however, median concentrations for boron, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria; however, median concentrations for boron, fluoride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria where they were 2, 1.3, 6 and 5 times larger respectively. Therefore, within CCB disposal areas boron, fluoride, sulfate and TDS are all considered to be of concern relative to baseline and livestock criteria.

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Pag 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas Although elevated levels of constituents of concern exist within the CCB wells in the historic mining area, there are no current uses for the Fruitland formation in or adjacent to this area and no foreseeable uses other than oil and gas extraction. Therefore in order for the historic CCB disposal to have significant impact to use, CCB leachate would need to have sufficient mobility to reach alluvial users within the vicinity of the historic disposal sites at significant concentrations. Modeling was conducted by OSMRE and NTEC to assess the impact of historic CCB placement relative to nearby alluvial systems, which could have impact to current and reasonably foreseeable uses. Modeling results indicated slow groundwater movement and the attenuation of contaminants of concern as they migrate through the subsurface. Detailed CCB analysis can be found in Appendix G, including CCB placement locations, CCB leachate studies and groundwater modeling. Based on analysis found in Appendix G, OSMRE concludes that potential impacts to water users from CCB disposal at the Navajo Mine permit area are negligible. Placement of CCBs is not proposed in the Pinabete Permit Area.



5.3.6 Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

5.3.6.1 Surface Water Quantity

Changes in peak flows due containment berms, diversions and highwall impoundments, coupled with retention of water within pits and down gradient sediment ponds will reduce peak flows downgradient of the mine area during operations. As areas are reclaimed, there will be increased retention of surface water runoff within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease area compared with pre-mining conditions, due to less steep slopes and the placement of topsoil materials with more permeable textures than occurred naturally in pre-mine conditions.

It is anticipated that post-mining flows will be ephemeral in all of the streams within the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit areas due to the limited precipitation regime, unless activity from the upgradient NAPI area generate sustained flow. NAPI influences have resulted in the perennial and intermittent flows in Chinde and Cottonwood respectively. Future development of NAPI operations may continue further east and south of existing development into the headwaters of Cottonwood (NTEC 2013). The expanded NAPI irrigation plots would be far removed from mining within Area III or Area IV North.

Precipitation runoff from drainages that normally flow across the active mine permit areas may be intercepted by the mine pits or captured in temporary pit protection ponds (highwall impoundments) located up gradient of mining. Precipitation runoff collected in the pits or in the pit protection ponds may be utilized for dust suppression, or will naturally diminish from evaporation and seepage. Once reclamation is completed within the mining area, precipitation runoff from these reclaimed areas will flow through channels in the reconstructed topography and then to the Chaco River. Precipitation runoff from reclaimed areas may be reduced somewhat from pre-mine levels due to any of the following factors: lower slopes, enhanced vegetative growth, engineered traditional or geomorphic drainage designs, and the use of sediment-control BMPs that operate to retain water in the reclaimed areas reducing storm-water runoff to the channels.

The PHC and CHIA analyses were developed with the support of site-specific data and modeling analysis. Surface water and sediment modeling was performed using SEDCAD to model peak flows. The Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas are primarily within four HUC12 watersheds that either intersect or contain portions of the lease area (Figure 6). The watersheds include the Morgan Lake-Chaco River, Chinde Wash-Chaco River, Coal Creek-Chaco River, and Cottonwood Arroyo watersheds. Each major tributary to the Chaco River are described by watershed in the following sections.

Surface water quantity impacts from the permit areas are measured according to percentages in which each watershed is affected according to two criteria:

- 1. Percentage of each watershed managed by surface water impoundments, diversions, and other mining related surface water management structures, and
- 2. The percentage that water management within the lease area affects the peak flows within each watershed (i.e. the difference between pre-mining and post-mining peak flow).

The Navajo Mine and Pinabete PAPs present detailed information on water management structures, and removal plan of temporary structures. A summary of these structures and general hydrologic information is provided in Appendix C.

Modeling using SEDCAD 4 was implemented to assess peak flows in response to the 10-year, 6-hour storm events within each HUC 12 watershed. NTEC developed SEDCAD models for all major drainages which traverse the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. The Chinde Wash and Cottonwood Arroyo Watersheds are both representative of HUC 12 scale, provided in the approved PHCs, and results utilized in this CHIA

assessment. The SEDCAD modeling evaluated only specific areas of the Coal Creek and Chinde-Chaco River HUC12 watersheds within the lease area where mining has occurred. Therefore, for these HUC 12 watersheds, information from the PHC on the pre-mining and post-mining SEDCAD inputs (curve numbers, runoff volumes, etc.) were integrated into simplified larger watershed scale models for the purpose of this evaluation. Excerpts from the OSMRE-generated SEDCAD models showing specific routing details, curve numbers, and other pertinent information are located in Appendix E. Figure 18 shows SEDCAD subwatersheds used in OSMRE modeled HUC 12 watersheds.

5.3.6.1.1 Morgan Lake-Chaco River Watershed

As discussed previously in section 4.1.5.2.1, the impact assessment of the Morgan Lake-Chaco River watershed does not include modeling of peak flow changes due to the small contribution that activities within the permit area would have on the total watershed, and due to the effect that contributing perennial flow to the watershed outfall (Chaco River) from Morgan Lake would have on the model, and because most of the permit area present in this watershed is either pre-SMCRA or area where OSMRE jurisdiction has been terminated. However, remaining mine-related impoundments in this watershed may potentially affect the hydrologic conditions.

The maximum percentage of the Morgan Lake-Chaco River watershed managed by surface impoundments at any given time is about 2 percent. Illustrated on Figure 26, no permanent post-mine impoundments will affect this particular watershed. All impoundments are projected to be removed by 2025. For the purpose of this assessment, the impacts from surface water impoundment watermanagement on the Morgan Lake-Chaco River watershed are negligible.



Figure 26: Percentage of the Morgan Lake-Chaco River Watershed Managed by Impoundments

5.3.6.1.2 Chinde Wash Watershed

Approximately 3,100 acres of the Chinde Wash drainage basin is disturbed by mining activities. The postmining Chinde Wash watershed increases in size by 1,124 acres within the lease area primarily because of changes in the drainage divide between Hosteen Wash and Chinde Wash, and the drainage divide between Dodge Diversion and Chinde Wash.

The largest hydrologic change to Chinde Wash is in the Doby reclamation area to the north, where the westward drainages from the off-lease, undisturbed surface are diverted towards the south via a post-mine channel (Doby North Channel) that runs north to south along the eastern lease boundary. The pre-mine

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas topography had no major channel; the surface sloped down towards the west with primarily sheet flow drainages and some small channels. The post-mine channel also collects surface runoff from a portion of the reclaimed surface to the west and diverts the flow into a tributary of the Chinde Diversion.

The peak flow resulting from a 10-yr 6-hr precipitation event was predicted to decrease from a pre-mining estimate of 715 cubic feet per second (cfs) to a post-mining estimate of 705 cfs for Chinde Wash at the exit point of the watershed (Table 8). For the purpose of this assessment, this decrease in peak flow constitutes a negligible impact.

There are no impoundments within the Chinde Wash watershed, therefore, impacts to the hydrologic balance concerning the percentage of the watershed managed by impoundments, are negligible. Although significant activity occurred on the Chinde Wash before SMCRA was established in 1977, which resulted in areas of sediment accumulation in the channel within the lease area. In 1973, the "Big Fill" was built for the rail crossing of the Chinde Wash. The area of sediment accumulation developed by the railroad crossing has developed into a productive wetland habitat. Surface and groundwater quality monitoring are in place to verify water conditions of the wetland habitat. The Chinde Wash Watershed has also experienced impacts from sources other than mining. Most notably in 1976 NAPI initiated commercial scale irrigation on lands adjacent to the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease (Moore 2006), and influences the hydrology of the Chinde Wash. Once an ephemeral arroyo, Chinde Wash now has perennial conditions are managed by development of two wetlands along the Chinde Wash. One of the wetlands is located upgradient of the mine lease and the second is located on the mine lease, up-gradient of the Big Fill. The historic Chinde diversion and the new natural channel regrade can be seen in Figure 22.

Sedcad 4.0 Watershed Designation		Pre Mir	- 1e	Post Mine		Difference From Pre-Mine		
Pre	Post	Area	Peak Flow (cfs)	Area	Peak Flow (cfs)	Area	Peak Flow (cfs)	
S24	S24	27,130	715	28,254	705	1,124	-10	
S17 SW1	S17 SW1	1,100	34	824	40	-276	6	
S15 SW1	S15 SW1	595	43	600	26	5	-17	
S11	S27	446	172	1,726	332	1,280	160	
S18 SW1	S18 SW1	146	10	120	10	-26	0	

Table 8: Comparison of Pre-Mine and Post-Mine Peak Flows in the Chinde Wash Watershed (NTEC 2013)

5.3.6.1.3 Chinde-Chaco River Watershed

Notable changes to the watershed from the pre-mining model to the post-mining model occurred along Hosteen Wash, Barber Wash, and South Barber Wash. The surface area within Hosteen Wash decreased by approximately 1300 acres from the pre-mining to the post-mining scenario due to diversion of surface water into the adjacent Chinde Watershed. Curve numbers used in SEDCAD modeling for certain areas within Hosteen wash were significantly reduced to reflect the impact of mining impoundments and higher infiltration rates on the area. The total peak flow reduction from a pre-mining to a post-mining scenario along Hosteen Wash resulted in approximatly 850 cfs. Impacts along North and South Barber wash were also integrated into the assessment. South Barber Wash decreased approximately 850 acres in its sub watershed. The decreased area from South Barber was subsequently added to the North Barber sub watershed through a diversion. Detailed assessment and modeling of the individual drainages can be

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Page 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

found in the PHC (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). For purposes of this CHIA analysis and modeling was conducted on HUC 12 watersheds. Although peak flow to South Barber Wash is thought to be reduced by about 120 cfs after mining is completed, minimal effects to the entire HUC12 watershed occurred through the changes in the Barber and South Barber Washes. A summary of this information is presented in Table 9.

The peak flow resulting from a 10-yr 6-hr precipitation event at the watershed outlet is simulated to decrease from a pre-mining estimate of 2,096 cfs to a post-mining estimate 1,331 cfs. The total peak flow reduction for the entire HUC12 watershed, pre-mining to post-mining, is approximately 36 percent. For the purpose of this assessment, this decrease in flow represents a moderate impact.

Sedcad	Pre-N	line	Post-I			
Watershed Designation	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Decrease in Peak Flow	
	(ae)	(cfs)	(ac)	(cfs)	Percent	
#2	2,010.00	680.13	1,650,000	81.38	88	
#5	3,110.00	929.94	2,400,000	262.42	72	
#1	1,210.00	298.3	850,000	32.21	89	
#4	2,750.00	609.87	2,100.00	307.04	50	
#8	6,840.00	1,408.08	5,480,000	575.42	59	
#3	1,565.00	221.37	1,140,000	161.25	27	
#7	3,215.00	444.33	2,365,000	326.8	26	
#6	1,235.00	253.21	1,985,000	406.98	-61	
#9 (Outlet)	14,220.00	2,096.39	12,760.00	1,331.61	36	

Table 9: Comparison of Pre-Mine and Post-Mine Peak Flows in Chinde-Chaco River Watershed

The maximum percentage of the Chinde-Chaco River watershed managed by surface impoundments at any given time is approximately 8.2 percent. Illustrated Figure 27, no permanent post-mine impoundments will affect this particular watershed based on impact thresholds. All impoundments are projected to be removed by 2025. For the purpose of this assessment, the impacts from surface water impoundment water-management on the Chinde-Chaco River watershed are negligible.





Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Page 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

5.3.6.1.4 Coal Creek-Chaco River Watershed

The total peak flow reduction to the Coal Creek Watershed is much lower, as a percentage, compared to the Chinde-Chaco River Watershed. Although much of the runoff within the watershed area is generated in Lowe Arroyo due to the steeper slopes present in this area, the total impacts to the watershed are mitigated by the large geographical area of which it is comprised. Curve numbers used in SEDCAD modeling were lowered in order to model the post-mining changes along Lowe Arroyo. Detailed assessment and modeling of individual drainages can be found in the PHC (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). For purposes of this CHIA analysis and modeling was conducted on HUC 12 watersheds.

The estimated pre-mining peak flow for the watershed, in response to the 10-year 6-hour rain event, is 1,719 cfs and the post-mining peak flow is 1335 cfs. The total peak flow reduction for the entire HUC12 watershed, pre-mining to post-mining, is approximately 22 percent. Results are presented in Table 10. For the purpose of this assessment, this decrease in flow represents a minor impact.

	Pre-N	line	Post-I			
Sedcad Watershed Designation	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Decrease in Peak Flow	
	(acres)	(cfs)	(acres)	(cfs)	Percent	
#16	7300	467.26	7300	467.26	0	
#15	3530	388.14	3530	388.14	0	
#10	2860	370.9	2860	240.25	35	
#11	6790	898.5	6790	500.47	44	
#12	7730	933.82	7730	523.35	44	
#17	23620	1827.86	23620	1471.57	19	
#14	1280	261.33	1280	261.33	0	
#13	1762	250.23	1762	250.23	0	
#18	28252	1757.7	28252	1383.23	21	
#19 (Outlet)	28252	1719.96	28252	1335.69	22	

T-LL-	10.	Campan		CD	11	- J D -	-4 B #	Deel	TNI	CL:_l-	CIL	D	XX7-A	I
ranie	1.022	Compa	uson o	r Pre-	viine ai	па ро	sr-wine	Р РЯК	FIGWS IN	i ninde-	(naco	KIVer	waters	nen
TROIL	T. O. +	Company	ADVAR O	A A A C I	TABLEC LES	ILLE A U	De TATTTE	A CLEAN	T TO HIS WAY	Chinas	CHINCO	ANTINT	TT CALCE DA	THE CH

The maximum percentage of the Coal Creek-Chaco River watershed managed by surface impoundments at any given time is about 9.3%. Illustrated on Figure 28, permanent post-mine impoundments will affect 1,624 acres for this particular watershed under the current mine plan. For the purpose of this assessment, the impacts from surface water impoundment water-management on the Chinde-Chaco River watershed are negligible.



Figure 28: Percentage of the Coal Creek Watershed Managed by Impoundments

5.3.6.1.5 Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed

The primary hydrologic change to the Cottonwood Arroyo watershed is the disturbance of the North Fork of Cottonwood Arroyo. Approximately 10,662 feet of the North Fork will be permanently realigned from the pre-mine orientation due to reclamation (NTEC 2013). As noted in the discussion of Lowe Arroyo, the Cottonwood Arroyo watershed will slightly increase from the pre-mine scenario, but this increase will yield no appreciable hydrologic effects with respect to the evaluation method used in this CHIA.

Table 11 provides comparison of peak flow for the 10-yr 6-hr precipitation event for the portions of Cottonwood tributaries that drain the Area 4 North mine area. These results reflect disturbance conditions for the entire sub-watershed even though proposed mining affects only a portion of the sub-watershed. The differences in peak flow are negligible between pre and post-mining at the lease boundary. The incrementally small change in peak flow reflects the small acreage of mining disturbance in the Cottonwood watershed as a whole.

The peak flow resulting from a 10-yr 6-hr precipitation event at the lease boundary is predicted to slightly increase from a pre-mining estimate of 2,879 cfs to a post-mining estimate 2,903 cfs. For the purpose of this assessment, this is considered a negligible impact.

 Table 11: Comparison of Pre-mine and Post-Mine Peak Flows in the Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed (NTEC 2013)

SEDCAD 4.0 WATERSHED DESIGNATION		Pro	e-Mine	Post-I	Mine	Diffe From P	rence re-Mine
Pre	Post	Area	Peak Flow	Area	Peak Flow	Area	Peak Flow
		(acres)	(cfs)	(acres)	(cfs)	(acres)	(cfs)
S21	S21	13,492	1,551	13,532	1,546	40	-5
S34	S34	18,191	674	18,279	665	88	-9
S36 (lease line)	S36	49,060	2,879	49,184	2,903	124	24
S37(O utlet)	S 37	51,269	2,842	51,477	2,855	208	13

The maximum percentage of the Cottonwood Arroyo watershed managed by surface impoundments at any given time is approximately 6.6 percent. Illustrated on Figure 29, permanent post-mine impoundments will affect 561 acres for this particular watershed under the current mine plan. For the purpose of this assessment, the impacts from surface water impoundment water-management on the Cottonwood watershed are negligible.





5.3.6.2 Surface Water Quality

Several recharge mechanisms influence surface water quality within the permit and adjacent area. Precipitation and NAPI discharges generate runoff in the ephemeral washes, entraining sands, silts, and clays, inducing elevated concentrations of TSS. The elevated TSS concentrations influence the cation exchange capacity, and ultimately the chemical composition of the surface water. Recharge also occurs from baseflow in areas where NAPI has resulted in intermittent and perennial flows and rising of local groundwater tables increasing hydrologic communication between the Fruitland Formation and alluvial systems. The effect of runoff on spoil surface area influences the surface water quality. During mining and through bond release, surface water impoundments capture surface water runoff that was in contact with spoil material. The impounded surface water may discharge over the spillway during precipitation events exceeding the design capacity, or infiltrate through the bottom of the impoundments, entering the Fruitland Formation and alluvial and surface water systems.

Surface water quality impact assessment is conducted via comparison of upstream/pre-mining or baseline water quality to downstream or non-baseline water quality collected during and post-mining. This assessment is conducted on the primary drainages which traverse the NTEC permit area. As part of the ongoing NTEC surface water monitoring program, water quality has been assessed along the Chinde, Cottonwood, Pinabete, and No Name drainages at the location shown in Figure 17. The only drainage for which non-baseline surface water quality data exists is Chinde Wash.

Surface water quality impact assessment is also conducted via comparison to applicable water quality standards as outlined in Table 3, as well as the SMCRA dissolved iron standard of 10mg/L. The NNEPA water quality program is an integral component in the protection of the hydrologic balance and surface water quality. NNEPA developed and implemented water quality based effluent limitations and provide comment on technology-based effluent limitations for inclusion in any permit issued to the discharger. Discharges are reported to USEPA under point source permit No. NN0028193. If the appropriate CWA authority determines a water quality violation exists, OSMRE will use the appropriate permitting and enforcement procedures to ensure compliance with discharge permit NN0028193, and the protection of the hydrologic balance.

5.3.6.2.1 Chinde Wash

Surface water quality data is available on the Chinde Wash at monitoring stations which bracket the lease area; CD-2 and CD-2A downstream of the mine and CD-1 and CD-1A upstream of the mine (Figure 17). Water quality data was collected at CD-1 and CD-2 from 1986 to 1997 and at CD-1A and CD-2A from 1996 to present. There is no pre-mining data on Chinde Wash, however, CD-1 and CD-1A were considered as baseline as they are upstream of the mine. It is important to note that while upstream of mining, CD-1 and CD-1A are both downstream of NAPI activities, and there is no pre-NAPI data on Chinde Wash, which is subject to both direct and indirect NAPI influences. Direct discharge events for the streams are highly variable, occur quickly, and can last up to 12 hours causing significant erosion and sediment transport in the channel. The indirect NAPI related discharges are a result of return flows to the wash caused by the infiltrating irrigation water, and most likely result in the continuous baseflow within Chinde Wash (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Data from CD-2 and CD-2A will be used for the downstream analysis on Chinde Wash.

Downstream data was found to have slightly higher variability relative to baseline data where the median percent relative standard deviation for all constituents was 100 percent as compared to 85 percent. The NNEPA fish consumption criterion was not exceeded for any samples. NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria were exceeded for cadmium, chromium, selenium, silver and zinc for 4, 100, 1, 2 and 60 percent of all samples respectively. NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat criteria were exceeded for aluminum, cadmium, chromium, lead, selenium, and zinc for 46, 100, 3, 57, 70, and 60 percent of all samples respectively. Lead exceeded the NNEPA secondary human contact standard for 4 percent of all samples. Livestock criteria for boron, chloride, selenium, sulfate and TDS were exceeded for 0.5, 5, 23, 0.5 and 6 percent of all samples. The median cadmium, lead, selenium and zinc concentrations were 6, 2, 1.25 and 1.3 times greater than NNEPA chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat standards. The median chromium and zinc concentrations were 16 and 1.3 times greater than NNEPA acute aquatic and wildlife habitat standards. All other median values are below all criteria indicating that the criteria exceedances are generally more characteristic of the high variability in the data set as compared to the general water quality. Surface water quality within the Chinde Wash as compared to NNEPA and other relevant criteria is appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing. However, elevated levels of

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Pag 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas selenium were found relative to chronic aquatic and wildlife habitat NNEPA criteria. One sample or approximately 6 percent of all samples exceeded the SMCRA dissolved iron standard; however, the median dissolved iron concentration of 0.1 mg/L is 100 times lower than the criterion.

The comparison to baseline median plus 2 MAD from the upstream stations CD-1 and CD-1A showed the following; minor impacts for boron, selenium, sulfate, TDS, conductivity, and manganese where 15, 24, 21, 22, 22, and 10 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively; moderate impacts for aluminum, arsenic, chloride, nitrate, TSS, and total iron where 50, 50, 39, 35, 32, and 32 percent of all samples exceeded the baseline respectively. Of these the median concentrations of aluminum and arsenic exceeded the baseline median plus 2 MAD. The median concentrations for all of these criteria except selenium, however, were below the relevant use criteria. Impacts for all other constituents were determined to be negligible. No major impacts have occurred within Chinde Wash and water quality is generally appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing. Selenium concentrations relative to aquatic and wildlife habitat use are not being met at upstream and downstream locations.

5.3.6.2.2 Cottonwood Wash

Cottonwood Wash flows from east to west, and joins Chaco Wash approximately three miles west of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. Surface water monitoring location CNS-1 is located near mine access bridge crossing Cottonwood Wash (Figure 17). Location CNS-1 is used to assess downstream water quantity and quality conditions of Cottonwood Wash, and passing flow for approximately 90 percent of the Cottonwood Wash watershed. Cottonwood Wash branches into several tributaries on the east side of the lease area. Surface water monitoring locations CN-2, CM-2, CS-2A, and CS-2B (Figure 17) were installed during 2012-13 during the Burnham Road realignment. The four locations are upstream of current and future mining activities, and used to assess water quality and quantity. The five Cottonwood Wash surface water monitoring locations (one downstream, and four upstream) have flow meters to record flow quantity and quarterly water quality monitoring is ongoing.

5.3.7 Groundwater

OSMRE will evaluate groundwater quantity and quality related to the overall hydrologic balance and potential impact of mining operations on groundwater uses, specifically livestock watering as this is the primary use of groundwater within the CIA, and considering livestock water quality criteria. OSMRE must also evaluate that the operation has been appropriately designed to provide the groundwater quantity and quality information necessary to assess potential impacts per 30 CFR 780.21(g). Minimization of impacts to the hydrologic balance relative to groundwater is focused on reducing the disturbance footprint to the extent practical via contemporaneous reclamation. Additionally, local areas of acid forming material are managed through proper blending and mixing of overburden materials. NTEC also minimizes potential effects to the alluvial groundwater quantity by instituting stream buffer zones to limit disturbances in channel reaches unaffected by mining.

5.3.7.1 Alluvium

OSMRE will evaluate the potential impact of NTEC operations to the existing and foreseeable uses outside the permit area related to alluvial water quantity and quality. Non-baseline downstream or postmining, alluvial wells exist within Areas I and II Alluvial data was collected from 1979 to 1980 at GM-9 on Chinde Wash within the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, from 1985 to present at QAC-1 at the western mine lease boundary, and from 1975 to 1982 at GM-10 downstream of QAC-1. Additionally, four alluvial wells were installed on Chinde Wash during 2012-13: CA-2, CA-3, CA-4, and CA-5. CA-2 is located upgradient of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and in an artificially created wetland developed to manage discharge from NAPI. CA-3, CA-4, and CA-5 are within the lease area on Chinde Wash, and within a second wetland developed through the accumulation of sediment during flow events and also helps in the management of NAPI discharge events. Two alluvial wells on Chinde Wash are proposed: CA-1 (upgradient) and CA-6 (downgradient). Implementations of these two locations is in process, but

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Page 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

since both locations are outside the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, additional regulatory approvals were required. OSMRE anticipates implementation of these two additional monitoring locations on Chinde Wash by 2016. One alluvial well, Bighan-1, exists along drainages that are tributary to Morgan Lake within the permit area; data was collected from 1995 to 2001 at this location along the eastern lease boundary just south of the permit boundary. The location of Bighan-1 along the eastern mine permit boundary suggests that the well would be representative of baseline; however, it was installed after mining impact in the area and is therefore discussed below and not in baseline assessment. Monitoring well locations are illustrated on Figure 19.

5.3.7.1.1 Alluvial Quantity

Currently, there are no uses of the alluvium as a developed water supply resource in Area I or II of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, however, there have been historic uses of the alluvium for livestock watering (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). The wells along Chinde Wash and Morgan Lake tributaries were not monitored prior to mining impacts in the area, and can therefore not be used for baseline characterization. Therefore, the alluvial quantity assessment at these locations does not rely on a comparison of pre mining alluvial groundwater quantity to post mining conditions. The potential for impacts to alluvial groundwater quantity was assessed using two metrics: the percent of all sampling events which were dry and the water elevation in feet above Mean Sea Level (MSL). Water elevation was not collected for all samples; however, inference of water presence was based on the presence of water quality data. The total number of samples used to calculate the percent of dry sampling events is often higher than the number of samples used for the water elevation comparisons.

Alluvial groundwater monitoring locations GM-9 and GM-10 are no longer utilized in the hydrologic monitoring program, but the data is considered for hydrologic assessment. Locations CA-1, CA-2, CA-3, CA-4, CA-5, and CA-6 are being implemented with quarterly monitoring data collections requirements. Results will be presented in the next CHIA update, and documented during OSMRE technical review of the annual reclamation status monitoring reports. Alluvial data reviewed indicates the Chinde Wash alluvium is mostly saturated across the length of the lease area, based on water present for all sampling events at GM-9, GM-10 and QAC-1. Alluvium at Custer-1 and Custer-4 was dry for 75 percent of all sampling events, whereas Bighan-1 had water for all sampling events. Water elevation data was, available at QAC-1 along Chinde Wash, and at Custer-1, Custer-4 and Bighan-1. Variability as characterized by the percent relative standard deviation (%RSD) for water elevation data indicated the Custer wells had the highest variability, where the median %RSD was 14 times greater than that of Bighan-1; and 11 times greater than that QAC-1 on Chinde Wash. The lower variability of water elevation levels in Chinde Wash may be due to perennial conditions of the drainage as a result of NAPI agricultural irrigation discharges. Water levels at QAC-1 and Bighan-1 have been increasing over time (Figure 30), likely a result of infiltration of NAPI runoff and agricultural irrigation discharges. As water levels are steadily increasing in the alluvium of Area I and II it is reasonable to assume that groundwater levels are not below baseline fluctuations, therefore, potential impact is negligible. More detailed alluvial quantity data can be found in Appendix F.





Figure 30: Chinde and Bighan Alluvial Water Elevations

Alluvial groundwater downstream of the Area IV North permit boundary has been monitored at QACW-2 since 2005, after mining began in the North Fork of the Cottonwood Arroyo, and recorded as dry for all monitoring events. Dry periods of this length are not outside of the variability observed in the baseline quantity data at this well, therefore, the dry period can be characterized as a negligible impact. Groundwater modeling of Area IV North conducted as part of the PHC assessment was used to evaluate the approximate magnitude of changes in groundwater flow in the Cottonwood alluvium that might occur as a result of mining in Area IV North. The groundwater model simulated a steady-state post-reclamation

alluvial groundwater flow at the mouth of Cottonwood Arroyo of about 4.6 gallons per minute (gpm) compared to the pre-mine alluvial groundwater flow estimate of 4.3 gpm (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). However, baseline groundwater flows in the Cottonwood alluvium are never at steady state and vary considerably seasonally and from year to year and will continue to vary throughout mining and after reclamation. The model-predicted 0.3 gpm increase in groundwater flow in the Cottonwood alluvium is low relative to the baseline variability in the Cottonwood alluvial groundwater. Thus, mining and reclamation within Area IV North is not expected to result in a long-term measurable change to the alluvial groundwater quantities or potential well yield from the alluvium. Groundwater quantities in the Cottonwood alluvium have historically been insufficient to sustain a reliable water supply at two of the three wells that were monitored for baseline conditions. The conditions are not expected to change with a modeled flow increase of 0.3 gpm. Impacts to the Cottonwood alluvial quantity are considered to be negligible because they are consistent with fluctuations caused by natural processes (Ecosphere Associates Inc. 2011).

5.3.7.1.2 Alluvial Quality

Water quality data was evaluated at all three wells (GM-9, GM-10 and QAC-1) along Chinde Wash, and at Bighan-1 along Morgan Lake tributaries. The wells along Chinde Wash and Morgan Lake tributaries were not monitored prior to mining impacts in the area and not used for baseline characterization. Instead, baseline data collected along Cottonwood Arroyo was used as an analog for the area. Cottonwood Arroyo data was selected since data in Area I and II is subject to NAPI influences. However, this is an imperfect representation as Cottonwood Arroyo is only subject to NAPI direct discharges and not NAPI irrigation return flows, which leach water soluble constituents from the unconfined surface formations. This difference in source water type suggests that Cottonwood Arroyo baseline alluvial water quality dissolved concentrations would most likely be lower than the baseline concentrations along Chinde Wash and in Area I. Therefore impacts assessed by this method may be overestimated.

5.3.7.1.2.1 Bighan Alluvium

The location of Bighan-1 along the eastern mine permit boundary suggests that the well would be representative of baseline; however, it was installed after mining impact in the area, therefore, discussed below and not in baseline assessment. It is important to note that there is ambiguity with the representation of baseline conditions.

The variability of Bighan-1 data is relatively low where the median %RSD is 31, significantly lower than that of the Cottonwood baseline which has a median %RSD of 121. At Bighan-1 arsenic, selenium, chloride, sulfate, TDS and fluoride exceeded livestock criteria for 4, 4, 4, 13, 6 and 100 percent of all samples. Of these Median fluoride concentrations exceed livestock criteria where the median fluoride concentration was 5 times larger than criteria.

A comparison to the Cottonwood baseline Median + 2MAD showed the following; moderate impacts for total iron where 50 percent of all samples exceeded baseline; major impacts for arsenic, fluoride, selenium, and nitrate where 95, 100, 100, and 100 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively. Impacts for all other constituents were found to be negligible. Of these, the median concentrations of arsenic, boron, selenium, fluoride, and nitrate exceeded the Cottonwood baseline Median + 2MAD where they were 5, 6, 3, 4, and 21 times larger respectively. The median concentrations for all of these criteria except fluoride, however, were below the relevant livestock use criteria. Therefore, while the impact designation can be considerable for certain constituents it does not appear to transfer to a significant impairment of use. Alluvial water quality at Bighan-1 is generally appropriate for the designated postmining land use of livestock grazing, although there are potential concerns with fluoride concentrations. The fluoride exceedance may indicate impacts to the alluvial system or may also be indicative of general alluvial quality in the area, as Cottonwood is not a perfect analog baseline since it is only impacted by NAPI direct discharges. In contrast, the Bighan area is impacted by indirect NAPI irrigation return flows

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Page | 96 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas which leach the unconfined surface formations and may have significant quality impacts. Additionally, based on spoil leachate data and observations in spoil wells located in the historic mining area north of the Navajo tribal Coal Lease, fluoride is lower in spoil water leachate than in the coal water and is attenuated in flow through mine spoil. There are no apparent trends over time in the Bighan-1 fluoride concentrations.

5.3.7.1.2.2 Chinde Wash Alluvium

The variability of Chinde Wash alluvium water quality is greater than Bighan-1 where the median %RSDs were 114 and 31 respectively, and both show lower variability than Cottonwood Wash baseline alluvium water quality which had a median %RSD of 121. Additionally, Chinde Wash alluvium water quality is more variable than Chinde surface water quality which had a median %RSD of 100.

Along Chinde Wash the pH was below the NNEPA standard range for one sample where the pH was 6.45. Arsenic, cadmium, lead, selenium, chloride, fluoride, nitrate, sulfate and TDS exceeded livestock criteria for 1, 1, 8, 7, 92, 11, 3, 98 and 98 percent of all samples respectively. The median concentrations for chloride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded livestock criteria and concentrations were 6, 4, and 4 times larger than the applicable criteria respectively.

A comparison to the Cottonwood baseline Median + 2MAD showed the following; moderate impacts for total iron where 50 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively; minor impacts for pH, cadmium, copper, selenium, fluoride and nitrate where 24, 16, 19, 25, 11 and 18 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively; moderate impacts for arsenic, chromium, lead and radium where 43, 51, 52 and 47 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively; major impacts for conductivity, boron, total iron, manganese, chloride, sulfate and TDS where 94, 98, 74, 88, 100, 95 and 97 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively. Impacts for all other constituents were found to be negligible. Of these the median concentrations of conductivity, boron, chromium, total iron, lead, manganese, chloride, sulfate, and TDS exceeded the Cottonwood baseline Median + 2MAD where they were 4, 6, 2, 2, 2, 15, 22, 2 and 3 times larger respectively. The median concentrations for all of these criteria except chloride, sulfate, and TDS, however, were below the relevant livestock use criteria. Therefore, while the impact designation can be considerable for certain constituents it does not appear to transfer to a significant impairment of use. Alluvial water quality along Chinde is generally appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing, except for concerns over chloride, sulfate and TDS concentrations.

These exceedances relative to baseline may indicate mining related impacts to the alluvial system or may be indicative of general alluvial quality in the area, as Cottonwood is not a perfect analog for baseline. Cottonwood is only impacted by NAPI direct discharges, whereas, Chinde Wash is impacted by both NAPI direct discharges and indirect NAPI irrigation return flows which leach water soluble constituents from the unconfined surface formations and may have significant water quality impacts. However, elevated sulfate and TDS concentrations at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease are associated with water quality from backfilled spoil and CCB disposal areas as characterized in section 5.2.2.1 below. Additionally, the concentrations of chloride, sulfate, and TDS have been steadily increasing within the Chinde Wash alluvium over time, as illustrated in Figure 31. More detailed alluvial quality data can be found in Appendix F.





Page 98



Figure 31: Chinde Alluvium Concentrations over Time

5.3.7.1.2.3 Cottonwood Arroyo Alluvium

Although QACW-2 has been monitored since 2005 after mining began in the North Fork of the Cottonwood Arroyo, it has been dry for all monitoring events; therefore no water quality data has been collected for comparison to baseline. Impacts to alluvium in Area IV North are not expected to be significant as there is a stream buffer zone around the main stem of the Cottonwood Arroyo including the alluvial deposit.

Long-term (500 years) TDS transport modeling simulations within Area IV North were performed using a lower bound source TDS concentration of 3,550 mg/l and an upper bound TDS concentration of 11,850 mg/l (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Based on these results, the long-term post-reclamation TDS concentrations in the groundwater in the Cottonwood alluvium will likely increase down gradient of the Area IV North mine area. The results indicate a delayed long-term increase in the TDS concentrations in the Cottonwood alluvium between 0 to 22 percent near the mouth of Cottonwood after more than 500 years. A 22 percent increase would result in a predicted TDS concentration of 3687 mg/L. TDS concentrations between 3000 and 5000 mg/L may not cause adverse effects to adult livestock, however, growing/young livestock could be affected by looseness or poor feed conversion (Lardy, Stoltenow and Johnson 2008).

The natural variability in the baseline TDS concentrations in the Cottonwood alluvium is comparable to or greater than the magnitude of the model-predicted changes in TDS concentrations. For example, the median plus one median absolute deviation of the TDS concentrations measured in baseline samples at Cottonwood alluvial wells QACW-2 and QACW-2B are 22 percent and 10 percent higher than the

median respectively, indicating large natural variation in TDS concentrations in the alluvium water quality. Cottonwood Arroyo alluvial monitoring at QACW-1 had insufficient water for sampling so it is not possible to assess the variability in TDS concentrations at this location. The median plus one median absolute deviation of the TDS concentrations measured in baseline samples at alluvial well GM-17 on the North Fork of Cottonwood was 3 percent higher than the median. However, the median TDS concentration in baseline samples from this well was 15,210 mg/l, making the alluvial groundwater at this location on the North Fork of Cottonwood unsuitable for use. In summary, the baseline median plus one median absolute deviation ranges from 3 to 22 percent higher relative to the medians (Ecosphere Associates Inc. 2011).

Although predicted TDS change of 0 to 22 percent could result in TDS concentrations above livestock criteria, the predicted change is within the variability of 3 to 22 percent observed in baseline fluctuations. Therefore, the impact of the model predicted changes in TDS concentrations in the Cottonwood alluvium are considered to be negligible as the predicted long-term changes in water quality are within the variability observed in the baseline fluctuations. Additionally, changes unrelated to mining could result in a greater magnitude of change in TDS concentrations in the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium, within the 500 year modeled timeframe. Any changes in alluvial groundwater quality are not expected to affect surface water quality or potential ecological receptors, as alluvial groundwater is not a source of base flow and generally does not discharge to the surface (Ecosphere Associates Inc. 2011).

5.3.7.2 Fruitland Formation Quantity

Based on mining experience at the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease, the coals, the overburden, and the interburden in the Fruitland Formation are not expected to yield appreciable water during mining in Area IV North or the Pinabete Permit Area. The mine pits have remained dry throughout the lease area except on rare occasions when surface flows are captured. Groundwater seeps are rarely observed along the highwall as any groundwater in the Fruitland overburden and coal is consumed by evaporation along the highwall (NTEC 2013). The few seeps that have been observed during mining were at locations within Area I where the highwall was near NAPI irrigation plots. Groundwater flow rates through the Fruitland coals within Area III are low based on the low hydraulic conductivities of the coal and the relatively flat hydraulic gradients. Area III gradients will be toward the mine backfill for an extended period following mining. As the mine spoils begin to saturate over the long-term, the buildup of hydraulic head in the mine spoil will increase, reversing the gradients with respect to the mine spoils. Based on model estimates of Area IV North it could take as long as 80 years for gradient reversal to occur (NTEC 2013). Transport directions for mine spoil water at that time would be laterally down dip in the Fruitland Formation, toward the outcrop areas to the south and west of Area III, and vertically into the PCS. Lateral flow from the mine spoils through the Fruitland Formation and vertically into the PCS will be very low due to the low hydraulic conductivity of these units and due to the relatively flat gradients that can be expected based on pre-mine conditions. Most discharge to the PCS and Fruitland Formation outcrops to the south and west of Area III is expected to be removed by evapotranspiration, although a portion of this groundwater discharge could reach the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvium.

Potentiometric gradients in the other coal seams within Areas III, IV, and V of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease are anticipated to be generally toward the northeast, similar to the gradients for No. 3 coal seam. However, the upper coal seams (No. 6, No. 7, and No. 8) outcrop to a greater extent within the valleys of Pinabete Arroyo, No Name Wash, and Cottonwood Arroyo within the coal lease. The groundwater gradients within these upper coal seams are influenced by outcrop discharge along the arroyos. The baseline hydrogeologic model generated to support the PHC assessment simulated local potentiometric gradients toward the Pinabete Arroyo, No Name Wash, and Cottonwood Arroyo in all of the Fruitland coal units. The local influence of topography on potentiometric gradients was greatest for the shallowest coal, the No. 8 seam (Norwest Corporation 2011). Field observations of salt deposits and enhanced vegetation production also indicate that local discharge may occur from the No. 8 coal at the coal outcrop

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas along Pinabete Arroyo. Baseline groundwater model simulations and potentiometric elevations at wells KF-2007-01, KF84-22A, and KF83-10A were used to prepare the potentiometric surface of the No. 8 coal seam provided in Figure 21.

The open mine pit acts as a drain for drawdown of any groundwater in the overburden/interburden, in the coal seams as the backfill spoil material resaturates. Model simulations of the advance of open pit mining in Area IV North have been performed to provide estimates of drawdown and recovery in the Fruitland coals during mining and reclamation. It is estimated that mining in Area IV North will cause around 5 feet of drawdown by the time of completion of mining in both the No.3 and the No. 8 coal seams (NTEC 2013). The groundwater model developed for the PHC was also applied to simulate the rate of recovery of water levels in mine backfill and in the Fruitland coals adjacent to the mining block. Maximum drawdown is less than 17 feet, occurring approximately 30 years following the start of mining (NTEC 2013). Upward gradients of groundwater movement from the PCS to the mine backfill do not occur until about 85 years after the start of mining. After that time, the recovery of the potentiometric surface in the backfill is complete and gradients are vertically downward from the backfill to the PCS.

These results together with the estimated 5-foot drawdown contour maps at the end of mining show that the hydrogeologic effects of proposed mining within Area IV North are localized and occur over a long time period. The long-term change resulting from the removal of the interbedded coal, shales, mudstones, and sandstone strata and replacement with a relatively homogeneous and isotropic mine backfill will be an increase in the rate of vertical flow into the PCS from the mine backfill compared with the vertical flow into the PCS from the Fruitland formation prior to mining.

Cumulative effects of drawdown are determined to be negligible because there are no wells completed in the Fruitland Formation or the PCS that could be impacted and these units are not capable of providing a sustainable water supply (NTEC 2013).

The projected and observed impacts to the water quantity within the Fruitland Formation resulting from coal mining at the Navajo Mine have been minimal to date. Since there are no current uses for the Fruitland formation in or adjacent to the Navajo Mine and no foreseeable uses other than oil and gas extraction, impacts to the Fruitland formation are not expected to preclude current or foreseeable uses. Additionally, the predicted and observed impacts to the Fruitland Formation do not extend outside of the immediate areas surrounding the mine pits and reclaimed areas; and the Fruitland Formation is generally not capable of providing a sustainable water supply (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Therefore for the purpose of this assessment, the impacts to the groundwater quantity of the Fruitland Formation are considered to be negligible.

5.3.7.3 Fruitland Formation Quality

Spoil leaching tests were performed in support of the PHC assessment for the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas. The spoil leaching test results show a considerable range in the concentrations of TDS and sulfate, which are the primary constituents of concern with respect to spoil leachate. Spoil leaching test results indicate an increase in TDS concentrations in spoil water leachate ranging from 400 to 2,700 mg/l and an increase in sulfate concentrations in spoil water leachate ranging from 630 to 2,580 mg/l (NTEC 2013, Appendix 41.B). The leaching test results are fairly consistent with the results for the Bitsui #5 spoil well completed in the mine spoils in the Bitsui Pit, located at the north end of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease. The Bitsui Pit was backfilled in the 1980s and is the only pit at Navajo Mine where saturation of mine spoils has been observed. Arsenic and selenium were below detection in most of the leaching test results and in the Bitsui 5 spoil well. Fluoride is also lower in the spoil water leachate than in the coal water and is attenuated in flow through mine spoil. Boron and manganese concentrations are also elevated in mine spoil water (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41).

During active mining, hydraulic gradients and groundwater flow directions in the Fruitland Formation are towards the mine pits and backfill areas. Therefore, it is anticipated that there would be little change in the quality of groundwater beyond the limits of the mine pit and mine backfill during mining and reclamation operations. These results indicate that in addition to increases in concentrations of TDS and sulfate, concentrations of boron and manganese may also increase relative to the baseline coal water (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41).

A comparison of baseline water quality to livestock criteria found that water in the Fruitland Formation is a very poor source of supply for livestock watering use, specifically because of elevated chloride and TDS concentrations, which are above livestock criteria. There are no livestock watering wells completed in the Fruitland Formation that would be impacted and the aquifer is generally not capable of providing a sustainable water supply for this use. The only documented current and historic use of the Fruitland Formation in the area is for oil and gas extraction, which does not have protective use criteria designations since water quality is not particularly significant for this use. Therefore, analysis of post mining groundwater quality in the Fruitland Formation including adjacent Fruitland Formation coal aquifers, CCB disposal areas and the backfilled spoil will be evaluated against baseline Fruitland Formation groundwater quality as well as livestock use criteria. A complete comparison to livestock use criteria is provided in Appendix F. An analysis of constituents generally associated with backfill spoil and CCB leachate including pH, conductivity, boron, total iron, manganese, selenium, chloride, fluoride, sulfate and TDS is presented below.

The variability of groundwater quality data from backfill spoil, and non-baseline Fruitland Formation coal aquifers is similar to that of the corresponding baseline groundwater quality data within the coal lease where the median %RSDs are 68 and 67 respectively. A comparison of spoil wells to the Median + 2MAD for baseline Fruitland coals within the NTEC lease area showed the following; negligible impacts for conductivity, chloride, and fluoride; minor impact for total iron where 27 percent of all samples exceeded baseline; moderate impact for selenium where 33 percent of all samples exceeded baseline; major impacts for pH, boron, manganese, sulfate and TDS where 64, 98, 64, 100 and 93 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively. Of these the median concentrations for boron, manganese, sulfate, and TDS exceeded the baseline Median + 2MAD where they were 2, 10, 187 and 1.3 times larger respectively. No pH values were outside of the livestock criteria range. There is no livestock criterion for manganese, and median boron concentrations were below the livestock criterion; however, median concentrations for sulfate and TDS exceeded livestock criteria where they were 8 and 5 times larger respectively. Therefore, within spoil wells sulfate and TDS are all considered to be of concern relative to baseline and livestock criteria. It is important to note that impact to boron and fluoride concentrations is lower in spoil wells relative to CCB wells.

A comparison of non-baseline Fruitland Formation coal aquifer wells to the Median + 2MAD for baseline Fruitland Formation coal aquifer wells within the NTEC lease showed the following; negligible impacts for pH, conductivity, total iron, manganese, chloride, and TDS; minor impacts for selenium and fluoride where 20 and 13 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively; major impacts for boron and sulfate where 92 and 64 percent of all samples exceeded baseline respectively. The median concentrations for boron and sulfate exceeded the baseline Median + 2MAD and concentrations were 1.3 and 6 times larger respectively. When compared against livestock water quality criteria, median boron and sulfate concentrations were below the livestock criteria. Therefore, within non-baseline Fruitland coal wells no constituents are considered to be of concern relative to baseline and livestock criteria, although boron and sulfate have major impacts relative to baseline. It is important to note that impact to non-baseline Fruitland coal wells within the NTEC lease is significantly reduced relative to impacts in CCB and spoil wells.

Since there are no current uses for the Fruitland formation in or adjacent to the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and no foreseeable uses other than oil and gas extraction, impacts to the Fruitland formation are not expected to preclude water uses. Additionally, the predicted and observed impacts to the Fruitland Formation do not extend outside of the immediate areas surrounding the mine pits and reclaimed areas and the aquifer is generally not capable of providing a sustainable water supply (NTEC 2013, Part 6 Sect. 41). Therefore for the purpose of this assessment, the impacts to the Fruitland Formation groundwater quantity are considered to be negligible.

5.3.7.4 Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Quantity

The PCS is a marginal water resource due to low permeability, poor water quality, gas production, and low yields. The PCS is also a natural gas reservoir in the San Juan Watershed. Stone et al. (1983) state that the PCS cannot be considered a major aquifer and it is important only because it is the water-bearing horizon immediately underlying the coals in the Fruitland Formation.

Lateral flow through the PCS within Area II is expected to be generally toward the northeast as indicated by the potentiometric surface provided in Figure 15. There could also be a component of flow west toward the PCS outcrop located east of the Chaco River. Groundwater flow rates through the PCS will be very low due to the very low hydraulic conductivity of the PCS. Any discharge along the PCS outcrop to the west of Area II will likely be removed by evapotranspiration. Based on pre-mine observations along the PCS outcrop adjacent to Areas III and IV North, flow rates in the PCS are expected to be insufficient to sustain flow at seeps and into the alluvial aquifer.

It is estimated that a 5 foot drawdown will be present in the PCS at the completion of proposed mining in Area IV North. The layer of shale separating the bottom of the lowest coal seam and the PCS serves to restrict groundwater inflow from the PCS during mining. The thickness of shale layer between the No. 2 coal and the PCS averages about 8.7 feet over the Area IV North mine block but is absent in some places. This variation in the shale thickness has been accounted for in the estimates of drawdown within the PCS. Artesian pressures in the PCS occur in the eastern portion of the Area IV North mine block where the shale thickness separating the coal from the PCS is greater. Accordingly, any drawdown in the PCS is dampened, particularly in these locations where the shale thickness is greater.

The model simulated steady-state post mining potentiometric surface in the PCS is provided in Figure 32. This surface is similar to the pre-mining PCS potentiometric surface in Figure 15, except for the localized increase in the heads in the PCS below the mine backfill within Area IV North. The higher head in the PCS below the mine backfill is due to the higher heads at the base of the mine backfill. Very little change in heads is predicted at locations away from mine backfill, including at the former PCS wells GM-19 and GM-28, located within the lease area at distances of about 3,500 and 3,000 feet from the Area IV North mine pit. This localized increase in heads in the PCS results in an increase in gradients toward the northwest and toward the northeast.

There is one identified livestock watering well completed in the PCS located along the western side of the Chaco River west of Area V which may be influenced by alluvial waters of the Chaco River and it is not known if the well is actively being used. The unit is known to have very low yields in the vicinity of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and is generally not capable of providing a sustainable water supply for this use. The primary documented current and historic use of the PCS in the area is for oil and gas extraction, which is not particularly sensitive to water quantity loses within the extraction zones. Therefore impacts to the PCS are not expected to disturb water users. Additionally, the predicted and observed impacts to the PCS do not extend outside of the immediate areas surrounding the mine pits and subsequent reclaimed areas. Therefore for the purpose of this assessment, the impacts to the PCS groundwater quantity are considered to be negligible.

5.3.7.5 Pictured Cliffs Sandstone Quality

Comparison of baseline water quality to livestock criteria found that water in the PCS is a very poor source of supply for livestock watering use, specifically because of elevated chloride, sulfate, and TDS concentrations, which are above livestock criteria. However, there is one identified livestock watering well completed in the PCS located along the western side of the Chaco River west of Area V which may be influenced by alluvial waters of the Chaco River. It is uncertain if the well is actively being used. The unit is known to have low yields in the vicinity of the Navajo Tribal Coal Lease and is generally not capable of providing a sustainable water supply for this use. The primary documented current and historic use of the PCS in the area is for oil and gas extraction, which does not have protective use criteria designations, as water quality is not particularly significant for this use. Therefore, impacts to the PCS are not expected to disturb water users. The only non-baseline PCS monitoring well KP-84 did not have sufficient water for sampling during the historic monitoring period from 1990 to 1998. Therefore there will be no comparison of non-baseline PCS quality to baseline conditions.

Direct intermediate-term impacts to the groundwater quality beyond the active mine area are not anticipated to occur during mining and reclamation operations. During active mining, hydraulic gradients and groundwater flow directions in the PCS would be toward the mine pits and backfill areas. Thus, it is expected that there would be little change in the quality of groundwater beyond the limits of the mine pit and mine backfill during mining and reclamation operations. However, over the long term as these gradients reverse post-reclamation increase in TDS and sulfate concentrations in mine spoil backfill may result in increased TDS and sulfate concentrations in the PCS adjacent to mining (Ecosphere Associates Inc. 2011). Additionally, the predicted and observed impacts to the PCS do not extend outside of the immediate areas surrounding the mine pits and subsequent reclaimed areas and are not expected to disturb water users. Therefore for the purpose of this assessment, the impacts to the PCS groundwater quantity are considered to be negligible.



Figure 32: Post-Mining Potentiometric Surface in the PCS Aquifer (NTEC 2013)
MATERIAL DAMAGE 6

Sections 507(b) (11) and 510(b) (3) of SMCRA, and 30 CFR § 780.21 (g) require OSMRE to determine that a mining and reclamation operation has been designed to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area. "Hydrologic balance" is defined at 30 CFR § 701.5 as, "the relationship between the quality and quantity of water inflow to, water outflow from, and water storage in a hydrologic unit such as a drainage basin, aquifer, soil zone, lake or reservoir. It encompasses the dynamic relationships among precipitation, runoff, evaporation, and changes in ground and surface water storage."

"Material damage to the hydrologic balance" is not defined in SMCRA or at 30 CFR § 701.5. The intent of not developing a programmatic definition for "material damage to the hydrologic balance" was to provide the Regulatory Authority the ability to develop a definition based on regional environmental and regulatory conditions. Therefore, for the purpose of this CHIA;

Material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area means any quantifiable permanent adverse impact from surface coal mining and reclamation operations on the quality or quantity of surface water or groundwater that exceeds the identified material damage limits and that would preclude any existing or reasonably foreseeable use of surface water or groundwater outside the permit area.

The hydrologic impact assessment presented in Chapter 5 of this document considers available quantity and quality information related to surface water and groundwater resources potentially affected by the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas. Chapter 5 contains definitions for impact designation of negligible, minor, moderate, and major (Table 7). Detailed discussion of the monitoring program, impact minimization, and impact designation determinations can be found in Chapter 5. The material damage assessment determines if material damage to the hydrologic balance has occurred, or the has the potential to occur, due to the mining operation.

Cumulative Impact of NTEC Operations and El Segundo Mine 6.1

OSMRE has concluded that surface water quantity and quality cumulative impacts relative to the Chaco River from the El Segundo are negligible. Additionally, the State of New Mexico Mining and Minerals Division has determined that all anticipated mining within the El Segundo Mine has been designed to prevent material damage to the hydrologic regime outside the permit area (NMEMNRD 2008).

6.2 NTEC Operations Impact on NAPI

OSMRE has determined that NTEC operations have negligible impacts on NAPI operations.

6.3 NTEC Operations Impact to Morgan Lake and APS

OSMRE has determined that flow contribution to Morgan Lake from tributaries which traverse the NTEC Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit area is negligible, and quality impacts associated with these tributaries are also negligible.

NTEC operations are not anticipated to adversely impact the water quantity or quality necessary for power plant operations, and OSMRE has determined that NTEC operations will have a negligible impact on power plant operations.

6.4 Chaco River

OSMRE has determined that impacts of the NTEC mining operation on Chaco River surface water quantity is considered to be negligible. Relative to the Chaco River surface water quality, although the impact designation may be considerable for certain constituents, it does not appear to translate to a

significant impairment of use. OSMRE finds that surface water quality within the Chaco River is generally appropriate for the designated post-mining land use of livestock grazing.

6.5 Historic Mining North of the Navajo Mine Permit

OSMRE finds that changes in alluvial groundwater quantity will not preclude use; therefore, the impact is designated to be negligible. Relative to Fruitland formation and PCS quantity and quality, impact designation is *negligible*, since observed impacts do not extend outside of the immediate areas surrounding the reclaimed areas and the hydrologic units are generally not capable of providing sustainable water supply. OSMRE's assessment has concluded that potential impacts to use from historic CCB disposal are negligible.

6.6 Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Area

OSMRE has identified both hydrologic balance thresholds and material damage limits for the Navajo Mine (Table 2).

- A material damage limit is a long-term coal mining effect on the hydrologic balance by the . mining operation that permanently precludes an existing or reasonably foreseeable designated use outside of the permit boundary, and specifically pertains to the designated post-mining land use within the permit area. Such an effect cannot be effectively mitigated or replaced by the coal operator.
 - A hydrologic balance threshold constitutes changes to the hydrologic balance caused by the mining operation that are short-term and can be effectively mitigated by reclamation or by water supply replacement, or changes to the hydrologic balance that do NOT preclude existing or reasonably foreseeable uses.

For the purpose of this material damage assessment, short-term impacts are defined as impacts that occur to the hydrologic balance during mining, but are not projected to persist after the reclamation liability period. Long-term impacts are defined as impacts that are projected to persist after the reclamation liability period. The reclamation liability period ends after the permittee has met all of the requirements at 30 CFR 750, including those at 30 CFR 800.13. At a minimum an application for final (Phase III) reclamation liability release would not be considered by the regulatory authority until the reclaimed (back filled, re-graded and top soiled) lands have been revegetated for ten years.

The intent of determining a hydrologic balance threshold is to alert NTEC and OSMRE of potential water resource impacts of concern, such that NTEC may take appropriate actions to prevent material damage. The exceedance of a material damage limit would result in a finding that material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area had occurred. At the time of final bond release OSMRE must make a determination that material damage to the hydrologic balance outside of the permit area has been prevented. Final bond release shall not be granted until such a determination is made.

The distinction between long-term and short-term impacts is supported in research. Various studies have determined that a number of requirements that must be met by a coal operator in order to achieve final bond release can restore water quality and quantity. Appropriate reclamation has been found to restore the seasonal variation rainfall-runoff watershed processes (Bonta, et al. 1997). Reclaiming diversions and revegetation have been shown to considerably improve water quality (Bonta and Dick 2003). Additionally, drastic decreases in suspended sediment concentrations, load rates, and yields have been documented to occur at surface coal mines subsequent to reclamation (J. V. Bonta 2000).

Category			Definition				
General	ty	Limit	irretrievable loss of the water resource to support existing or reasonably foreseeable uses outside of the lease area that cannot be provided by alternate water supplies				
	Quanti	Threshold	long term loss of the water resource that does not preclude the current or potential future use potential of the resource or short term loss of the water resource to support existing uses that can be mitigated by reclamation or by provision of alternate water supplies				
		Limit	long-term changes in water quality outside the lease area that preclude existing or reasonably foreseeable uses that cannot be provided by alternate water supplies				
	Quality	Threshold	long term changes in water quality that occasionally exceed the water quality observed in the baseline fluctuations but that do not preclude the current or potential future use potential of the resource or short term changes in water quality that consistently exceed the water quality observed in the baseline fluctuations but that do not preclude the current use or can be mitigated by reclamation or by provision of alternate water supplies				
Criteria Applied to the Navajo Mine		Limit	Long-term (impact remains after final reclamation and bond-release) Impact Designation of Major as defined in Table 7, and which Preclude Existing or Reasonably Foreseeable Uses Outside of the Lease area that Cannot be Mitigated by Reclamation or Provision of Alternate Water Supplies				
		Threshold	Long-term (impact remains after final reclamation and bond-release) Impact Designation of Moderate or Major as defined in Table 7 Outside of the Lease area that Does <u>NOT</u> Preclude Existing or Reasonably Foreseeable Uses OR Short-term (impact occurs only during active mining and reclamation prior to final bond release) Impact Designation of Major as defined in Table 7, which may Preclude Existing or Reasonably Foreseeable Uses Outside of the Lease area that Can be Mitigated by Reclamation or Provision of Alternate Water Supplies				

Table 12: Material Damage Limits and Hydrologic Balance Thresholds

A summary of OSMRE's material damage assessment and findings is presented in Table 13 and further discussed below. For clarity in the discussion hydrologic balance **threshold** and material damage **limit** will be bolded, and the impact designations of *negligible, minor, moderate,* and *major* will be italicized.

Table 13: Assessment of Material Damage for the Waters of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

Water Resource	Assessment Approach	Hydrologic Balance Threshold Reached	Material Damage Limit Reached	Impact Mitigation	Adequate Monitoring Program
Fruitland & PCS Quantity	Evaluation of potentiometric surface contour maps	No	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation	Yes
Alluvial Quantity	Comparison of water levels at individual wells over-time	No	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones	Yes
Surface Water Quantity	SEDCAD modeling- assessment of pre- and post-mining impacts; Percent of HUC12 Watersheds controlled with impoundments	Yes	No		Yes
Fruitland & PCS Quality	Comparison of baseline water quality to potentially impacted or non-baseline wells, including spoil and CCB wells	No	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mixing of overburden/ backfill materials	Yes
Alluvial Quality	Comparison baseline (upstream/pre-mining) water quality to non- baseline (post- mining/downstream) water quality	Yes	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones	Yes
Surface Water Quality		No	No	Contemporaneous Reclamation; mining limited to ephemeral channels; stream buffer zones; Sedimentation Ponds	Yes

6.6.1 Material Damage Assessment

6.6.1.1 Surface Water

Surface water quantity impacts are assessed as a relative percentage of the watershed controlled through the use of sediment impoundments compared to the corresponding Hydrologic Unit Code (HUC) 12 watershed delineation. Hydrologic balance **thresholds** and material damage **limits** have not been reached for any of the assessed HUC 12 watersheds, since all impact designations are *negligible* or *minor*.

When modeled pre-mining peak flows are compared to-post-mining peak flows, the comparison indicates that hydrologic balance **thresholds** and material damage **limits** have not been reached for the Chinde Wash Watershed, Coal Creek-Chaco River Watershed, or Cottonwood Arroyo Watershed.

In the Chinde-Chaco River Watershed a long-term impact designation of *moderate* has been determined for the area outside of the permit boundary. This *moderate* impact designation is due to a reduction in post-mining peak flow. Therefore, the hydrologic balance **threshold** has been reached for this watershed. The material damage **limit** has not been reached since the impact designation has not been determined to be *major* current designated water uses are not expected to be precluded. NTEC and OSMRE are currently discussing modifications to the reclamation plan that may be needed for this area to ensure material damage to the hydrologic balance is prevented outside of the permit area over the long-term.

Relative to Chinde Wash surface water quality, the hydrologic balance **threshold** and material damage **limit** have not been reached, since impacts are not long-term, not determined to be *major*, and will not preclude designated water uses.

6.6.1.2 Alluvium

The material damage assessment for alluvial water quantity confirms that hydrologic balance **thresholds** and material damage **limits** have not been reached, since all impact designations are *negligible*.

It has also been determined that the alluvial water quality hydrologic balance **threshold** has been reached in the Chinde Wash alluvium, since a short-term *major* impact designation has been assigned, which may preclude designated water use. The material damage **limit** has not been reached since impacts are not considered long-term. The alluvial monitoring plan in this area was augmented in 2012-13 to further assess and verify the duration of coal mining impacts in the Chinde Wash alluvium outside the permit area.

Relative to Cottonwood alluvial water quality, the hydrologic balance **thresholds** and material damage **limits** have not been reached since all impact designations are *negligible*.

6.6.1.3 Fruitland Formation and PCS

Relative to Fruitland formation and PCS quantity and quality, hydrologic balance **thresholds** and material damage **limits** have not been reached since impact designation is *negligible* and designated water use is not expected to be precluded. See Section 6.2 Historic Mining North of NTEC Operations for CCB disposal determination.

6.6.2 Conclusion

OSMRE finds that NTEC's Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit monitoring programs have supplied sufficient information in the approved PAPs for this CHIA and finding. OSMRE finds that the operations of Navajo Mine and proposed Pinabete Permit Area have been designed to minimize impacts within the permit area and to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside of the permit area.

7 WORKS CITED

Arizona Public Service. About APS: Power Plants. n.d. http://www.aps.com/general_info/aboutAPS_18.html (accessed 3 8, 2011).

BHP Billiton. "Permit Application Package (permit application) for Federal Permits NM-003 (Navajo Mine), Volumes 1-21A." Denver, Colorado: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Western Region Mine Plan Reference Center, 2011.

BHP. New Mexico Coal. n.d.

http://www.bhpbilliton.com/bb/ourBusinesses/energyCoal/newMexicoCoal.jsp (accessed 3 7, 2011).

- Bianchi, Mary, and Thomas Harter. "Nonpoint Sources of Pollution in Irrigated Agriculture." ANR Catalog, University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources. UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources. 2002. http://groundwater.ucdavis.edu/Publications/Harter_FWQFS_8055.pdf (accessed February 28, 2012).
- Blake, Raymond. "Memorandum: Recommendation to approve "Plan for the Reclamation of the Burnham Mine" (NM-0005), San Juan County, New Mexico (Project No. NM-0005 - -K-01)." Denver, CO: Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Mid-Continent Technology Development and Transfer Team, September 20, 1994.
- BNCC. "Navajo Mine Permit Number NM·0003F Groundwater and Surface Water Monitoring Responses to OSM's Comments." March 6, 2012.
- —. "Navajo Mine Permit Number NM-0003F; Proposed Chinde Groundwater Monitoring." Farmington, January 31, 2012.
- Bonta, J.V., C.R. Amerman, T.J. Harlukowicz, and W.A. Dick. "IMPACT OF COAL SURFACE MINING ON THREE OHIO WATERSHEDS - SURFACE-WATER HYDROLOGYI." *JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN WATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION* (AMERICAN WATER RESOURCES ASSOCLUION) 33, no. 4 (August 1997): 907-917.
- Bonta, James V. "IMPACT OF COAL SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION ON SUSPENDED SEDIMENT IN THREE OHIO WATERSHEDS." *JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN WATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION* (AMERICAN WATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION) 36, no. 4 (August 2000): 869-887.
- Bonta, James V., and Warren A. Dick. "IMPACT OF COAL SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION ON SURFACE WATER CHEMICAL CONCENTRATIONS AND LOAD RATES IN THREE OHIO WATERSHEDS." JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN WATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION (AMERICAN WATER RESOURCES ASSOCIATION), August 2003: 793-815.
- Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation, and Enforcement, Western Region. *Permit Renewal Decision Document: Navajo Mine OSM Project Number NM-0003-F-N-01.* Denver, CO: Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation, and Enforcement, Western Region, 2010.
- Dick, W.A., J.V. Bonta, F. Haghiri, and J.R. Page. "Stream Water Quality of Two Small Watersheds as Affected by Surface Coal Mining." *Journal of Environmental Quality* 12, no. 3 (1983): 351-358.

- Ecosphere Associates Inc. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT BHP Navajo Coal Company Pre-2016 Mine Plan for Area III and Area IV North OSM EA# NM-0003-F-Y-01. Department of the Interior Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Bureau of Land Management, Bureau of Indian Affairs, and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2011.
- Fetter, C.W. Applied Hydrogeology. Prentice Hall, 2001.
- Golder Associates Inc. Draft Remedial Action Plan Consol Energy Burnham Mine Burnham, San Juan Country New Mexico. Albuquerque, NM: Golder Associates Inc., 2008.
- Golder Associates Inc. Fuel Remediation Corrective Action Summary Report on Closure Boring and Groundwater Monitoring CONSOL Burnham Mine Property San Juan County, New Mexico. Albuquerque, NM: CONSOL Energy Inc., 2013.
- Heebink, Loreal. Coal Fly Ash Trace Element Mobility in Soil Stabilization. IAUS, 2001.
- Hereford, Richard, Robert H. Webb, and Scott Graham. "Precipitation History of the Colorado Plateau Region, 1900–2000." U.S. Geological Survey Fact Sheet 119-02. USGS. May 17, 2005. http://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2002/fs119-02/ (accessed February 28, 2012).
- Kaman Temp. "Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment: Effects of Coal Mining in the San Juan River Basin." Denver: Office Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, 1984.
- Keller-Bliesner. Projected Groundwater Changes in the Ojo Amarillo Drainage. Farmington, New Mexico: Navajo Indian Irrigation Project, 1997.
- Lamkin, A.G. A Laboratory Investigation of the Processing and Handling Options of Fly Ash and FGD Sludge from the Four Corners Generating Station. Radian Corporation, 1981.
- Lardy, Greg, Charles Stoltenow, and Roxanne Johnson. *Livestock And Water*. North Dakota State University. June 2008. http://www.ag.ndsu.edu/pubs/h2oqual/watanim/as954.pdf (accessed 2012).
- Manoharan, V. Influence of Coal Fly Ash Application on Trace Element Mobility and Distribution in Soil, Plant, and Leachate. WOCA, 2007.
- Mavor, M.J. Gas Research Institute Topical Report No. GRI-92/0504. Salt Lake City, Utah: Resource Enterprises, 1992.
- MMCo. "Technical Memorandum: Navajo Mine NM-0003F SMCRA Required Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements Technical Memorandum." February 26, 2015.
- Moore, Stephan Patrick. "The Bureau of Reclamation in San Juan Country, New Mexico: Cadillac Dessert or Sensible Development?" May 2006. http://staff.fms.k12.nm.us/~smoore/Thesis.pdf (accessed July 12, 2011).
- New Mexico State University Agricultural Science Center. Total monthly precipitation depth (inches) recorded at the NMSU Agricultural Science Center at Farmington from 1969 to 2010. Excel. Farmington, NM, 2011.
- NIST. "Measures of Scale." *NIST/SEMATECH e-Handbook of Statistical Methods*. March 3, 2010. http://www.itl.nist.gov/div898/handbook/eda/section3/eda356.htm (accessed February 28, 2012).

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Page | 112 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

- NMEMNRD. Cumluative Hydrologic Impact Assessment La Plata Mine and Black Diamond Mine. Santa Fe, NM: Mining and Minerals Division of the New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural Resource Division, 1999.
- NMEMNRD. Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment for El Segundo Mine. Santa Fe, NM: Mining and Minerals Division of the New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural Resource Division, 2005.
- NMEMNRD. "Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the El Segundo Mine." 2008.
- NMEMNRD. Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment San Juan Mine. Santa Fe, NM: Mining and Minerals Division of the New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural Resource Division, 1999.
- NNEPA. *History of NNEPA*. August 2009. http://navajonationepa.org/NNEPA_History.html (accessed April 19, 2011).
- --... "Navajo Nation Surface Water Quality Standards 2007." May 13, 2007. http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/standards/wqslibrary/tribes/navajo.pdf (accessed April 19, 2011).
- —. "Ref: Closure of the CONSOL Energy Burnham Mine Site, NAV 307." Window Rock, Navajo Nation: Navajo Nation Environmental Protection Agency, Waste Regulatory Compliance Department, August 26, 2014.

Norwest Corporation. "Navajo Mine Area IV Groundwater Modeling Report." 2011.

- NTEC. "Permit Application Package (permit application) for Federal Permit NM-003 (Navajo Mine)." Denver, Colorado: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Western Region Mine Plan Reference Center, 2013.
- —. "Permit Application Package (permit application) for Federal Permit NM-0042A (Pinabete Mine)." Denver: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Western Region Mine Plan Reference Center, 2014.
- OSMRE. "Amendment to January 1984 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment: Effects of Coal Mining in the San Juan River Basin." Denver, CO: Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Western Field Operations Technical Assistance Division, July 1989.
- OSMRE. Four Corners Power Plant and Navajo Mine Energy Project Final Environmental Impact Statement. Environmental Impact Statement, U.S. Department of the Interior, 2015.
- OSMRE. Hydrologic Considerations for Permitting and Liability Release: Probable Hydrologic Consequences (PHC) Determination, Hydrologic Reclamation Plan (HRP), Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment (CHIA), Postmining Hydrologic Assessment (PHA). Alton, II: Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Mid-Continent Technology Development and Transfer Team, 2007.
- —. "Permanent Program Bond Release Guidance (Phase I, II, III)." Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Western Region. 5 8, 2009. http://www.wrcc.osmre.gov/resources/050809Final_BR_Guidance.pdf (accessed 3 23, 2011).

- OSMRE. Permit Renewal Decision Document: Navajo Mine OSM Project Number NM-0003D-N-01. Denver, CO: Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Western Region, 1994.
- OSMRE. Permit Renewal Decision Document: Navajo Mine OSM Project Number NM-0003-F-N-01. Denver, CO: Department of the Interior: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Western Region, 2010.
- OSMRE. Permitting Hydrology, A Technical Reference Document for Determination of Probable Hydrologic Consequences (PHC) and Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessments (CHIA) – Baseline Data. Washington D.C.: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Department of Interior, 2002.
- —. "TECHNICAL EVALUATION OF PERMIT REVISION Probable Hydrologic Consequences -MIPPS: NM-0003-F-R03; WATS: FPD08426; ARMS: 11/11/18-01." Denver, December 27, 2011.
- Robson, S.G., and E.R. Banta. GROUND WATER ATLAS of the UNITED STATES Arizona, Colorado, New Mexico, Utah HA 730-C. United States Geologic Survey. 1995. http://pubs.usgs.gov/ha/ha730/ch_c/C-text8.html (accessed January 16, 2012).
- Science Application. Ground and Surface Water Hydrology of the Navajo Coal Mine and Adjacent Areas. Albuquereque, New Mexico: Natural Resources Division of Science Application, 1979.
- Smeal, Dan, M. K. O'Neill, C. K. Owen, Z. F. Williams, M. M. West, and R. N. Arnold. Agricultural Expirement Station Research Report 756 : Thirty-Five Years (1969-2003) of Climatological Data: NMSU's Agricultural Science Center at Farmingtion, New Mexico. Farmington, NM: New Mexico State University Agricultural Science Center, 2006.
- Stone, William. Hydrogeology and Water Resources of San Juan Basin, New Mexico. Socorro, New Mexico: New Mexico Bureau of Mines, 1983.
- Stone, William. Phase II Recharge Study at the Navajo Mine Based on Chloride, Stable Isotopes, and Tritium in the Unsaturated Zone. Socorro, New Mexico: New Mexico Bureau of Mines & Mineral, 1986.
- Stone, William. *Phase-III Recharge Study at the Navajo Mine Impact of Mining on Recharge*. New Mexico Bureau of Mines and Mineral Resources, 1987.
- Thorn, C.R. Water-quality data from the San Juan and Chaco Rivers and selected alluvial aquifers, San Juan County, New Mexico. Open-File Report 93-84, USGS, 1993.
- U.S. Congress. "Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act." Washington D.C.: U.S. Government, 1977.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. FACT SHEET BHP Billiton Navajo Coal Company -Navajo Mine - NPDES Permit No. NN0028193. n.d. http://www.epa.gov/region9/water/npdes/pdf/navajo/bhp-navajo-final-fs.pdf (accessed 3 7, 2011).
- United States of America. "Hydrographic Survey of Navajo Lands in the San Juan River Basin in New Mexico." *New Mexico Office of the State Engineer*. 2011. http://www.ose.state.nm.us/legal_ose_proposed_settlements_sj_notice2010.html (accessed 7 25, 2011).

Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement Page | 114 2015 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the Navajo Mine and Pinabete Permit Areas

- —, "THE UNITED STATES' HYDROGRAPHIC SURVEY OF NAVAJO LANDS IN THE SAN JUAN RIVER BASIN." New Mexico Office of the State Engineer. 2011. http://www.ose.state.nm.us/legal_ose_proposed_settlements_sj_notice2010.html (accessed 7 25, 2011).
- URS. Desert Rock Energy Project: Cooperating Agency Review Draft Final Environmental Impact Statement DOI DES 07-23. Gallup, NM: U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Indian Affairs, 2009.
- USEPA. American Indian Environmental Office Tribal Portal. April 5, 2011. http://www.epa.gov/indian/basicinfo/presidential-docs.html (accessed June 8, 2011).
- —. FACT SHEET BHP Billiton Navajo Coal Company Navajo Mine NPDES Permit No. NN0028193. n.d. http://www.epa.gov/region9/water/npdes/pdf/navajo/bhp-navajo-final-fs.pdf (accessed 3 7, 2011).
- —. "Hazardous and Solid Waste Management System: Identification and Listing of Special Wastes; Disposal of Coal Combustion Residuals from Electric Utilities." *regulations.gov*. June 21, 2010. http://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=EPA-HQ-RCRA-2009-0640-0352 (accessed April 19, 2011).
- ---. Indian Policies. 1 10, 2011. http://www.epa.gov/indian/basicinfo/presidential-docs.html (accessed 3 15, 2011).
- —. State, Tribal & Territorial Standards. March 17, 2011. http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/wqslibrary/approvtable.cfm (accessed April 19, 2011).
- USGS. *Hydrologic Unit Maps*. January 19, 2012. http://water.usgs.gov/GIS/huc.html (accessed February 17, 2012).

Vories, Kim. "Proceedings of Coal Combustion Byproducts Associated with Coal Mining." 2001.



Appendix A - USGS Stations USGS # 09368000



Appendix A - USGS Stations USGS # 09368000





Appendix A - USGS Stations USGS # 09368000




























































Appendix A - USGS Stations USGS # 09365000



Appendix A - USGS Stations USGS # 09365000


























































































Appendix A - USGS Stations USGS # 09367540



































Appendix B Table B-1:Groundwater Uses

Well #41 Kirtland (Farmingt.) 40 60 Well #46 Alluvium 70 9 Well #51 Dry Alluvium 8	[8] [8] [8] [8] [8] [8] [8] [8]
Well #41 (Farmingt.) 40 60 Well #46 Alluvium 70 9 Well #51 Dry Alluvium 8	[8] [8] [8] [8] [8] [8] [8] [8]
Well #46 Alluvium 70 9 Well #51 Dry Alluvium 8	[8] [8] [8] [8] [8] [8]
Well #51 Dry Alluvium 8	[8] [8] [8] [8] [8]
	[8] [8] [8] [8]
Spring #34	[8] [8] [8]
Spring #56 PCS	[8]
Well#57AlluviumSan Juan727	[8]
Well #70 Alluvium 7 9	- [0]
Well #90 Stock, 131 Domest	C [8]
Improved	
Spring S-0767 Spring Stock W	ater [3]
Well Well Stock W	ater [3]
Well Well Stock W	ater [3]
Well W-0202 Alluvium Chaco 7 Stock W	ater [3]
Well Well Stock W	ater [3]
Well W-0342 Well Chaco Stock W	ater [3]
Well W-0344 (#93) Alluvium Pinabete 7 9 Stock W	ater [3]
Well W-0520 (G-3, #36) Well Chaco Stock W	ater [3]
Well W-0593 Windmill San Juan Stock W	ater [3]
Well W-0603 Windmill Stock W	ater [3]
Windmill-	
Well W-0607 Alluvial Chaco 18 25 Stock W	ater [3]
Well W-0695 (G-2) Alluvium San Juan Stock W	ater [3]
Well -	
Permitted 46 (W-0618,13R-28, #35) Destroyed Alluvium Cottonwood 5 16 Stock W	ater [3], [10]
Well W-0203 (13-15-5) Unpermit Alluvium Chaco 8 Stock W	ater [3], [10]
Well W-0204 (13-15-6) Unpermit Alluvium Chaco 14 Stock W	ater [3], [10]
W-0343 (13-5-1, 13-15-2,	
Well Stevenson) Permitted Alluvium Stock W	ater [3], [10]
Well W-0346 (13R-37, 13-8-4) Unpermit Alluvium Pinabete 6 7.5 Stock W	ater [3], [10]
Well W-0348 (13-8-1) Unpermit Alluvium Pinabete 9 13 Stock W	ater [3], [10]
Well W-0519 (13R-31 #17, G4, 13-14-7) Unpermit Alluvium Chaco 16 16 Stock W	ater [4], [10]
Well W-0691 (13-15-8) Unpermit Alluvium Stock W	ater [3], [10]
Well W-0345 (13R-48, 13-15-3) Permitted Alluvium Pinabete 7 10 Stock W	ater [3],[10]
Well W-0606 (13-15-1) Unpermit Windmill Stock W	ater [3],[10]
Appendix B Table B-1:Groundwater Uses

Site Type	Site Name (Aliases, # BAI report number)	Status	Completion	Stream Drainage	Depth to Water (ft)	Total Depth (ft)	Primary Use	Data Source
Well	W-0645 (13R-29, 13-14-6, #61)	Permitted	Alluvium	Chaco	12	16	Stock Water	[3],[10]
	W-0644 (13R-28A, QACW-2B,							[3],[10],
Well	CWAP-1, #126)		Alluvium	Cottonwood		22	Stock Water	[8]
Well	#146		Qal	San Juan	3	9		[7]
Well	W-0312		NTUA Well				Domestic	[2]
Well	W-0349			Pinabete			Domestic, Stock Water	[2]
Well	W-0314			Brimhall			Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0520			Chaco			Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0537			Brimhall			Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0538		Well	Chaco			Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0539		Well	Chaco			Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0540			Brimhall			Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0544						Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0545						Stock Water	[3]
Well	W-0624			Brimhall			Stock Water	[3]
Well	SJ 00264 (#7)		Alluvium	San Juan	10	35	Stock Water	[1]
Well	SJ 00248 (G7, #6)		Alluvium	San Juan	10	35	DOM	[1], [5]
Well	G5		Alluvium	Chaco				[5]
Spring	Little Geyser Spring (G9)							[5]
Well	13-7-2	Abandoned	PCS	Brimhall				[9], [10]
Well	#45		Alluvium	Pinabete	8			[6]
Well	13-15-4(#60)	Unpermit	Alluvium		8	11		[10]
Well	13-7-4	Permitted		Brimhall				[10]
Well	13-AW (13T-513, #58)	Unpermit	Alluvium - Artesian		11	530	OG well converted to Livestock	[10]
Well	GM-22 (13R-38)	Permitted	Alluvium	Pinabete	11	47	Monitoring/ Livestock	[10]
Well	GM-32 (13-15-7)	Unpermit	Alluvium	Chaco	8	9	Monitoring/ Livestock	[10]
Well	GM-34	Unpermit		Chaco				[10]
Well	GM-35	Unpermit		Brimhall				[10]
Well	GM-36 (13-7-5)	Unpermit		Brimhall				[10]

Data Source:

Appendix B Table B-1:Groundwater Uses

Site Type	Site Name (Aliases, # BAI report number)	Status	Completion	Stream Drainage	Depth to Water (ft)	Total Depth (ft)	Primary Use	Data Source
--------------	--	--------	------------	--------------------	---------------------------	------------------------	----------------	----------------

[1] NMSEO: (NMOSE 2011.xls)

New Mexico State Engineer's Office Record (NMOSE 2011.xls)

[2] NMSEO: Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table D-1

New Mexico State Engineer's Office - Settlements "Notice of Navajo Nation Expedited Inter Se Proceeding" - Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table D-1 (http://www.ose.state.nm.us/legal_ose_proposed_settlements_sj_notice2010.html)

[3] NMSEO: Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table M-1

New Mexico State Engineer's Office - Settlements "Notice of Navajo Nation Expedited Inter Se Proceeding" - Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table M-1 (http://www.ose.state.nm.us/legal_ose_proposed_settlements_si_notice2010.html)

[4] USGS: OFR 93-84 (Table 2)

Thorn, C.R., 1993, Water-quality data from the San Juan and Chaco Rivers and selected alluvial aquifers, San Juan County, New Mexico: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 93-84, Table 2

[5] USGS: OFR 93-84 (Table 3)

Thorn, C.R., 1993, Water-quality data from the San Juan and Chaco Rivers and selected alluvial aquifers, San Juan County, New Mexico: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 93-84, Table 3

[6] USGS: WRIR 85-4251

Myers, R.G., and Villanueva, E.D., 1986, Geohydrology of the aquifers that may be affected by the surface mining of coal in the Fruitland Formation in the San Juan Basin, northwestern New Mexico: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 85-4251, (#45 in Figure 14 - Table 7)

[7] New Mexico Bureau of Mines and Mineral Resources

Stone, W. J. Lyford, F. P., Frenzel, P. F., Mizell, N. H., and Padgett, E. T., 1983, Hydrogeology and water resources of the San Juan Basin, New Mexico: New Mexico Bureau of Mines and Mineral Resources, Hydrologic Report 6, Table 1

[8] BHP: Addendum 12-D-A

1985 Reogranization ICR Response 01/89, 12-D-6 (Addendum 12-D-Af, Figure 12-D2)

[9] BHP: Wells_Combined_2011.shp

[10] BHP: WW_Springs.shp (NMEP PAP Ex 18.2-1)





Site	Primary Usa	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	V coordinato	V Coordinato	Data
Number	Frindly Use	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	x coordinate	r coordinate	Source
P-0001	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.12	0.3	2451511.29	1889412.05	[1]
P-0002	Irrigation, Stock Water	Improved Spring	0.05	0.11	2436054.53	1845725.12	[1]
P-0003	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.32	3.2	2436534.58	1748249.09	[1]
P-0004	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	4.35	15.57	2435539.87	1749944.73	[1]
P-0005	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.12	0.25	2421175.7	1745916.35	[1]
P-0006	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.76	1.89	2422509.66	1745339.91	[1]
P-0007	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.54	1.71	2420542.33	1746018.26	[1]
P-0008	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.17	1.82	2446014.91	1718449.97	[1]
P-0009	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.51	1.23	2487443.8	1714168.45	[1]
P-0010	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel, Well	0.67	1.03	2640730.3	1702635.66	[1]
P-0011	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.27	0.27	2540845.54	1754986.86	[1]
P-0012	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.57	8.99	2437906.49	1701658.72	[1]
P-0013	Irrigation, Stock Water	Well	0.64	2.15	2464629.35	1706566.77	[1]
P-0014	Irrigation, Stock Water	Improved Spring	0.31	1.23	2435995.6	1845658.98	[1]
P-0015	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	3.07	18.72	2436698.98	1848223.60	[1]
D 0040	Industrial, Stock Water,		4004.00	00000	0504400.0	0074404.00	101
P-0016	Recreation	San Juan River	1261.02	39000*	2531409.91	20/4481.22	[2]
P-0017	Stock Water	In Channel	388.41	2905.4	2626302.47	1853524.17	[3]
P-0018	Stock Water	In Channel	9.49	22.41	2534837.94	1757900.27	[3]
P-0019	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	4.13	10.58	2625133.31	1755222.55	[1]
P-0020	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	2.65	7.83	2604643.28	1718546.32	[1]
P-0021	Irrigation, Stock water		1.88	4.07	2484631.42	1720546.99	[1]
P-0022	Industrial	Industrial	12.80	20.25	2535626.46	2071563.23	[2]
P-0023	Industrial	Industrial	1.45	2.80	2535910.92	2071414.44	[2]
P-0024	Industrial	Industrial	0.91	30.37	2030137.30	207 14 14.39	[2]
P-0027	Stock Water		47.02	0.21	2031937.30	1761195 92	[1]
P-0020	Juck Waler		0.22	1.05	2534792.19	17501/2 87	[3]
P-0029	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.74	3/3	2604075 32	1718735 2/	[1]
P-0030	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.98	1 74	2604752 78	1710/35.24	[1]
P-0031	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.90	2 17	2486945 76	1714222 47	[1]
P-0032	Stock Water	In Channel	31 37	135.85	2675304.85	1717997.80	[1]
P-0034	Irrigation Stock Water	In Channel	10.41	57.38	2748760 88	1750689.24	[0]
P-0036	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	97.57	1056.38	2453304 33	1926914 19	[1]
P-0037	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	4.33	13.62	2397077.23	1894150.34	[1]
P-0039	Stock Water	In Channel, Well	57.94	125.45	2440315.76	1923282.02	[3]
P-0040	Stock Water	In Channel	24.47	250.47	2417393.66	2028566.61	[3]
P-0041	Stock Water	In Channel	28.39	61.48	2422548.94	1825540.27	[3]
P-0042	Stock Water, Recreation	In Channel	300.48	1200.00*	2428800.95	1821300.73	[3]
	Irrigation, Stock Water,						
P-0043	Recreation	In Channel	223.59	8000.00*	2432247.9	1810/50.53	[1]
P-0138	Stock Water	In Channel	0.78	8.9	2495763.03	1776357.29	[3]
P-0141	Stock Water	In Channel	2.82	10.28	2542632.09	1779176.25	[3]
P-0142	Stock Water	In Channel	9.23	16.53	2494898.90	1770000 47	[3]
P-0143	Stock Water	In Channel	0.78	4.55	2511683.91	176544457	[3] [2]
F-0143	Stock Water		2.12	4.43	2040/00.00	1770250.60	[3] [2]
F-U140	Stock Water		0.34	1.30	2021349.70	1770505.02	[3] [2]
F-U14/	Stock Water		0.13	0.40	2521282.70	1770404 74	[3] [2]
P-0140	Stock Water		0.14	0.42	2021101.09	1750922.24	[၁] [၁]
D_0150	Stock Water		0.77	1.01	2049400.00	1761122.00	[၁] [၁]
P-0150	Stock Water		0.33	1.20	2000//0.3/	1744560 70	[၁] [၁]
F-0131	Slock waler	III CHAIINEI	0.2	0.27	2000107.93	1/44003./3	ျပ

Site	Primory Uco	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	Vacardinata	V Coordinata	Data
Number	Prindry Use	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	x coordinate	r coordinate	Source
P-0152	Stock Water	In Channel	2.44	25.08	2550846.58	1744565.86	[3]
P-0153	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.43	0.46	2573140.33	1719883.65	[3]
P-0157	Stock Water	In Channel	1.11	2.74	2547535.97	1754151.72	[3]
P-0158	Stock Water	In Channel	3.76	8.51	2538987.14	1747611.40	[3]
P-0159	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.41	1.66	2565719.30	1749463.82	[4]
P-0160	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	6.54	54.62	2569548.3	1744298.42	[1]
P-0161	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.37	8.96	2553774.57	1742127.39	[1]
P-0162	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.17	8.01	2553435.09	1741847.33	[1]
P-0163	Stock Water	In Channel	4.05	40.15	2544650.99	1743462.50	[3]
P-0164	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	0.6	2571254.26	1735828.86	[3]
P-0165	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.67	2565618.30	1747643.00	[3]
P-0166	Stock Water	Well	0.77	4.36	2565012.49	1747449.79	[3]
P-0167	Stock Water	Well	0.7	2.25	2565527.78	1747470.84	[3]
P-0168	Stock Water	In Channel	1.07	2.33	2510232.17	1798353.70	[3]
P-0169	Stock Water	In Channel	0.71	2.36	2509542.82	1805063.77	[3]
P-0170	Stock Water	In Channel	0.71	3.07	2499752.55	1802015.58	[3]
P-0171	Stock Water	In Channel	1.23	2.67	2499406.27	1790462.41	[3]
P-0172	Stock Water	In Channel	0.57	1.23	2498449.15	1791562.86	[3]
P-0173	Stock Water	Well	0.34	1.08	2490484.35	1789234.22	[3]
P-0174	Stock Water	In Channel	0.46	1.44	2482504.90	1792560.28	[3]
P-0175	Stock Water	Well	0.34	0.68	2482219.12	1803569.79	[3]
P-0176	Stock Water	In Channel	1.96	2.32	2491179.32	180/9/5.01	[3]
P-0177	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	1./1	2492588.41	1809573.62	[3]
P-0178	Stock Water	In Channel	17.19	57.52	2564410.82	1851600.14	[3]
P-0179	Stock Water	Well	0.36	0.86	2482198.39	1779041.07	[3]
P-0180	Stock Water	In Channel	0.96	2.47	2520391.48	1784659.65	[3]
P-0181	Stock Water	In Channel	0.33	0.52	2521820.08	1793092.97	[3]
P-0102	Stock Water		0.43	1.20	2523010.34	1793707.00	[3] [2]
P-0103	Stock Water		0.89	2.2	2525050.94	193700.00	[3]
P-0195	Stock Water		0.00	2.47	2508623.10	1827704.80	[3]
P-0103	Stock Water		0.70	2.20	2/02/56 13	1809383.80	[3]
P-0188	Stock Water	In Channel	23.86	89.23	2519355.87	1804017 54	[3]
P-0189	Stock Water	In Channel	0.35	0.69	2518528.85	1807632.06	[3]
P-0190	Stock Water	In Channel	8.49	15.05	2518599.81	1807627.27	[3]
P-0191	Stock Water	In Channel	0.59	2 21	2522914 13	1820817 17	[3]
P-0192	Stock Water	In Channel	8.52	25.17	2523081.11	1820488.26	[3]
P-0193	Stock Water	In Channel	0.35	0.55	2507332.99	1767680.08	[3]
P-0194	Stock Water	In Channel	0.9	4.77	2506883.94	1760785.08	[3]
P-0195	Stock Water	In Channel	4.84	11.81	2515769.35	1759872.15	[3]
P-0196	Stock Water	In Channel	1.44	3.32	2518802.91	1759949.12	[3]
P-0197	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.8	1.87	2532792.50	1758400.76	[3]
P-0198	Stock Water	In Channel	0.5	1.19	2530694.41	1754221.28	[3]
P-0199	Stock Water	In Channel	0.79	3.78	2536301.90	1727150.54	[3]
P-0200	Stock Water	In Channel	1	9.31	2499019.78	1725276.64	[3]
P-0201	Stock Water	In Channel	0.35	1.25	2493003.08	1726082.42	[3]
P-0202	Stock Water	In Channel	22.43	69.75	2483033.79	1727055.32	[3]
P-0203	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	2.59	5.05	2482160.45	1724028.32	[1]
P-0204	Stock Water	Well	0.2	0.41	2491989.65	1758748.12	[3]
P-0205	Stock Water	Well	0.31	1.02	2486471.06	1721697.11	[3]
P-0206	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.18	2486445.63	1721663.92	[3]
P-0207	Stock Water	In Channel	6.56	31.12	2507093.81	1760808.73	[3]
P-0208	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.37	2.06	2533050.36	1758440.94	[3]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number		Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	1 Coordinate	Source
P-0209	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.11	2515967.68	1745004.88	[3]
P-0211	Stock Water	In Channel, Well	0.39	0.43	2518776.02	1738502.76	[3]
P-0212	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.41	0.33	2489786.60	1739686.99	[4]
P-0213	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.49	0.83	2489780.62	1739671.12	[4]
P-0214	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.36	0.62	2489766.00	1739687.44	[4]
P-0215	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.3	0.71	2489730.17	1739533.84	[4]
P-0216	Stock Water	In Channel	0.08	0.19	2481833.78	1726088.71	[3]
P-0217	Stock Water	In Channel	4.99	30.64	2497745.07	1728462.84	[3]
P-0218	Stock Water	In Channel	0.07	0.17	2481833.22	1726063.17	[3]
P-0219	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.29	2483426.33	1817676.05	[3]
P-0220	Stock Water	In Channel	0.91	2.51	2486075.31	1830250.34	[3]
P-0221	Stock Water	In Channel	0.72	2.85	2483477.87	1833497.57	[3]
P-0222	Stock Water	In Channel	3.07	7.87	2484498.05	1836666.20	[3]
P-0223	Stock Water	Well	0.89	2.82	2486266.33	1839825.90	[3]
P-0225	Stock Water	In Channel	7.96	20.36	2493174.36	1832090.25	[3]
P-0226	Stock Water	In Channel	80.39	648.79	2504149.78	1845641.49	[3]
P-0227	Stock Water		16.64	52.42	250/177.70	1844875.33	[3]
P-0228	Stock Water	In Channel	47.45	205.49	2510335.83	1841/31./5	[3]
P-0230	Stock Water	In Channel	18.24	61.03	2532201.60	1851283.01	[3]
P-0231	Stock Water	In Channel	0.56	2.22	2531837.84	183/98/.84	[3]
P-0232	Stock Water	In Channel	3.77	13.36	2532112.69	183/523.56	[3]
P-0233	Stock Water	In Channel	8.49	31.76	2540305.51	1833740.22	[3]
P-0234	Stock Water	In Channel	25.45	140.29	2533217.21	1820162.37	[3]
P-0235	Stock Water	In Channel	0.54	1.5	2535913.66	1807066.02	[3]
P-0236	Stock Water	In Channel	5.08	17.98	2534533.27	1807519.25	[3]
P-0237	Stock Water	In Channel	1.17	0.70 21.22	2034447.07	1007700.10	[3] [2]
P-0230	Stock Water		1.93	7.06	2530265.51	1707242 75	[3] [2]
P-0239	Stock Water		1.49	10.04	2541401.47	1797342.75	[3] [2]
P-0240	Stock Water		2.93	0.01	2540340.33	1794074.37	[3]
P-0241	Stock Water		0.07	9.01	2511674 55	1887662.04	[3]
P-0242	Stock Water		0.07	1 1	2502317 37	1885135 33	[3]
P-0245	Stock Water	In Channel	0.40	1.1	2483828.40	1905796.22	[3]
P-0244	Stock Water	In Channel	1 76	12 13	2494670.87	1906614 53	[3]
P-0246	Stock Water	In Channel	1.70	3 12	2487187.40	1900326 13	[3]
P-0247	Stock Water	In Channel	41.28	32.5	2492824 53	1898303 59	[3]
P-0248	Stock Water	In Channel	1.81	9.6	2479238.40	1891024.32	[3]
P-0249	Stock Water	In Channel	1.14	2.69	2474039.36	1885857.76	[3]
P-0250	Stock Water	In Channel	1.48	8.45	2474092.53	1885673.22	[3]
P-0251	Stock Water	In Channel	15.49	106.7	2480471.59	1882716.68	[3]
P-0252	Stock Water	Well	0.39	0.31	2492624.71	1888948.42	[3]
P-0253	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.11	2478841.09	1900437.67	[3]
P-0254	Stock Water	Well	0.16	0.34	2479044.09	1900432.38	[3]
P-0255	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.2	2479225.93	1900550.00	[3]
P-0256	Stock Water	In Channel	0.37	1.81	2479956.67	1856181.86	[3]
P-0257	Stock Water	In Channel	23.37	104.88	2479897.17	1855766.84	[3]
P-0258	Stock Water	In Channel	1.75	3.38	2475449.76	1873277.47	[3]
P-0259	Stock Water	In Channel	0.64	0.43	2475575.99	1873383.33	[3]
P-0260	Stock Water	In Channel	1.79	5.74	2476568.61	1872372.62	[3]
P-0261	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.11	2490739.88	1879527.63	[3]
P-0263	Stock Water	In Channel	11.5	28.3	2499574.91	1866625.77	[3]
P-0264	Stock Water	In Channel	3.05	6.07	2503214.71	1868277.37	[3]
P-0265	Stock Water	In Channel	2.05	5.32	2504000.42	1867883.30	[3]

Site	Primary IIso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number	T Tilliary 03e	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	1 Coordinate	Source
P-0267	Stock Water	In Channel	2.92	6.72	2492291.92	1855787.04	[3]
P-0268	Stock Water	In Channel	0.25	0.66	2503224.48	1865001.87	[3]
P-0269	Stock Water	In Channel	1.76	5.42	2501680.23	1867083.83	[3]
P-0271	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.59	2499614.87	1869766.67	[3]
P-0274	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.09	2499940.72	1869725.67	[3]
P-0278	Stock Water	In Channel	3.25	12.1	2567354.06	1882337.42	[3]
P-0279	Stock Water	Well	0.04	0.04	2527743.15	1898048.75	[3]
P-0280	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.24	2550828.37	1901731.82	[3]
P-0281	Stock Water	In Channel	1.34	10.66	2541983.34	1869553.23	[3]
P-0282	Stock Water	In Channel	0.73	2.8	2567295.79	1882043.45	[3]
P-0283	Stock Water	In Channel	0.86	4.28	2527452.12	1880583.04	[3]
P-0284	Stock Water	In Channel	0.81	3.03	2569811.82	1861578.50	[3]
P-0285	Stock Water	In Channel	0.91	2.97	2563505.32	1860362.66	[3]
P-0286	Stock Water	In Channel	3.98	13.33	2563182.09	1859896.68	[3]
P-0287	Stock Water	In Channel	7.86	34.64	2524447.71	1853460.15	[3]
P-0288	Stock Water	In Channel	9.85	80.69	2564521.46	1914113.71	[3]
P-0289	Stock Water	In Channel	1.28	1.50	2546718.96	1910625.84	[3]
P-0290	Stock Water	In Channel	1.24	3.17	2512448.50	1908312.58	[3]
P-0291	Stock Water		2.24	3.32	2503301.30	1900003.10	[3] [2]
P-0292	Stock Water		7.16	11 22	2011000.37	1907009.00	[3] [2]
P-0293	Stock Water		7.10	1.20	2490342.07	1086531 15	[3]
P-0294	Stock Water		0.94	11.00	2470004.13	1980020 77	[3]
P-0293	Stock Water		9.05	0.12	247 5002.94	1973061 /7	[3]
P-0230	Stock Water		1 31	1.55	2571732.64	1936415 52	[3]
P-0200	Stock Water	In Channel	1.01	2 71	2567529.95	1932612 65	[3]
P-0301	Stock Water	In Channel	3.12	13.51	2567767.37	1931371.04	[3]
P-0302	Stock Water	In Channel	3.88	15.26	2561395.77	1930096.01	[3]
P-0303	Stock Water	In Channel	1.32	4.15	2552535.13	1929813.92	[3]
P-0304	Stock Water	In Channel	9.1	53.73	2541572.21	1930377.62	[3]
P-0305	Stock Water	In Channel	2.67	8.93	2535246.24	1934601.35	[3]
P-0306	Stock Water	In Channel	2.56	11.08	2522283.70	1924874.67	[3]
P-0307	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.09	2492768.28	1923204.09	[3]
P-0308	Stock Water	In Channel	0.93	4.78	2481791.50	1925426.47	[3]
P-0309	Stock Water	Well	1.75	5.87	2478884.51	1927339.14	[3]
P-0310	Stock Water	Well	0.05	0.06	2485829.42	1935963.30	[3]
P-0311	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.1	2477660.69	1944371.48	[3]
P-0312	Stock Water	Well	0.08	0.16	2489554.01	1955260.45	[3]
P-0313	Stock Water	In Channel	11.76	64.8	2491118.81	1960359.80	[3]
P-0314	Stock Water	In Channel	1.21	5.7	2491233.37	1960191.44	[3]
P-0315	Stock Water	In Channel	4.94	10.7	2476070.86	1955694.06	[3]
P-0316	Stock Water	In Channel	0.09	0.31	2522267.34	1800706.03	[3]
P-0317	Stock Water	Well	0.69	2.31	2523176.71	1800462.03	[3]
P-0319	Stock Water	In Channel	1.57	10.85	2559588.73	1796515.76	[3]
P-0321	Stock Water	Well	0.24	0.7	2555805.68	1813831.91	[3]
P-0322	Stock Water		4.18	22.24	2564928.00	1814011.24	[3]
r-UJZJ	Stock Water		0.61	2.00	256840040	1821/90.51	[3]
r-UJ24	Stock Water		1.00	4.30	2562006 40	1022202.02	[3]
F-U323	Stock Water		4./4	40.09	2003900.10	1702500.00	[3] [2]
F-U320	Stock Water		/ .44 0 72	2 /2	2402042.74	1803960 46	[၁] [၁]
P-0329	Stock Water		0.73	2.43 26	2430231.10	1076511 52	[3] [3]
D-0332	Stock Water		0.25	20 0 /	2512650 00	10/10044.00	[3] [3]
1-0334	SIGGR WALEI		0.20	0.4	2010000.09	1341007.11	ျပ

Site	Primary I Iso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number	Fillinary USE	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	i coordinate	Source
P-0335	Stock Water	In Channel	2.67	9.46	2519055.87	1941886.19	[3]
P-0336	Stock Water	In Channel	18.04	92.31	2524900.75	1944362.22	[3]
P-0337	Stock Water	In Channel	1.48	1.75	2522161.74	1949859.55	[3]
P-0338	Stock Water	In Channel	1.41	3.05	2533501.11	1949806.27	[3]
P-0339	Stock Water	In Channel	2.02	2.39	2525798.60	1954854.51	[3]
P-0341	Stock Water	In Channel	0.95	1.3	2538029.86	1956882.04	[3]
P-0342	Stock Water	In Channel	6.47	44.58	2535066.37	1970153.74	[3]
P-0343	Stock Water	In Channel	3.23	27.38	2561539.93	1973929.76	[3]
P-0344	Stock Water	In Channel	1.84	3.98	2562438.61	1974438.07	[3]
P-0345	Stock Water	In Channel	2.52	10.93	2560323.92	1982855.83	[3]
P-0346	Stock Water	In Channel	2.54	9.01	2563088.91	1985449.24	[3]
P-0348	Stock Water	In Channel	3.98	25.05	2560342.49	1987331.90	[3]
P-0349	Stock Water	In Channel	1.85	10.9	2559148.17	1987537.66	[3]
P-0350	Stock Water	In Channel	2.59	16.81	2557642.09	1988782.95	[3]
P-0352	Stock Water	In Channel	0.14	0.28	2486374.58	2038758.14	[3]
P-0353	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	0.13	2489347.04	2023571.92	[3]
P-0354	Stock Water	In Channel	1.1	2.17	2553500.31	2040287.28	[3]
P-0355	Stock Water	In Channel	0.59	1.86	2562237.83	2027122.31	[3]
P-0300	Stock water	In Channel	1.15	0.9	2560667.10	2025728.42	[3]
P-0309	Industrial Stock Water	Industriai	2.27	3.57	2518450.56	2016893.92	[2]
P-0301	Stock Water		2.37	3.00	2041003.00	2020142.07	[3] [2]
P-0303	Stock Water		5.44	4.72	2545075.05	2030940.18	[3]
P-0300	Stock Water		1 1/	11.79	2543077.14	2047507.52	[3]
P-0368	Stock Water		1.14	2.45	25/5210.98	2040310.20	[3]
P-0300	Stock Water	Improved Spring	0.19	0.62	2554684 56	2033033.13	[3]
P-0370	Stock Water	In Channel	1 32	2 33	2559233.66	2014000.14	[3]
P-0370	Stock Water	In Channel	0.66	2.00	2502929.24	2056838.80	[3]
P-0372	Stock Water	In Channel	0.13	0.22	2485509.26	2039696.61	[3]
P-0373	Stock Water	In Channel	0.71	0.97	2491442.16	2035412.39	[3]
P-0374	Stock Water	In Channel	1	3.36	2490766.61	2021184.05	[3]
P-0375	Stock Water	In Channel	0.44	0.7	2490231.33	2019693.01	[3]
P-0376	Stock Water	In Channel	1.21	5.7	2489788.97	2019424.82	[3]
P-0377	Stock Water	In Channel	0.6	1.65	2479184.18	2021777.48	[3]
P-0378	Stock Water	In Channel, Well	2.28	10.31	2475160.11	2024570.98	[3]
P-0379	Stock Water	In Channel	0.26	0.46	2494938.31	2002181.40	[3]
P-0381	Stock Water	In Channel	1.82	9.67	2497313.07	1993849.26	[3]
P-0382	Stock Water	In Channel	0.22	0.26	2560788.05	2025743.70	[3]
P-0384	Stock Water	In Channel	1.57	10.18	2512085.05	2005645.97	[3]
P-0404	Stock Water	In Channel	3.05	10.94	2664154.87	1681886.20	[3]
P-0405	Stock Water	In Channel	0.15	0.2	2658297.26	1677957.08	[3]
P-0406	Stock Water	In Channel	0.74	1.79	2658187.63	1679471.45	[3]
P-0407	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.3	2667489.58	1678513.31	[3]
P-0408	Stock Water	Well	0.03	0.12	2667402.32	1678450.06	[3]
P-0410	Stock Water	In Channel	0.95	5.81	2559757.48	1942432.10	[3]
P-0411	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.83	5.53	2539955.11	1942174.91	[3]
P-0430	Industrial	Power Plant	9.1	37.61	2521956.86	2072274.62	[2]
P-0431	Industrial	Power Plant	3.83	31.67	2521967.04	2071284.04	[2]
P-0432	Industrial	Power Plant	15.34	36.25	2523389.48	20/0371.40	[2]
P-0433	Industrial	Power Plant	14.37	33.96	2523433.60	2070182.56	[2]
P-0434	Industrial	Power Plant	11.3	22.24	2523464.63	2068953.34	[2]
P-0435	Industrial	Power Plant	11.06	30.47	2523471.10	2068886.51	[2]
r-0436	industrial	Power Plant	46.18	118.19	2525310.01	2069480.78	[2]

Site Number	Primary Use	Impoundment Source	Impoundment	Acre Feet	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data Source
P-0437	Industrial	Power Plant	59.04	499.71	2525601.75	2067941.50	[2]
P-0438	Industrial	Power Plant	15.92	34.48	2526208.92	2070130.01	[2]
P-0439	Industrial	Power Plant	3.62	22.08	2526297.83	2070634.98	[2]
P-0440	Industrial	Power Plant	130.51	1001.97	2526287.14	2070725.33	[2]
P-0441	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.14	2509504.12	2074106.72	[3]
P-0442	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.1	2498728.51	2078446.92	[3]
P-0443	Stock Water	In Channel	0.69	3.01	2490492.82	2077806.69	[3]
P-0446	Stock Water	In Channel	0.62	0.61	2477369.40	2063654.24	[3]
P-0447	Stock Water	Well	1.94	4.58	2579503.43	1777426.14	[3]
P-0448	Stock Water	In Channel	1.32	4.93	2593860.90	1777281.37	[3]
P-0449	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	1.13	2610015.06	1778683.97	[3]
P-0450	Stock Water	In Channel	5.37	28.53	2612244.83	1779658.54	[3]
P-0451	Stock Water	In Channel	0.76	2.68	2623212.73	1779968.58	[3]
P-0452	Stock Water	In Channel	3.39	8	2646189.73	1779694.87	[3]
P-0453	Stock Water	In Channel	0.46	1.17	2639223.85	1775387.75	[3]
P-0454	Stock Water	In Channel	1.04	8.22	2651565.48	1775876.33	[3]
P-0455	Stock Water	In Channel	1.75	6.88	2595589.43	1775440.04	[3]
P-0456	Stock Water	In Channel	0.8	6.63	2634978.40	1768874.13	[3]
P-0457	Stock Water	In Channel	0.79	5.3	2652110.39	1770765.78	[3]
P-0458	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.08	0.1	2655646.36	1769737.84	[3]
P-0459	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.11	2640990.06	1762267.14	[3]
P-0460	Stock Water	In Channel	0.89	2.98	2635834.90	1759800.63	[3]
P-0461	Stock Water	In Channel	3.46	17.03	2651802.03	1775827.62	[3]
P-0462	Stock Water	Well	0.15	0.2	2638671.88	1774917.86	[3]
P-0463	Stock Water	Well	0.08	0.1	2638655.42	1774960.24	[3]
P-0465	Stock Water	In Channel	17.1	57.22	2634433.14	1769331.28	[3]
P-0466	Stock Water	Well	0.28	0.62	2640920.44	1762326.96	[3]
P-0467	Stock Water	Well	0.61	0.48	2592827.54	1811722.92	[3]
P-0468	Stock Water	In Channel	37.68	103.85	2583469.87	1823327.46	[3]
P-0469	Stock Water	In Channel	1.06	3.56	2576060.81	1809111.44	[3]
P-0470	Stock Water	In Channel	23.89	98.78	2590129.20	1806898.60	[3]
P-0471	Stock Water	In Channel	2.83	8.37	2577769.85	1805693.13	[3]
P-0472	Stock Water	In Channel	32.71	115.89	2579642.21	1795141.57	[3]
P-0473	Stock Water	In Channel	2.47	8.75	2604614.20	1782454.27	[3]
P-0474	Stock Water	In Channel	0.79	2.35	2602560.04	1781470.95	[3]
P-0475	Stock Water	In Channel	0.86	6.09	2583797.63	1823010.68	[3]
P-0479	Stock Water	In Channel	2.83	2.79	2629188.68	1823525.36	[3]
P-0482	Stock Water	In Channel	1.2	5.2	2633658.54	1812410.66	[3]
P-0483	Stock Water	In Channel	1.10	2.52	2642055.87	1810771.13	[3]
P-0404	Stock Water	In Channel	0.01	2.07	2002073.07	1707241.00	[3] [2]
P-0403	Stock Water		2.01	10.40	2034070.07	1700670.44	[3] [2]
P-0400	Stock Water		2.43	10.25	2040323.73	1799079.44	[3]
P-0407	Stock Water	In Channel	6.94	35.5	2633700 86	1790909.00	[3]
P-0489	Stock Water	Woll	0.54	2.8	2615365.06	1785899 54	[3]
P-0490	Stock Water	In Channel	0.00	5.68	2626733.05	1784621 15	[3]
P-0491	Stock Water	In Channel	16.56	68 44	2626560 32	1783698 77	[3]
P-0492	Stock Water	In Channel	21	10.76	2638131.09	1787864 44	[3]
P-0493	Stock Water	In Channel	3.03	8.36	2638082 81	1787492 14	[3]
P-0494	Stock Water	In Channel	6.97	21.95	2638429.67	1788189.19	[3]
P-0495	Stock Water	In Channel	46.91	221.62	2638662.00	1787860.26	[3]
P-0496	Stock Water	In Channel	24.44	52.92	2639564.13	1786096.60	[3]
P-0499	Stock Water	In Channel	1.81	4.98	2649819.06	1823106.25	[3]
							-

Site Number	Primary Use	Impoundment Source	Impoundment Area (Ac)	Acre Feet	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data Source
P-0500	Stock Water	In Channel	0.67	0.79	2638819.14	1822701.33	[3]
P-0501	Stock Water	In Channel	0.74	1.31	2638362.20	1825103.27	[3]
P-0502	Stock Water	Well	0.26	0.61	2637946.87	1825785.38	[3]
P-0503	Stock Water	In Channel	14.78	58.2	2665154.94	1825641.38	[3]
P-0504	Stock Water	In Channel	2.35	13.85	2592488.91	1912123.22	[3]
P-0505	Stock Water	In Channel	8.85	20.91	2644661.40	1904058.09	[3]
P-0506	Stock Water	In Channel	6.11	19.25	2640896.31	1910670.63	[3]
P-0507	Stock Water	In Channel	2.37	7.92	2649228.14	1908147.76	[3]
P-0508	Stock Water	In Channel	2.95	14.54	2587660.51	1915064.13	[3]
P-0509	Stock Water	In Channel	3.04	4.18	2575070.03	1919527.54	[3]
P-0510	Stock Water	In Channel	1.34	2.64	2663687.69	1918354.14	[3]
P-0511	Stock Water	In Channel	11.45	29.31	2573705.42	1918746.70	[3]
P-0512	Stock Water	In Channel	0.9	1.23	2649142.23	1908580.52	[3]
P-0513	Stock Water	In Channel	0.81	5.74	2608057.24	1753033.80	[3]
P-0514	Stock Water	In Channel	7.68	10.58	2607970.33	1752319.25	[3]
P-0515	Stock Water	In Channel	2.61	8.22	2631082.46	1747153.61	[3]
P-0516	Stock Water	In Channel	0.41	2.09	2595915.43	1721727.87	[3]
P-0517	Stock Water	In Channel	0.13	0.21	2584588.40	1713745.22	[3]
P-0518	Stock Water	In Channel	0.81	2.39	2639774.24	1715309.59	[3]
P-0519	Stock Water	In Channel	5.58	18.68	2579164.91	1726947.64	[3]
P-0520	Stock Water	In Channel	1.19	5.64	2643386.96	1749185.03	[3]
P-0521	Stock Water	In Channel	0.92	1.81	2638345.58	1751553.57	[3]
P-0522	Stock Water	In Channel	0.54	1.59	2579078.94	1751761.77	[3]
P-0523	Stock Water	In Channel	1.08	1.49	2612490.31	1747896.01	[3]
P-0524	Stock Water	In Channel	0.76	1.95	2631879.47	1746603.44	[3]
P-0525	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	42.89	177.31	2646175.84	1747542.77	[1]
P-0526	Stock Water	In Channel	5.95	7.03	2644364.62	1739943.85	[3]
P-0527	Stock Water	In Channel	0.88	6.25	2644490.96	1740186.05	[3]
P-0528	Stock Water	Well	0.35	1.39	2631896.97	1739197.15	[3]
P-0529	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	2.07	10.17	2627830.26	1741258.19	[1]
P-0530	Stock Water	In Channel	0.86	6.42	2622662.75	1737989.31	[3]
P-0531	Stock Water	In Channel	0.73	3.73	2617474.43	1742697.67	[3]
P-0532	Stock Water	In Channel	3.1	6.11	2615398.25	1741507.54	[3]
P-0533	Stock Water	In Channel	0.77	3.32	2609871.48	1736841.87	[3]
P-0534	Stock Water	In Channel	3.72	6.59	2584329.12	1732604.93	[3]
P-0535	Stock Water	In Channel	0.8	0.94	2597152.12	1732032.96	[3]
P-0536	Stock Water	In Channel	2.38	2.81	2609024.85	1731119.95	[3]
P-0537	Stock Water	In Channel	0.79	2.32	2600860.14	1/29/53.89	[3]
P-0538	Stock Water	In Channel	0.97	1.52	2625274.22	1733698.81	[3]
P-0539	Stock Water	In Channel	0.49	2.03	2623146.88	1729314.89	[3]
P-0540	Stock Water	In Channel	0.2	0.2	2640154.42	1733860.73	[3]
P-0541	Stock Water	In Channel	0.34	0.74	2639919.53	1733101.00	[3]
P-0542	Stock Water		1.07	0.50	2650126.04	1735014.39	[3]
P-0543	Stock Water	vvell In Channel	0.75	3.84	2636353.42	1724774.68	[3]
P-0344	Stock Water	In Channel	3.15	9.31	2595505.55	1725390.01	[3] [2]
P-0545	Stock Water		0.97	2.49	2007000.93	1701710 54	[၁] [၁]
P-0540	Stock Water		0.7	3.43 1 /	2070101.84	1712702.04	[၁] [၁]
P-0547	Stock Water		0.09	1.4 0.4	2002210.12	171100.91	[၁] [၁]
P-0540	Stock Water		1.07	2.1 / /2	2020403.97	1712795 25	[3] [3]
P-0549	Stock Water	In Channel	1.01	4.43 ⊿ 70	2617/0/ 71	171/00.00	[3] [3]
P-0550	Stock Water	In Channel	1 85	5 11	2616167 25	1712820 12	[2] [2]
P-0552	Stock Water	In Channel	0.16	0.11	2611725 66	171/120 01	[2]
1-0002			0.10	0.04	2011/20.00	1714150.91	[J]

Site	Primary Usa	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	V coordinato	V Coordinato	Data
Number	Fillinary Use	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	A coordinate	r coordinate	Source
P-0553	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.86	2.36	2601239.8	1715057.82	[1]
P-0554	Stock Water	In Channel	1.06	4.18	2597727.52	1712550.84	[3]
P-0555	Stock Water	In Channel	1.84	14.46	2578256.02	1713270.73	[3]
P-0556	Stock Water	In Channel	1.12	3.32	2633327.46	1708531.19	[3]
P-0557	Stock Water	Well	3.88	21.37	2604852.18	1710146.77	[3]
P-0558	Stock Water	In Channel	1.53	14.48	2601199.51	1707683.11	[3]
P-0559	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	2.13	8.4	2601531.14	1702770.52	[1]
P-0560	Stock Water	In Channel	1.24	4.89	2615138.36	1701828.87	[3]
P-0561	Stock Water	In Channel	5.44	20.34	2654762.78	1702386.77	[3]
P-0562	Stock Water	In Channel	4.47	10.56	2662174.88	1688708.87	[3]
P-0564	Stock Water	Well	0.16	1.07	2633510.03	1714833.98	[3]
P-0565	Stock Water	Well	0.22	0.42	2588176.97	1749112.20	[3]
P-0566	Stock Water	Well	0.15	0.27	2588013.51	1/48/46.52	[3]
P-0567	Stock Water	In Channel	8.51	31.82	2622717.53	1/38245.28	[3]
P-0568	Stock Water	In Channel	2.13	4.19	261/152.48	1742180.08	[3]
P-0569	Stock Water	In Channel	7.98	6.12	2610491.24	1736616.93	[3]
P-0570	Stock Water	In Channel	4.76	15	2596980.81	1/32287.75	[3]
P-05/1	Stock Water	In Channel	1.02	2.8	2600897.67	1729508.58	[3]
P-0572	Stock Water	In Channel	0.41	0.05	2623054.49	1729303.97	[3]
P-0573	Stock Water	In Channel	1.09	8.15	2595408.62	1723938.14	[3]
P-03/4	Stock Water		3.53	10.43	2575449.23	1721572.40	[3]
P-03/3	Stock Water	Well	0.28	0.30	2569929.92	1710402.07	[3] [2]
P-03/0	Stock Water		0.02	0.73	2590092.77	1719493.00	[3] [2]
P-0579	Stock Water		3.53	0.23	2020790.03	171/136 /8	[3]
P-0570	Stock Water	In Channel	0.13	0.43	2611688.61	1714120.23	[3]
P-0580	Irrigation Stock Water	In Channel	0.13	0.45	2601247.4	1715028.08	[0]
P-0581	Stock Water	In Channel	0.6	2.73	2654635.11	1702388.52	[3]
P-0582	Stock Water	In Channel	0.9	2.3	2661771.70	1689068.34	[3]
P-0584	Stock Water	In Channel	1.61	3.81	2584845.05	1930617.21	[3]
P-0585	Stock Water	In Channel	0.83	2.29	2575690.94	1937401.68	[3]
P-0586	Stock Water	In Channel	0.57	1.69	2577403.93	1934552.59	[3]
P-0587	Stock Water	In Channel	3.45	8.82	2588243.32	1934333.89	[3]
P-0588	Stock Water	In Channel	2.33	7.79	2599373.90	1934259.51	[3]
P-0591	Stock Water	In Channel	1.8	4.95	2583494.67	1957776.72	[3]
P-0593	Stock Water	In Channel	0.8	1.73	2587783.53	1964581.74	[3]
P-0594	Stock Water	In Channel	5.97	11.75	2596410.12	1960788.41	[3]
P-0595	Stock Water	In Channel	0.98	3.85	2572908.74	1932224.29	[3]
P-0596	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.06	2577565.64	1931929.00	[3]
P-0597	Stock Water	Well	0.02	0.03	2577355.79	1931973.84	[3]
P-0598	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.07	2587179.69	1943803.11	[3]
P-0599	Stock Water	In Channel	0.37	2.16	2625372.47	1766046.70	[3]
P-0600	Stock Water	In Channel	1.91	4.52	2625457.70	1765738.38	[3]
P-0601	Stock Water	In Channel	0.86	3.04	2581499.90	1760384.00	[3]
P-0602	Stock Water	In Channel	2.21	2.61	2581393.32	1/60306.00	[3]
P-0603	Stock Water	In Channel	1.38	10.03	2595381.36	1/58458.30	[3]
P-0604	Stock Water	In Channel	23.8	93.69	2594870.14	1/583/6.21	[3]
P-0605	Stock Water		0.66	3.12	2603722.02	1/566/3.62	[3]
P-0000	Slock Water	vvell	0.1	0.21	2025220.52	1703432.02	[3]
P-0609	Stock Water		3.89	14.50	2020057.92	1/0/190.2/	[3]
P-0600	Stock Water		1.22	4.79	2090009.21	10500014.04	[၁] ကျ
P-0640	Stock Water		0.03	1.90	2090200.09	1062202 20	[၁] ကျ
F-0010	Slock Waler	in Channel	0.97	3.00	209/94/.40	1903203.30	[၁]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number		Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X oooramato	r oooramato	Source
P-0611	Stock Water	In Channel	0.75	1.62	2597451.50	1961607.91	[3]
P-0612	Stock Water	In Channel	6.37	20.05	2601293.00	1963092.99	[3]
P-0613	Stock Water	In Channel	0.56	1.33	2610324.78	1965625.81	[3]
P-0614	Stock Water	In Channel	0.27	0.32	2608093.31	1964276.02	[3]
P-0615	Stock Water	In Channel	0.44	1.82	2603768.68	1958254.62	[3]
P-0616	Stock Water	In Channel	1.05	3.73	2612152.25	1958258.65	[3]
P-0617	Stock Water	In Channel	4.8	14.16	2607020.60	1951591.82	[3]
P-0618	Stock Water	In Channel	0.22	0.96	2609068.35	1939164.66	[3]
P-0619	Stock Water	In Channel	0.85	4.37	2609927.14	1934696.42	[3]
P-0620	Stock Water	In Channel	1.27	2.75	2618462.68	1950974.42	[3]
P-0621	Stock Water	In Channel	7.18	28.26	2630324.32	1944852.20	[3]
P-0628	Stock Water	In Channel	17.58	48.46	2647387.00	1954918.33	[3]
P-0638	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.47	2.4	2591121.64	1853045.75	[4]
P-0639	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.96	3.2	2590995.75	1853272.27	[4]
P-0640	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.15	2593129.30	1852731.96	[3]
P-0644	Stock Water	In Channel	0.31	0.24	2649833.67	1849080.95	[3]
P-0645	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.3	0.59	2627360.78	1854007.15	[4]
P-0646	Stock Water	In Channel	6.89	14.92	2627607.73	1841200.86	[3]
P-0647	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.84	1.32	2622150.33	1834922.89	[1]
P-0648	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.89	2.24	2631573.61	1836983.70	[4]
P-0649	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.55	2.06	2631418.85	1836787.29	[4]
P-0650	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.43	1.19	2631233.83	1836657.32	[4]
P-0651	Stock Water	In Channel	0.8	0.63	2633687.81	1833425.90	[3]
P-0652	Stock Water	In Channel	1.16	2.73	2614845.19	1862127.45	[3]
P-0655	Stock Water	In Channel	1.33	6.55	2664411.26	18/0162.22	[3]
P-0656	Stock Water	In Channel	0.43	0.26	2662613.61	18/3056.46	[3]
P-0657	Stock Water	In Channel	2.39	5.18	2593581.87	18/4105./6	[3]
P-0658	Stock Water	In Channel	2.32	6.86	25/2/41.26	1862641.90	[3]
P-0660	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.8	6.34	25/1/83.16	1855513.54	[3]
P-0661	Stock Water	In Channel	3.91	3	2577200.47	1850954.75	[3]
P-0662	Stock Water	In Channel	0.89	2.45	2618666.56	1847542.22	[3]
P-0663	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.34	0.67	2627467.39	1854121.09	[4]
P-0664	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.38	1.12	2627669.35	1853930.10	[4]
P-0665	Stock Water		0.00	3.49	2627035.91	1041031.30	[3] [2]
P-0000	Stock Water		0.71	1.20	2500049.23	1041032.99	[3] [2]
P-0670	Stock Water		1.09	1.05	2512119.13	1043339.20	[3] [2]
P-0671	Stock Water		1.07	25.5	2583811 70	1830160.85	[3]
P-0672	Stock Water		0.53	25.5	2618804.40	1831270.57	[3]
P-0673	Stock Water		0.55	0.52	2632703.00	1833747 58	[3]
P-0674	Stock Water	In Channel	1.8	15.1	2571208 74	1828267 52	[3]
P-0675	Stock Water	Woll	4.0	0.72	258/820.87	187//22 37	[3]
P-0676	Stock Water	Well	0.15	0.72	2577954 40	1854365.00	[3]
P-0677	Stock Water	Well	0.20	0.44	2650613.62	1849678 99	[3]
P-0678	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.20	2630340.43	1835236.97	[3]
P-0679	Stock Water	Well	0.15	0.12	2577469 00	1834261 71	[3]
P-0680	Stock Water	In Channel	1 45	3 41	2648518 46	1831912 68	[3]
P-0681	Stock Water	In Channel	0.17	0.44	2648723 24	1832157 77	[3]
P-0683	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.17	1 49	2631101 57	1836671 73	[4]
P-0684	Stock Water	In Channel	3.52	7 61	2591309.66	1974545 02	[3]
P-0685	Stock Water	In Channel	1 44	7.36	2583379 72	1989337 31	[3]
P-0687	Stock Water	In Channel	4 24	10.84	2595131 45	1991949 86	[3]
P-0688	Stock Water	In Channel	2 89	11.96	2595153.66	1995117 93	[3]
			2.00				[~]

Site	Primory Uso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	Vacardinata	V Coordinata	Data
Number	Primary Use	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	x coordinate	r Coordinate	Source
P-0689	Stock Water	In Channel	3.54	28.54	2589425.68	1980544.98	[3]
P-0690	Stock Water	In Channel	1.39	10.09	2577329.98	2002741.10	[3]
P-0691	Stock Water	In Channel	3.91	16.15	2577834.98	2002126.45	[3]
P-0692	Stock Water	In Channel	0.15	0.55	2594559.09	2001942.88	[3]
P-0695	Stock Water	In Channel	3.14	30.25	2572198.25	2008483.56	[3]
P-0700	Stock Water	In Channel	3.12	16.56	2590443.84	2000837.14	[3]
P-0736	Stock Water	In Channel	1.5	6.78	2601556.44	1976067.27	[3]
P-0737	Stock Water	In Channel	4.29	19.44	2600758.30	1985185.47	[3]
P-0750	Stock Water	In Channel	1.02	7.04	2600476.82	1972629.63	[3]
P-0751	Stock Water	In Channel	1.31	6.18	2601760.07	1979876.26	[3]
P-0752	Stock Water	In Channel	0.67	2.38	2601846.04	1980163.53	[3]
P-0809	Stock Water	In Channel, Well	1.13	1.99	2474468.97	2024666.50	[3]
P-0810	Stock Water	In Channel	12.03	28.43	2526194.44	1852861.34	[3]
P-0811	Stock Water	In Channel	3.42	7.41	2576817.49	1966092.71	[3]
P-0812	Stock Water	In Channel	2.12	4.59	2572991.31	1969181.64	[3]
P-0813	Stock Water	In Channel	4.28	34.51	2573979.04	1968888.43	[3]
P-0827	Stock Water	In Channel	2.13	7.56	2524833.59	1780380.96	[3]
P-0828	Stock Water	In Channel	0.95	4.5	2647244.36	1684581.02	[3]
P-08/2	Stock Water	In Channel	0.73	9.26	2706607.59	1903875.45	[3]
P-08/3	Stock Water	In Channel	8.98	38.88	2706944.52	1903618.77	[3]
P-08/4	Stock Water	In Channel	1.16	2.5	2745294.76	1904339.27	[3]
P-08/5	Stock Water	In Channel	1.8	4.97	2728498.95	1900396.35	[3]
P-08/0	Stock Water		0.52	140.57	2710000.03	1090065 10	[3] [2]
P-00//	Stock Water		0.02	75.5	2710390.72	1090303.10	[3] [2]
P-0070	Stock Water		1.03	2.07	2723910.32	1012700 21	[3]
P-00/9	Stock Water		4.51	7 16	2700880 18	1912199.21	[3]
P-0000	Stock Water		1 55	13.00	2680257.07	103/775 08	[3]
P-0882	Stock Water	In Channel	1.50	4 47	2697120.16	1940506 69	[3]
P-0883	Stock Water	In Channel	0.15	0.32	2698876.40	1936224 31	[3]
P-0884	Stock Water	In Channel	0.24	0.52	2746776.53	1904260 53	[3]
P-0885	Stock Water	In Channel	0.45	1.33	2729008 42	1901732.86	[3]
P-0886	Stock Water	In Channel	1.54	12.74	2668938.63	1915111.77	[3]
P-0887	Stock Water	In Channel	18.77	59.13	2690534.26	1921233.05	[3]
P-0888	Stock Water	In Channel	3.36	8.61	2684626.07	1929743.74	[3]
P-0890	Stock Water	In Channel	1.07	2.74	2747596.65	1911568.69	[3]
P-0891	Stock Water	In Channel	1.18	8.4	2741514.77	1905276.33	[3]
P-0892	Stock Water	In Channel	0.94	3.69	2712721.04	1886501.71	[3]
P-0893	Stock Water	In Channel	6.94	23.22	2712582.29	1886686.99	[3]
P-0894	Stock Water	In Channel	2.42	6.2	2711844.10	1886824.63	[3]
P-0895	Stock Water	In Channel	2.43	10.99	2730887.98	1912697.55	[3]
P-0896	Stock Water	In Channel	3.08	20.6	2737528.50	1916060.19	[3]
P-0907	Stock Water	In Channel	1.22	2.63	2740026.43	1771344.96	[3]
P-0908	Stock Water	In Channel	5.79	17.09	2739795.78	1767430.07	[3]
P-0909	Stock Water	In Channel	1.25	3.7	2745516.50	1761958.96	[3]
P-0910	Stock Water	In Channel	7.71	21.26	2754487.87	1747117.37	[3]
P-0911	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.08	2727820.68	1809585.13	[3]
P-0912	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.11	2745811.45	1777356.49	[3]
P-0913	Stock Water	Well	0.08	0.08	2745893.85	1777411.74	[3]
P-0914	Stock Water	In Channel	0.66	1.95	2753794.89	1762382.31	[3]
P-0915	Stock Water	In Channel	14.13	33.38	2753017.65	1763291.15	[3]
P-0916	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.36	2746930.38	1749986.78	[3]
P-0917	Stock Water	In Channel	0.68	1.6	2709850.07	1876309.40	[3]

Site	Primary IIso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number	T Tilliary 03e	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	1 Coordinate	Source
P-0918	Stock Water	In Channel	0.88	1.91	2679296.42	1831586.74	[3]
P-0921	Stock Water	In Channel	10.6	37.55	2665992.90	1879754.76	[3]
P-0922	Stock Water	In Channel	3.09	5.47	2667731.64	1875259.54	[3]
P-0923	Stock Water	In Channel	1.07	8.04	2667593.40	1875004.94	[3]
P-0924	Stock Water	In Channel	7.13	18.25	2699524.87	1866339.98	[3]
P-0925	Stock Water	In Channel	0.46	0.31	2694988.67	1864390.55	[3]
P-0926	Stock Water	In Channel	0.71	3.07	2695032.42	1864341.55	[3]
P-0927	Stock Water	In Channel	0.53	2.19	2689157.03	1856161.12	[3]
P-0928	Stock Water	In Channel	0.4	0.31	2729594.53	1851131.40	[3]
P-0929	Stock Water	In Channel	3.51	6.21	2721752.99	1847672.48	[3]
P-0930	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	0.51	2712812.52	1851834.43	[3]
P-0931	Stock Water	In Channel	0.47	2.97	2715776.18	1848162.95	[3]
P-0932	Stock Water	In Channel	0.2	0.44	2715722.70	1848445.95	[3]
P-0933	Stock Water	In Channel	1.95	6.53	2741603.92	1844895.15	[3]
P-0934	Stock Water	In Channel	0.4	0.63	2748667.87	1835519.95	[3]
P-0935	Stock Water	In Channel	2.94	10.43	2738018.32	1836475.42	[3]
P-0938	Stock Water	In Channel	0.38	0.29	2/1346/.6/	183/350.63	[3]
P-0939	Stock Water	In Channel	0.65	1.91	2713543.98	183/619./1	[3]
P-0940	Stock Water	In Channel	1.04	0.82	2677461.12	1828462.63	[3]
P-0941	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	1.02	2735591.92	1828552.03	[3]
P-0942	Stock Water	In Channel	0.75	2.2	2733348.22	182/92/.82	[3]
P-0943	Stock Water	In Channel	17.73	101.22	2745760.86	1832374.59	[3]
P-0944	Stock Water	In Channel	1.54	6.06	2745767.57	1822345.93	[3]
P-0945	Stock Water	In Channel	0.64	0.75	2725994.00	1822617.11	[3]
P-0946	Stock Water	In Channel	0.38	1.50	2081590.07	1822688.65	[3]
P-0947	Stock Water		0.38	0.59	2001413.73	1022410.19	[3] [2]
P-0950	Stock Water	Woll	0.03	0.00	2721090.32	1929761 55	[3] [2]
P-0952	Stock Water	Woll	0.12	0.31	2734301.90	1820202 12	[3] [2]
P-0953	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.29	2725112.66	1821285 32	[3]
P-0954	Stock Water		1 1	0.10 // 1	2669/91 51	182/321.80	[3]
P-0955	Stock Water	In Channel	0.16	0.88	2687638.60	1681289 73	[3]
P-0950	Stock Water	In Channel	1 76	1.21	2742230 47	1733961 40	[3]
P-0960	Stock Water	In Channel	1.76	2.92	2676190.07	1683228.66	[3]
P-0961	Stock Water	In Channel	1.66	1 71	2676334.09	1676595 29	[3]
P-0962	Stock Water	In Channel	2.07	4.07	2686489.41	1676795.46	[3]
P-0963	Stock Water	In Channel	1.49	1.17	2688423.48	1682196.75	[3]
P-0964	Stock Water	In Channel	0.72	0.71	2678226.11	1677593.04	[3]
P-0965	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.42	2695997.38	1684571.83	[3]
P-0966	Stock Water	Well	0.14	0.59	2695850.35	1684597.87	[3]
P-0967	Stock Water	In Channel	6.44	20.29	2672698.51	1700599.58	[3]
P-0968	Stock Water	In Channel	1.08	2.35	2688501.79	1682441.16	[3]
P-0969	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	0.46	2688703.96	1682317.46	[3]
P-0980	Stock Water	In Channel	7.64	27.09	2770087.88	1838067.02	[3]
P-0982	Stock Water	In Channel	0.85	1	2761575.73	1825320.14	[3]
P-0983	Stock Water	In Channel	0.5	0.39	2762453.10	1824506.40	[3]
P-0984	Stock Water	In Channel	1.43	6.49	2758743.40	1819645.25	[3]
P-0985	Stock Water	In Channel	7.06	15.29	2776727.89	1815126.88	[3]
P-0986	Stock Water	In Channel	87.96	294.35	2772643.68	1813151.83	[3]
P-0987	Stock Water	In Channel	1.43	4.5	2754779.84	1819607.29	[3]
P-0988	Stock Water	In Channel, Well	74.69	529.26	2791554.48	1803881.33	[3]
P-0989	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.23	0.54	2794847.68	1795258.93	[3]
P-0990	Stock Water	In Channel	4.79	15.08	2796791.11	1792158.27	[3]

Site	Primary I Iso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number	T Timary 03e	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	1 Coordinate	Source
P-0991	Stock Water	In Channel	5.8	11.42	2826988.43	1857001.99	[3]
P-0992	Stock Water	In Channel	35.07	117.35	2825806.99	1849493.74	[3]
P-0993	Stock Water	In Channel	12.03	33.16	2821765.87	1846446.38	[3]
P-0994	Stock Water	In Channel	4.21	4.23	2823946.71	1850665.58	[3]
P-0995	Stock Water	In Channel	0.66	0.78	2823438.31	1851270.16	[3]
P-0996	Stock Water	In Channel	1.04	2.04	2810061.01	1841873.02	[3]
P-0997	Stock Water	In Channel	2.44	9.12	2833217.51	1796305.45	[3]
P-1000	Stock Water	In Channel	0.2	0.32	2829260.56	1863670.75	[3]
P-1001	Stock Water	In Channel	0.23	0.72	2761160.64	1883678.80	[3]
P-1002	Stock Water	In Channel	0.44	0.27	2760577.62	1884154.73	[3]
P-1003	Stock Water	In Channel	1.09	2.78	2770020.60	1892074.47	[3]
P-1004	Stock Water	In Channel	0.93	2.93	2760690.75	1906278.74	[3]
P-1005	Stock Water	In Channel	0.99	4.46	2758903.66	1904907.04	[3]
P-1006	Stock Water	In Channel	1.1	4.97	2751417.93	1899067.98	[3]
P-1007	Stock Water	Well Off Channel	0.2	0.4	2769478.36	1893181.38	[3]
P-1008	Stock Water		1.09	6.01	2760587.62	1892810.60	[3]
P-1009	Stock Water	In Channel	0.42	1.25	2774924.92	1891499.56	[3]
P-1010	Stock Water	In Channel	2.38	3.27	2810005.54	1881163.31	[3]
P-1011	Stock Water	In Channel	4.40	1	2014013.00	1002149.49	[3] [2]
P-1012	Stock Water		1 22	2 26	2701042.70	1074044.11	[3] [2]
P-1013	Stock Water		0.26	0.57	2750205.02	1800661 54	[3]
P-1010	Stock Water		0.20	0.37	2706205.09	1873512.64	[3]
P-1013	Stock Water		0.23	0.52	2804592.08	1870305 00	[3]
P-1021	Stock Water	In Channel	0.14	2 35	2757177 27	1772022 19	[3]
P-1022	Stock Water	Well	0.15	0.15	2770513.97	1760863.68	[3]
P-1020	Stock Water	In Channel	0.77	1.81	2765303 31	1761316.07	[3]
P-1025	Stock Water	In Channel	0.99	2.33	2803176.07	1785498.61	[3]
P-1026	Stock Water	In Channel	0.31	0.67	2826328.66	1785349.24	[3]
P-1027	Stock Water	In Channel	2.79	3.85	2812797.52	1780085.89	[3]
P-1028	Stock Water	In Channel	0.15	0.3	2804493.80	1778685.54	[3]
P-1029	Stock Water	Well	0.28	0.55	2760014.57	1774479.73	[3]
P-1030	Stock Water	In Channel	1.22	4.07	2757352.08	1772133.83	[3]
P-1031	Stock Water	In Channel	23.45	87.72	2759711.19	1759260.65	[3]
P-1032	Stock Water	In Channel	4.93	18.45	2781808.46	1753307.01	[3]
P-1033	Stock Water	In Channel	1.8	1.77	2777358.50	1752568.13	[3]
P-1034	Stock Water	In Channel	0.51	3.03	2777325.99	1752586.36	[3]
P-1035	Stock Water	In Channel	0.94	1.11	2826066.11	1833956.47	[3]
P-1036	Stock Water	In Channel	1.23	2.65	2840670.34	1856629.02	[3]
P-1037	Stock Water	In Channel	1.43	5.33	2823922.78	1837608.49	[3]
P-1038	Stock Water	In Channel	0.47	1.66	2854600.52	1842782.34	[3]
P-1040	Stock Water	In Channel	1.88	5.56	2858072.45	1845954.17	[3]
P-1042	Stock Water	In Channel	1./1	8.43	2849725.37	1838583.13	[3]
P-1043	Stock Water	In Channel	0.93	4.42	2853517.34	1836730.00	[3]
P-1044	Stock Water		1.85	2.92	2854686.52	1833472.90	[3]
P-1045	Stock Water		2.11	9.8	2846055.22	1836/12.86	[3]
P-1040	Stock Water	In Channel	υ.8	0.79	2845582.25	1826892.74	[3]
P-104/	Stock Water	In Channel	2.04	3.0Z	2714335.43	1003932.93	[3]
F-1040	Stock Water		2.09 1 07	19.00	2031/94./2	10090/0.00	[3] [2]
P-1049	Stock Water		1.07	4.42	2004202.79	1000007.40	[၁] [၁]
P-1050	Stock Water		0.90	1.10	2040309.10	1707/50 10	[3] [3]
D_1055	Stock Water		0.24	0.47	2134134.34	1787/07 20	[3] [3]
1-1030	SIGGR WALEI		0.34	0.47	2134231.00	1101401.30	ျပ

Site	Primary IIso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number	T Timary 03e	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	1 Coordinate	Source
P-1058	Stock Water	In Channel	1.17	1.38	2821550.78	1787343.58	[3]
P-1060	Stock Water	In Channel	25.97	158.45	2543390.35	1924161.23	[3]
P-1061	Stock Water	In Channel	2.18	8.99	2560487.84	1925290.34	[3]
P-1063	Stock Water	In Channel	2.38	9.37	2574303.08	1824173.67	[3]
P-1087	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	14.78	135.30	2379666.76	1940420.73	[1]
P-1127	Stock Water	In Channel	0.29	0.41	2442305.46	1819669.01	[3]
		In Channel,					
P-1128	Irrigation, Stock Water	Spring	0.48	1.15	2450885.85	1808716.10	[1]
		In Channel,					
P-1129	Stock Water	Spring	2.71	14.69	2452612.37	1808399.75	[3]
P-1130	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.19	1.25	2462008.84	1844898.67	[1]
P-1131	Stock Water	In Channel	0.73	1.14	2465011.72	1835095.01	[3]
P-1132	Stock Water	In Channel	0.83	1.66	2413895.93	1/8061/.50	[3]
P-1133	Stock Water	In Channel	8.72	24.88	2413040.47	1780375.94	[3]
P-1134	Stock Water	In Channel	2.53	14.58	2412434.59	1780193.71	[3]
P-1135	Stock Water	In Channel	4.9	12.63	2410183.63	1///5/6.68	[3]
P-1136	Stock Water	In Channel	0.45	0.53	2457495.30	1796608.48	[3]
P-1137	Stock Water	In Channel	1.66	5.31	2457813.84	1797008.23	[3]
P-1138	Stock Water	In Channel	1.4	7.39	2471276.60	1/91/83.28	[3]
P-1139	Stock Water	In Channel	1.21	2.27	24//8/0./8	1820974.78	[3]
P-1140	Stock Water	In Channel	1.04	3.24	2478447.13	1819671.64	[3]
P-1141	Stock Water		0.45	0.00	2437940.00	1023034.70	[3] [2]
P-1142	Stock Water		0.45	0.09	2470904.00	1824025 45	[3] [2]
P-1143	Stock Water		0.00	0.00	2403101.13	1024020.40	[3] [2]
P-1144	Stock Water	In Channel	0.23	0.3	2450190.05	1827/70 32	[3]
P-1140	Sewer Settling	Sower	3.57	26.44	2409100.32	1846241 51	[3]
P-1149	Sewer Settling	Sewer	3.48	25.75	2473033.41	1846347.05	[4]
P-1151	Stock Water	In Channel	0.88	3.5	2469655.83	1844438 74	[3]
P-1152	Irrigation Stock Water	In Channel	1.00	3.06	2469508 1	1845747 69	[0]
P-1153	Stock Water	In Channel	1.61	10.34	2456571.39	1848889 12	[3]
P-1154	Stock Water	In Channel	0.96	1.97	2449865 19	1849901 13	[3]
P-1155	Stock Water	In Channel	2.01	5.45	2452459.01	1853157.20	[3]
P-1156	Stock Water	In Channel	2.35	4.07	2464625.30	1854363.00	[3]
P-1157	Stock Water	In Channel	1.4	5.97	2465709.73	1797072.50	[3]
P-1158	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.71	5.81	2433896.84	1707286.09	[1]
P-1159	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	20.88	81.38	2438218.14	1709176.70	[1]
P-1160	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.14	2477674.58	1795936.39	[3]
P-1161	Stock Water	In Channel	9.5	16.65	2470770.11	1776058.93	[3]
	Irrigation, Stock Water,						
P-1162	Recretation	In Channel	101.16	1200.00*	2456614.71	1764524.14	[1]
P-1163	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.25	7.27	2454310.23	1763817.20	[4]
P-1164	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.83	5.21	2453787.08	1763961.72	[4]
P-1165	Sewer Settling	Sewer	2.28	4.44	2453999.91	1763641.02	[4]
P-1166	Sewer Settling	Sewer	4.92	17.44	2451172.51	1763338.84	[4]
P-1167	Sewer Settling	Sewer	6.59	28.28	2451089.59	1762984.37	[4]
P-1168	Sewer Settling	Sewer	4.22	15.37	2450187.37	1763209.31	[4]
P-1169	Stock Water	In Channel	0.38	1.21	2450528.49	1760326.73	[3]
P-1170	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.32	2442452.97	1756462.11	[3]
P-1171	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.87	1.5	2477305.50	1767715.77	[3]
P-1172	Stock Water	Well	0.34	1	2475557.90	1764163.90	[3]
P-1173	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.17	2475572.73	1764243.44	[3]
P-1174	Stock Water	In Channel	33.37	36.13	2478349.45	1754071.12	[3]

Site	Primary Usa	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	V coordinato	V Coordinato	Data
Number	Fillinary Use	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	x coordinate	r coordinate	Source
P-1175	Stock Water	In Channel	0.63	2.76	2478431.75	1753871.44	[3]
P-1176	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.12	2456988.84	1751921.58	[3]
P-1177	Irrigation, Stock Water	Well Chuska	1.93	11.68	2468040.53	1737751.94	[1]
P-1178	Stock Water	In Channel	5.22	22.62	2460464.06	1742696.48	[3]
P-1179	Stock Water	In Channel	0.53	2.01	2460459.23	1742214.69	[3]
P-1180	Stock Water	In Channel	1.34	2.72	2462453.04	1740650.92	[3]
P-1181	Stock Water	In Channel	1.9	6.74	2460609.18	1732337.92	[3]
P-1182	Stock Water	Well	2.18	1.89	2459109.38	1734298.55	[3]
P-1183	Stock Water	In Channel	2.48	4.25	2463747.36	1733718.08	[3]
P-1184	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.39	0.54	2475021.79	1733736.44	[3]
P-1185	Stock Water	In Channel	0.5	2.97	2480794.83	1738636.67	[3]
P-1186	Stock Water	In Channel	2.77	5.84	2481035.17	1738355.80	[3]
P-1187	Stock Water	In Channel	0.28	0.94	2445532.46	1723411.20	[3]
P-1188	Stock Water	In Channel	4.18	15.04	2445476.81	1723875.05	[3]
P-1190	Stock Water	In Channel	1.24	4.39	2459314.10	1722014.19	[3]
P-1191	Stock Water	In Channel	0.64	4.13	2464833.52	1723734.16	[3]
P-1192	Stock Water	In Channel	3.81	13.19	2464145.07	1722784.61	[3]
P-1193	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.09	2453240.97	1718358.25	[3]
P-1194	Sewer Settling	Sewer	4.01	9.8	2447373.71	1717352.19	[4]
P-1195	Sewer Settling	Sewer	3.8	10.48	2448054.96	1716746.79	[4]
P-1196	Stock Water	Well	0.83	3.16	2434751.31	1715040.24	[3]
P-1197	Stock Water	In Channel	2.03	14.52	2438826.35	1714552.82	[3]
P-1198	Stock Water	In Channel	2.81	9.85	2440763.88	1716708.92	[3]
P-1199	Stock Water	In Channel	2.95	11.23	2436528.53	1722097.82	[3]
P-1200	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel, Well	5.16	27.62	2452656.34	1/0/423.78	[1]
P-1201	Stock Water	In Channel	1.88	3.73	2397355.69	1/380/0.64	[3]
P-1202	Stock Water	In Channel	2.22	8.34	2420448.09	1741148.25	[3]
P-1203	Stock Water	In Channel	2.99	18.98	2414587.35	1748719.03	[3]
P-1204	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	0.49	2421463.01	1747362.84	[3]
P-1207	Stock Water	In Channel	0.14	0.32	2423323.58	1746424.85	[3]
P-1208	Stock Water	vvell In Channel	0.93	3.01	2427318.23	1743420.87	[3]
P-1209	Stock Water	In Channel	0.62	2.98	2429705.73	1743213.05	[3]
P-1210	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.93	0.3	2429647.92	1742090.00	[4]
P-1211	Sewer Setting	Sewer In Channal	1.30	4.30	2429731.21	1751004 42	[4]
P-1212	Stock Water		1.00	6.70	2417031.29	1751094.43	[1]
P-1213	Stock Water		2.04	0.72	2420047.03	1755124.02	[3] [2]
P-1214	Stock Water		1 50	9.10	2420317.10	1763665.07	[3]
P-1213	Stock Water	In Channel	11.09	67.24	2431039.27	1753736.63	[3]
P-1217	Stock Water	In Channel	1.5	6.8	2439209.09	1731/1/ 03	[3]
P-1210	Stock Water	In Channel	4.81	21.98	2472731.00	1728857.02	[3]
P-1213	Stock Water	In Channel	4.01	4 38	2422710.30	1726355 50	[3]
P-1220	Stock Water	In Channel	1.07	3	2397849 37	1748069.65	[3]
P-1222	Stock Water	In Channel	2 01	6 44	2427895.58	1750200.09	[3]
P-1223	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.18	0.52	2434521.62	1731566 15	[0]
P-1224	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.21	0.62	2434541 76	1731361.94	[4]
P-1225	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	1.13	2436162 70	1731328 27	[3]
P-1226	Stock Water	In Channel	0.22	0.19	2436827 26	1731530 24	[3]
P-1227	Stock Water	In Channel	0.25	0.38	2436341 92	1729887 28	[3]
P-1228	Stock Water	In Channel	0.37	0.45	2436643.73	1729902.36	[3]
P-1229	Stock Water	In Channel	0.25	0.48	2436978.05	1730481.77	[3]
P-1230	Stock Water	In Channel	0.35	0.62	2437434.23	1730227.08	[3]
P-1231	Stock Water	In Channel	0.49	0.91	2437991.49	1730488.76	[3]
			· · •				L - J

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number		Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X oooramate	1 Oooramate	Source
P-1232	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	6.75	18.46	2434950.8	1746451.45	[1]
P-1233	Stock Water	In Channel	0.05	0.22	2439395.76	1743908.55	[3]
P-1234	Stock Water	In Channel	1.1	2.27	2440460.45	1744730.60	[3]
P-1235	Stock Water	In Channel	1.36	4.53	2408692.00	1773581.66	[3]
P-1236	Stock Water	In Channel	1.24	4.07	2409918.96	1776359.34	[3]
P-1237	Stock Water	In Channel	0.5	0.67	2410087.89	1785029.75	[3]
P-1247	Stock Water	In Channel	1.04	3.26	2417477.39	1865445.66	[3]
P-1249	Stock Water	In Channel	7.83	48.57	2403940.53	1865260.35	[3]
P-1250	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.19	0.41	2421407.72	1895432.34	[1]
P-1201	Stock Water		7.33	30.34	2390190.43	1900667.09	[3] [2]
P-1202	Slock Waler	In Channel	2.10	0.71	2416414.69	1902034.75	[3]
P-1200	Irrigation, Stock Water	Off Channel	0.41	1.02	2414794.41	1907449.03	[1]
P-1250	Irrigation, Stock Water		0.30	1.03	2410202.3	1907523 53	[1]
P-1257	Irrigation, Stock Water		0.93	1.09	2410090.19	1008728 30	[1]
P-1250	Sower Settling	Sowor	1 71	1.90	2410002.11	1000/20.39	[1]
P-1255	Stock Water		0.6	1.52	2412009.37	1858200 60	[4]
P-1263	Irrigation Stock Water	In Channel	1 10	1.52	2433030.20	1855607.05	[3]
P-1264	Stock Water	In Channel	2 41	18 24	2442072.49	1857315 69	[1]
P-1265	Stock Water	In Channel	0.89	4.49	2444222.24	1854689.79	[3]
P-1266	Stock Water	In Channel	0.74	2.01	2453676.55	1858593.08	[3]
P-1267	Stock Water	In Channel	5.05	15	2444393.80	1864972.69	[3]
P-1268	Stock Water	In Channel	0.85	3.22	2453052.39	1867802.18	[3]
P-1269	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.51	5.32	2467727.75	1875201.90	[4]
P-1270	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.44	5.07	2467545.73	1875768.95	[4]
P-1271	Sewer Settling	Sewer	3.94	13.88	2468038.25	1875928.82	[4]
P-1273	Stock Water	In Channel	0.54	1.31	2450941.92	1886494.45	[3]
P-1275	Stock Water	In Channel	2.38	5.3	2469942.70	1889069.68	[3]
P-1277	Stock Water	In Channel	3.31	16.99	2463178.79	1897197.49	[3]
P-1278	Stock Water	In Channel	1.32	0.81	2468916.40	1899812.97	[3]
P-1280	Stock Water	Off Channel	0.39	1.29	2453971.59	1907270.35	[3]
P-1281	Stock Water	In Channel	24.94	66.27	2468513.82	1908360.77	[3]
P-1282	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.85	7.66	2426121.45	1916160.76	[1]
P-1283	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	5.51	22.55	2426860.28	1916696.24	[1]
P-1284	Irrigation, Stock Water	Off Channel	1.14	4.01	2415601.33	1910005.60	[1]
P-1285	Irrigation, Stock Water	Off Channel	0.61	1.55	2416149.36	1909417.45	[1]
P-1200	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.25	0.83	2411417.37	1909157.00	[4]
P-1207	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.1	0.3	2411000.40	1909234.82	[4]
P-1200	Sewer Setting		0.45	6.07	2411371.37	1016080 57	[4]
P-1203	Stock Water	In Channel	1.61	5.52	2419750.83	1970009.37	[3]
P-1293	Stock Water	In Channel	2.02	7.57	2416255.26	1924670 12	[3]
P-1294	Stock Water	In Channel	3.61	8.68	2417737.14	1924001.03	[3]
P-1296	Irrigation. Stock Water	In Channel	1.06	4.08	2420522.43	1926293.18	[1]
P-1297	Stock Water	In Channel	1.1	5.86	2423143.88	1930617.92	[3]
P-1300	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.86	2.85	2423117.73	1977403.74	[4]
P-1301	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.8	1.23	2422856.66	1977904.93	[4]
P-1302	Sewer Settling	Sewer	2.43	1.77	2423266.54	1978130.67	[4]
P-1303	Sewer Settling	Sewer	2.91	4.24	2420229.98	1975486.91	[4]
P-1304	Sewer Settling	Sewer	2.98	10.19	2419696.88	1974884.72	[4]
P-1305	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.86	6.36	2419352.47	1975282.52	[4]
P-1307	Irrigation, Stock Water	Diversion	1.11	3.04	2413425.66	1977282.35	[1]
P-1308	Irrigation, Stock Water	Diversion	1	2.68	2413372.26	1977305.51	[1]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet			Source
P-1309	Stock Water	In Channel	2.68	1.69	2417078.52	1978988.60	[3]
P-1310	Stock Water	In Channel	0.71	2.89	2402099.00	1977307.94	[3]
P-1311	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.88	3.96	2392497.12	1975318.94	[1]
P-1312	Irrigation, Stock Water	Well	0.85	4.4	2393645.67	1976909.22	[1]
P-1313	Stock Water	In Channel	2.21	6.79	2408221.96	2001810.59	[3]
P-1314	Stock Water	In Channel	3.61	14.55	2407781.10	2014367.63	[3]
P-1315	Stock Water	vvell	0.16	0.36	2416664.47	2017157.46	[3]
P-1316	Stock Water	In Channel	0.28	0.73	2420662.88	2018467.54	[3]
P-1325	Stock Water	In Channel	8.93	11.96	2441753.13	2046889.29	[3]
P-1328	Stock Water	In Channel	0.20	4.13	2450387.57	2040027.01	[3]
P-1329	Stock Water	In Channel	1.14	0.99	2456908.09	2048321.98	[3]
P-1330	Industrial Stock Weter		0.10	8.89	2469513.70	2039133.67	[2]
P-1331	Stock Water	In Channel	0.16	0.23	2467788.94	2037836.48	[3]
P-1332	Stock Water		1.41	Z./ I	2403034.00	203000.93	[3] [2]
P-1333	Stock Water	In Channel	0.84	402.10	2440900.71	2033676.31	[3] [2]
P-1334	Stock Water		0.64	2.31	2400023.00	2014040.00	[3] [2]
P-1335	Stock Water		2.24	0.04	2472920.73	2012093.02	[3] [2]
P-1330	Stock Water		0.21	2.14	2473170.04	2010941.01	[3] [2]
P-1337	Stock Water		1.74	0.00	2403074.00	2000001.78	[3]
P-1330	Stock Water	Woll	0.16	0.17	2472003.23	2005210.14	[3]
P-1340	Stock Water	In Channel	0.10	1.02	2414027.20	2007190.20	[3]
P-13/1	Stock Water	In Channel	1.08	4 37	2420004.01	2007201.07	[3]
P-1347	Stock Water	In Channel	5.96	23 72	2436862 37	2010403.00	[3]
P-1343	Stock Water	Well	0.00	0.16	2432426 73	2003424.49	[3]
P-1344	Stock Water	In Channel	0.20	0.10	2437338.04	2025991.84	[3]
P-1345	Stock Water	In Channel	5.93	7.35	2470941 79	2003733.10	[3]
P-1346	Stock Water	In Channel	1.43	2.06	2466207.48	1998633.15	[3]
P-1347	Irrigation. Stock Water	Well Sanostee	0.91	1.79	2442790.55	1999778.67	[1]
P-1348	Stock Water	Well	0.29	0.46	2436155.62	1984546.18	[3]
P-1349	Irrigation, Stock Water	Well Sanostee	0.22	0.45	2436139.71	1984623.20	[1]
P-1350	Irrigation, Stock Water	Well Sanostee	0.14	0.32	2436248.74	1984621.18	[1]
	0,	Diversion					
P-1351	Irrigation, Stock Water	Sanostee	1.38	3.18	2432249.56	1982523.15	[1]
		Diversion					
P-1352	Irrigation, Stock Water	Sanostee	1.12	5.31	2426796.3	1981537.04	[1]
		Diversion					
P-1353	Irrigation, Stock Water	Sanostee	1.21	1.83	2426295.52	1981455.91	[1]
P-1354	Irrigation, Stock Water	Improved Spring	1.23	3.67	2444429.1	1965355.34	[1]
P-1355	Stock Water	Well	0.32	0.31	2444524.24	1963695.54	[3]
P-1356	Stock Water	In Channel	0.6	1.02	2463182.57	1965407.73	[3]
P-1357	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel, Well	4.86	19.04	2451096.96	1955470.87	[1]
P-1362	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	1.13	2451854.45	2041856.92	[3]
P-1363	Stock Water	In Channel	2.43	1.91	2452711.20	2043354.62	[3]
P-1364	Stock Water	In Channel	1.23	2.42	2453963.10	2043686.37	[3]
P-1365	Stock Water	In Channel	1.3	1.05	2454888.42	2044928.59	[3]
P-1366	Stock Water	In Channel	2.34	1.43	2458576.10	2048530.01	[3]
P-1367	Stock Water	In Channel	7.07	18.1	2461102.96	2049769.36	[3]
P-1368	Stock Water	In Channel	2.27	5.37	2461947.19	2049888.05	[3]
P-1369	Stock Water	In Channel	0.77	1.52	2464308.68	2051149.66	[3]
P-1370	Stock Water	In Channel	1.56	1.85	2464854.85	2051645.93	[3]
P-1371	Stock Water	In Channel	1.44	3.97	2465919.87	2051515.92	[3]
P-1372	Stock Water	In Channel	7.79	16.87	2430968.92	2013168.61	[3]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number P_1272	Stock Water	In Channel	1 92	Fee t	2450686.20	2040451 12	
P-1373	Stock Water		1.03	0.41	2450600.29	2040431.13	[3]
P-1374	Stock Water		2.78	0.40	2450542.27	205040.15	[3]
P-1375	Stock Water	In Channel	2.70	4 75	2405590.21	2052180.04	[3]
P-1377	Stock Water	In Channel	0.03	4.73	2400434.01	1835607 17	[3]
P-1378	Stock Water	In Channel	0.33	0.43	2459565.02	1835653 51	[3]
P-1379	Stock Water	In Channel	2.46	3.39	2477433 11	1837812.61	[3]
P-1388	Stock Water	In Channel	3.03	9.56	2426651.01	1880725.90	[3]
P-1389	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.09	2435971.37	1942606.53	[3]
P-1393	Stock Water	In Channel	1.87	10.67	2472574.95	1977490.74	[3]
P-1394	Stock Water	In Channel	4	5.28	2622924.79	1728980.69	[3]
P-1395	Stock Water	In Channel	0.34	0.4	2642567.74	1810223.49	[3]
P-1396	Stock Water	In Channel	45.99	40.74	2686389.27	1700267.09	[3]
P-1398	Stock Water	In Channel	0.17	0.26	2738103.69	1875324.44	[3]
P-1399	Stock Water	In Channel	0.94	1.68	2683290.14	1870509.34	[3]
P-1400	Stock Water	In Channel	0.93	3.89	2495573.59	1794051.84	[3]
P-1407	Stock Water	In Channel	1.27	2.49	2462811.78	2050196.89	[3]
P-1408	Stock Water	In Channel	6.19	25.6	2464607.42	2049853.08	[3]
P-1409	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.99	2.53	2424674.78	1922570.07	[1]
P-1410	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.17	4.36	2424856.31	1922409.08	[1]
P-1411	Stock Water	In Channel	0.89	1.23	2466632.62	1867329.68	[3]
P-1412	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	0.93	5.11	2444272.89	2003847.73	[1]
P-1414	Stock Water	In Channel, Well	1.54	1.03	2473886.01	2024792.14	[3]
P-1415	Stock Water	In Channel	13.77	45.27	2572375.46	1854192.72	[3]
P-1416	Stock Water	In Channel	2.9	6.11	2461174.69	1705259.83	[3]
P-1417	Stock Water	In Channel	0.78	3.53	2466135.83	1788473.35	[3]
P-1418	Stock Water	In Channel	5.61	7.4	2496095.85	1793581.70	[3]
P-1419	Stock Water		0.04	0.90	247 3004.07	1967117.26	[3] [2]
P-1420	Stock Water		0.20	1.09	2400230.31	1846874 66	[3]
P-1421	Stock Water	Woll	0.45	0.52	2586646 75	1728364 03	[3]
P-1423	Stock Water	In Channel	0.40	4 45	2584835 10	1717016 71	[3]
P-1425	Stock Water	In Channel	8.88	14.69	2530226.98	1777735.26	[3]
P-1426	Stock Water	In Channel	1.21	2.9	2529760.36	1779461.48	[3]
P-1430	Fish Hatchery	NIIP, Off Channel	2.64	13.19	2540340.20	2032523.57	[2]
P-1431	Fish Hatchery	NIIP, Off Channel	2.64	13.2	2540794.51	2032975.11	[2]
P-1432	Fish Hatchery	NIIP, Off Channel	2.62	13.12	2541244.91	2033419.11	[2]
P-1433	Fish Hatchery	NIIP, Off Channel	2.84	14.2	2541545.69	2033107.49	[2]
P-1434	Fish Hatchery	NIIP, Off Channel	2.56	12.81	2541095.63	2032679.73	[2]
D 1425	Fich Hotchom		0.75	10 74	254064040	2022225 44	101
P-1433	Stock Water	INIT, OII Channel	2.70	13.74	2040048.13	2032225.11	[2]
D_1/27	Stock Water		0.90	2.0	2009002.00	1760642 62	[3] [3]
P-1/122	Stock Water	In Channel	3.07 1 22	282	2000190.02	1765251 16	[3] [3]
P-1430	Stock Water	In Channel	1.55	2.03	2666473 33	1765600 00	[J]
P-1440	Stock Water	In Channel	0.37	0.74	2669312 02	1759956 37	[J] [3]
P-1441	Stock Water	In Channel	47.31	228 15	2667523.63	1758258 21	[3]
P-1442	Stock Water	In Channel	0.97	2 67	2598914 13	1817552 23	[3]
			0.57	2.07	200014.10	1017002.20	[9]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
$P_{-1/1/3}$	Stock Water		10.75	12 3/	2507070.25	18112/3 71	
P-1443	Stock Water		3.46	9 17	2602188.05	181/60/ 26	[3]
P-1444	Stock Water		0.82	0.17	2603804.46	1700087.64	[3]
P-1445	Stock Water		2.6	6.64	2623838 /3	1793007.04	[3]
P-1440	Stock Water	Well	0.15	0.04	2620216 75	1816346.03	[3]
P-1448	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.72	2620210.73	1816475 28	[3]
P-1449	Stock Water	Well	0.22	0.65	2629993.67	1806532.93	[3]
P-1450	Stock Water	Well	0.16	0.58	2630219 58	1806109.08	[3]
P-1451	Stock Water	Well	1.9	4 87	2630365.33	1806323 41	[3]
P-1452	Stock Water	Well	0.26	0.73	2630218.59	1806808.10	[3]
P-1453	Stock Water	Well	0.48	0.42	2630440.04	1806522.21	[3]
P-1454	Stock Water	In Channel	2.5	3.45	2618110.25	1801505.71	[3]
P-1455	Stock Water	Well	0.15	0.49	2615047.91	1800733.64	[3]
P-1456	Stock Water	In Channel	53.8	169.44	2628628.85	1903215.30	[3]
P-1457	Stock Water	Well	0.39	1.83	2627812.33	1902510.81	[3]
P-1458	Stock Water	In Channel	0.98	4.23	2597231.16	1847926.00	[3]
P-1459	Stock Water	In Channel	10.25	30.26	2665997.49	1818946.45	[3]
P-1460	Stock Water	In Channel	1.52	6.29	2667036.60	1813890.00	[3]
P-1461	Stock Water	In Channel	2.37	6.06	2604262.00	1791400.02	[3]
P-1462	Stock Water	In Channel	3.03	5.96	2605759.69	1788611.87	[3]
P-1463	Stock Water	In Channel	2.77	7.09	2604973.16	1785571.06	[3]
P-1464	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.21	2658017.07	1814949.71	[3]
P-1465	Stock Water	Well	0.72	3.13	2658244.16	1815098.07	[3]
P-1466	Stock Water	In Channel	5.14	17.2	2660966.68	1816672.38	[3]
P-1467	Stock Water	In Channel	1.11	2.63	2661802.94	1818008.07	[3]
P-1468	Stock Water	Well	0.35	0.82	2606142.26	1796505.14	[3]
P-1469	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.21	2606287.73	1796742.36	[3]
P-1470	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.26	2606521.53	1796678.95	[3]
P-1471	Stock Water	In Channel	1.49	4.41	2660662.56	1810478.71	[3]
P-1472	Stock Water	In Channel	1.33	5.74	2664348.30	1808737.07	[3]
P-1473	Stock Water	In Channel	3.99	10.99	2667986.89	1807274.77	[3]
P-1474	Stock Water	In Channel	0.8	2.04	2658193.54	1789127.44	[3]
P-1475	Stock Water	In Channel	11.26	95.35	2657601.44	1794283.05	[3]
P-1476	Stock Water	In Channel	4.2	9.1	2665237.62	1784418.10	[3]
P-1477	Stock Water	In Channel	1.15	4.53	2664188.26	1801295.29	[3]
P-14/8	Stock Water	In Channel	1.58	6.22	2658673.97	1799209.44	[3]
P-14/9	Stock Water	In Channel	0.71	2.53	2657730.12	1776617.58	[3]
P-1480	Stock Water	In Channel	0.48	12 72	2816130.09	1776211.40	[3]
P-1481	Stock Water	In Channel	1.88	13.72	2823190.03	1775975.14	[3]
P-1400	Stock Water		2.01	21.92	2030730.27	1736049 41	[3] [2]
P-1400	Stock Water		1 18	21.30	2000901.00	1730170.20	[3]
P-1400	Stock Water		3.05	12.19	2658475.20	1757/51 3/	[3]
P-1490	Stock Water	In Channel	5.05	14.92	2661241.94	1748943 77	[3]
P-1492	Stock Water	In Channel	2.07	4.88	2668431 38	1747838 22	[3]
P-1493	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.23	1 29	2658073 95	1759727 73	[4]
P-1494	Stock Water	In Channel	0.20	1.20	2657424 94	1758835 43	[3]
P-1495	Stock Water	In Channel	0.55	1.19	2657388 42	1758824 62	[3]
P-1496	Stock Water	In Channel	16.31	89,89	2656558.27	1759041.87	[3]
P-1497	Stock Water	In Channel	9.42	14.83	2656225.34	1758352.13	[3]
P-1498	Stock Water	In Channel	2.81	3.88	2658345.89	1757157.96	[3]
P-1499	Stock Water	In Channel	3.87	6.1	2658697.16	1758078.49	[3]
P-1500	Stock Water	In Channel	2.24	5.72	2659069.86	1757672.06	[3]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number		Source	Area (Ac)	Feet			Source
P-1501	Stock Water	In Channel	1.52	5.7	2657450.40	1746729.70	[3]
P-1502	Stock Water	Well	0.19	0.19	2730282.98	1776283.44	[3]
P-1503	Stock Water	In Channel	0.72	0.57	2733036.56	1//1538.4/	[3]
P-1504	Stock Water	In Channel	2.68	4.75	2/32/46.95	1771977.53	[3]
P-1505	Stock Water	Well	0.72	0.99	2/118/5.65	1809481.62	[3]
P-1506	Stock Water	In Channel	6.16	42.47	2683600.78	1771249.35	[3]
P-1507	Stock Water	In Channel	3.18	19.4	2677561.18	1765093.02	[3]
P-1508	Stock Water	In Channel	2.62	6.71	2670260.93	1756393.71	[3]
P-1509	Stock Water	In Channel	3.55	19.54	2678935.60	1758310.09	[3]
P-1510	Stock Water	vvell	0.08	0.19	2681525.72	1773819.67	[3]
P-1511	Stock Water		1.19	2.12	2678247.90	1765951.36	[3]
P-1512	Stock Water	vvell	0.11	0.15	2675765.93	1755054.19	[3]
P-1513	Stock Water		0.74	0.73	2699379.20	1813982.91	[3]
P-1514	Stock Water	vvell	0.12	0.11	2699126.64	1815268.55	[3]
P-1515	Stock Water	In Channel	0.53	1.30	2699195.62	1817399.67	[3]
P-1516	Stock Water		0.68	2	2699068.15	1817414.82	[3]
P-1517	Stock Water		0.84	3.29	2689982.72	1821704.16	[3]
P-1518	Stock Water		1.05	0.01	2688508.44	1818645.48	[3]
P-1519	Stock Water	In Channel	0.26	0.66	2690658.57	1818933.03	[3]
P-1520	Stock Water	In Channel	0.34	0.0	2074211.39	101/000.30	[3] [2]
P-1321	Stock Water	In Channel	0.77	4.07	2677796.06	1810006 18	[3] [2]
P-1522	Stock Water		2.43	1.00	2077700.90	1810602 52	[3]
P-1523	Stock Water		0.00	1.09	2686007.40	1810585.00	[3]
P-1524	Stock Water		0.70	0.07	2000907.49	1853787 /3	[3]
P-1520	Stock Water		0.74	0.07	2702743.03	1854240.00	[3]
P-1528	Stock Water		0.74	0.40	270302.03	1854/36 70	[3]
P-1520	Stock Water	In Channel	0.00	0.32	2702470 15	1850809 68	[3]
P-1520	Stock Water	In Channel	1.66	2.52	2726940 78	1847615.03	[3]
P-1531	Stock Water	In Channel	3 43	9.92	2729781.52	1839505.39	[3]
P-1532	Stock Water	In Channel	2 55	9.02	2741112 23	1841875.61	[3]
P-1533	Stock Water	In Channel	0.2	0.2	2747105.97	1848087.44	[3]
P-1534	Stock Water	In Channel	1.36	3.44	2751568.88	1850432.69	[3]
P-1535	Stock Water	In Channel	0.24	0.38	2733521.70	1830382.58	[3]
P-1536	Stock Water	In Channel	0.47	0.62	2737371.92	1814658.28	[3]
P-1537	Stock Water	In Channel	0.6	1.36	2741467.96	1815932.30	[3]
P-1538	Stock Water	In Channel	0.55	1.08	2747234.70	1814217.89	[3]
P-1539	Stock Water	In Channel	2.79	4.89	2748445.80	1815562.02	[3]
P-1540	Stock Water	In Channel	0.52	0.91	2762577.98	1815123.49	[3]
P-1541	Stock Water	In Channel	1.88	1.48	2813069.73	1799743.78	[3]
P-1542	Stock Water	In Channel	1.22	2.4	2813708.93	1799521.53	[3]
P-1543	Stock Water	In Channel	0.24	0.7	2813305.12	1799896.85	[3]
P-1544	Stock Water	In Channel	1.14	2.25	2810252.45	1797899.96	[3]
P-1545	Stock Water	In Channel	0.47	0.93	2817806.40	1769661.73	[3]
P-1546	Stock Water	In Channel	1.59	11.56	2818264.11	1764013.70	[3]
P-1547	Stock Water	In Channel	0.17	0.34	2763521.72	1814635.90	[3]
P-1548	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.31	2758549.94	1816935.33	[3]
P-1549	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.14	2814458.83	1803694.03	[3]
P-1550	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.29	2820415.49	1761392.41	[3]
P-1551	Stock Water	Well	0.24	0.74	2733784.34	1739564.72	[3]
P-1552	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.18	2733757.68	1739732.26	[3]
P-1553	Stock Water	In Channel	1.18	2.09	2677205.98	1729437.31	[3]
P-1554	Stock Water	In Channel	3.06	10.25	2737581.94	1732917.83	[3]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number	Stock Water	Source	Area (AC)	reet	2722640.04	1720206 40	Source
P-1000	Stock Water		1.30	4	2732040.94	1720200.49	[3] [2]
P-1000	Stock Water	In Channel	2.47	3.00	2009009.03	1720225.26	[3] [2]
P-1007	Stock Water	In Channel	0.75	1.33	2734763.61	1727024 11	[3] [2]
P-1550	Stock Water		0.35	0.50	2730970.20	1907/01 11	[3] [2]
P-1559	Stock Water		0.20	0.01	2730394.70	1802060 50	[3]
P-1500	Stock Water	Well	0.04	0.09	2744337.39	1802009.39	[3]
P-1562	Stock Water		0.07	0.10	2744403.07	1804245 52	[3]
P-1563	Stock Water		0.17	0.24	273121/ 00	1708577 52	[3]
P-1564	Stock Water		1 32	6.52	2722053.00	1803750.86	[3]
P-1565	Stock Water	In Channel	1.02	3.4	2724412 40	1802749 12	[3]
P-1566	Stock Water	In Channel	1.00	4 95	2725295 34	1803171 44	[3]
P-1567	Stock Water	In Channel	0.17	0.9	2752564 51	1792659 58	[3]
P-1568	Stock Water	In Channel	0.17	0.0	2740954.78	1789169 47	[3]
P-1569	Stock Water	In Channel	0.52	1.63	2729753.81	1786268.28	[3]
P-1570	Stock Water	In Channel	0.72	0.99	2756032.50	1779025.43	[3]
P-1571	Stock Water	In Channel	0.12	0.32	2687194 98	1810704 73	[3]
P-1572	Stock Water	In Channel	0.54	0.95	2693782 48	1807814 46	[3]
P-1573	Stock Water	In Channel	0.64	2.02	2688524.07	1804987 19	[3]
P-1574	Stock Water	In Channel	0.28	0.17	2688066.17	1804818.83	[3]
P-1575	Stock Water	In Channel	0.24	0.34	2674096.10	1804439.36	[3]
P-1576	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.07	2675313.12	1802603.02	[3]
P-1577	Stock Water	Well	0.37	0.37	2675403.31	1802907.00	[3]
P-1578	Stock Water	In Channel	0.09	0.06	2676295.70	1801631.11	[3]
P-1579	Stock Water	Well	0.22	0.53	2721219.68	1794537.90	[3]
P-1580	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.22	2721375.05	1777820.49	[3]
P-1581	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.32	2721546.57	1777823.64	[3]
P-1582	Stock Water	In Channel	1.83	3.96	2719549.46	1775185.08	[3]
P-1583	Stock Water	In Channel	4.95	30.18	2712562.41	1772652.42	[3]
P-1584	Stock Water	In Channel	0.27	0.53	2704422.93	1777222.97	[3]
P-1585	Stock Water	Well	0.17	0.13	2706730.69	1779214.37	[3]
P-1586	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.16	2706739.20	1779340.63	[3]
P-1587	Stock Water	In Channel	0.47	0.64	2706422.11	1767657.19	[3]
P-1588	Stock Water	In Channel	0.82	3.72	2705143.32	1764379.89	[3]
P-1589	Stock Water	In Channel	0.93	1.47	2709513.25	1765267.89	[3]
P-1590	Stock Water	In Channel	0.14	0.09	2709162.33	1763431.25	[3]
P-1591	Stock Water	Well	0.08	0.07	2710566.04	1763286.28	[3]
P-1592	Stock Water	In Channel	2.22	8.3	2725808.30	1770751.68	[3]
P-1593	Stock Water	In Channel	0.79	1.25	2720747.17	1765203.53	[3]
P-1594	Stock Water	Well	0.18	0.46	2721002.83	1763961.16	[3]
P-1595	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.19	2721022.77	1764036.22	[3]
P-1596	Stock Water	In Channel	0.19	0.19	2720445.41	1/6/083.14	[3]
P-1597	Stock Water	In Channel	0.63	0.74	2723499.02	1/63213.77	[3]
P-1598	Stock Water	In Channel	0.5	0.39	2723943.51	1763071.84	[3]
P-1599	Stock Water		0.39	0.54	2/23/69.1/	17020007.50	[3]
P-1000	Stock Water		1.14	2.24	2123919.62	1764744.04	[3] [2]
P-1602	Stock Water		0.00	0.00	2727076.64	1762064.00	[3] [2]
F-10UZ	Stock Water		0.09	0.23	2721260.01	1764600.00	[3] [2]
P-1604	Stock Water		0.09	0.31	272/160.21	1762679.93	[၁] [၁]
D-1605	Stock Water	Wall	0.00	0.07	2725090 40	1760526 60	[၁] [၁]
P-1606	Stock Water	Woll	0.73	0.40	273/110 22	1750502 67	[3] [3]
P-1607	Stock Water		0.13	3.06	27/1120.00	1755/00 21	[3] [3]
1-1007			0.90	5.90	2141139.39	1700420.01	ျပ

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number D_1609	Sower Settling	Sower	0.10	0.19	27/2995 20	1751946.04	
P-1600	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.19	0.10	2743003.29	1752009.02	[4]
P-1610	Sewer Setting		0.4	1.42	2743901.20	1752000.02	[4]
P-1611	Stock Water		0.27	0.32	2728814 22	1752941.93	[3]
P-1612	Stock Water		0.27	0.32	2720135 38	1752200 50	[3]
P-16/5	Stock Water		1/ 18	25.13	2810037.85	1701500.07	[3]
P-1651	Stock Water		0.15	0.15	2820038.94	1787806.47	[3]
P-1660	Stock Water	In Channel	0.10	1 42	2724809.47	1753862 37	[3]
P-1661	Stock Water	In Channel	0.30	0.31	2723514 23	1755437 32	[3]
P-1662	Stock Water	In Channel	0.20	0.01	2720014.20	1751138.05	[3]
P-1663	Stock Water	In Channel	0.28	0.24	2722137.66	1750815.85	[3]
P-1664	Stock Water	In Channel	0.20	0.08	2721779.39	1750121 79	[3]
P-1665	Stock Water	In Channel	0.12	0.51	2708655 74	1749329 23	[3]
P-1666	Stock Water	In Channel	0.43	1 17	2708181.58	1748910 74	[3]
P-1667	Stock Water	In Channel	1.06	4 18	2705474 73	1747666 61	[3]
P-1668	Stock Water	In Channel	0.85	3.68	2714389.22	1756260.56	[3]
P-1669	Stock Water	In Channel	1.1	4.1	2707038.10	1757196.84	[3]
P-1670	Stock Water	In Channel	0.59	1.05	2724443.67	1760172.14	[3]
P-1671	Stock Water	In Channel	0.28	0.22	2723993.31	1759583.99	[3]
P-1672	Stock Water	In Channel	0.65	1.53	2728564.44	1818196.36	[3]
P-1679	Stock Water	In Channel	1.06	0.84	2694555.17	1740028.60	[3]
P-1680	Stock Water	In Channel	0.45	2.31	2749338.03	1736225.32	[3]
P-1681	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	1.14	2749263.78	1736168.78	[3]
P-1682	Stock Water	In Channel	1.48	4.36	2756087.26	1750870.07	[3]
P-1683	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.34	5.27	2775514.67	1808163.32	[4]
P-1684	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.04	1.22	2775751.12	1807944.75	[4]
P-1685	Stock Water	In Channel	0.53	0.93	2783036.69	1814238.08	[3]
P-1686	Stock Water	In Channel	0.52	1.43	2798892.51	1816656.37	[3]
P-1687	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.13	2713661.06	1793343.64	[3]
P-1688	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.1	2713632.28	1793450.27	[3]
P-1689	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.29	2701153.13	1796712.31	[3]
P-1690	Stock Water	Well	0.05	0.28	2701269.59	1796720.21	[3]
P-1691	Stock Water	In Channel	0.94	2.42	2705045.45	1790281.36	[3]
P-1692	Stock Water	Well	0.17	0.34	2691461.48	1794206.62	[3]
P-1693	Stock Water	In Channel	1.41	1.14	2693247.88	1793576.17	[3]
P-1694	Stock Water	In Channel	0.42	2	2698809.87	1785012.32	[3]
P-1695	Stock Water	In Channel	0.55	1.19	2698734.70	1784813.79	[3]
P-1696	Stock Water	In Channel	0.66	2.07	2698818.43	1787369.62	[3]
P-1697	Stock Water	In Channel	2.8	16.56	2691078.28	1780168.67	[3]
P-1698	Stock Water	In Channel	0.39	1.23	2689999.87	1///41.42	[3]
P-1699	Stock Water	In Channel	2.72	5.89	2686302.87	1778442.12	[3]
P-1700	Stock Water	In Channel	0.96	2.08	2690053.56	1768702.01	[3]
P-1701	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.19	2693494.29	1770740.90	[3]
P-1/02	Stock Water	vvell	0.15	0.44	2693377.27	1770633.36	[3]
P-1704	Stock Water		0.9	<u>ა.ყ</u>	20/0920.99	1705700 47	[3] [2]
D_1705	Stock Water	Woll	0.23	0.22	2004300.20	1705990.00	[၁] [၁]
P-1705	Stock Water		0.13	0.31	2004029.37	170/100 55	[3] [3]
P_1707	Stock Water		0.20	0.2	2000292.70	1702040 64	[3] [3]
P_1702	Stock Water		0.23	0.23	2672/07 22	1702027 71	[3] [3]
P_1700	Stock Water	In Channel	0.91	1.0	2012401.32	1876806 /1	[3] [3]
P-1710	Stock Water	In Channel	0.44	0.5/	2609651 56	1852453 00	[J]
P_1711	Stock Water		<u></u> Δ Ω1	6 76	26162/13 77	1846268 15	[2] [2]
1-1/11	Olock Waler		7.31	0.70	2010240.77	1040200.15	[J]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
Number		Source	Area (Ac)	Feet			Source
P-1712	Stock Water	In Channel	0.4	0.32	2628294.51	1828791.95	[3]
P-1714	Stock Water	In Channel	3.88	11.45	2634076.10	1828054.02	[3]
P-1715	Stock Water	In Channel	0.66	1.05	2651205.52	1830308.72	[3]
P-1/16	Stock Water	In Channel	0.34	0.47	2610479.51	1835393.65	[3]
P-1/1/	Stock Water	In Channel	0.4	0.31	2687824.34	1690223.15	[3]
P-1/18	Stock Water	In Channel	0.7	4.01	2673083.56	1707245.33	[3]
P-1/19	Stock Water	In Channel	0.73	0.59	2673257.89	1707027.31	[3]
P-1/20	Stock Water	In Channel	3.75	18.48	2690402.81	1672920.53	[3]
P-1721	Stock Water		0.39	0.31	2765711.14	1766863.97	[3]
P-1/22	Slock Water	vveli In Channal	0.17	0.44	2765050.74	1750149.79	[3] [2]
P-1723	Stock Water		0.24	0.19	2765215.21	1740010.19	[3] [2]
F-1724	Stock Water		1.20	2.90	2703213.21	1751114 21	[3] [2]
P-1723	Stock Water		0.46	4.30	2770110.30	1792760.55	[3] [2]
P-1720	Stock Water		3.20	2.50	2610434.19	1834773 01	[3]
P-1720	Stock Water		0.35	2.09	2607205.03	1835006 22	[3]
P-1729	Stock Water		0.55	1.04	2604463.48	183/21/ 16	[3]
P-1730	Stock Water	In Channel	1 41	0.86	2583103.06	1829770 71	[3]
P-1732	Stock Water	In Channel	0.46	0.00	2607541.09	1815584 64	[3]
P-1733	Stock Water	In Channel	1.37	8.1	2622012.26	1801066 68	[3]
P-1734	Stock Water	In Channel	0.42	0.74	2621805 78	1783332 19	[3]
P-1735	Stock Water	In Channel	3 19	3 76	2621716 23	1782868 41	[3]
P-1736	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.13	2625011.90	1772579.09	[3]
P-1737	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.23	2624975.40	1772525.89	[3]
P-1738	Stock Water	Well	0.19	0.26	2624941.55	1772631.19	[3]
P-1739	Stock Water	In Channel	0.85	2.33	2595245.09	1796928.98	[3]
P-1740	Stock Water	In Channel	0.23	0.23	2592023.07	1788532.03	[3]
P-1741	Stock Water	In Channel	20.8	16.38	2603479.66	1778068.36	[3]
P-1742	Stock Water	In Channel	11.58	36.48	2543514.37	1880434.74	[3]
P-1743	Stock Water	In Channel	1.94	6.48	2550655.60	1864239.40	[3]
P-1744	Stock Water	In Channel	7.44	23.45	2566055.71	1767682.71	[3]
P-1745	Stock Water	In Channel	0.63	0.86	2565139.63	1875123.17	[3]
P-1746	Stock Water	In Channel	3.29	8.41	2565083.33	1875382.11	[3]
P-1747	Stock Water	In Channel	5.34	17.88	2560428.54	1917345.16	[3]
P-1748	Stock Water	In Channel	0.29	0.29	2564485.83	1928532.05	[3]
P-1749	Stock Water	In Channel	0.93	2.19	2559692.35	1932689.68	[3]
P-1750	Stock Water	In Channel	2.54	8.49	2558799.19	1934104.76	[3]
P-1751	Stock Water	In Channel	0.45	1.34	2558651.00	1933935.86	[3]
P-1752	Stock Water	Well	0.26	0.55	2485354.76	1724359.52	[3]
P-1753	Stock Water	In Channel	5.26	14.49	2546420.41	17/20/6.17	[3]
P-1/54	Stock Water	In Channel	0.17	0.57	2524980.17	1/13043.87	[3]
P-1/55	Stock Water	In Channel	0.87	1.55	2662644.15	1678336.11	[3]
P-1/50	Stock Water	Improved Spring	0.1	0.1	2463239.86	2057811.19	[3]
P-1/58	Stock Water	In Channel	1.57	8.97	2645742.36	1753901.75	[3]
P-1/09	Stock Water	Improved Spring	0.38	0.68	2403504.89	2058326.10	[3]
P-1762	Stock Water		0.4	0.03	2430021.00	2034646.49	[၁] [၁]
D_1765	Stock Water		1.29	7 67	2400400.00	10/2002.99	[3] [3]
P-1766	Stock Water	In Channel	7 70	1.01 20.20	2513141.10	101/286 70	[3] [3]
P-1767	Stock Water	In Channel	2.62	10.50	2580611 26	1022472 02	[J] [3]
P-1768	Stock Water	In Channel	0.64	1 26	2500044.20	1969462 00	[J] [3]
P-1769	Stock Water	In Channel	2 75	22 77	2546287.05	2041980 82	[3]
P-1770	Stock Water	In Channel	0.57	1 13	2502372 14	2066294 31	[3]
			0.01				[~]

Site	Primary Use	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre Foot	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data
P_1771	Stock Water		D 63	1 73	2/00231.82	2036006 30	
P-1772	Stock Water		8.80	10.26	2439231.02	17/3871 00	[3]
P-1773	Stock Water		0.09	1 60	2439200.00	1743650 12	[3]
P-1774	Stock Water		3.00	5.47	2459020.55	10015/0.75	[3]
P-1775	Stock Water		0.09 1 32	8.51	2404440.13	1901640.69	[3]
P-1776	Stock Water		7.01	15 10	2403123.03	180/287 /3	[3]
P-1777	Stock Water	In Channel	1.62	19.13	2403034.94	1866622.82	[3]
P-1778	Stock Water	In Channel	0.84	2.8	2438284 69	1700428.29	[3]
P-1779	Stock Water	In Channel	1.67	4.61	2437136.43	1847451 63	[0]
P-1780	Stock Water	In Channel	3.48	10.97	2437906.07	1849957 17	[3]
P-1781	Stock Water	In Channel	2 11	6.65	2461428 70	1871994.06	[3]
P-1782	Stock Water	In Channel	1.07	9.65	2430923 47	2013458.53	[3]
P-1783	Stock Water	In Channel	1.87	3 55	2645652 11	1753488.64	[3]
P-1784	Stock Water	In Channel	1.52	8.4	2627475.56	1748585 41	[3]
P-1785	Stock Water	In Channel	0.2	0.12	2630062.02	1736909 74	[3]
P-1786	Stock Water	In Channel	1.31	2.58	2643167.37	1734833.07	[3]
P-1787	Stock Water	In Channel	6.41	8.83	2647162.43	1741265.60	[3]
P-1788	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.16	5.23	2627428.70	1729676.60	[4]
P-1789	Sewer Settling	Sewer	1.15	2.49	2627623.50	1729443.57	[4]
P-1790	Sewer Settling	Sewer	3.87	15.98	2628082.49	1729656.69	[4]
P-1791	Stock Water	In Channel	1.76	5.56	2630486.63	1728700.23	[3]
P-1792	Stock Water	In Channel	0.07	0.13	2629401.10	1730639.98	[3]
P-1793	Sewer Settling	Sewer	3.16	10.59	2590580.97	1720371.43	[4]
P-1794	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.42	0.99	2590903.75	1720754.25	[4]
P-1795	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.37	0.79	2590808.19	1720623.39	[4]
P-1796	Sewer Settling	Sewer	0.13	0.34	2590773.52	1720827.99	[4]
P-1797	Sewer Settling	Sewer	5.45	12.88	2634997.47	1709059.16	[4]
P-1798	Sewer Settling	Sewer	5.31	31.38	2635008.17	1709588.54	[4]
P-1799	Sewer Settling	Sewer	5.49	10.8	2635500.96	1709528.27	[4]
P-1800	Sewer Settling	Sewer	5.16	18.3	2635515.29	1710021.00	[4]
P-1801	Sewer Settling	Sewer	8.3	49.04	2635511.88	1710088.96	[4]
P-1803	Stock Water	In Channel	0.77	0.68	2587238.46	1716020.30	[3]
P-1804	Irrigation, Stock Water	Off Channel	0.35	0.84	2411291.22	1922692.34	[1]
P-1805	Stock Water	In Channel	0.51	2.7	2416129.69	1948306.59	[3]
P-1806	Irrigation, Stock Water	Well	1.09	3.66	2436627.54	1939598.49	[1]
P-1807	Irrigation, Stock Water	Well	0.39	0.38	2465333.69	1944675.37	[1]
P-1808	Irrigation, Stock Water	Off Channel	5.75	31.69	2452592.36	1928171.94	[1]
P-1811	Irrigation, Stock Water	Off Channel	2.45	6.74	2464147.2	1932623.95	[1]
P-1812	Irrigation, Stock Water	Off Channel	0.19	0.55	2411960.78	1976144.52	[1]
P-1813	Stock Water	In Channel	4.53	11.59	2660582.59	1817912.03	[3]
P-1814	Stock Water	In Channel	2.06	2.84	2604698.21	1783837.91	[3]
P-1815	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	8.23	17.83	2480338.25	1861864.52	[1]
P-1816	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	5.67	5.58	2633524.98	1832855.43	[1]
P-1817	Stock Water	weil	1.04	2.24	2565791.03	1747680.85	[3]
P-1818	Irrigation, Stock Water		0.14	1.37	2416035.61	1948166.81	[1]
P-1019	Stock Water		U.38 7.04	0.40	2444080.72	171000040	[3] [2]
C-102U	Stock Water		1.31	12.94	24090/4.83	1718069.10	[3] [2]
P-1021	Stock Water		2.04	23.00	2420090.40	1743980.08	[၁] ကျ
F-1022	Stock Water		1.93	12.00	2420007.43	1710275 22	[3] [2]
D-5001	Stock Water		4.00	0.00 6.52	2400092.29	1702502 40	[၁] [၁]
P-5001	Stock Water	Moll	0.15	0.00	2430204.00	1702000.40	[3] [3]
D_5002	Stock Water		0.10	0.30	2000024.90	1701500 74	[3] [2]
-3003	SIDER WALEI		2.22	ອ.44	2400094.00	1721022.74	ျပ

Site Number	Primary Use	Impoundment Source	Impoundment Area (Ac)	Acre Feet	X coordinate	Y Coordinate	Data Source
P-5004	Stock Water	Well	0.13	0.54	2578863.82	1730312.07	[3]
P-5005	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.16	2530687.73	1738642.09	[3]
P-5006	Stock Water	Well	0.04	0.04	2443477.37	1736423.10	[3]
P-5008	Stock Water	In Channel	2.02	6.19	2422030.22	1745523.51	[3]
P-5009	Stock Water	In Channel	1.82	7.22	2420177.74	1746459.08	[3]
P-5010	Stock Water	In Channel	10.38	21.8	2548997.77	1760856.89	[3]
P-5011	Stock Water	In Channel	2.79	10.39	2433954.53	1758525.47	[3]
P-5012	Stock Water	In Channel	5.59	15.43	2546972.72	1762755.92	[3]
P-5013	Stock Water	In Channel	2.52	5.89	2546426.25	1764123.25	[3]
P-5014	Stock Water	Well	0.22	0.65	2558077.37	1769919.03	[3]
P-5015	Stock Water	Well	0.19	0.42	2639188.38	1774494.55	[3]
P-5016	Stock Water	In Channel	0.48	1.01	2528947.18	1777806.96	[3]
P-5017	Stock Water	In Channel	1.05	7.53	2541867.58	1778856.12	[3]
P-5018	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	0.89	2630541.36	1786756.71	[3]
P-5019	Stock Water	In Channel	0.66	1.57	2588353.94	1787938.21	[3]
P-5020	Stock Water	In Channel	0.89	1.72	2600115.86	1800608.66	[3]
P-5021	Stock Water	In Channel	12.52	12.77	2562780.03	1804270.08	[3]
P-5022	Stock Water	Well	0.32	0.63	2600788.55	1805778.33	[3]
P-5023	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.24	2600943.41	1806070.74	[3]
P-5024	Stock Water	In Channel	1.03	1.17	2573644.22	1805549.98	[3]
P-5025	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.21	2563255.99	1806428.21	[3]
P-5026	Stock Water	In Channel	0.51	2.39	2617777.47	1808515.47	[3]
P-5028	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.17	2641127.17	1809744.67	[3]
P-5029	Stock Water	Well	0.58	1.08	2504768.18	1809278.35	[3]
P-5030	Stock Water	In Channel	0.16	0.25	2527657.47	1811235.95	[3]
P-5031	Stock Water	In Channel	0.79	1.79	2630302.42	1815584.30	[3]
P-5032	Stock Water	In Channel	0.2	0.52	2599507.71	1817836.13	[3]
P-5033	Stock Water	In Channel	18.44	90.74	2628000.74	1821481.91	[3]
P-5034	Stock Water	Well	0.31	0.56	2548760.36	1819406.27	[3]
P-5035	Stock Water	In Channel	0.73	0.52	2627165.69	1823244.02	[3]
P-5036	Stock Water	In Channel	0.18	0.2	2669493.02	1825858.71	[3]
P-5037	Stock Water	In Channel	0.1	0.38	2669513.96	1827626.60	[3]
P-5038	Stock Water	In Channel	0.85	3.28	2627195.73	1826327.24	[3]
P-5039	Stock Water	In Channel	3.81	11.89	2733057.60	1829247.30	[3]
P-5040	Stock Water	In Channel	0.13	0.1	2668991.43	1828113.20	[3]
P-5041	Stock Water	In Channel	1.11	6.58	2631791.05	1827115.23	[3]
P-5042	Stock Water	In Channel	0.4	0.5	2634521.57	182/68/.42	[3]
P-3043	Stock Water	In Channel	0.69	0.47	2609710.00	1020709.40	[3] [2]
P-3044	Stock Water		0.27	0.47	2033943.43	1826044 51	[3] [2]
P-5045	Stock Water		0.29	0.35	2470337.73	1833871 22	[3]
P-5040	Stock Water		0.17	7.07	2/60821.0/	1826634.07	[3]
P-5048	Stock Water	In Channel	3.61	9.31	2469732 58	1827041.04	[3]
P-5049	Stock Water	In Channel	4 69	19.41	2456512.50	1826583 77	[3]
P-5050	Stock Water	In Channel	0.15	0.2	2400012.00	1828562 74	[3]
P-5051	Stock Water	In Channel	0.96	3.39	2745130 54	1838774.06	[3]
P-5052	Stock Water	In Channel	0.35	0.73	2555218 69	1833110.65	[3]
P-5053	Stock Water	In Channel	0.07	0.08	2727349.01	1839182.86	[3]
P-5054	Stock Water	In Channel	0.26	0.41	2724823.21	1839225.09	[3]
P-5055	Stock Water	In Channel	0.8	6.5	2492797.42	1832614.76	[3]
P-5056	Stock Water	In Channel	2.96	6.74	2718046.80	1840062.93	[3]
P-5057	Stock Water	In Channel	1.59	3.15	2772836.62	1843007.06	[3]
P-5058	Stock Water	In Channel	1.38	3.47	2570059.27	1837150.08	[3]
		-					

Site	Primary Uso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number	i iinary ose	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	1 Coordinate	Source
P-5059	Stock Water	In Channel	0.72	2.17	2586623.61	1837740.58	[3]
P-5060	Stock Water	In Channel	0.51	0.64	2732456.68	1842137.64	[3]
P-5061	Stock Water	In Channel	0.05	0.09	2737013.22	1843548.65	[3]
P-5062	Stock Water	In Channel	0.34	1.01	2705926.96	1842881.40	[3]
P-5063	Stock Water	In Channel	1.3	11.27	2457273.85	1838219.90	[3]
P-5064	Stock Water	In Channel	1.02	3.61	2586198.50	1842355.94	[3]
P-5065	Stock Water	In Channel	0.39	1.15	2726621.09	1847296.48	[3]
P-5066	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	0.77	2600690.50	1843501.98	[3]
P-5067	Stock Water	In Channel	0.82	5.92	2600426.72	1843772.67	[3]
P-5068	Stock Water	In Channel	0.27	0.38	2600630.80	1843905.26	[3]
P-5069	Stock Water	Well	0.23	0.27	2564803.63	1846400.04	[3]
P-5070	Stock Water	In Channel	0.36	1.62	2843022.64	1856580.51	[3]
P-5071	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.09	2512222.59	1849307.66	[3]
P-5072	Stock Water	Well	0.22	0.64	2593039.93	1853913.05	[3]
P-5073	Irrigation, Stock Water	In Channel	1.09	2.55	2831589.89	1861549.32	[1]
P-5074	Stock Water	Well	0.11	0.1	2499275.01	1851835.55	[3]
P-5075	Stock Water	In Channel	1.21	2.9	2592343.48	1854572.12	[3]
P-5076	Stock Water	Well	0.24	0.95	2578092.12	1854613.59	[3]
P-5077	Stock Water	In Channel	1.5	7.58	2464946.39	1854026.39	[3]
P-5080	Stock Water	In Channel	3.68	13.25	2483121.84	1857272.94	[3]
P-5086	Stock Water	In Channel	0.38	0.32	2435430.97	1859201.89	[3]
P-5087	Stock Water	In Channel	0.98	0.82	2435441.13	1860532.38	[3]
P-5088	Stock Water	In Channel	40.52	63.21	2397617.01	1861038.39	[3]
P-5089	Stock Water	In Channel	0.6	6.64	2475956.30	1864449.04	[3]
P-5090	Stock Water	In Channel	0.95	5.74	2476022.41	1864528.42	[3]
P-5091	Stock Water	In Channel	3.74	13.45	2475869.24	1864610.11	[3]
P-5092	Stock Water, Recreation	In Channel	9.22	60.99	2401769.10	1864891.81	[3]
P-5093	Stock Water	In Channel	0.6	0.97	2420016.81	1867257.21	[3]
P-5094	Stock Water	Well	0.05	0.05	2499680.72	1869602.38	[3]
P-5095	Stock Water	Well	0.12	0.19	2499671.27	1869694.04	[3]
P-5097	Stock Water	In Channel	0.97	6.86	2593586.81	1874432.26	[3]
P-5098	Stock Water	In Channel	0.13	0.19	2423310.42	1869848.63	[3]
P-5100	Stock Water	In Channel	0.28	0.33	2420617.59	1871189.36	[3]
P-5103	Stock Water	In Channel	0.53	0.93	2588307.15	1879374.24	[3]
P-5104	Stock Water	Diversion	1.07	4.3	2588092.70	1880113.71	[3]
P-5105	Stock Water	In Channel	1.57	11.9	2471945.52	1878108.73	[3]
P-5106	Stock Water	In Channel	0.51	0.55	2473523.72	1878966.47	[3]
P-5109	Stock Water	In Channel	1.38	7.12	2499685.91	1880233.66	[3]
P-5110	Stock Water	In Channel	6.21	49.94	2426423.11	18/94/8.96	[3]
P-5111	Stock Water	In Channel	0.61	0.85	2660178.68	1886342.99	[3]
P-5112	Stock Water	In Channel	0.8	3.01	2581098.13	1884030.05	[3]
P-5114	Stock Water	In Channel	0.16	0.1	2660255.87	1889998.28	[3]
P-5116	Stock Water		0.35	0.36	2466941.17	1889117.57	[3]
r-511/	Stock Water	vvell	0.12	0.22	2449533.70	1889074.82	[3]
r-5118	Stock Water	in Channel	0.96	3.35	2620993.43	1895588.20	[3]
P-3119			2.33	1.82	2002328.82	1897405.15	[3]
P-3120			4.35	5.75	2470992.02	1092133.95	[3]
r-3121			1.67	2.81	2034023.91	1898482.77	[3]
P-3122	Stock Water	VVEII	CU.U	0.00	2009509.74	1099507.08	[3] [2]
P-3123	Stock Water	Diversion	0.09	3.10 0.40	2424245.38	1090327.29	[3] [2]
P-3124	Stock Water		1.48	9.43	2424224.03	1896099.27	[3]
r-3123	Slock water	in Channel	0.48	1.1	2000602.20	1898954.68	႞ၖ႞

Site	Primary IIso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinate	V Coordinate	Data
Number	Fillinary 03e	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	X coordinate	r coordinate	Source
P-5126	Stock Water	Diversion	0.63	2.55	2429687.58	1897478.41	[3]
P-5127	Stock Water	Well	0.77	1.15	2441982.81	1898143.61	[3]
P-5128	Stock Water	In Channel	1.17	1.4	2621158.42	1903358.86	[3]
P-5129	Stock Water	In Channel	0.28	0.92	2423653.41	1897997.40	[3]
P-5130	Stock Water	In Channel	0.78	1.44	2425323.51	1898384.07	[3]
P-5131	Stock Water	In Channel	0.81	1.26	2609770.48	1904253.59	[3]
P-5133	Stock Water	Diversion	0.54	1.26	2444939.45	1900001.24	[3]
P-5134	Stock Water	In Channel	1.62	5.45	2477194.58	1901368.63	[3]
P-5135	Stock Water	In Channel	0.22	0.27	2707119.65	1908175.54	[3]
P-5136	Stock Water	In Channel	1.1	3.1	2427444.19	1900119.73	[3]
P-5137	Stock Water	In Channel	0.36	1.51	2424321.42	1899954.36	[3]
P-5139	Stock Water	In Channel	0.15	0.18	2569725.61	1905033.46	[3]
P-5140	Stock Water	In Channel	6.3	12.47	2462497.29	1902223.35	[3]
P-5141	Stock Water	In Channel	2.57	7.71	2433598.54	1901666.24	[3]
P-5142	Stock Water	In Channel	0.13	0.34	2428922.22	1901861.59	[3]
P-5143	Stock Water	In Channel	0.2	0.78	2428748.98	1902097.10	[3]
P-5144	Stock Water	In Channel	0.76	1.63	2635409.43	1908255.44	[3]
P-5146	Stock Water	In Channel	0.88	1.8	2570764.63	1908191.34	[3]
P-5147	Stock Water	In Channel	0.14	0.37	2551159.12	1908636.95	[3]
P-5148	Stock Water	Well	0.07	0.1	2704980.78	1915370.19	[3]
P-5149	Stock Water	Well	0.54	3.09	2410565.66	1907606.06	[3]
P-5150	Stock Water	Well	0.44	2.48	2410399.38	1907786.61	[3]
P-5152	Stock Water	In Channel	0.84	0.91	2466111.30	1914023.41	[3]
P-5153	Stock Water	In Channel	0.62	0.52	2456564.73	1915101.47	[3]
P-5154	Stock Water	In Channel	0.67	1.94	2459456.99	1918044.24	[3]
P-5155	Stock Water	vvell	0.26	0.59	2432853.46	1919701.98	[3]
P-5157	Stock Water	In Channel	4	7.92	2549077.29	1926761.58	[3]
P-5158	Stock Water		9.99	34.75	2577025.66	1926766.04	[3]
P-5160	Stock Water		1.31	8.51	2420464.18	1925605.05	[3]
P-5162	Slock Water		0.1	0.13	2549272.90	1929600.30	[3] [2]
P-5163	Slock Water		0.91	14.02	2007 190.49	1930019.03	[3] [2]
P-5105	Stock Water		0.52	14.92	2000.20	1933273.00	[3] [2]
P-3100	Stock Water		0.00	2.03	2434017.90	1931329.23	[3] [2]
P-5167	Stock Water		0.27	0.97	2525555.40	1026047.99	[3]
P-5160	Stock Water		0.37	0.07	2540152.04	1027524 22	[3]
P-5109	Stock Water		0.11	0.33	2550531.26	1037/08 52	[3]
P-5170	Stock Water		0.1	1	2551203 51	1937490.32	[3]
P-5172	Stock Water		0.03	0.26	2604357.60	1937740.40	[3]
P-5172	Stock Water		7 33	18.02	2579820 13	1938496 28	[3]
P-5174	Stock Water		0.04	0.1	2604396.45	1030808 52	[3]
P-5176	Stock Water		2 18	3.67	2588582 73	1941488 15	[3]
P-5177	Stock Water	In Channel	0.43	0.62	2516212.81	1939749 97	[3]
P-5178	Stock Water	In Channel	0.40	0.85	2531167.00	1942035.35	[3]
P-5179	Stock Water	In Channel	1.20	4 24	2530827.33	1942333 97	[3]
P-5180	Stock Water	In Channel	0.83	1.9	2584722 51	1945421 36	[3]
P-5182	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.06	2606927 28	1957503 28	[3]
P-5183	Stock Water	In Channel	0.32	1.12	2593538.95	1957653 42	[3]
P-5184	Stock Water	In Channel	2.09	3.63	2533440 49	1955601 34	[3]
P-5185	Stock Water	In Channel	1.63	1.76	2599328 57	1958036.09	[3]
P-5187	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	0.41	2556259.59	1959933.51	[3]
P-5188	Stock Water	In Channel	0.08	0.13	2599784.76	1961228.27	[3]
P-5189	Stock Water	In Channel	1.48	7.82	2582742.42	1960772.57	[3]
							L = J

Site	Primary Uso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	X coordinato	V Coordinate	Data
Number	Friindry Use	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	x coordinate	r coordinate	Source
P-5190	Stock Water	In Channel	1.08	4.29	2556228.27	1960045.65	[3]
P-5192	Stock Water	In Channel	11.24	50.88	2528374.87	1960183.99	[3]
P-5195	Stock Water	In Channel	5.95	37.5	2575053.59	1964474.54	[3]
P-5197	Stock Water	Diversion	0.24	0.65	2416519.19	1963839.80	[3]
P-5200	Stock Water	In Channel	0.65	0.94	2487183.33	1967334.06	[3]
P-5201	Stock Water	In Channel	0.77	2.07	2466900.44	1969039.64	[3]
P-5204	Stock Water	In Channel	1.67	9.93	2419359.77	1968881.48	[3]
P-5205	Stock Water	Well	1.81	2.28	2521869.77	1972011.53	[3]
P-5206	Stock Water	Well	0.72	2.3	2521790.06	1972117.04	[3]
P-5208	Stock Water	In Channel	1.91	1.95	2470683.92	1971062.56	[3]
P-5209	Stock Water	In Channel	0.19	0.26	2561137.12	1973730.74	[3]
P-5210	Stock Water	Well	0.06	0.07	2485838.09	1973112.62	[3]
P-5213	Stock Water	In Channel	0.18	0.23	2566673.01	1976805.28	[3]
P-5217	Stock Water	Well	0.22	0.17	2417561.47	1975474.24	[3]
P-5219	Stock Water	Diversion	0.85	2.67	2412148.29	1976510.97	[3]
P-5220	Stock Water	Diversion	2.47	5.77	2417990.13	1977131.39	[3]
P-5221	Stock Water	Diversion	1.72	3	2416113.87	1976888.59	[3]
P-5222	Stock Water	Diversion	1.58	5.68	2418145.67	1977194.78	[3]
P-5224	Stock Water	Diversion	2.16	3.24	2410896.02	1977333.33	[3]
P-5226	Stock Water	In Channel	0.3	0.56	2407903.00	1978062.04	[3]
P-5228	Stock Water	In Channel	0.31	0.5	2462067.06	1979835.13	[3]
P-5232	Stock Water	In Channel	0.4	0.26	2545969.04	1983709.73	[3]
P-5233	Stock Water	In Channel	6.6	26.52	2546041.21	1983883.90	[3]
P-5234	Stock Water	In Channel	0.24	0.3	2474546.47	1981988.86	[3]
P-5236	Stock Water	Diversion	2.36	10.89	2410353.66	1980769.99	[3]
P-5238	Stock Water	In Channel	3.63	13.72	2419771.74	1981908.51	[3]
P-5240	Stock Water	Diversion	3.85	10.61	2421199.87	1982227.13	[3]
P-5241	Stock Water		4.34	26.04	2561823.42	1985923.90	[3]
P-5243	Stock Water	Diversion	1.57	0.42	2415528.96	1982511.47	[3]
P-5247	Slock Water		0.12	0.29	2436923.20	1964962.76	[3] [2]
P-3240	Stock Water		0.11	0.17	2406930.10	1963013.03	[3] [2]
P-5250	Stock Water		0.41	0.52	2090003.04	1909042.49	[3]
P-5251	Stock Water	Diversion	0.30	3.37	2478039.43	1980904.42	[3]
P-5255	Stock Water		1.12	11 / 3	2525380 70	1002137 08	[3]
P-5262	Stock Water	In Channel	4.05	18.71	2568334 71	1992107.00	[3]
P-5274	Stock Water	In Channel	15.9	83.01	2524198.67	1995571 38	[3]
P-5277	Stock Water	In Channel	3 71	13 79	2412374 38	1993985 85	[3]
P-5278	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.24	2490910 43	1996570.97	[3]
P-5279	Stock Water	Well	0.04	0.06	2490821.40	1996590.77	[3]
P-5280	Stock Water	In Channel	0.59	2.03	2574267.28	1999469.75	[3]
P-5293	Stock Water	In Channel	0.26	0.3	2472644.40	2004013.56	[3]
P-5294	Stock Water	In Channel	0.27	0.28	2513929.19	2006176.80	[3]
P-5297	Stock Water	In Channel	0.21	0.25	2464810.21	2005901.29	[3]
P-5298	Stock Water	In Channel	0.16	0.51	2404516.00	2004772.73	[3]
P-5299	Stock Water	In Channel	0.31	0.53	2462689.41	2006524.76	[3]
P-5305	Stock Water	In Channel	0.48	1.37	2513951.76	2014263.31	[3]
P-5306	Stock Water	In Channel	0.91	2.41	2532727.96	2014949.77	[3]
P-5309	Stock Water	In Channel	0.63	3.94	2527678.07	2015454.10	[3]
P-5311	Stock Water	In Channel	0.63	1.84	2566637.04	2018982.52	[3]
P-5316	Stock Water	In Channel	2.17	5.21	2528069.42	2020899.73	[3]
P-5318	Stock Water	In Channel	0.58	1.4	2534950.07	2021699.97	[3]
P-5319	Stock Water	In Channel	0.37	1.02	2477838.96	2020395.51	[3]

Site	Primary Uso	Impoundment	Impoundment	Acre	V coordinata	V Coordinato	Data
Number	Frinary Ose	Source	Area (Ac)	Feet	x coordinate	r coordinate	Source
P-5320	Stock Water	In Channel	1.38	3.24	2529227.25	2022085.45	[3]
P-5323	Stock Water	In Channel	1	1.38	2528211.12	2024349.68	[3]
P-5324	Stock Water	In Channel	1.19	2	2528060.58	2024735.80	[3]
P-5325	Stock Water	In Channel	0.3	0.29	2527210.69	2024699.06	[3]
P-5330	Stock Water	In Channel	2.74	6.57	2546977.52	2026939.87	[3]
P-5333	Stock Water	Well	4.08	26.41	2456954.19	2025291.16	[3]
P-5334	Stock Water	Well	0.37	0.62	2472671.56	2026472.39	[3]
P-5342	Stock Water	Well	0.19	0.29	2472040.38	2029327.09	[3]
P-5344	Stock Water	In Channel	0.75	5.11	2530465.26	2031334.61	[3]
P-5352	Stock Water	In Channel	9.34	15.69	2542299.33	2036005.68	[3]
P-5353	Stock Water	In Channel	0.78	1.72	2538891.44	2036209.45	[3]
P-5354	Stock Water	In Channel	3.94	6.85	2516330.81	2035657.25	[3]
P-5357	Stock Water	In Channel	0.25	1.21	2568150.55	2039198.81	[3]
P-5358	Stock Water	In Channel	1.16	1.67	2511628.74	2038458.87	[3]
P-5362	Stock Water	Well	0.1	0.1	2486912.44	2040307.77	[3]
P-5366	Stock Water	In Channel	0.24	0.43	2444734.82	2043026.26	[3]
P-5367	Stock Water	In Channel	6.55	18.07	2446787.00	2043338.88	[3]
P-5368	Stock Water	Well	0.09	0.21	2428055.50	2044986.60	[3]
P-5374	Stock Water	In Channel	0.07	0.1	2428782.46	2053422.63	[3]
P-5378	Stock Water	In Channel	1.27	4.04	2547781.49	2060487.02	[3]
P-5380	Stock Water	In Channel	0.78	2.94	2515124.68	2064448.83	[3]
P-5383	Stock Water	In Channel	1.15	2	2515093.78	2066593.34	[3]
P-5384	Stock Water	In Channel	1.04	3.18	2514786.85	2066597.67	[3]
P-5386	Stock Water	In Channel	1.18	7.39	2513978.39	2068060.67	[3]
P-5388	Stock Water	In Channel	7.53	50.43	2481683.31	2067433.02	[3]
P-5389	Stock Water	In Channel	0.14	0.22	2476182.07	2069650.39	[3]
P-5391	Stock Water	In Channel	0.12	0.23	2515536.36	2071392.89	[3]
P-5392	Stock Water	In Channel	4.23	5.07	2530023.87	2074139.48	[3]
P-5394	Stock Water	In Channel	2.03	3.29	2479164.59	2082712.11	[3]

Data

Source:

[1] NMSEO: Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table F-3

New Mexico State Engineer's Office - Settlements "Notice of Navajo Nation Expedited Inter Se Proceeding" - Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table F-3 (http://www.ose.state.nm.us/legal_ose_proposed_settlements_sj_notice2010.html)

[2] NMSEO: Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table K-1

New Mexico State Engineer's Office - Settlements "Notice of Navajo Nation Expedited Inter Se Proceeding" - Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table K-1

[3] NMSEO: Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table M-3

New Mexico State Engineer's Office - Settlements "Notice of Navajo Nation Expedited Inter Se Proceeding" - Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table M-3 (http://www.ose.state.nm.us/legal_ose_proposed_settlements_sj_notice2010.html)

[4] NMSEO: Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table D-3

New Mexico State Engineer's Office - Settlements "Notice of Navajo Nation Expedited Inter Se Proceeding" - Navajo Hydrographic Survey (2010) - Table D-3 (http://www.ose.state.nm.us/legal_ose_proposed_settlements_sj_notice2010.html)


























Appendix C NTEC Water Management Structures

Subwatershed (HUC12 code)	Total Watershed Acreage	Drainage	Navajo Mine Area	Impoundment Name	Туре	Navajo Mine Pit	Intended Life Span	Watershed Area (acres)	Design Storm Event	Peak Discharge (cfs)	Runoff Volume (acre-feet)	Status	Percent Drainage Area Disturbed
			I	Emma's Pond	Sediment	Pinto	Will be removed in 2025	91.50	100-yr, 6-hr	76.22	3.34	Active	0.28%
			I	North Pond Cell A, B & C (combined)	Sediment	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	214.90	100-yr, 6-hr	138.4	11.39	Active	0.66%
Morgan Lake-	32 637	Morgan Lake	Ι	North Pond 1 Cell A	Sediment	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	100-yr, 6-hr	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	Active	
140801062008	52,057	Tributary		North Pond 1 Cell A2	Sediment	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	51.90	100-yr, 6-hr	16.3	2.67	Active	
			Ι	North Pond 1 Cell B	Sediment	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	100-yr, 6-hr	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	Active	
			I	North Pond 1 Cell C	Sediment	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	100-yr, 6-hr	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	See Table 11-5U North Pond 1 Cells A, B & C	Active	
Total								306.4		214.6	14.7		0.94%
		Hosteen	II	North Pinto Pond	Sediment	Pinto	Will be removed in 2025	76.90	100-yr, 6-hr	42.2	3.6	Active	0.54%
		Wash	II	North Sewer Pond	Sediment	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	2.20	100-yr, 6-hr	6.43	0.38	Active	0.02%
		Waon	II	Pond 5	Sediment		Will be removed in 2025	41.90	100-yr, 6-hr	36.53	1.92	Active	0.29%
			Π	Vinnel Pond	Sediment	Bighan	Will be removed in 2006	276.50	10-yr, 24-hr	11.06	4.78	Active	1.94%
				Hosteen Stockpile Pond 1	Sediment	Hosteen	Will be removed in 2025	155.54	10-yr, 24-hr	22.17	4.01	Active	1.09%
		Dorbor	=	Hosteen Stockpile Pond 2	Sediment	Hosteen	Will be removed in 2025	122.80	10-yr, 24-hr	26.55	4.36	Active	0.86%
Chinde Wash-	14 225	Arrovo	II	Hosteen Stockpile Pond 3	Sediment	Hosteen	Will be removed in 2025	135.20	100-yr, 6-hr	68.03	6.76	Active	0.95%
140801062007	14,225	7 aroyo		Barber Loadout	Sediment	Barber	Will be removed in 2025	3.60	100-yr, 6-hr	8.01	0.33	Active	0.03%
110001002001			Ш	Barber Stockpile Pond 2	Sediment (I)	Barber	Will be removed in 2025	106.60	100-yr, 6-hr	82.12	5.72	Active	0.75%
			II	Barber Stockpile Pond 3	Detention	Barber	Will be removed in 2025	59.80	10-yr, 24-hr	4.28	1.13	Active	0.42%
		a	III	Block-C Pond 1	Sediment	Block C	Will be removed in 2015	49.48	100-yr, 6-hr	38.54	2.49	Active	0.35%
		South		Block-C Pond 2	Sediment	Block C	Will be removed in 2015	66.64	100-yr, 6-hr	62.1	4.42	Active	0.47%
		Arrovo		Block-C Pond 3	Sediment	Block C	Will be removed in 2015	269.20	10-yr, 24-hr	74.52	10.48	Active	1.89%
		Anoyo		Block-C Pond 4	Sediment	Block C	Will be removed in 2015	262.64	100-yr, 6-hr	128.27	13.19	Active	1.85%
Total								1,629.0		610.8	63.6		11.45%
		Neck Arroyo	II	Area III Sewer Pond	Sewage	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	1.20	100-yr, 6-hr	2.67	0.11	Active	0.00%
			Ш	Area III Sewage Pond-2	Sediment	Facilities	Will be removed in 2025	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
			III	Mason Pond	Sediment	Barber	Will be removed in 2015	133.20	100-yr, 6-hr	96.4	7.2	Active	0.47%
			III	South Barber Pond	Sediment	Barber	2016	157.40	100-yr, 6-hr	70	5.43	Active	0.56%
			Ш	Employee Coal Dump	Sediment	Barber	2015	6.20	100-yr, 6-hr	12.12	0.53	Active	0.02%
			Ш	Lowe Highwall Pond 304	Highwall Impoundment	Lowe		416.70					1.48%
Coal Creek-Chaco	00.005		III	Lowe Highwall Pond 305	Highwall Impoundment	Lowe		933.00					3.30%
River 140801062005	28,235	Lowe Arroyo	III	Lowe Hole 3 Pond 2	Highwall Impoundment	Lowe	Will be removed in 2025	628.37	2-yr, 6-hr	23.8	7.7	Active	2.23%
			III	Lowe Hole 3 Pond 3	Highwall Impoundment	Lowe	Will be removed in 2009	39.61	100-yr, 6-hr	32.45	2.01	Active	0.14%
				Lowe Impoundment 1	Highwall Impoundment	Lowe	Permanent	1642	25-yr, 6-hr	241.9	50.04	Active	5.82%
			III	Lowe Loadout	Sediment	Lowe	Will be removed in 2025	3.40	100-yr, 6-hr	7.57	0.31	Active	0.01%
			III	Lowe Railroad Impoundment #1	Sediment	Lowe	reclaimed in 2015	105.73	100-yr, 6-hr	39.73	6.84	Active	0.37%
			III	Lowe Railroad Impoundment #2	Sediment	Lowe	Will be removed in 2025	133.27	10-yr, 24-hr	103.67	6.65	Active	0.47%
				Lowe Stockpile Pond	Sediment	Lowe	Will be removed in 2025	51.80	10-yr, 24-hr	13.35	2.99	Active	0.18%
Total								4,251.9		643.7	89.8		15.06%

Appendix C NTEC Water Management Structures

Subwatershed (HUC12 code)	Total Watershed Acreage	Drainage	Navajo Mine Area	Impoundment Name	Туре	Navajo Mine Pit	Intended Life Span	Watershed Area (acres)	Design Storm Event	Peak Discharge (cfs)	Runoff Volume (acre-feet)	Status	Percent Drainage Area Disturbed
			Ш	Lowe-Dixon Diversion North Pond	Sediment	Lowe	Will be mined out in Lowe Strip 66	7.40	100-yr, 6-hr	10.06	0.81	Removed	0.02%
		North Fork Cottonwood	Ш	Lowe-Dixon Diversion South Pond	Sediment	Lowe	Will be mined out in Dixon Strip 68	33.30	100-yr, 6-hr	40.46	3.64	Active	0.11%
		Arroyo		Northwest Dixon	Sediment	Dixon	Will be removed in 2025	62.20	100-yr, 6-hr	47.84	4.42	Active	0.21%
				North Fork Pond	Impoundment	Dixon		198.70				Active	0.67%
				Pond 302	Sediment	Dixon	2016	41.70	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	3.8	Active	0.14%
			111	Collyer Road Pond #4	Sediment	Dixon	Will be removed in 2009	142.1 – AOC topo (72.3– Current topo)	100-yr, 6-hr	81.9/(40.1)	10.0/(2.4)	Active	0.00%
				Pond 301	Sediment	Dixon	2016	32.90	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	2.4	Active	0.11%
				South Dixon Pond 1	Sediment	Dixon	Will be removed in 2009	296.46	10-yr, 24-hr	73.11	6.63	Active	0.99%
				South Dixon Pond 2	Sediment	Dixon	Will be removed in 2009	28.40	100-yr, 6-hr	23.15	1.33	Active	0.10%
				South Dixon Pond 3	Sediment	Dixon	Will be removed in 2009	28.18	100-yr, 6-hr	22.6	1.05	Active	0.09%
				South Dixon Pond 7	Sediment	Dixon	Will be removed in 2009	82.00	10-yr, 24-hr	54.34	5.62	Active	0.27%
				Southwest Dixon Pond	Sediment	Dixon	Will be removed in 2009	37.80	100-yr, 6-hr	33.33	2.01	Active	0.13%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 1	Sediment		2016	40.40	100-yr, 6-hr	44	3.92		0.14%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 2	Sediment		2016	35.50	100-yr, 6-hr	49.6	3.44		0.12%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 3	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	8.60	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	0.8	Active	0.03%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 4	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	46.30	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	4.5	Active	0.16%
Cottonwood			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 5	Sediment		2016	254.03	10-yr, 24-hr	103.9	13.75		0.85%
Arroyo	29,845		IVN	Area 4 North Pond 6	Sediment		2016	356.60	100-yr, 6-hr	50.8	14.73		1.19%
140801062002			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 7	Sediment		2016	84.10	100-yr, 6-hr	90	5.68		0.28%
		Cottonwood	IVN	Area 4 North Pond 401	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	20.80	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	1.4	Active	0.07%
		Arroyo	IVN	Area 4 North Pond 402	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	96.80	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	6.8	Active	0.32%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 404	Sediment		2016	11.70	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	1	Active	0.04%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 405	Sediment		2016	90.60	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	6.3	Active	0.30%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 406	Highwall Impoundment			238.10				Active	0.80%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 407	Highwall Impoundment			124.80				Active	0.42%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 408	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	6.18	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	0.4	Active	0.02%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 409	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	2.83	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	0.2	Active	0.01%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 410	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	2.37	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	0.17	Active	0.01%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 411	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	12.50	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	1.2	Active	0.04%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 412	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	30.60	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	3	Active	0.10%
			IVN	Area 4 North Pond 413	Sediment		Until completion of final reclamation	6.80	100-yr, 6-hr	Refer to Appendix 11-AA	0.6	Active	0.02%
Total								2,460.8		725.1	109.6		8.25%

Chase								Deveent							Exc	eedar	nce of	Criter	ia			
Cnaco							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich	Base	line
(USGS	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	95 Porcontilo	Live	stock	Wi	ldlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	ıman	Con	sumntion	Med	lian
09367950)							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chi	onic	Со	ntact	con	Sumption	+ 2IV	IAD
05507550,								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(04/28/1977-04/28/1977)	1	(0.05-0.05)	0.05	0	0.050			0.05	0.05												
Arsenic	(12/11/1975-08/10/1989)	44	(0.0005-0.02)	0.0020	0.0010	0.0033	0.0046	142	0.003	0.0154											4	9
Barium	(12/11/1975-05/19/1981)	34	(0.05-0.5)	0.085	0.035	0.14	0.13	91	0.2	0.37											12	35
Boron	(11/13/1975-08/10/1989)	94	(0.08-25.)	2.5	1.9	3.551	4.214	119	4.6	9.3	22	23.4									90	96
Cadmium	(04/28/1977-08/10/1989)	13	(0.0005-2.)	0.0005	0	0.1544	0.5545	359	0.001	0.8006	1	8	1	8	1	8	13	100	1	8	4	31
Chloride	(10/08/1969-08/10/1989)	72	(12720.)	78	42	106	102	96	130	174.5	1	1									68	94
Chromium	(04/28/1977-08/10/1989)	13	(0.001-0.01)	0.01	0	0.009	0.003	39	0.01	0.01			13	100								
Copper	(12/20/1978-08/10/1989)	4	(0.005-0.031)	0.009	0.0025	0.0135	0.011846	88	0.015	0.02785			1	25			1	25				
Fluoride	(04/27/1970-08/10/1989)	72	(0.1-13.)	1.55	0.85	2.7	2.5	91	3.825	7.29	33	46									39	54
Lead	(12/20/1978-08/10/1989)	5	(0.0005-0.0025)	0.001	0.0005	0.0014	0.0010	73	0.003	0.0025							1	8				
Mercury	(12/11/1975-08/10/1989)	54	(0.00005-	0.0003	0.0003	0.00104	0.001116	108	0.002	0.0031			9	17	54	100			46	85		
Nitrate	(04/27/1970-04/27/1970)	1	(1515.)	15.0	0	15.0			15.0	15.0												
рН	(10/08/1969-08/10/1989)	174	(6.8-11.3)	7.85	0.4	7.8	0.6	7	8.2	8.5											1	1
Radium (pCi/l)	(11/29/1977-08/10/1989)	24	(0.01-0.27)	0.115	0.03	0.1196	0.0536	45	0.15	0.1800											9	38
Selenium	(12/11/1975-08/10/1989)	26	(0.001-0.047)	0.0065	0.004	0.0110	0.0123	112	0.012	0.039			2	8	22	85					15	58
Silver																						
Sulfate	(10/08/1969-08/10/1989)	72	(2407600.)	700	250	965	1095	113	1000	1946	17	24									72	100
TDS - 180°C	(10/08/1969-08/10/1989)	73	(517.5-12750.)	1305	444	1701	1727	102	1790	3196	4	5									70	96
Zinc	(12/11/1975-08/10/1989)	24	(0.0015-0.072)	0.01	0.0025	0.016	0.015	96	0.02	0.039			2	8	2	8					2	8
TSS																					\square	
Conductivity		477	(240, 42600)	4700	500	4026	4220	<u> </u>	2200	25.00											\square	
(umho/cm)	(10/08/1969-08/10/1989)	1//	(31012600.)	1700	500	1926	1320	69	2200	3500											157	89
Iron (total)	(12/11/1975-07/13/1984)	83	(0.23-800.)	19	16	117.17	176.03	150	190	445											5	6
Manganese	(12/11/1975-08/24/1982)	41	(0.0005-0.15)	0.005	0.0045	0.018	0.030	163	0.02	0.08											6	15

Composite								Demonst						Exc	eeda	nce of	Crite	eria		
Chinde							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich
Baseline	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	95 Dereentile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	ıman	Con	risii
(CD-1 &							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chr	onic	Со	ntact	COII	sumption
CD-1A)								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(09/05/2000-09/25/2008)	45	(0.036-0.5)	0.05	0	0.112	0.125	112	0.1	0.45					12	27				
Arsenic	(07/21/1986-07/02/1997)	289	(0.0005-0.092)	0.0005	0	0.0017	0.0055	325	0.003	0.0025									1	0
Barium	(07/21/1986-07/02/1997)	287	(0.02-1.1)	0.5	0	0.37	0.20	53	0.5	0.5										
Boron	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	376	(0.005-1.89)	0.16	0.08	0.228	0.225	98	0.28	0.6									11	21
Cadmium	(07/21/1986-07/02/1997)	289	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.001	54	0.003	0.003			12	4	289	100				
Chloride	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	381	(0.84-373.)	31	19.2	46.48	43.65	94	63	129										
Chromium	(07/21/1986-07/02/1997)	289	(0.001-0.1)	0.01	0	0.009	0.006	71	0.01	0.01			289	100	7	2				
Copper																				
Fluoride	(08/24/1988-09/21/2010)	153	(0.005-3.5)	1	0.37	1.25	0.80	64	1.6	3	25	16								
Lead	(07/21/1986-07/02/1997)	289	(0.0005-0.16)	0.01	0	0.009	0.012	131	0.01	0.013	1	0.3	1	0	188	65	13	4		
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(08/12/1988-07/02/1997)	117	(0.5-239.)	6.9	2.6	11.5	24.4	212	10.3	21										
рН	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	257	(6.7-8.86)	7.9	0.23	7.90	0.36	5	8.15	8.4										
Radium (pCi/l)	(07/21/1986-06/28/1989)	11	(0.3-1.2)	0.4	0.1	0.5	0.3	56	0.6	0.9										
Selenium	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	346	(0.0005-0.1)	0.0028	0.0013	0.0051	0.0074	146	0.006	0.013	1	0.3	3	1	263	76				
Silver	(07/21/1986-07/02/1997)	288	(0.0005-0.09)	0.005	0	0.0056	0.0055	98	0.005	0.01			5	2						
Sulfate	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	378	(404050.)	560	240	674	506	75	820	1653	61	16								
TDS - 180°C	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	371	(1507000.)	1020	424	1257	837	67	1585	2880	16	4								
Zinc	(07/21/1986-07/02/1997)	289	(0.005-1.01)	0.07	0.055	0.081	0.082	102	0.125	0.125			184	64	184	64				
TSS	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	375	(1108000.)	884	865	4541	11211	247	3280	22380										
Conductivity	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	380	(1057600.)	1425	542	1674	977	58	2200	3502.5										
(unito/chi)	(12/20/1002 00/21/2010)	242		1 4 4	1 2 2	10.79	E2 77	272	10.45	116.0										
Manganese	(12/23/1332-03/21/2010)	243	(0.03-412.)	0.1	0.029	19.78	0.215	212	0.45	0 152										
ivianganese	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	3//	(0.0025-2.85)	0.1	0.028	0.099	0.215	218	0.1	0.152										

Chindo								Porcont			Exceedance of Criteria									
Basalina							Standard	Polativo		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqua	atic &	Seco	ondary		Eich
	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Standard	Q3	95 Deveentile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	man	Con	risii
(CD-1)							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chr	onic	Со	ntact	Cons	sumption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum																				
Arsenic	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	287	(0.0005-0.092)	0.0005	0	0.0017	0.0055	327	0.003	0.0025									1	0
Barium	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	285	(0.025-1.1)	0.5	0	0.37	0.19	53	0.5	0.5										
Boron	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	285	(0.005-1.89)	0.15	0.06	0.193	0.202	104	0.22	0.5										
Cadmium	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	287	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.001	53	0.003	0.003			12	4	287	100				
Chloride	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	289	(0.84-373.)	29	16	44.48	44.81	101	54.9	135.8										
Chromium	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	287	(0.001-0.1)	0.01	0	0.009	0.006	71	0.01	0.01			287	100	7	2				
Copper																				
Fluoride	(08/24/1988-06/21/1996)	113	(0.005-3.3)	0.97	0.24	1.05	0.52	49	1.25	1.994	6	5								
Lead	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	287	(0.0005-0.16)	0.01	0	0.009	0.012	131	0.01	0.0135	1	0.3	1	0	188	66	13	5		
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(08/12/1988-07/02/1997)	115	(0.5-239.)	6.9	2.6	11.7	24.6	211	10.35	21.5										
рН	(07/21/1986-09/21/2010)	203	(6.7-8.8)	7.84	0.2	7.83	0.34	4	8.015	8.3										
Radium	107/21/1096 06/29/1090)	11	(0 2 1 2)	0.4	0.1	0.5	0.2	56	0.6	0.0										
(pCi/l)	(07/21/1980-00/28/1989)	11	(0.5-1.2)	0.4	0.1	0.5	0.5	50	0.0	0.9										
Selenium	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	287	(0.0005-0.046)	0.003	0.001	0.0044	0.0046	103	0.005	0.012			1	0	209	73				
Silver	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	286	(0.0005-0.03)	0.005	0	0.0053	0.0023	43	0.005	0.01			4	1						
Sulfate	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	286	(404050.)	558	262	729	554	76	880	1715	59	21								
TDS - 180°C	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	288	(2607000.)	1005	400	1301	894	69	1573	3053	16									
Zinc	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	287	(0.005-1.01)	0.08	0.045	0.081	0.082	102	0.125	0.125			184	64	184	64				
TSS	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	284	(2.5-108000.)	1610	1410	5945	12565	211	4950	26195										
Conductivity	(07/21/1096 0E/22/1007)	200	(105 7600)	1400	500	1606	1021	61	2100	2626 E										
(umho/cm)	(07/21/1900-05/25/1997)	200	(1037000.)	1400	500	1030	1021	01	2100	2020.2										
Iron (total)	(12/29/1992-05/23/1997)	152	(0.1-412.)	3.75	3.575	29.83	65.58	220	29.08	142.35										
Manganese	(07/21/1986-05/23/1997)	286	(0.0025-2.85)	0.1	0	0.119	0.242	203	0.1	0.29										

Chinala								Demonst			Exceeda							eria		
Chinde							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich
	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	95 Dercentile	Live	stock	Wil	ldlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	ıman	Con	risii
(CD-IA)							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chr	onic	Со	ntact	COIL	sumption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(09/05/2000-09/25/2008)	45	(0.036-0.5)	0.05	0	0.112	0.125	112	0.1	0.45					12	27				
Arsenic	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.0025-0.0025)	0.0025	0	0.0025	0	0	0.003	0.0025										
Barium	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.02-0.03)	0.025	0.005	0.03	0.01	28	0.028	0.0295										
Boron	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	91	(0.025-1.1)	0.25	0.2	0.338	0.256	76	0.595	0.71										
Cadmium	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.001	0	0	0.001	0.001					2	100				
Chloride	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	92	(3159.)	40.5	32.5	52.78	39.38	75	82.25	117.7										
Chromium	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.005-0.005)	0.005	0	0.005	0	0	0.005	0.005			2	100						
Copper																				
Fluoride	(05/06/2002-09/21/2010)	40	(0.1-3.5)	2	1	1.81	1.12	62	2.9	3.5	19	48								
Lead	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.0025-0.0025)	0.0025	0	0.003	0	0	0.003	0.0025										
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.5-7.9)	4.2	3.7	4.2	5.2	125	6.05	7.53										
рН	(07/02/1997-09/21/2010)	54	(6.9-8.7)	8.21	0.155	8.16	0.33	4	8.368	8.4635										
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	59	(0.0005-0.1)	0.0025	0.002	0.0084	0.0146	174	0.009	0.025	1	1.7	2	3	54	92				
Silver	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.005-0.09)	0.0475	0.0425	0.0475	0.0601	127	0.069	0.08575			1	50						
Sulfate	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	92	(461060.)	563	179.5	502	246	49	700.5	818.35	2	2								
TDS - 180°C	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	83	(1502240.)	1130	520	1103	577	52	1635	1900										
Zinc	(09/14/1996-07/02/1997)	2	(0.025-0.03)	0.0275	0.0025	0.028	0.004	13	0.029	0.02975										
TSS	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	91	(13490.)	20.3	17.8	160	452	282	92.5	1040										
Conductivity	(00/14/1006 00/21/2010)	02		1620	600	1607	707	40	2222	2602 F										
(umho/cm)	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	92	(2003000.)	1020	690	1001	/8/	49	2333	2093.5										
Iron (total)	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	91	(0.05-69.)	0.38	0.29	2.98	9.25	311	1.32	14.75										
Manganese	(09/14/1996-09/21/2010)	91	(0.0025-0.461)	0.02	0.015	0.036	0.061	171	0.037	0.103										

Composite								Dorcont			Exceedance of Criteria											
Chinde							Standard	Relative		95 th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Sec	ondary		Fish	Base	line
Downstream	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	Percentile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	H	uman	Con	sumption	Med	dian
(CD-2 &							Demailon	Deviation		rerecitie		1	Ac	ute	Chr	ronic	Co	ntact			+ 21	/IAD
CD-2A)											n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(09/05/2000-03/26/2008)	24	(0.05-0.5)	0.065	0.015	0.148	0.151	102	0.175	0.5					11	46					12	50
Arsenic	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.012)	0.0008	0.0003	0.0015	0.0014	89	0.003	0.0025											84	50
Barium	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.04-1.)	0.5	0.25	0.36	0.20	57	0.5	0.5											6	4
Boron	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	219	(0.005-5.4)	0.15	0.07	0.222	0.399	180	0.245	0.513	1	0.5									32	15
Cadmium	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0.0015	0.0018	0.0011	61	0.003	0.0025											7	4
Chloride	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	221	(56150.)	56	33	184	670	364	120	550	10	5									86	39
Chromium	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.001-0.025)	0.01	0	0.009	0.004	44	0.01	0.01			168	100	5	3					5	3
Copper																						
Fluoride	(05/06/2002-03/24/2010)	16	(0.3-1.7)	1.2	0.2	1.2	0.4	29	1.5	1.7												1
Lead	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.09)	0.01	0.0015	0.0084	0.0100	120	0.01	0.0107							7	4			9	5
Mercury																						I
Nitrate	(08/12/1988-05/23/1997)	166	(0.5-340.)	9.5	3.8	15.2	31.3	205	14.2	31.4											58	35
рН	(04/05/1996-05/23/1997)	44	(7.2-8.4)	8.2	0.1	8.1	0.3	4	8.3	8.4											4	9
Radium (pCi/l)	(05/13/1986-08/27/1992)	14	(0.2-9.9999)	0.4	0.1	1.0786	2.5700	238	0.5	3.8900											1	7
Selenium	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	220	(0.0005-0.1)	0.0025	0.0015	0.0048	0.0087	179	0.005	0.0125	1	0.5	3	1	153	70					52	24
Silver	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.05)	0.005	0	0.0053	0.0040	75	0.005	0.01											10	6
Sulfate	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	219	(495580.)	580	280	743	678	91	900	1761	51	23									47	21
TDS - 180°C	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	213	(25018300.)	1080	470	1561	2022	130	1660	3612	13	6									46	22
Zinc	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.005-0.64)	0.05	0.045	0.080	0.079	99	0.125	0.128											4	2
TSS	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	206	(2.5-335000.)	726	717.5	8306.7	30325.8	365	4418	35125											66	32
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	221	(1725300.)	1550	650	2212	2858	129	2310	4950											48	22
Iron (total)	(12/29/1992-03/24/2010)	157	(0.05-325.)	1.4	1.25	21.40	54.07	253	9.54	123.4											51	32
Manganese	(05/13/1986-03/24/2010)	220	(0.002-3.75)	0.1	0.0685	0.139	0.356	256	0.1	0.904											21	10

								Dorcont			Exceedance of Criteria											
Chinde							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich	Base	line
Downstream	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	95 Dercentile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	ıman	Con	risii	Med	lian
(CD-2)							Deviation	Doviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chi	ronic	Со	ntact	Con	sumption	+ 2IV	1AD
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum																						
Arsenic	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.012)	0.0008	0.0003	0.0015	0.0014	89	0.003	0.0025											84	50
Barium	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.04-1.)	0.5	0.25	0.36	0.20	57	0.5	0.5											6	4
Boron	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	167	(0.005-5.4)	0.12	0.06	0.213	0.451	212	0.2	0.561	1	0.6									21	13
Cadmium	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0.0015	0.0018	0.0011	61	0.003	0.0025											7	4
Chloride	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(56150.)	50	27.5	217	765	353	122.3	651.55	10	6									59	35
Chromium	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.001-0.025)	0.01	0	0.009	0.004	44	0.01	0.01			168	100	5	3					5	3
Copper																						
Fluoride																						
Lead	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.09)	0.01	0.0015	0.0084	0.0100	120	0.01	0.0107								4			9	5
Mercury																						
Nitrate	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	166	(0.5-340.)	9.5	3.8	15.2	31.3	205	14.2	31.4											58	35
рН	(04/05/1996-05/23/1997)	23	(7.2-8.4)	7.9	0.2	7.9	0.3	4	8.25	8.4											2	9
Radium	(05/12/1086-08/27/1002)	14	(0.2-0.0000)	0.4	0.1	1 0786	2 5700	228	05	3 8000											1	7
(pCi/l)	(03/13/1980-08/27/1992)	14	(0.2-9.9999)	0.4	0.1	1.0780	2.3700	230	0.5	3.8900												
Selenium	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.019)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0034	0.0030	87	0.004	0.009						108	64				32	19
Silver	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.0005-0.05)	0.005	0	0.0053	0.0040	75	0.005	0.01											10	6
Sulfate	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	166	(495580.)	495	226.5	697	732	105	837.5	1794	30	18									27	16
TDS - 180°C	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(36718300.)	1005	395	1536	2235	146	1593	3884.8	12	7									28	17
Zinc	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.005-0.64)	0.05	0.045	0.080	0.079	99	0.125	0.128											4	2
TSS	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	166	(5335000.)	1705	1605	10290.2	33499.3	326	6570	37400											66	40
Conductivity	(0E /12 /1096 0E /22 /1007)	160	(17 25200)	1410	E 4 0	2207	2727	146	2122	5677											20	17
(umho/cm)	(03/13/190705/25/1997)	109	(1725500.)	1410	540	2207	5252	140	2123	5077											20	1/
Iron (total)	(12/29/1992-05/23/1997)	105	(0.1-325.)	3	2.85	31.26	63.93	205	30.1	155											45	43
Manganese	(05/13/1986-05/23/1997)	168	(0.002-3.75)	0.1	0	0.174	0.399	230	0.1	1.086											19	11

								Deveent			Exceedance of Criteria											
Chinde							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Sec	ondary		Fich	Base	eline
Downstream	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	95 Dorcontilo	Live	stock	Wi	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	uman	Con	sumption	Me	dian
(CD-2A)							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chi	ronic	Co	ontact	Con	sumption	+ 21	ЛAD
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(09/05/2000-03/26/2008)	24	(0.05-0.5)	0.065	0.015	0.148	0.151	102	0.175	0.5					11	46					12	50
Arsenic																						
Barium																						
Boron	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	52	(0.05-0.76)	0.215	0.085	0.253	0.136	54	0.3	0.468											11	21
Cadmium																						
Chloride	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	53	(5174.)	75	46	80	50	63	120	162.2											27	51
Chromium																						
Copper																						
Fluoride	(05/06/2002-03/24/2010)	16	(0.3-1.7)	1.2	0.2	1.2	0.4	29	1.5	1.7												
Lead																						
Mercury																						
Nitrate																						
рН	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	21	(7.8-8.39)	8.27	0.1	8.2	0.1	2	8.32	8.4											2	10
Radium																						
(pCi/l)																						
Selenium	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	52	(0.0005-0.1)	0.005	0.0025	0.0095	0.0163	172	0.009	0.03625	1	1.9	3	6	45	87					20	38
Silver																						
Sulfate	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	53	(871970.)	820	390	887	450	51	1260	1550	21	40									20	38
TDS - 180°C	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	45	(2503870.)	1520	810	1656	858	52	2360	2816	1	2									18	40
Zinc																						
TSS	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	40	(2.5-840.)	21	14.15	74.9	150.5	201	59.5	286.9												
Conductivity	(0.0) (0.0) (1007 0.0) (2.0) (2.0) (0.0)	БЭ	(200 5010)	2220	000	2220	1007	45	2100	2649											20	20
(umho/cm)	(00/00/1997-03/24/2010)	55	(2201-2010)	2230	080	2228	1007	45	2100	5048											20	50
Iron (total)	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	52	(0.05-10.4)	0.425	0.315	1.49	2.21	148	1.715	6.0105											6	12
Manganese	(08/06/1997-03/24/2010)	52	(0.0025-0.503)	0.005	0.0025	0.028	0.073	261	0.025	0.089											2	4

Composite								Dorcont			Exceedance of Criteria									
Cottonwood							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqua	atic &	Seco	ndary		Fich
Baseline	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Standard	Q3	95 Demonstile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	man	Cond	risii
(CN-1,							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chr	onic	Cor	ntact	Cons	umption
CNS-1, CS-1)								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum																				
Arsenic	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	222	(0.0005-0.347)	0.002	0.001	0.0036	0.023	639	0.003	0.005	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0
Barium	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	227	(0.005-4.9)	0.5	0.2	0.52	0.54	105	0.5	1.221										
Boron	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	282	(0.005-1.1)	0.11	0.06	0.162	0.175	108	0.19	0.5										
Cadmium	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	226	(0.0005-0.009)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.0011	57	0.003	0.003			4	2	226	100			1	0
Chloride	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	284	(0.52-197.)	13	5	16.89	16.50	98	19	41										
Chromium	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	226	(0.005-0.17)	0.01	0	0.010	0.0126	132	0.01	0.0175			226	100	12	5			1	0
Copper																				
Fluoride																				
Lead	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	226	(0.0025-1.13)	0.01	0	0.024	0.091	384	0.01	0.06075	6	2.7	3	1	177	78	45	20		
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	219	(0.5-180.)	7.5	3.4	15.6	25.7	165	14.45	47.53										
рН	(06/22/1996-11/12/1997)	41	(5.3-9.)	8.4	0.2	8.13	0.72	9	8.5	8.8	2	5								
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	282	(0.0005-0.032)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0029	0.0030	105	0.003	0.006					180	64				
Silver	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	226	(0.005-0.03)	0.005	0	0.0052	0.0018	35	0.005	0.005			2	1						
Sulfate	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	283	(501760.)	285	105	353	249	70	430	840	8	3								
TDS - 180°C	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	287	(29015600.)	692	203	1041	1488	143	952.5	2167	12	4								
Zinc	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	226	(0.005-1.82)	0.125	0.025	0.173	0.275	159	0.125	0.735			173	77	173	77				
TSS	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	279	(9201120000.)	73600	32500	113627	142466	125	1E+05	372030										
Conductivity	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	292	(25011809.)	853	247	1013	831	82	1190	1918										
Iron (total)	(12/29/1992-09/02/1999)	203	(0.01-4350.)	203	196.9	494 07	737 66	149	638 5	2030										
Manganese	(12, 23, 1332, 03, 02, 1333) (07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	281	(0.0025-4.23)	0.1	0.08	0.373	0 724	194	0.265	1.83										
manganese		201	(0.0023 4.23)	0.1	0.00	0.075	0.724	174	5.205	1.05										

Cottonwood								Dorcont			Exceedance of Criteria									
Basalina							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich
	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Ctondord	Q3	95	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	man	Com	FISH
(CN-1)							Deviation	Standard		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chr	onic	Со	ntact	Cons	sumption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum																				
Arsenic	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	64	(0.0005-0.347)	0.0015	0.001	0.0072	0.043	597	0.003	0.0057	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
Barium	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	67	(0.005-2.4)	0.5	0	0.44	0.38	87	0.5	1.05										
Boron	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	92	(0.005-0.78)	0.08	0.03	0.128	0.139	108	0.16	0.4115										
Cadmium	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	66	(0.0005-0.008)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.0011	59	0.003	0.003			1	2	66	100				
Chloride	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	94	(377.)	16	6	19.62	14.94	76	22.75	48.7										
Chromium	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	66	(0.005-0.09)	0.01	0.0025	0.009	0.0107	113	0.01	0.0175			66	100	4	6				
Copper																				
Fluoride																				
Lead	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	66	(0.0025-1.13)	0.01	0	0.028	0.138	492	0.01	0.0335	1	1.5	1	2	51	77	10	15		
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	63	(0.5-116.)	7	3.5	11.5	15.9	138	13.15	29.36										
рН	(06/27/1996-11/12/1997)	10	(5.3-8.6)	7.95	0.45	7.77	0.96	12	8.4	8.51	1	10								
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	92	(0.0005-0.032)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0035	0.0048	135	0.003	0.007					57	62				
Silver	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	66	(0.005-0.005)	0.005	0	0.0050	0.0000	0	0.005	0.005										
Sulfate	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	94	(501760.)	385.5	168	451	303	67	567.5	1009	5	5								
TDS - 180°C	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	94	(2906220.)	780	250	972	712	73	1195	1895	1	1								
Zinc	(07/18/1990-09/01/1997)	66	(0.005-1.7)	0.125	0.0025	0.154	0.318	206	0.125	0.2075			46	70	46	70				
TSS	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	92	(14400	87500	37600	131005	127328	97	1E+05	378690										
Conductivity		06	(200 2250)	1025	220	1151	567	10	1/10	2177 E										
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1990-09/02/1999)	90	(3903330.)	1032	520	1121	507	43	1413	21/7.5										
Iron (total)	(08/14/1993-09/02/1999)	62	(0.01-4350.)	174	172.1	631.36	876.58	139	1087	2082.5										
Manganese	(07/18/1990-09/02/1999)	90	(0.0025-2.9)	0.1	0.064	0.258	0.546	211	0.1	1.629										

Cottonwood								Dorcont			Exceedance of Criteria									
Receline							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary	1	Fich
	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Ctondord	Q3	95	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	man	Con	FISH
(CNS-1)							Deviation	Standard		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chr	onic	Со	ntact	Cons	umption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum																				
Arsenic	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	81	(0.0005-0.024)	0.002	0.0005	0.0023	0.003	146	0.003	0.005										
Barium	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	82	(0.04-2.)	0.5	0.055	0.50	0.35	70	0.5	1.195										
Boron	(07/18/1990-08/03/1999)	100	(0.005-1.02)	0.13	0.08	0.168	0.172	103	0.223	0.5315										
Cadmium	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	82	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.0010	53	0.003	0.003			2	2	82	100				
Chloride	(07/18/1990-08/03/1999)	99	(0.52-47.)	13	3.48	14.07	8.85	63	15	30.6										
Chromium	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	82	(0.005-0.03)	0.01	0	0.009	0.0039	46	0.01	0.01			82	100	3	4				
Copper																				
Fluoride																				
Lead	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	82	(0.0025-0.12)	0.01	0	0.015	0.020	134	0.01	0.05865	1	1.2			60	73	17	21		
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	80	(0.5-155.)	8	3.25	15.6	25.6	164	15.55	34.72										
рН	(06/22/1996-11/12/1997)	16	(5.9-8.9)	8.3	0.3	8.16	0.68	8	8.525	8.75	1	6								
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(07/18/1990-08/03/1999)	100	(0.0005-0.011)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0025	0.0014	57	0.003	0.00505					66	66				
Silver	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	82	(0.005-0.03)	0.005	0	0.0054	0.0028	52	0.005	0.005			1	1						
Sulfate	(07/18/1990-08/03/1999)	98	(501050.)	257.5	82	292	179	61	338	718.3	2	2								
TDS - 180°C	(07/18/1990-08/03/1999)	103	(31515600.)	610	160	1099	2049	187	880	2062	4	4								
Zinc	(07/18/1990-05/22/1997)	82	(0.005-1.1)	0.125	0.045	0.158	0.221	140	0.125	0.7355			60	73	60	73				
TSS	(07/18/1990-08/02/1999)	98	(9201120000.)	65300	28300	95335	134569	141	96100	209900										
Conductivity		104	(270 - 2200)	760	170 ⊑	961	27/	12	072 E	16/0 F									T	
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1990-06/05/1999)	104	(3702300.)	700	1/0.5	001	574	45	315.5	1049.5										
Iron (total)	(12/29/1992-08/03/1999)	79	(0.07-3720.)	203	189.7	444.66	731.51	165	526.5	2073										
Manganese	(07/18/1990-08/03/1999)	101	(0.005-4.02)	0.1	0.09	0.340	0.600	176	0.332	1.47										

Cottonwood								Dorcont						Exc	eeda	nce of	Crite	eria		
Basalina							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqua	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich
Daselille	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Standard	Q3	95 Demonstile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	man	Con	risii
(CS-1)							Deviation	Standard		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chr	onic	Сог	ntact	Cons	sumption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum																				
Arsenic	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	77	(0.0005-0.014)	0.002	0.001	0.0021	0.002	93	0.003	0.0052										
Barium	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	78	(0.025-4.9)	0.5	0.245	0.61	0.77	126	0.5	1.5										
Boron	(07/18/1990-08/05/1999)	90	(0.005-1.1)	0.12	0.07	0.189	0.206	109	0.22	0.5275										
Cadmium	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	78	(0.0005-0.009)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.0012	59	0.003	0.003			1	1	78	100			1	1
Chloride	(07/18/1990-08/05/1999)	91	(4197.)	12.8	5.2	17.14	22.88	133	17	39										
Chromium	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	78	(0.005-0.17)	0.01	0	0.011	0.0186	176	0.01	0.02			78	100	5	6			1	1
Copper																				
Fluoride																				
Lead	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	78	(0.0025-0.753)	0.01	0	0.030	0.088	298	0.01	0.08615	4	5.1	2	3	66	85	18	23		
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	76	(0.5-180.)	7.65	3.95	18.9	31.7	168	14.88	102										
рН	(06/27/1996-11/12/1997)	15	(6.9-9.)	8.4	0.2	8.35	0.48	6	8.6	8.86										
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(07/18/1990-08/05/1999)	90	(0.0005-0.011)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0026	0.0015	59	0.003	0.005					57	63				
Silver	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	78	(0.005-0.015)	0.005	0	0.0051	0.0011	22	0.005	0.005			1	1						
Sulfate	(07/18/1990-08/05/1999)	91	(851500.)	275	86	317	222	70	355.5	828.5	1	1								
TDS - 180°C	(07/18/1990-08/05/1999)	90	(3059060.)	675	207	1048	1329	127	910	3558.5	7	8								
Zinc	(07/18/1990-08/05/1997)	78	(0.005-1.82)	0.125	0.02	0.204	0.288	141	0.129	0.7185			67	86	67	86				
TSS	(07/18/1990-08/05/1999)	89	(2110	59400	28300	115804	163401	141	1E+05	366900										
Conductivity	(07/18/1000-08/05/1000)	02	(250 -11800)	917	212	1041	1202	124	1020	1900										
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1990-06/05/1999)	92	(23011609.)	017	212	1041	1292	124	1020	1000										
Iron (total)	(12/29/1992-08/05/1999)	62	(1.5-2350.)	225.5	211.15	419.74	566.88	135	557.3	1813.5										
Manganese	(07/18/1990-08/05/1999)	90	(0.005-4.23)	0.1	0.08	0.524	0.953	182	0.425	3.139										

6								Description												
Composite							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich
(Dinabata &	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	95 Dereentile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wi	dlife	Hu	ıman	Con	risii
(Pillabete &							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chi	ronic	Со	ntact	COII	sumption
No Name)								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	29	(0.005-2.3)	0.05	0.045	0.261	0.506	194	0.25	1.214			2	7	12	41				
Arsenic	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	29	(0.0009-0.0204)	0.0027	0.0016	0.0052	0.0048	92	0.006	0.01432										
Barium	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	29	(0.0247-0.2193)	0.0528	0.0157	0.07	0.04	63	0.071	0.13716										
Boron	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	44	(0.025-0.9)	0.095	0.045	0.169	0.201	119	0.2	0.5										
Cadmium	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	26	(0.000025-	3E-05	0	0.003	0.013	407	0.000	0.008	1	4	2	8	6	23			2	8
Chloride	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	44	(534.)	8	3	10.05	7.20	72	11	26.55										
Chromium	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	28	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0005	0	0.002	0.002	99	0.003	0.005			13	46						
Copper	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	29	(0.0042-0.0261)	0.0076	0.0019	0.00882	0.004344	49	0.01	0.01522					2	7				
Fluoride	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	41	(0.1-1.19)	0.2	0.1	0.35	0.31	90	0.6	0.9										
Lead	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	29	(0.00005-	0.0002	0.0002	0.001	0.002	241	5E-04	0.0036					1	ß				
Mercury	(08/28/2007-12/03/2007)	7	(0.0001-0.0001)	0.0001	0	0.0001	1.46E-20	0	1E-04	0.0001					7	100				
Nitrate	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	28	(0.01-3.4)	0.405	0.355	0.9	1.0	116	1.67	2.94										
рН	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	46	(78.56)	8.005	0.2	7.90	0.35	4	8.16	8.3875										
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	43	(0.0005-0.007)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0023	0.0016	71	0.003	0.005					24	56				
Silver	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	26	(0.000025-	3E-05	0	0.0001	0.0003	193	2E-04	0.00025										
Sulfate	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	44	(5840.)	175	152	252	229	91	365	731.6										
TDS - 180°C	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	46	(10028400.)	550	272.5	1599	4531	283	1006	4327.5	3	7								
Zinc	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	29	(0.001-14.2)	0.004	0.002	0.501	2.635	526	0.01	0.108			2	7	2	7			1	3
TSS	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	44	(367521000.)	49750	40000	93912	119354	127	1E+05	380650										
Conductivity	(07/20/1009 09/12/2009)	47	(150, 1040)	666	220	777	460	50	1020	1607										
(umho/cm)	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	47	(1501940.)	000	329	///	400	23	1020	1001										
Iron (total)	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	42	(1.26-6020.)	272	265.49	592.99	1004.03	169	826.8	1547										
Manganese	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	42	(0.0025-3.76)	0.0145	0.012	0.277	0.669	241	0.227	0.89335										

								D			Exceedance of Criteria											
Baseline							Ctandard	Percent		or th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich		
(Upper	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Standard	Q3	95 Demontile	Live	stock	Wil	/ildlife Wil		Wildlife		ıman	Con	FISH		
Pinabete)							Deviation	Doviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chi	onic	Со	ntact	Con	sumption		
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Aluminum	(10/08/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.05-0.42)	0.25	0.17	0.210	0.160	76	0.28	0.392					3	60						
Arsenic	(10/08/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.0009-0.0204)	0.0084	0.0066	0.0094	0.0083	89	0.015	0.01932												
Barium	(10/08/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.0313-0.112)	0.0433	0.012	0.06	0.03	56	0.069	0.1033												
Boron	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(0.05-0.9)	0.09	0.02	0.196	0.275	140	0.1	0.66												
Cadmium	(12/03/2007-08/12/2008)	4	(0.000025-	3E-05	0	0.000	0.000	107	0.000	0.000												
Chloride	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(532.)	10	1	13.44	8.66	64	11	28.8												
Chromium	(12/03/2007-08/12/2008)	4	(0.0005-0.002)	0.0005	0	0.001	0.001	86	9E-04	0.001775			1	25								
Copper	(10/08/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.008-0.0261)	0.0096	0.0016	0.01284	0.007522	59	0.012	0.02318					1	20				1		
Fluoride	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(0.1-1.19)	0.44	0.34	0.55	0.49	90	0.948	1.155										1		
Lead	(10/08/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.00005-	0.0001	5E-05	0.000	0.000	105	2E-04	0.00044												
Mercury	(12/03/2007-12/03/2007)	1	(0.0001-0.0001)	0.0001	0	0.0001			1E-04	0.0001					1	100				1		
Nitrate	(10/08/2007-08/12/2008)	4	(0.06-2.48)	1.195	0.795	1.2	1.1	86	1.858	2.3555												
рН	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(7.48-8.24)	7.99	0.21	7.89	0.30	4	8.11	8.224												
Radium																				1		
(pCi/l)																						
Selenium	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(0.001-0.005)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0026	0.0011	42	0.003	0.0042					6	67						
Silver	(12/03/2007-08/12/2008)	4	(0.000025-	3E-05	0	0.0000	0.0000	86	4E-05	8.875E-05												
Sulfate	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(180840.)	390	191	500	240	48	740	816												
TDS - 180°C	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(6105300.)	1060	225	1425	1479	104	1270	3688	1	11								1		
Zinc	(10/08/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.001-0.004)	0.002	0.001	0.002	0.001	61	0.002	0.0036												
TSS	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(26600	124500	56900	179213	161955	90	2E+05	445400												
Conductivity	107/20/1009 00/12/2000	0	(EQ1 1010)	1460	250	1250	117	22	1520	1740												
(umho/cm)	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(3841810.)	1400	350	1250	41/	55	1920	1/42										1		
Iron (total)	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(5.96-1220.)	428.5	396.02	568.75	527.53	93	1143	1195.5												
Manganese	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(0.0025-0.453)	0.005	0.0025	0.104	0.187	180	0.095	0.4194												

								D			Exceedance of Criteria									
Baseline							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Fich
(Lower	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Standard	Q3	95 Demoentile	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	dlife	Hu	ıman	Con	risii
Pinabete)							Deviation	Doviation		Percentile			Ac	ute	Chi	ronic	Со	ntact	CON	sumption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.005-2.3)	0.05	0.045	0.305	0.667	219	0.21	1.28			1	9	5	45				
Arsenic	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.0013-0.0133)	0.0025	0.0012	0.0056	0.0043	77	0.01	0.0117										
Barium	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.0247-0.2193)	0.0528	0.0182	0.07	0.06	78	0.074	0.1776										
Boron	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	17	(0.025-0.9)	0.1	0.05	0.189	0.221	117	0.2	0.58										
Cadmium	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	9	(0.000025-	3E-05	0	0.008	0.023	281	0.000	0.042	1	11	1	11					1	11
Chloride	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	17	(534.)	8	3	11.18	8.11	73	13	28.4										
Chromium	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.0005-0.005)	0.001	0.0005	0.002	0.002	90	0.004	0.005			7	64						
Copper	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.006-0.0171)	0.009	0.0019	0.0094	0.003149	33	0.011	0.0144					1	9				
Fluoride	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	15	(0.1-0.75)	0.1	0	0.31	0.27	87	0.525	0.75										
Lead	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.00005-0.004)	0.0005	0.0004	0.001	0.001	143	8E-04	0.0035										
Mercury	(09/18/2007-12/03/2007)	4	(0.0001-0.0001)	0.0001	0	0.0001	0		1E-04	0.0001					4	100				
Nitrate	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.04-3.4)	0.85	0.54	1.1	1.0	89	1.76	2.665										
рН	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	19	(78.56)	8.07	0.28	7.95	0.41	5	8.205	8.416										
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	17	(0.0005-0.007)	0.0025	0.0005	0.0026	0.0019	73	0.003	0.007					11	65				
Silver	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	9	(0.000025-	6E-05	4E-05	0.0001	0.0001	91	3E-04	0.00025										
Sulfate	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	17	(100684.)	170	40	248	168	68	295	609.6										
TDS - 180°C	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	19	(29528400.)	570	200	2808	6878	245	1175	15080	2	11								
Zinc	(09/18/2007-07/21/2008)	11	(0.002-0.16)	0.006	0.004	0.021	0.046	223	0.013	0.088			1	9	1	9				
TSS	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	18	(10200	59900	30600	77678	63856	82	95600	174450										
Conductivity		20	(206 4040)		102	770	270	40	700 5	1550 5										
(umho/cm)	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	20	(3961940.)	000.5	103	//3	3/6	49	798.5	1220.2										
Iron (total)	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	16	(1251940.)	674.5	435.5	805.19	552.74	69	1155	1647.5										
Manganese	(07/29/1998-07/21/2008)	16	(0.0025-3.76)	0.0635	0.061	0.526	1.023	194	0.541	2.5225										

								Demonst			Exceedance of Criteria									
Baseline							Standard	Percent		or th			Aqu	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Sec	ondary		Fich
(Upper No	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Standard	Q3	95 Demoentile	Live	stock	Wil	ldlife	Wi	ldlife	Hu	uman	Con	risii
Name)							Deviation	Doviation		Percentile			Ac	cute	Chi	ronic	Co	ntact	COII	sumption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.005-1.65)	0.1	0.095	0.374	0.563	151	0.53	1.2685			1	13	4	50				
Arsenic	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.0019-0.0046)	0.0026	0.0005	0.0029	0.0009	30	0.003	0.00432										
Barium	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.0287-0.0658)	0.0515	0.008	0.05	0.01	25	0.059	0.06398										
Boron	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(0.025-0.5)	0.05	0.0125	0.150	0.179	119	0.238	0.455										
Cadmium	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.000025-	0.0001	0.0001	0.001	0.003	228	0.001	0.007			1	13	3	38			1	13
Chloride	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(519.)	5	0	6.90	4.38	64	6.5	14.05										
Chromium	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0.002	0.002	0.002	78	0.004	0.005			5	63						
Copper	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.0042-0.0124)	0.0069	0.0025	0.00713	0.002925	41	0.008	0.011525										
Fluoride	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(0.1-0.3)	0.23	0.07	0.22	0.09	41	0.3	0.3										
Lead	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.00005-	8E-05	3E-05	0.000	0.000	111	2E-04	0.000495										
Mercury																				
Nitrate	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.01-0.4)	0.06	0.04	0.1	0.2	105	0.278	0.3755										
рН	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(7.83-8.4)	8.085	0.075	8.07	0.17	2	8.15	8.292										
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				
Selenium	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	9	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0005	0	0.0019	0.0019	99	0.003	0.005					4	44				
Silver	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.000025-	5E-05	2E-05	0.0001	0.0001	98	2E-04	0.00025										
Sulfate	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(530.)	5	0	10	8	85	13.75	23.7										
TDS - 180°C	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(100490.)	185	30	215	113	52	213.8	413.5										
Zinc	(02/13/2008-08/12/2008)	8	(0.001-0.03)	0.0045	0.003	0.010	0.013	125	0.013	0.03										
TSS	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(36719400.)	7090	3055	7571	6042	80	8153	17825										
Conductivity	(07/20/1009 09/12/2009)	10	(150 227)	220	26 5	241	55	22	202	21E 0E										
(umho/cm)	(07/29/1996-08/12/2008)	10	(150337.)	229	50.5	241	55	23	202	212.02										
Iron (total)	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(3.24-6020.)	50.3	46.215	645.82	1888.85	292	103	3366.35										
Manganese	(07/29/1998-08/12/2008)	10	(0.0025-0.24)	0.024	0.0203	0.055	0.076	138	0.078	0.18375										

								D			Exceedance of Criteria									
Baseline							Ctandard	Percent		or th			Aqua	atic &	Aqu	atic &	Seco	ondary		Tich
(Lower No	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Doviation	Standard	Q3	95	Live	stock	Wil	dlife	Wil	Wildlife H		ıman	Con	FISH
Name)							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile			Acute		Chi	onic	Со	ntact	Con	sumption
								Deviation			n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Aluminum	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.005-0.05)	0.05	0	0.032	0.025	77	0.05	0.05										
Arsenic	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.0011-0.0058)	0.0045	0.0013	0.0035	0.0023	64	0.005	0.00566										
Barium	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.0474-0.138)	0.111	0.027	0.09	0.04	45	0.122	0.1348										
Boron	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(0.05-0.2)	0.14	0.06	0.124	0.066	53	0.17	0.2										
Cadmium	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.000025-	3E-05	0	0.000	0.000	197	0.000	0.001										
Chloride	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(517.)	5	0	7.75	4.40	57	9.5	14.9										
Chromium	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.001	0.000		5E-04	0.0005										
Copper	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.0056-0.0072)	0.0063	0.0006	0.00622	0.000638	10	0.006	0.00702										
Fluoride	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(0.1-0.89)	0.35	0.25	0.40	0.31	76	0.65	0.8165										
Lead	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.00005-	0.0002	0.0002	0.002	0.004	209	2E-04	0.0074										
Mercury	(08/28/2007-08/28/2007)	2	(0.0001-0.0001)	0.0001	0	0.0001	0		1E-04	0.0001					2	100				1
Nitrate	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.06-2.94)	0.41	0.35	1.3	1.5	118	2.94	2.94										1
рН	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(7.17-8.)	7.65	0.29	7.61	0.32	4	7.903	7.9685										
Radium																				
(pCi/l)																				l
Selenium	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(0.001-0.0025)	0.001	0	0.0016	0.0008	50	0.003	0.0025					3	38				
Silver	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.000025-	3E-05	0	0.0003	0.0006	204	3E-05	0.001085										
Sulfate	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(131600.)	242.5	106	284	162	57	380.8	524.05										
TDS - 180°C	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(3851030.)	600	182.5	654	224	34	817.5	963.5										
Zinc	(08/28/2007-08/12/2008)	5	(0.001-14.2)	0.004	0.003	2.844	6.348	223	0.01	11.362			1	20	20	1			1	20
TSS	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(16700	57600	36200	153063	166392	109	3E+05	394650										
Conductivity	(09/12/1009 09/12/2009)	0	(109 1220)	1010	220	076	206	21	1090	1274										
(umho/cm)	(00/13/1990-08/12/2008)	ō	(4901330.)	1010	220	920	200	21	1080	12/4										
Iron (total)	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(1.26-419.)	16.7	13.82	126.78	168.31	133	266	373.85										
Manganese	(08/13/1998-08/12/2008)	8	(0.0025-0.786)	0.12	0.113	0.231	0.296	128	0.317	0.7097										

















































































































Ж









Appendix D: Surface Water Quality Data Graphs Chinde Downstream Graphs





































Appendix D: Surface Water Quality Data Graphs Chinde Downstream Graphs




































Ж










































—

Appendix D: Surface Water Quality Data Graphs Baseline Without NAPI (Pinabete and No Name) Graphs





Appendix E: SEDCAD Modeling Reports

Coal Creek Watershed Pre-Mining

OSM

1

General Information

Storm Information:

Storm Type:	NRCS Type II
Design Storm:	10 yr - 6 hr
Rainfall Depth:	1.300 inches

SEDCAD 4 for Windows Copyright 1998 - 2007 Pamela J. Schwah

Туре	Stru #	(flows into)	Stru #	Musk. K (hrs)	Musk. X	Description
Null	#10	==>	#11	0.000	0.000	
Null	#11	==>	#12	0.541	0.326	
Null	#12	==>	#17	0.990	0.322	
Null	#13	==>	#18	0.000	0.000	
Null	#14	==>	#18	0.000	0.000	
Null	#15	==>	#17	0.000	0.000	
Null	#16	==>	#17	0.000	0.000	
Null	#17	==>	#18	3.667	0.234	
Null	#18	==>	#19	2.962	0.234	
Null	#19	==>	End	0.000	0.000	

Structure Networking:



Structure Routing Details:

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#11	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.13	70.00	6,200.72	3.18	0.541

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#11	Muskingum K:					0.541
#12	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.05	115.00	10,950.29	3.07	0.990
#12	Muskingum K:					0.990
#17	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.25	50.00	19,801.98	1.50	3.667
#17	Muskingum K:					3.667
#18	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.25	40.00	16,000.00	1.50	2.962
#18	Muskingum K:					2.962

	Immediate Contributing Area	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Total Runoff Volume
	(ac)	(ac)	(cfs)	(ac-ft)
#16	7,300.000	7,300.000	467.26	213.70
#15	3,530.000	3,530.000	388.14	103.33
#10	2,860.000	2,860.000	370.09	85.50
#11	3,930.000	6,790.000	898.95	202.93
#12	940.000	7,730.000	933.82	223.67
#17	5,060.000	23,620.000	1,827.86	689.00
#14	1,280.000	1,280.000	261.33	39.01
#13	1,762.000	1,762.000	250.23	53.97
#18	1,590.000	28,252.000	1,757.70	829.50
#19	0.000	28,252.000	1,719.96	829.50

Structure Summary:

Structure Detail:

Structure #16 (Null) Structure #15 (Null) Structure #10 (Null) Structure #11 (Null) Structure #12 (Null) Structure #17 (Null) Structure #13 (Null) Structure #18 (Null) Structure #19 (Null)

Subwaleisheu nyulology Delah

Stru #	SWS #	SWS Area (ac)	Time of Conc (hrs)	Musk K (hrs)	Musk X	Curve Number	UHS	Peak Discharge (cfs)	Runoff Volume (ac-ft)
#16	1	3.500.000	1.666	1.666	0.319	88.000	м	482.75	102.471
	2	3,800.000	3.588	3.588	0.293	88,000	M	301.20	111.230
	Σ	7,300.000						467.26	213.701
#15	1	3,530.000	2.208	2.208	0.308	88.000	М	397.56	103.325
	Σ	3,530.000						388.14	103.325
#10	1	1,660.000	1.043	1.043	0.355	87.000	M	282.80	44.218
	2	800.000	0.442	0.442	0.360	89,000	М	280.42	25.735
	3	400.000	0.221	0.221	0.360	91.000	М	220.98	15.547
	Σ	2,860.000						370.09	85.500
#11	1	2,230.000	1.084	0.885	0.360	87.000	М	370.48	59.441
	2	1,200.000	0.442	0.442	0.360	89.000	М	420.64	38.603
	3	500.000	0.271	0.271	0.353	91.000	M	260.01	19.385
	Σ	6,790.000						898.95	202.930
#12	1	940.000	0.268	0.000	0.000	85.000	М	269.99	20,743
	Σ	7,730.000						933.82	223.673
#17	1	5,060.000	0.559	0.559	0.362	88.000	M	1,412.31	148.302
	Σ	23,620.000						1,827.86	689.002
#14	1	780.000	0.667	0.667	0.372	88.000	М	196.46	22.870
	2	500.000	0.308	0.308	0.372	89.000	M	205.13	16.137
	Σ	1,280.000						261.33	39.007
#13	1	940.000	1.151	1.151	0.360	88.000	м	167.40	27.528
	2	822.000	0.533	0.533	0.367	89,000	М	261.43	26.444
	Σ	1,762.000						250.23	53.972
#18	1	1,590.000	0.141	0.141	0.388	88.000	M	732.90	47.524
	Σ	28,252.000						1,757.70	829.505
#19	Σ	28,252.000	······································					1,719.96	829.505

Subwatershed Time of Concentration Details:

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#10	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1,94	305.00	15,700.60	4.180	1.043

Stru #	SWS	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#10	1	Time of Concentration:					1.043
#10	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	150.00	7,000.18	4.390	0.442
#10	2	Time of Concentration:					0.442
#10	3	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	75.00	3,500.09	4.390	0.221
#10	3	Time of Concentration:					0.221
#11	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.88	300.00	15,999.99	4.100	1.084
#11	1	Time of Concentration:					1.084
#11	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	150.00	7,000.18	4.390	0.442
#11	2	Time of Concentration:					0.442
#11	3	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.88	75.00	3,999.99	4.100	0.271
#11	3	Time of Concentration:					0.271
#12	1	5. Nearly bare and untilled, and alluvial valley fans	5.23	115.00	2,200.03	2.280	0.268
#12	1	Time of Concentration:					0.268
#13	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	390.00	18,200.48	4.390	1.151
#13	1	Time of Concentration:					1.151
#13	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2,44	220.00	9,000.00	4.690	0.533
#13	2	Time of Concentration:					0.533
#14	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2,73	325.00	11,900.40	4.950	0.667
#14	1	Time of Concentration:		· .			0.667
#14	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.73	150.00	5,500.14	4.950	0.308
#14	2	Time of Concentration:					0,308
#15	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.83	180.00	21,702.43	2.730	2.208
#15	1	Time of Concentration:					2,208
#16	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.00	180.00	18,000.00	3.000	1.666
#16	1	Time of Concentration:		•			1.666
#16	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.65	200.00	31,002.94	2.400	3.588
#16	2	Time of Concentration:					3.588
#17	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.22	200.00	9,000.09	4,470	0.559
#17	1	Time of Concentration:					0.559
#18	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	3.83	115.00	3,000.02	5.870	0.141
#18	1	Time of Concentration:					0.141

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#10	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.94	305.00	15,700.60	4.180	1.043
#10	1	Muskingum K:					1.043
#10	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	150.00	7,000.18	4.390	0.442
#10	2	Muskingum K:					0.442
#10	3	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	75.00	3,500.09	4.390	0.221
#10	3	Muskingum K:					0.221
#11	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	300.00	14,000.37	4.390	0.885
#11	1	Muskingum K:		.=			0.885
#11	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	150.00	7,000.00	4.390	0.442
#11	2	Muskingum K:					0.442
#11	3	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.88	75.00	3,999.99	4.100	0.271
#11	3	Muskingum K:					0.271
#13	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	390.00	18,200.48	4.390	1.151
#13	1	Muskingum K:					1.151
#13	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.44	220.00	9,000.16	4.690	0.533
#13	2	Muskingum K:					0.533
#14	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.73	325.00	11,900.40	4.950	0.667
#14	1	Muskingum K:					0.667
#14	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.73	150.00	5,500.14	4.950	0.308
#14	2	Muskingum K:					0.308
#15	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.83	180.00	21,702.43	2.730	2.208
#15	1	Muskingum K:					2.208
#16	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.00	180.00	18,000.00	3.000	1.666
#16	1	Muskingum K:					1.666
#16	2.	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.65	200.00	31,002.94	2.400	3.588
#16	2	Muskingum K:					3.588
#17	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.22	200.00	9,000.09	4.470	0.559
#17	1	Muskingum K:			<i>u</i> ,		0.559
#18	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	3.83	115.00	3,000.02	5.870	0.141
#18	1	Muskingum K:					0.141

Subwatershed Muskingum Routing Details:

Chaco-Chinde Watershed Post Mining

OSM

Printed 12-21-2011

General Information

Storm Information:

Storm Type:	NRCS Type II
Design Storm:	10 yr - 6 hr
Rainfall Depth:	1.300 inches

Туре	Stru #	(flows	Stru #	Musk. K	Musk. X	Description
Null	#1	==>	#4	0.000	0.000	
Null	#2	==>	#5	0.000	0.000	
Null	#3	==>	#7	0.000	0.000	
Null	#4	==>	#8	0.770	0.355	
Nulí	#5	==>	#8	0.658	0.358	
Null	#6	==>	#9	0.000	0.000	
Null	#7	==>	#9	0.967	0.340	
Null	#8	==>	#9	0.385	0.320	
Null	#9	==>	End	0.000	0.000	

Structure Networkina:

		¢	#2 Null
	Æ	#5 Null	
		¢	#1 Null
	Æ	#4 Null	
Æ	#8 Null		
	¢	#3 Null	
¢	#7 Null		
Æ	#6 Null		
#9 Null			

Structure Routing Details:

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#4	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.95	226.00	11,600.00	4.18	0.770
#4	Muskingum K:					0.770
#5	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.06	210.00	10,200.11	4.30	0.658

Filename: Chaco Chinde Watershed Post Mining.sc4

SEDCAD 4 for Windows Conviriant 1998 - 2007 Pamela I. Schwab

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#5	Muskingum K:					0.658
#7	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.46	184.00	12,610.00	3.62	0.967
#7	Muskingum K:					0.967
#8	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.02	43.00	4,200.00	3.03	0.385
#8	Muskingum K:					0.385

.

	Immediate Contributing Area	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Total Runoff Volume
	(ac)	(ac)	(cfs)	(ac-ft)
#2	1,650.000	1,650.000	81.38	11.14
#5	750.000	2,400.000	262.42	33.13
#1	850.000	850.000	32.21	5.70
#4	1,250.000	2,100.000	307.04	42.33
#8	980.000	5,480.000	575.42	104.18
#3	1,140.000	1,140.000	161.25	25.03
#7	1,225.000	2,365.000	326.80	51.91
#6	1,985.000	1,985.000	406.98	58.12
#9	2,930.000	12,760.000	1,331.61	292,27

.

Structure Summary:

Structure Detail:

<u>Structure #2 (Null)</u>

<u>Structure #5 (Null)</u>

Structure #1 (Null)

<u>Structure #4 (Null)</u>

<u>Structure #8 (Null)</u>

Structure #3 (Null)

Structure #7 (Null)

Structure #6 (Null)

Structure #9 (Null)

6

Stru #	SWS #	SWS Area (ac)	Time of Conc (hrs)	Musk K (hrs)	Musk X	Curve Number	UHS	Peak Discharge (cfs)	Runoff Volume (ac-ft)
#2	1	1,650.000	0.272	0.818	0.364	75,000	М	99.12	11.135
	Σ	1,650.000						81.38	11.135
#5	1	750.000	0.658	0.658	0.358	88.000	м	190.45	21.992
	Σ	2,400.000						262.42	33.127
#1	1	850.000	0.632	0.632	0.363	75.000	М	32.81	5.704
	Σ	850.000						32.21	5.704
#4	1	1,250.000	0.770	0.770	0.355	88.000	М	288.29	36.631
	Σ	2,100.000						307.04	42.334
#8	1	980.000	0.385	0.385	0.320	88.000	М	329.99	28.722
	Σ	5,480.000						575.42	104.182
#3	1	1,140.000	0.900	1.106	0.353	85.000	M	169.76	25.026
	Σ	1,140.000						161.25	25.026
#7	1	1,225.000	0.967	0.967	0.340	85.000	М	174.30	26.882
	Σ	2,365.000						326.80	51.908
#6	1	1,985.000	0.867	0.867	0.358	88.000	М	424.81	58.115
!	Σ	1,985.000						406.98	58,115
#9	1	2,930.000	1.129	1.129	0.372	87.000	M	473.76	78.066
	Σ	12,760.000						1,331.61	292.272

Subwatershed Hydrology Detail:

Subwatershed Time of Concentration Details:

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#1	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.25	230.00	10,225.40	4.490	0.632
#1	1	Time of Concentration:					0.632
#2	1	9. Small streams flowing bankfull	2.29	305.00	13,340.00	13.600	0.272
#2	1	Time of Concentration:					0.272
#4	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.95	226.00	11,600.45	4.180	0.770
#4	1	Time of Concentration:					0.770
#5	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2,06	210.00	10,200.11	4.300	0.658
#5	1	Time of Concentration:	· · ·				0.658

Filename: Chaco Chinde Watershed Post Mining.sc4

SEDCAD 4 for Windows Convridet 1998 - 2007 Pamela L Schwab

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#6	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.04	272.00	13,360.00	4.280	0.867
#6	1	Time of Concentration:					0.867
#7	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.46	184.00	12,610.00	3.620	0.967
#7	1	Time of Concentration:					0.967
#8	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.02	43.00	4,200.00	3.030	0.385
#8	1	Time of Concentration:					0.385
#9	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.70	540.00	20,000.00	4.920	1.129
#9	1	Time of Concentration:					1.129

Subwatershed Muskingum Routing Details:

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#1	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.25	230.00	10,225.40	4.490	0.632
#1	1	Muskingum K:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				0.632
#2	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.29	305.00	13,340.33	4.530	0.818
#2	1	Muskingum K:					0.818
#3	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.86	302.00	16,250.53	4.080	1.106
#3	1	Muskingum K:	7. 1 . 3				1.106
#4	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.95	226.00	11,600.45	4.180	0.770
#4	1	Muskingum K:					0.770
#5	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.06	210.00	10,200.11	4.300	0.658
#5	1	Muskingum K:					0.658
#6	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.04	272.00	13,360.18	4.280	0.867
#6	1	Muskingum K:					0.867
#7	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.46	184.00	12,610.51	3.620	0.967
#7	1	Muskingum K:		1.12			0.967
#8	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.02	43.00	4,200.03	3.030	0.385
#8	1	Muskingum K:					0.385
#9	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.70	540.00	20,000.00	4.920	1.129
#9	1	Muskingum K:					1.129

Chaco-Chinde Watershed Pre-Mining

OSM

General Information

Storm Information:

Storm Type:	NRCS Type II
Design Storm:	10 yr - 6 hr
Rainfall Depth:	1.300 inches

.

Туре	Stru #	(flows into)	Stru #	Musk. K (hrs)	Musk. X	Description
Null	#1	==>	#4	0.000	0.000	
Null	#2	==>	#5	0.000	0.000	
Null	#3	==>	#7	0.000	0.000	
Null	#4	==>	#8	0.770	0.355	
Null	#5	==>	#8	0.658	0.358	
Null	#6	==>	#9	0.000	0.000	
Null	#7	==>	#9	0.967	0.340	
Null	#8	==>	#9	0.385	0.320	
Null	#9	==>	End	0.000	0.000	

Structure Networkina:



Structure Routing Details:

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#4	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.95	226.00	11,600.00	4.18	0.770
#4	Muskingum K:					0.770
#5	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.06	210.00	10,200.11	4.30	0.658

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#5	Muskingum K:					0.658
#7	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.46	184.00	12,610.00	3.62	0.967
#7	Muskingum K:			_		0.967
#8	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.02	43.00	4,200.00	3.03	0.385
#8	Muskingum K:				· ·	0.385

	Immediate Contributing Area	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Total Runoff Volume
	(ac)	(ac)	(cfs)	(ac-ft)
#2	2,010.000	2,010.000	680,13	59.21
#5	1,100.000	3,110.000	929.94	91.46
#1	1,210.000	1,210.000	298.30	35.44
#4	1,540.000	2,750.000	609.87	80.57
#8	980.000	6,840.000	1,408.08	200.75
#3	1,565.000	1,565.000	221.37	34.36
#7	1,650.000	3,215.000	444.33	70.56
#6	1,235.000	1,235.000	253.21	36.16
#9	2,930.000	14,220.000	2,096.39	385.54

Structure Summary:

Structure Detail:

Structure #2 (Null) Structure #5 (Null)

Structure #1 (Null)

Structure #4 (Null)

Structure #8 (Null)

Structure #3 (Null)

Structure #7 (Null)

Structure #6 (Null)

Structure #9 (Null)

Stru #	SWS #	SWS Area (ac)	Time of Conc (hrs)	Musk K (hrs)	Musk X	Curve Number	UHS ,	Peak Discharge (cfs)	Runoff Volume (ac-ft)
#2	1	2,010.000	0.272	0.818	0,364	88.000	М	779.56	59.208
	Σ	2,010.000						680.13	59.208
#5	1	1,100.000	0.658	0.658	0.358	88.000	М	279.32	32.254
	Σ	3,110.000						929.94	91.462
#1	1	1,210.000	0.632	0.632	0.363	88.000	М	314.58	35.439
	Σ	1,210.000						298.30	35.439
#4	1	1,540.000	0.770	0.770	0.355	88.000	М	355.18	45.129
	Σ	2,750.000						609.87	80.568
#8	1	980.000	0.385	0.385	0.320	88.000	М	329.99	28.722
	Σ	6,840.000						1,408.08	200.752
#3	1	1,565.000	0.900	1.106	0.353	85.000	M	233.04	34.356
	Σ	1,565.000						221.37	34.356
#7	1	1,650.000	0.967	0.967	0.340	85.000	М	234.78	36.208
-	Σ	3,215.000						444.33	70.564
#6	1	1,235.000	0.867	0.867	0.358	88.000	Μ	264.30	36.157
	Σ	1,235.000						253.21	36.157
#9	1	2,930.000	1.129	1.129	0.372	87.000	М	473.76	78.066
	Σ	14,220.000						2,096.39	385.539

Subwatershed Hydrology Detail:

Subwatershed Time of Concentration Details:

	1	Time of Concentration:					0.658
#5	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.06	210.00	10,200.11	4.300	0.658
#4	1	Time of Concentration:					0.770
#4	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.95	226.00	11,600.45	4.180	0.770
#2	1	Time of Concentration:					0.272
#2	1	9. Small streams flowing bankfull	2.29	305.00	13,340.00	13.600	0.272
#1	1	Time of Concentration:					0.632
#1	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.25	230.00	10,225.40	4.490	0.632
.Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)

SEDCAD 4 for Windows Convribit 1998 -2007 Pamela L Schwab

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. <u>(</u> ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#6	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.04	272.00	13,360.00	4.280	0.867
#6	1	Time of Concentration:					0.867
#7	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.46	184.00	12,610.00	3.620	0.967
#7	1	Time of Concentration:					0.967
#8	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.02	43.00	4,200.00	3.030	0.385
#8	1	Time of Concentration:					0.385
#9	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.70	540.00	20,000.00	4.920	1.129
#9	1	Time of Concentration:					1.129

Subwatershed Muskingum Routing Details:

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#1	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.25	230.00	10,225.40	4.490	0.632
#1	1	Muskingum K:					0.632
#2	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.29	305.00	13,340.33	4.530	0.818
#2	1	Muskingum K:					0.818
#3	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.86	302.00	16,250.53	4.080	1.106
#3	1	Muskingum K:			-		1.106
#4	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.95	226.00	11,600.45	4.180	0.770
#4	1	Muskingum K:					0.770
#5	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.06	210.00	10,200.11	4.300	0.658
#5	1	Muskingum K:					0.658
#6	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.04	272.00	13,360.18	4.280	0.867
#6	1	Muskingum K:					0.867
#7	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.46	184.00	12,610.51	3.620	0.967
#7	1	Muskingum K:					0.967
#8	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.02	43.00	4,200.03	3.030	0.385
#8	1	Muskingum K:					0.385
#9	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.70	540.00	20,000.00	4.920	1.129
#9	1	Muskingum K:					1.129

1

Coal Creek Watershed Post-Mining

OSM

General Information

Storm Information:

Storm Type:	NRCS Type II
Design Storm:	10 yr - 6 hr
Rainfall Depth:	1.300 inches

Туре	Stru #	(flows into)	Stru #	Musk. K (hrs)	Musk. X	Description	
Nuli	#10	==>	#11	0.000	0.000		
Null	#11	==>	#12	0.541	0.326		
Null	#12	==>	#17	0.990	0.322		
Null	#13	==>	#18	0.000	0.000		
Null	#14	==>	#18	0.000	0.000		
Null	#15	==>	#17	0.000	0.000		
Null	#16	==>	#17	0.000	0.000		
Nulí	#17	==>	#18	3.667	0.234		
Null	#18	==>	#19	2.962	0.234		
Null	#19	==>	End	0.000	0.000		

Structure Networkina:

		€ ^r	#16		
<u> </u>			NUII		
		Æ	#15		
		~	Null		
				Æ	#10
				$\mathbf{\nabla}$	Null
			Æ	#11	
			$\mathbf{\nabla}$	Null	
		Ā	#12		
		v	Null		
	<u>م</u> ر	#17			
	v	Null			
		#14			
1	V	Null			
	Ą	#13			
	V	Null			
Ā	#18				
$\mathbf{\nabla}$	Null				
#19					
Null					

Structure Routing Details:

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#11	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.13	70.00	6,200.72	3.18	0.541

Stru #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#11	Muskingum K:					0.541
#12	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.05	115.00	10,950.29	3.07	0.990
#12	Muskingum K:				•	0.990
#17	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.25	50.00	19,801.98	1.50	3.667
#17	Muskingum K:					3.667
#18	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.25	40.00	16,000.00	1.50	2.962
#18	Muskingum K:					2.962

.

	Immediate Contributing Area	Total Contributing Area	Peak Discharge	Total Runoff Volume
	(ac)	(ac)	(cfs)	(ac-ft)
#16	7,300.000	7,300.000	467.26	213.70
#15	3,530.000	3,530.000	388.14	103.33
#10	2,860.000	2,860.000	240.25	46.02
#11	3,930.000	6,790.000	500.47	96.60
#12	940.000	7,730.000	523.35	117.35
#17	5,060.000	23,620.000	1,471.57	582,68
#14	1,280.000	1,280.000	261.33	39.01
#13	1,762.000	1,762.000	250.23	53.97
#18	1,590.000	28,252.000	1,383.23	723.18
#19	0.000	28,252.000	1,335.69	723.18

Structure Summary:

Structure Detail:

<u>Structure #16 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #15 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #10 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #11 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #12 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #17 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #14 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #13 (Null)</u> <u>Structure #18 (Null)</u> 6

Subwatershed	' Hydrology	Detail:
--------------	-------------	---------

Stru #	SWS #	SWS Area (ac)	Time of Conc (hrs)	Musk K (hrs)	Musk X	Curve Number	UHS	Peak Discharge (cfs)	Runoff Volume (ac-ft)
#16	1	3,500.000	1.666	1.666	0.319	88.000	М	482.75	102.471
	2	3,800.000	3.588	3.588	0.293	88.000	М	301.20	111.230
	Σ	7,300.000						467.26	213.701
#15	1	3,530.000	2.208	2.208	0.308	88.000	M	397.56	103.325
	Σ	3,530.000						388.14	103.325
#10	1	2,860.000	1.177	1.043	0.355	82.000	М	245.19	46.024
	Σ	2,860.000						240.25	46.024
#11	1	3,930.000	1.084	0.885	0.360	80.000	М	269.11	50.580
	Σ	6,790.000						500.47	96.605
#12	1	940.000	0.268	0.000	0.000	85.000	М	269.99	20.743
	Σ	7,730.000						523.35	117.348
#17	1	5,060.000	0.559	0.559	0.362	88.000	М	1,412.31	148.302
	Σ	23,620.000						1,471.57	582.676
#14	1	780.000	0.667	0.667	0.372	88.000	М	196.46	22.870
	2	500.000	0.308	0.308	0.372	89.000	М	205.13	16.137
	Σ	1,280.000						261.33	39.007
#13	1	940.000	1.151	1.151	0.360	88.000	М	167.40	27.528
	2	822.000	0.533	0.533	0.367	89.000	М	261.43	26.444
	Σ	1,762.000						250.23	53.972
#18	1	1,590.000	0.141	0.141	0.388	88.000	М	732.90	47.524
	Σ	28,252.000						1,383.23	723.179
#19	Σ	28,252.000	<u> </u>					1,335.69	723.179

Subwatershed Time of Concentration Details:

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. <u>(</u> ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#10	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.79	305.00	17,000.16	4.010	1.177
#10	1	Time of Concentration:					1.177
#11	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.88	300.00	15,999.99	4.100	1.084
#11	1	Time of Concentration:					1.084

Filename: Coal Creek Watershed Post Mining.sc4

Convright 1998 -2007 Pamela I. Schwah

Stru #	SŴS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#12	1	5. Nearly bare and untilled, and alluvial valley fans	5.23	115.00	2,200.03	2.280	0.268
#12	1	Time of Concentration:					0.268
#13	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	390.00	18,200.48	4.390	1.151
#13	1	Time of Concentration:					1.151
#13	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.44	220.00	9,000.00	4.690	0.533
#13	2	Time of Concentration:					0.533
#14	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.73	325.00	11,900.40	4.950	0.667
#14	1	Time of Concentration:					0.667
#14	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.73	150.00	5,500.14	4.950	0.308
#14	2	Time of Concentration:					0.308
#15	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.83	180.00	21,702.43	2.730	2.208
#15	1	Time of Concentration:					2.208
#16	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.00	180.00	18,000.00	3.000	1.666
#16	1	Time of Concentration:			``		1.666
#16	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.65	200.00	31,002.94	2.400	3.588
#16	2	Time of Concentration:					3.588
#17	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.22	200.00	9,000.09	4.470	0.559
#17	1	Time of Concentration:					0.559
#18	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	3.83	115.00	3,000.02	5.870	0.141
#18	1	Time of Concentration:					0.141

Subwatershed Muskingum Routing Details:

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist, (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#10	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.94	305.00	15,700.60	4.180	1.043
#10	1	Muskingum K:					1.043
#11	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	300.00	14,000.37	4.390	0.885
#11	1	Muskingum K:					0.885
#13	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.14	390.00	18,200.48	4.390	1.151
#13	1	Muskingum K:				·7	1.151
#13	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.44	220.00	9,000.16	4.690	0.533
#13	2	Muskingum K:					0.533

Filename: Coal Creek Watershed Post Mining.sc4
SEDCAD 4 for Windows Convright 1998 -2007 Pamela 1 Schwab

Stru #	SWS #	Land Flow Condition	Slope (%)	Vert. Dist. (ft)	Horiz. Dist. (ft)	Velocity (fps)	Time (hrs)
#14	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.73	325.00	11,900.40	4.950	0.667
#14	1	Muskingum K:					0.667
#14	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.73	150.00	5,500.14	4.950	0.308
#14	2	Muskingum K:					0.308
#15	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.83	180.00	21,702.43	2.730	2.208
#15	1	Muskingum K:					2.208
#16	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	1.00	180.00	18,000.00	3.000	1.666
#16	1	Muskingum K:					1.666
#16	2	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	0.65	200.00	31,002.94	2.400	3.588
#16	2	Muskingum K:					3.588
#17	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	2.22	200.00	9,000.09	4.470	0.559
#17	1	Muskingum K:					0.559
#18	1	8. Large gullies, diversions, and low flowing streams	3.83	115.00	3,000.02	5.870	0.141
#18	1	Muskingum K:					0.141



Well	n (% Not Dry)	% Not Dry	n (Water Level)	Water Level Range (ft MSL)	Median	MAD	Average	StDev	%RSD	Q3	Q1	95th%	5th%
CUSTER-4	8	25	2	(5358.27-5340.26)	5349.27	9.01	5349.27	12.73	0.24	5353.77	5344.76	5357.37	5341.16
CUSTER-4	8	25	2	(5358.27-5340.26)	5349.27	9.01	5349.27	12.73	0.24	5353.77	5344.76	5357.37	5341.16
BIGHAN-1	21	100	12	(5416.16-5413.51)	5414.08	0.51	5414.37	0.90	0.02	5414.86	5413.69	5415.83	5413.52
BIGHAN-1	21	100	12	(5416.16-5413.51)	5414.08	0.51	5414.37	0.90	0.02	5414.86	5413.69	5415.83	5413.52
CUSTER-1	8	25	2	(5335.18-5318.17)	5326.68	8.51	5326.68	12.03	0.23	5330.93	5322.42	5334.33	5319.02
CUSTER-1	8	25	2	(5335.18-5318.17)	5326.68	8.51	5326.68	12.03	0.23	5330.93	5322.42	5334.33	5319.02
QAC-1	110	100	61	(5192.92-5188.12)	5189.95	0.68	5190.24	1.06	0.02	5191.02	5189.37	5192.18	5188.95
QAC-1	110	100	61	(5192.92-5188.12)	5189.95	0.68	5190.24	1.06	0.02	5191.02	5189.37	5192.18	5188.95
QACW-1	48	54	15	(5280.79-5279.08)	5279.46	0.08	5279.59	0.44	0.01	5279.54	5279.38	5280.43	5279.23
QACW-1	48	54	15	(5280.79-5279.08)	5279.46	0.08	5279.59	0.44	0.01	5279.54	5279.38	5280.43	5279.23
QACW-2	59	66	20	(5192.34-5179.93)	5187.22	0.50	5185.82	3.12	0.06	5187.39	5184.54	5188.04	5180.22
QACW-2	59	66	20	(5192.34-5179.93)	5187.22	0.50	5185.82	3.12	0.06	5187.39	5184.54	5188.04	5180.22
QACW-2B	44	100	36	(5236.64-5230.)	5235.73	0.48	5235.33	1.66	0.03	5236.22	5235.27	5236.60	5230.41
QACW-2B	44	100	36	(5236.64-5230.)	5235.73	0.48	5235.33	1.66	0.03	5236.22	5235.27	5236.60	5230.41
PA-1	27	96	23	(5341.9-5340.7)	5341.20	0.30	5341.23	0.37	0.01	5341.49	5340.90	5341.88	5340.76
PA-1	27	96	23	(5341.9-5340.7)	5341.20	0.30	5341.23	0.37	0.01	5341.49	5340.90	5341.88	5340.76
PA-2	28	100	22	(5426.43-5422.23)	5423.19	0.48	5423.34	1.03	0.02	5423.54	5422.69	5425.82	5422.40
PA-2	28	100	22	(5426.43-5422.23)	5423.19	0.48	5423.34	1.03	0.02	5423.54	5422.69	5425.82	5422.40
NNA-1	26	27	6	(5418.76-5417.93)	5418.40	0.12	5418.38	0.27	0.01	5418.49	5418.32	5418.70	5418.02
NNA-1	26	27	6	(5418.76-5417.93)	5418.40	0.12	5418.38	0.27	0.01	5418.49	5418.32	5418.70	5418.02



Appendix F: Groundwater Data Summary



Appendix F: Groundwater Data Summary















Chaco Alluvial Wells (GM-24, GM-25 and GM-34)	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Li ^r C Exc	vestock Criteria Ceedance
(101-34)								Deviation			n	%
рН	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	18	(6.5-8.1)	7.67	0.1	7.61	0.35	4.59	7.72	8.10	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	18	(135024300.)	4500	2590	6687	7207	108	6360	23875	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.005-0.4)	0.01	0.005	0.091	0.136	149.689	0.150	0.400	4	21
Boron	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.05-1.1)	0.3	0.1	0.32	0.23	74.27	0.39	0.65	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0005	0	0.0026	0.0023	87.7211	0.0050	0.0050	0	0
Chromium												
Copper	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.002-0.496)	0.008	0.006	0.037	0.111	298.734	0.020	0.081	0	0
Iron (total)												
Lead	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.0005-0.13)	0.003	0.0025	0.0192	0.0326	169.9202	0.0250	0.0715	1	5
Manganese	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.055-4.6)	1.98	0.74	1.863	1.286692	69.0656	2.25	4.06	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	18	(0.000014-0.013)	0.000225	0.000025	0.00112	0.00300	267.85978	0.00063	0.00365	1	6
Selenium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.0005-0.25)	0.005	0	0.037	0.068	182.443	0.025	0.160	3	16
Zinc	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	19	(0.012-0.864)	0.076	0.054	0.187	0.263	141.028	0.159	0.838	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	18	(5920.)	86.5	81.05	267	305	114	503	835	2	11
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	18	(0.48-2.1)	0.86	0.335	1.01	0.43	42.24	1.29	1.59	1	6
Nitrate	(05/19/1976-03/04/1977)	7	(0.05-0.51)	0.2	0.15	0.25	0.20	78.26	0.41	0.51	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	18	(38424443.)	1800	1271	3549	5737	162	2900	11274	12	67
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	18	(121654730.)	4101.5	1802.5	10079	14692	146	6167	37399	13	72
Radium (pCi/l)												

Chaco Alluvial	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Percent Relative	Q3	95 th	Liv C	vestock Criteria
well Givi-24							Deviation	Deviation		Percentile	EXC n	eedance %
рН	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(8.1-8.1)	7.6	0.2	7.49	0.51	6.79	7.75	8.01	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(28002800.)	1670	110	1904	559	29	2150	2740	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(0.4-0.4)	0.01	0.005	0.118	0.157	133.234	0.200	0.355	2	29
Boron	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(1.1-1.1)	0.3	0.2	0.39	0.36	91.51	0.47	0.95	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(0.005-0.005)	0.005	0	0.0031	0.0024	78.3138	0.0050	0.0050	0	0
Chromium												
Copper	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(0.025-0.025)	0.005	0.002	0.011	0.009	83.308	0.018	0.024	0	0
Iron (total)												
Lead	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(0.13-0.13)	0.005	0.0045	0.0269	0.0467	173.5468	0.0250	0.0985	1	14
Manganese	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(2.4-2.4)	1.42	0.58	1.286	0.8303	64.56457	1.75	2.28	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-08/06/1976)	6	(0.001-0.001)	0.000225	0.00003	0.00038	0.00032	84.57580	0.00037	0.00085	0	0
Selenium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(0.15-0.15)	0.01	0.005	0.032	0.053	164.099	0.025	0.113	1	14
Zinc	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(0.864-0.864)	0.05	0.026	0.154	0.314	203.615	0.054	0.622	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-08/06/1976)	6	(820820.)	23	15.05	224	342	153	353	730	1	17
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-08/06/1976)	6	(1.1-1.1)	0.8	0.03	0.80	0.18	22.65	0.82	1.03	0	0
Nitrate	(05/19/1976-08/06/1976)	2	(0.51-0.51)	0.355	0.155	0.36	0.22	61.75	0.43	0.49	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-08/06/1976)	6	(14001400.)	606	191.5	790	452	57	1161	1375	2	33
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-08/06/1976)	6	(31943194.)	1663.5	446.5	1944	832	43	2505	3073	1	17
Radium (pCi/l)												

Chaco Alluvial	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Percent Relative	Q3	95 th	Li [.] C	vestock Criteria
Well GM-25			0			0 -	Deviation	Standard	- • •	Percentile	Exc	eedance
	144 146 14074 02 102 14077)		(7.0.7.0)	7.675	0.05	7 74	0.40	Deviation	7 75	7.07	n	%
рн	(11/16/19/4-03/03/19/7)	4	(7.9-7.9)	7.675	0.05	/./1	0.13	1.70	7.75	7.87	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(2430024300.)	18915	5135	18520	6445	35	23925	24225	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.25-0.25)	0.015	0.0075	0.071	0.119	167.480	0.078	0.216	1	25
Boron	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.4-0.4)	0.39	0.01	0.32	0.15	45.93	0.40	0.40	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.005-0.005)	0.0005	0	0.0016	0.0023	138.4615	0.0016	0.0043	0	0
Chromium											0	0
Copper	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.035-0.035)	0.01	0.0035	0.015	0.014	90.921	0.018	0.032	0	0
Iron (total)											0	0
Lead	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.025-0.025)	0.002	0.00125	0.0074	0.0118	159.9938	0.0085	0.0217	0	0
Manganese	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(44.)	2.99	0.96	2.99	1.110015	37.12425	3.925	3.985	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.00025-0.00025)	0.0002	0	0.00021	0.00003	11.76471	0.00021	0.00024	0	0
Selenium	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.025-0.025)	0.005	0.00225	0.009	0.011	123.463	0.010	0.022	0	0
Zinc	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.177-0.177)	0.0835	0.0205	0.099	0.055	55.844	0.113	0.164	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(920920.)	596.5	41.35	658	179	27	680	872	1	25
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(0.9-0.9)	0.68	0.14	0.69	0.18	26.80	0.80	0.88	0	0
Nitrate	(05/19/1976-03/03/1977)	3	(0.51-0.51)	0.3	0.21	0.29	0.23	80.33	0.41	0.49	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(2444324443.)	8318.5	4259.5	10378	10100	97	12823	22119	3	75
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-03/03/1977)	4	(5473054730.)	32142.5	9459.5	33609	16236	48	39438	51672	4	100
Radium (pCi/l)												

Chaco Alluvial	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Percent Relative	03	95 th	Li [.] C	vestock Criteria
Well GM-34	Dutto		nunge			,	Deviation	Standard	4.5	Percentile	Exc	eedance
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(8.1-8.1)	7.69	0.04	7.68	0.22	2.86	7.71	7.99	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	7	(68806880.)	4790	190	4707	1222	26	4800	6256	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.4-0.4)	0.015	0.01	0.078	0.139	179.622	0.056	0.313	1	13
Boron	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.4-0.4)	0.28	0.065	0.25	0.11	44.69	0.31	0.38	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.005-0.005)	0.00275	0.00225	0.0028	0.0024	87.4673	0.0050	0.0050	0	0
Chromium												
Copper	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.496-0.496)	0.0115	0.009	0.072	0.172	239.695	0.021	0.331	0	0
Iron (total)												
Lead	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.065-0.065)	0.00275	0.00225	0.0184	0.0258	140.6399	0.0313	0.0598	0	0
Manganese	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(4.6-4.6)	1.67	0.9	1.804375	1.440688	79.84415	2.275	3.97	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.013-0.013)	0.000475	0.000275	0.00213	0.00444	207.95377	0.00103	0.00915	1	13
Selenium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.25-0.25)	0.005	0	0.056	0.093	165.189	0.056	0.215	2	25
Zinc	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(0.835-0.835)	0.136	0.075	0.260	0.285	109.806	0.290	0.739	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(306306.)	67.4	26.5	105	97	92	123	265	0	0
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(2.1-2.1)	1.3	0.115	1.32	0.44	33.10	1.45	1.89	1	13
Nitrate	(10/06/1976-03/04/1977)	2	(0.14-0.14)	0.095	0.045	0.10	0.06	66.99	0.12	0.14	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(33803380.)	2329	529	2204	906	41	2676	3251	7	88
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	8	(67286728.)	4209.5	219	4414	984	22	4386	5942	8	100
Radium (pCi/l)												

											E	xceed	ance	of
												Crit	eria	
								Percent					Cot	ton-
Area I Alluvial	Dates	n	Range	Median	ΜΔΟ	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th		vo	w	ood
Well GM-7	Dates		Nange	Wiedian		Average	Deviation	Standard	Q.5	Percentile	LI ct	ve- ock	Bas	eline
								Deviation			50	UCK	Med	lian +
												-	21	/IAD
											n	%	n	%
рН	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(7.1-7.9)	7.525	0.35	7.51	0.42	5.60	7.86	7.89	0	0	1	25
Conductivity	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	Δ	(2630 -4500)	3530	510	3548	770	22	3863	4373	0	0	1	25
(umho/cm)	(05/24/15/5 10/10/15/0/	۲	(2030. 4300.)	3330	510	3340	//0	~~~	5005	4575	0	Ŭ	-	23
Arsenic	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.005-0.4)	0.0125	0.0075	0.108	0.195	181.515	0.115	0.343	1	25	4	100
Boron	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.05-0.75)	0.45	0.175	0.43	0.29	68.26	0.56	0.71	0	0	3	75
Cadmium	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.0005-0.005)	0.00275	0.00225	0.0028	0.0026	94.4755	0.0050	0.0050	0	0	0	0
Chromium											0	0	0	0
Copper	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.008-0.025)	0.014	0.006	0.015	0.009	56.504	0.021	0.024	0	0	0	0
Iron (total)											0	0	0	0
Lead	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.0005-0.025)	0.00275	0.00225	0.0078	0.0117	150.8905	0.0100	0.0220	0	0	1	25
Manganese	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.012-0.047)	0.0195	0.0065	0.0245	0.016052	65.51836	0.0305	0.0437	0	0	0	0
Mercury	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.0002-0.001)	0.00022	0.00002	0.00041	0.00039	96.04513	0.00043	0.00089	0	0	0	0
Selenium	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.005-0.25)	0.005	0	0.066	0.123	184.906	0.066	0.213	1	25	1	25
Zinc	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(0.075-0.12)	0.0945	0.017	0.096	0.022	22.838	0.112	0.118	0	0	0	0
Chloride	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(180650.)	204	14	310	227	73	319	584	1	25	4	100
Fluoride	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(4.62-6.)	5.63	0.37	5.47	0.67	12.17	6.00	6.00	4	100	4	100
Nitrate	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	3	(0.5-1.62)	0.79	0.29	0.97	0.58	59.93	1.21	1.54	0	0	1	33
Sulfate	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(7301706.)	1290	253	1254	407	32	1462	1657	3	75	0	0
TDS - 180°C	(03/24/1975-10/16/1976)	4	(25833027.)	2700.5	65	2753	191	7	2792	2980	1	25	0	0
Radium (pCi/l)														

											E	xceed	ance	of
												Crit	eria	
Area I Alluvial								Percent					Cot	ton-
Woll	Dates	n	Pango	Modian	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th			w	ood
Bighan-1	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	Percentile	다	ve- ock	Bas	eline
Digitati-1								Deviation			51	UCK	Med	lian +
													2N	/IAD
											n	%	n	%
рН	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	21	(7.6-8.17)	7.95	0.05	7.92	0.15	1.84	8.00	8.10	0	0	0	0
Conductivity	(02/01/1005-02/07/2001)	20	(1460-2260)	1760	65	1910	102	11	1005	2222	0	0	0	0
(umho/cm)	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(14002200.)	1700	00	1010	198	11	1905	2252	0	U	0	U
Arsenic	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	19	(0.0005-0.019)	0.0025	0	0.004	0.004	109.574	0.003	0.006	0	0	18	95
Boron	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(0.99-1.67)	1.4	0.205	1.39	0.20	14.42	1.57	1.63	0	0	20	100
Cadmium	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(0.0005-0.0025)	0.001	0.0005	0.0010	0.0006	62.8281	0.0010	0.0025	0	0	0	0
Chromium	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	19	(0.0025-0.03)	0.005	0.0025	0.008289	0.005896	71.12221	0.01	0.012	0	0	1	5
Copper	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	19	(0.0025-0.005)	0.005	0	0.005	0.001	16.641	0.005	0.005	0	0	0	0
Iron (total)	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(0.05-58.)	1.7	0.975	6.4595	13.30538	205.9816	4.77	25.51	0	0	10	50
Lead	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(0.002-0.005)	0.0025	0	0.0026	0.0006	22.1473	0.0025	0.0026	0	0	0	0
Manganese	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(0.0025-0.15)	0.01	0.00625	0.02515	0.032966	131.0765	0.0265	0.0645	0	0	0	0
Mercury	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	19	(0.00005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.00045	0.00014	31.34686	0.00050	0.00050	0	0	0	0
Selenium	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(0.01-0.026)	0.016	0.003	0.017	0.004	26.237	0.020	0.026	0	0	20	100
Zinc	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	19	(0.0025-0.05)	0.01	0.005	0.014	0.011	74.977	0.020	0.027	0	0	0	0
Chloride	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(1259.)	29	9	30	12	42	36	50	0	0	0	0
Fluoride	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(4.81-21.)	9.045	0.785	10.06	3.71	36.86	10.13	19.10	20	100	20	100
Nitrate	(03/01/1995-03/12/1997)	11	(23.3-30.2)	28.5	0.7	28.45	1.90	6.69	29.70	30.10	11	100	11	100
Sulfate	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	20	(260428.)	328	26.5	334	50	15	347	424	0	0	0	0
TDS - 180°C	(03/01/1995-08/07/2001)	13	(10201360.)	1250	70	1232	100	8	1310	1360	0	0	0	0
Radium (pCi/l)	(01/04/1996-03/30/1998)	9	(0.7-3.6)	1.8	0.2	1.81	0.83	46	1.9	3.04	0	0	1	11

											E	xceed	lance	of
												Crit	teria	
Chinde Alluvial								Percent					Cot	ton-
Wells (GM-9,	Dates	n	Range	Median	ΜΔΟ		Standard	Relative	03	95 th		vo-	w	bod
GM-10,	Dates	"	Nullec	Wicdian	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	ζ,j	Percentile	st	ock	Bas	eline
QAC-1)								Deviation			50	JUK	Med	lian +
													2IV	1AD
											n	%	n	%
рН	(03/23/1975-09/24/2008)	106	(6.45-8.19)	7.295	0.195	7.37	0.30	4.08	7.58	7.88	1	1	25	24
Conductivity	(03/23/1975-09/24/2008)	106	(1280 -26700)	18050	4050	16998	6010	35	21500	25075	0	0	100	94
(umho/cm)	(03/23/13/3 03/24/2000)	100	(1200: 20700.)	10050	+050	10550	0010		21500	25075	Ŭ		100	
Arsenic	(03/23/1975-09/09/2002)	69	(0.00005-0.4)	0.0005	0.0003	0.009	0.048	553.434	0.003	0.013	1	1	30	43
/	(03/23/13/3 03/03/2002)	0.5	(0.00000 0.1)		0.0005	0.005	0.010	5551151	0.000	0.010	-	-	50	
Boron	(03/23/1975-09/09/2002)	89	(0.05-2.92)	1.42	0.12	1.30	0.41	31.49	1.50	1.60	0	0	87	98
Cadmium	(03/23/1975-09/09/2002)	90	(0.00005-0.12)	0.0025	0.002	0.0059	0.0141	238.4930	0.0045	0.0250	1	1	14	16
Chromium	(09/10/1979-09/09/2002)	41	(0.002-0.13)	0.02	0.01	0.022634	0.024737	109.2912	0.03	0.06	0	0	21	51
Copper	(03/23/1975-09/09/2002)	37	(0.002-0.28)	0.02	0.015	0.038	0.062	163.496	0.025	0.190	0	0	7	19
Iron (total)	(09/10/1979-09/09/2002)	54	(0.01-70.)	2.855	1.62	6.416111	12.28497	191.4706	6.275	24.065	0	0	40	74
Lead	(03/23/1975-09/09/2002)	66	(0.0005-0.43)	0.009	0.0065	0.0325	0.0784	241.6349	0.0195	0.2325	5	8	34	52
Manganese	(03/23/1975-09/09/2002)	90	(0.019-11.9)	4.695	0.675	4.2198	2.359095	55.90539	5.33	6.8	0	0	79	88
Mercury	(03/23/1975-03/06/2002)	35	(0.0000005-0.001)	0.0001	0.00007	0.00020	0.00023	114.31215	0.00021	0.00050	0	0	0	0
Selenium	(03/23/1975-09/24/2008)	114	(0.000005-0.5)	0.002	0.0015	0.022	0.065	291.804	0.005	0.100	8	7	28	25
Zinc	(03/23/1975-03/06/2002)	67	(0.0025-5.3)	0.05	0.0475	0.394	0.935	237.204	0.246	2.294	0	0	6	9
Chloride	(03/23/1975-09/24/2008)	113	(2005400.)	3730	820	3467	1418	41	4640	5100	104	92	113	100
Fluoride	(03/23/1975-09/09/2002)	90	(0.005-7.5)	0.84	0.135	1.33	1.35	101.85	1.02	4.60	10	11	10	11
Nitrate	(03/23/1975-12/05/1996)	33	(0.06-36.4)	0.37	0.27	1.70	6.26	367.51	0.73	2.10	1	3	6	18
Sulfate	(03/23/1975-03/23/2006)	103	(4406565.)	4300	500	4169	1018	24	4825	5390	101	98	98	95
TDS - 180°C	(03/23/1975-09/24/2008)	112	(83017200.)	12700	1250	12281	3129	25	14300	15700	110	98	109	97
Radium (pCi/l)	(09/16/1985-12/15/1999)	28	(0.2-22.3)	1.8	1.85	4.87	5.77	118	4.375	19.145	0	0	14	50

											E	xceed	ance	of
												Crit	eria	
								Percent					Cot	tton-
Chinde Alluvial	Dates	n	Range	Median	ΜΔΟ	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	11	vo-	w	ood
Wells GM-9	Dates		Nalige	Wieulan		Average	Deviation	Standard	CD	Percentile	ct.	vc- ock	Bas	eline
								Deviation			30	UCK	Med	lian +
													21	/IAD
											n	%	n	%
рН														
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)														
Arsenic	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.0005-0.0008)	0.0008	0	0.001	0.000	24.744	0.001	0.001	0	0	2	67
Boron	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.11-0.51)	0.3	0.19	0.31	0.20	65.24	0.41	0.49	0	0	2	67
Cadmium	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.0005-0.005)	0.005	0	0.0035	0.0026	74.2307	0.0050	0.0050	0	0	0	0
Chromium	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.004-0.04)	0.03	0.01	0.024667	0.018583	75.33708	0.035	0.039	0	0	2	67
Copper	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.005-0.12)	0.02	0.015	0.048	0.063	129.345	0.070	0.110	0	0	1	33
Iron (total)	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.01-0.06)	0.06	0	0.043333	0.028868	66.61734	0.06	0.06	0	0	0	0
Lead	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.014-0.43)	0.03	0.016	0.1580	0.2357	149.1739	0.2300	0.3900	1	33	3	100
Manganese	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.06-1.02)	0.19	0.13	0.423333	0.520801	123.0238	0.605	0.937	0	0	1	33
Mercury	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.00004-0.00019)	0.0001	0.00006	0.00011	0.00008	68.63486	0.00015	0.00018	0	0	0	0
Selenium	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.0006-0.002)	0.0016	0.0004	0.001	0.001	51.508	0.002	0.002	0	0	0	0
Zinc	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.03-3.)	0.13	0.1	1.053	1.687	160.121	1.565	2.713	0	0	1	33
Chloride	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(211227.)	218	7	219	8	4	223	226	0	0	3	100
Fluoride	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(1.38-1.8)	1.6	0.2	1.59	0.21	13.18	1.70	1.78	0	0	0	0
Nitrate	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(0.59-1.9)	1.5	0.4	1.33	0.67	50.48	1.70	1.86	0	0	2	67
Sulfate	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(4406565.)	5440	1125	4148	3260	79	6003	6453	2	67	2	67
TDS - 180°C	(09/10/1979-09/23/1980)	3	(83010060.)	9235	825	6708	5107	76	9648	9978	2	67	2	67
Radium (pCi/l)														

											E	xceed	ance	of
												Crit	eria	
								Percent					Cot	ton-
Chinde Alluvial	Dates	n	Range	Median	ΜΔΟ	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	Li	vo-	w	bod
Wells GM-10	Dates	"	Nange	Wieulan		Average	Deviation	Standard	CD	Percentile	ct/	ock	Bas	eline
								Deviation			30	UCK	Med	lian +
													2N	IAD
											n	%	n	%
рН	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	10	(6.45-7.5)	6.95	0.15	6.98	0.28	4.02	7.10	7.37	1	10	8	80
Conductivity	(02/22/1075-00/20/1082)	10	(3600 -18600)	4650	665	6427	4521	70	6850	12820	0	0	6	60
(umho/cm)	(03/23/19/3-09/29/1982)	10	(300018000.)	4030	005	0437	4321	70	0690	13030	0	0	0	00
Arsenic	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.00005-0.4)	0.0002	0.00015	0.030	0.103	347.986	0.003	0.141	1	7	5	33
Boron	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	14	(0.05-1.33)	0.73	0.145	0.73	0.33	45.72	0.84	1.31	0	0	13	93
Cadmium	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.00005-0.01)	0.001	0.00095	0.0028	0.0034	120.6141	0.0050	0.0100	0	0	2	13
Chromium	(09/10/1979-09/29/1982)	11	(0.005-0.13)	0.03	0.01	0.038182	0.034516	90.3994	0.04	0.095	0	0	9	82
Copper	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.002-0.187)	0.01	0.008	0.031	0.051	165.875	0.025	0.133	0	0	2	13
Iron (total)	(09/10/1979-09/29/1982)	10	(0.05-70.)	7.87	7.17	15.398	22.22039	144.307	15.575	55.15	0	0	6	60
Lead	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.0005-0.27)	0.005	0.004	0.0321	0.0722	225.1755	0.0100	0.1650	2	13	7	47
Manganese	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.08-0.92)	0.47	0.267	0.4742	0.282505	59.575	0.7	0.885	0	0	8	53
Mercury	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.0000005-0.001)	0.00011	0.00009	0.00016	0.00025	155.37990	0.00018	0.00045	0	0	0	0
Selenium	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.000005-0.25)	0.0005	0.00045	0.031	0.079	253.382	0.005	0.215	2	13	2	13
Zinc	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.22-5.3)	0.56	0.21	1.212	1.529	126.122	1.005	4.432	0	0	4	27
Chloride	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(2004190.)	660	280	1076	1069	99	1280	2797	9	60	15	100
Fluoride	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.6-5.8)	0.72	0.08	1.10	1.31	118.25	0.87	2.51	1	7	1	7
Nitrate	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(0.1-2.)	0.45	0.25	0.66	0.61	92.55	0.89	1.82	0	0	2	13
Sulfate	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(13404090.)	2915	285	2819	775	27	3190	3845	15	100	12	80
TDS - 180°C	(03/23/1975-09/29/1982)	15	(290313200.)	6075	1065	6401	2572	40	7295	10351	14	93	13	87
Radium (pCi/l)														

											Ε	xceed	ance	of
												Crit	eria	
								Percent					Cot	ton-
Chinde Alluvial	Datas	~	Pango	Modian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th			w	ood
Wells QAC-1	Dates		Nalige	IVICUIAII	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	CD.	Percentile		ve-	Bas	eline
								Deviation			50	UCK	Med	lian +
													2N	/IAD
											n	%	n	%
рН	(09/16/1985-09/24/2008)	96	(6.885-8.19)	7.325	0.175	7.41	0.27	3.69	7.59	7.88	0	0	17	18
Conductivity	(00/16/1085-00/24/2008)	96	(1280-26700)	19/50	4450	12002	5002	28	21925	25100	0	0	04	00
(umho/cm)	(09/10/1985-09/24/2008)	50	(128020700.)	10430	4450	10050	2002	20	21025	23100	0	0	94	30
Arsenic	(09/16/1985-09/09/2002)	51	(0.0005-0.05)	0.0005	0	0.003	0.007	236.973	0.003	0.011	0	0	23	45
Boron	(09/16/1985-09/09/2002)	72	(0.74-2.92)	1.455	0.07	1.45	0.24	16.38	1.53	1.62	0	0	72	100
Cadmium	(09/16/1985-09/09/2002)	72	(0.0005-0.12)	0.0025	0.0015	0.0067	0.0156	234.7339	0.0030	0.0250	1	1	12	17
Chromium	(09/16/1985-09/09/2002)	27	(0.002-0.09)	0.01	0.005	0.016074	0.017584	109.3951	0.025	0.0299	0	0	10	37
Copper	(12/11/1997-09/09/2002)	19	(0.0025-0.28)	0.025	0.02	0.042	0.072	170.750	0.025	0.208	0	0	4	21
Iron (total)	(12/17/1992-09/09/2002)	41	(0.29-51.7)	3.11	1.29	4.691707	7.912922	168.6576	4.43	8.9	0	0	34	83
Lead	(09/16/1985-09/09/2002)	48	(0.0005-0.32)	0.008	0.0055	0.0247	0.0594	239.9986	0.0185	0.0700	2	4	24	50
Manganese	(09/16/1985-09/09/2002)	72	(0.019-11.9)	5.05	0.55	5.158319	1.576917	30.57037	5.5625	6.935	0	0	70	97
Mercury	(12/11/1997-03/06/2002)	17	(0.00005-0.0005)	0.0001	0.00005	0.00025	0.00022	89.50370	0.00050	0.00050	0	0	0	0
Selenium	(09/16/1985-09/24/2008)	96	(0.0005-0.5)	0.0025	0.002	0.021	0.064	296.536	0.014	0.100	6	6	26	27
Zinc	(09/16/1985-03/06/2002)	49	(0.0025-2.)	0.025	0.0125	0.104	0.284	274.178	0.125	0.241	0	0	1	2
Chloride	(09/16/1985-09/24/2008)	95	(12005400.)	3910	750	3947	862	22	4725	5100	95	100	95	100
Fluoride	(09/16/1985-09/09/2002)	72	(0.005-7.5)	0.85	0.12	1.36	1.39	102.16	1.01	4.60	9	13	9	13
Nitrate	(12/13/1990-12/05/1996)	15	(0.06-36.4)	0.23	0.15	2.82	9.31	329.67	0.70	12.49	1	7	2	13
Sulfate	(09/16/1985-03/23/2006)	85	(5005700.)	4380	370	4408	723	16	4900	5300	84	99	84	99
TDS - 180°C	(09/16/1985-09/24/2008)	94	(770017200.)	13000	1050	13397	1513	11	14575	15770	94	100	94	100
Radium (pCi/l)	(09/16/1985-12/15/1999)	28	(0.2-22.3)	1.8	1.85	4.87	5.77	118	4.375	19.145	0	0	14	50

Cottonwood Alluvial Wells (GM-17, GM- 16, QACW-2, and QACW-2B)	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Li' C Exc	vestock riteria eedance
nH	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	51	(6.1-8.39)	77	0.25	7 64	0.45	5 88	7 95	8 17	n 1	% 2
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	44	(172013200.)	3695	360	4003	2155	54	4043	4864	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	36	(0.0005-0.4)	0.0005	0	0.029	0.085	291.402	0.003	0.207	2	6
Boron	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	57	(0.005-1.4)	0.13	0.05	0.21	0.25	121.72	0.20	0.66	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	44	(0.0005-0.02)	0.0025	0.0015	0.0029	0.0035	118.7268	0.0030	0.0094	0	0
Chromium	(09/19/1990-03/10/1999)	12	(0.005-0.12)	0.0075	0.0025	0.016667	0.032637	195.82	0.01	0.0595	0	0
Copper	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	14	(0.0005-0.15)	0.02	0.01	0.026	0.037	143.773	0.029	0.072	0	0
Iron (total)	(09/10/1979-03/10/1999)	29	(0.01-41.4)	0.62	0.56	3.67931	8.874139	241.1903	2.12	19.6	0	0
Lead	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	28	(0.0005-0.1)	0.0025	0.00175	0.0120	0.0217	180.5377	0.0100	0.0510	0	0
Manganese	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	59	(0.005-4.95)	0.11	0.105	0.669542	1.046685	156.3285	0.765	2.731	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	14	(0.000043-0.0029)	0.0005	0.0003	0.00080	0.00078	97.90787	0.00100	0.00232	0	0
Selenium	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	54	(0.00005-0.25)	0.0025	0.0015	0.010	0.039	397.595	0.003	0.012	2	4
Zinc	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	36	(0.0125-21.9)	0.2915	0.2665	1.221	3.684	301.785	0.885	3.200	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	59	(0.7-800.)	124	23	137	132	96	145	268	2	3
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	58	(0.1-6.2)	1.38	0.475	1.69	1.21	71.48	2.08	4.12	15	26
Nitrate	(03/27/1975-03/27/1997)	26	(0.005-4.56)	0.505	0.42	0.73	0.98	133.58	1.02	2.28	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-03/10/1999)	58	(7409810.)	1730	340	2952	2916	99	2290	9572	53	91
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-12/08/1998)	58	(210.5-16000.)	3035	423.5	5101	4763	93	3920	15615	32	55
Radium (pCi/l)	(06/18/1987-06/09/1992)	17	(0.1-6.8)	1.2	1	1.78	1.70	95	2.6	4.24	0	0

Cottonwood Alluvial Wells GM-17	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Li C Exc	vestock Criteria Seedance
Hq	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	7	(6.1-7.4)	6.9	0.2	6.84	0.42	6.19	7.10	7.31	1	14
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(10/14/1975-05/18/1976)	2	(1320013200.)	13200	0	13200	0		13200	13200	0	0
Arsenic	(10/14/1975-05/18/1976)	2	(0.005-0.01)	0.0075	0.0025	0.008	0.004	47.140	0.009	0.010	0	0
Boron	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(0.005-0.66)	0.28	0.12	0.27	0.19	71.15	0.31	0.59	0	0
Cadmium	(10/14/1975-05/18/1976)	2	(0.002-0.005)	0.0035	0.0015	0.0035	0.0021	60.6092	0.0043	0.0049	0	0
Chromium											0	0
Copper	(10/14/1975-05/18/1976)	2	(0.021-0.025)	0.023	0.002	0.023	0.003	12.298	0.024	0.025	0	0
Iron (total)	(09/10/1979-09/29/1982)	9	(0.05-10.)	0.62	0.57	2.766667	3.794799	137.1614	4.75	9.08	0	0
Lead	(10/14/1975-05/18/1976)	2	(0.006-0.025)	0.0155	0.0095	0.0155	0.0134	86.6776	0.0203	0.0241	0	0
Manganese	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(0.005-2.7)	1.02	1.015	1.124091	1.114656	99.16071	2.18	2.5	0	0
Mercury	(10/14/1975-05/18/1976)	2	(0.0002-0.001)	0.0006	0.0004	0.00060	0.00057	94.28090	0.00080	0.00096	0	0
Selenium	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(0.00005-0.005)	0.0004	0.00035	0.002	0.002	131.698	0.003	0.005	0	0
Zinc	(10/14/1975-05/18/1976)	2	(0.05-0.11)	0.08	0.03	0.080	0.042	53.033	0.095	0.107	0	0
Chloride	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(1.5-430.)	113	15	135	112	83	125	329	0	0
Fluoride	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(0.1-0.89)	0.3	0.2	0.35	0.24	70.59	0.45	0.75	0	0
Nitrate	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(0.5-4.56)	1.03	0.27	1.23	1.14	92.84	1.14	2.93	0	0
Sulfate	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(24539810.)	9308	332	8535	2221	26	9600	9785	11	100
TDS - 180°C	(10/14/1975-09/29/1982)	11	(562916000.)	15210	490	14381	2957	21	15650	15950	11	100
Radium (pCi/l)												

Cottonwood Alluvial Wells GM-16	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Li ⁿ C Exc	vestock Friteria Seedance %
рН	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(7.1-7.1)	7.1	0	7.10			7.10	7.10	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(45004500.)	4500	0	4500			4500	4500	0	0
Arsenic	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.4-0.4)	0.4	0	0.400			0.400	0.400	1	100
Boron	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(1.2-1.2)	1.2	0	1.20			1.20	1.20	0	0
Cadmium	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.01-0.01)	0.01	0	0.0100			0.0100	0.0100	0	0
Chromium												
Copper	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.02-0.02)	0.02	0	0.020			0.020	0.020	0	0
Iron (total)												
Lead	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.005-0.005)	0.005	0	0.0050			0.0050	0.0050	0	0
Manganese	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.23-0.23)	0.23	0	0.23			0.23	0.23	0	0
Mercury	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.0029-0.0029)	0.0029	0	0.00290			0.00290	0.00290	0	0
Selenium	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.25-0.25)	0.25	0	0.250			0.250	0.250	1	100
Zinc	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.062-0.062)	0.062	0	0.062			0.062	0.062	0	0
Chloride	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(650650.)	650	0	650			650	650	1	100
Fluoride	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(1.3-1.3)	1.3	0	1.30			1.30	1.30	0	0
Nitrate	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(0.5-0.5)	0.5	0	0.50			0.50	0.50	0	0
Sulfate	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(23002300.)	2300	0	2300			2300	2300	1	100
TDS - 180°C	(03/27/1975-03/27/1975)	1	(48234823.)	4823	0	4823			4823	4823	1	100
Radium (pCi/l)												

Cottonwood Alluvial Wells QACW-2	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Liv C Exc	vestock :riteria :eedance %
pH	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	9	(7.2-8.3)	7.9	0.26	7.81	0.35	4.47	7.95	8.26	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	9	(17204910.)	2300	400	2692	991	37	3200	4266	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	9	(0.0005-0.25)	0.002	0.0015	0.046	0.091	197.166	0.005	0.210	1	11
Boron	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	13	(0.01-1.4)	0.11	0.06	0.25	0.36	143.10	0.23	0.80	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	8	(0.0005-0.005)	0.00275	0.00225	0.0030	0.0019	62.9941	0.0050	0.0050	0	0
Chromium											0	0
Copper	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.005-0.02)	0.0105	0.005	0.012	0.007	62.906	0.016	0.019	0	0
Iron (total)	(09/10/1979-09/25/1980)	4	(0.01-0.25)	0.03	0.015	0.08	0.114018	142.5219	0.0925	0.2185	0	0
Lead	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.0005-0.065)	0.013	0.01225	0.0229	0.0303	132.5532	0.0350	0.0590	0	0
Manganese	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	14	(0.005-4.1)	0.1	0.06	0.471786	1.073745	227.5918	0.305	2.02	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.000043-0.0006)	0.000225	0.000104	0.00027	0.00024	86.00488	0.00034	0.00055	0	0
Selenium	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	9	(0.0005-0.15)	0.003	0.002	0.021	0.049	230.439	0.005	0.100	1	11
Zinc	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	9	(0.025-2.43)	0.025	0	0.324	0.793	244.798	0.065	1.550	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	14	(0.7-800.)	28.2	16.7	93	208	223	48	378	1	7
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	14	(0.76-6.2)	2.35	0.71	2.84	1.40	49.16	3.78	4.90	10	71
Nitrate	(08/06/1975-09/25/1980)	7	(0.005-0.85)	0.18	0.16	0.27	0.33	119.95	0.40	0.78	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	14	(7403750.)	1226.5	286.5	1552	845	54	1738	3068	9	64
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-03/23/1989)	14	(210.5-6160.)	2305	607.5	2604	1449	56	2898	4971	3	21
Radium (pCi/l)	(03/24/1988-03/23/1989)	5	(0.2-2.6)	1.4	0.7	1.40	0.98	70	2.1	2.5	0	0

Cottonwood Alluvial Wells QACW-2B	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Liv C Exc	vestock riteria eedance %
рН	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	34	(7.1-8.39)	7.8	0.195	7.78	0.27	3.44	7.98	8.12	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	32	(28104600.)	3740	240	3782	418	11	4008	4501	0	0
Arsenic	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	24	(0.0005-0.192)	0.0005	0	0.009	0.039	429.120	0.003	0.005	0	0
Boron	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	32	(0.005-0.68)	0.13	0.03	0.14	0.11	83.78	0.15	0.24	0	0
Cadmium	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	33	(0.0005-0.02)	0.0025	0.0015	0.0027	0.0037	138.9303	0.0025	0.0076	0	0
Chromium	(09/19/1990-03/10/1999)	12	(0.005-0.12)	0.0075	0.0025	0.016667	0.032637	195.82	0.01	0.0595	0	0
Copper	(12/11/1997-03/10/1999)	7	(0.0005-0.15)	0.03	0.025	0.036	0.052	145.586	0.030	0.114	0	0
Iron (total)	(03/28/1995-03/10/1999)	16	(0.17-41.4)	1.04	0.84	5.0925	11.54266	226.6601	2.2	29.85	0	0
Lead	(09/19/1990-03/10/1999)	21	(0.0025-0.1)	0.0025	0	0.0099	0.0213	214.8081	0.0100	0.0250	0	0
Manganese	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	33	(0.005-4.95)	0.11	0.09	0.615242	1.015789	165.1039	0.7	2.446	0	0
Mercury	(12/11/1997-03/10/1999)	7	(0.0005-0.002)	0.0005	0	0.00086	0.00056	64.90734	0.00100	0.00170	0	0
Selenium	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	33	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0.0005	0.002	0.001	46.202	0.003	0.004	0	0
Zinc	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	24	(0.0125-21.9)	0.59	0.3355	1.700	4.439	261.071	0.996	4.908	0	0
Chloride	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	33	(77250.)	138	18	141	33	23	150	198	0	0
Fluoride	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	32	(0.92-4.75)	1.38	0.115	1.67	0.78	46.99	1.78	3.25	5	16
Nitrate	(03/14/1991-03/27/1997)	7	(0.07-2.6)	0.09	0	0.44	0.95	213.96	0.09	1.85	0	0
Sulfate	(06/18/1987-03/10/1999)	32	(11502260.)	1605	175	1666	273	16	1835	2155	32	100
TDS - 180°C	(06/18/1987-12/08/1998)	32	(25903800.)	3015	330	3013	361	12	3175	3725	17	53
Radium (pCi/l)	(06/18/1987-06/09/1992)	12	(0.1-6.8)	1.2	1	1.94	1.94	100	3	5.04	0	0

Pinnabete							Standard	Percent		95 th	Li	vestock
Alluvial Wells	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Relative	Q3	Percentile	C	riteria
(GM-22, PA-1,							2 0 1 0 1 0 1	Standard		rereentiic	n	%
рН	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	24	(7.19-8.2)	7.5	0.115	7.55	0.26	3.40	7.63	8.07	0	0
Conductivity	(11/16/1074 06/15/2004)	6	(1610, 4040)	2420	10E	2122	022	20	2762	2072	0	0
(umho/cm)	(11/10/19/4-00/13/2004)	D	(10104040.)	5420	405	5125	952	50	5705	575	0	U
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.00025-0.25)	0.0025	0.0015	0.021	0.060	284.923	0.003	0.144	1	5
Boron	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.1-2.1)	0.2	0.015	0.36	0.44	119.56	0.30	0.92	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.000025-0.005)	0.0005	0.000475	0.0007	0.0014	203.8603	0.0005	0.0048	0	0
Chromium	(09/12/1991-11/21/2008)	18	(0.0005-0.03)	0.005	0.001	0.007028	0.008612	122.5377	0.005	0.03	0	0
Copper	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.003-0.0508)	0.00865	0.00365	0.012	0.011	90.903	0.015	0.023	0	0
Iron (total)	(03/28/1995-11/21/2008)	18	(0.13-63.9)	3.535	2.11	12.85167	19.45777	151.4027	14.163	54.805	0	0
Lead	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.00005-0.065)	0.0015	0.0013	0.0076	0.0179	235.1724	0.0025	0.0545	0	0
Manganese	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.003-1.33)	0.114	0.076	0.182486	0.286864	157.1974	0.159	0.4864	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.000022-0.0005)	0.0002	0.0001	0.00028	0.00019	68.76062	0.00050	0.00050	0	0
Selenium	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	24	(0.0007-0.15)	0.006	0.0035	0.014	0.030	218.292	0.012	0.024	1	4
Zinc	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(0.002-0.41)	0.0125	0.0105	0.050	0.092	185.035	0.048	0.178	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	24	(13800.)	25.5	9	61	158	261	37	63	1	4
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	22	(1.51-5.7)	2.48	0.325	2.63	0.82	31.05	2.89	3.29	19	86
Nitrate	(06/27/1975-11/21/2008)	19	(0.025-9.)	0.08	0.05	0.85	2.14	251.93	0.49	4.23	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	24	(8052400.)	1552.1	470	1488	508	34	1943	2193	18	75
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	24	(15004310.)	2981	666.5	2684	866	32	3440	3681	11	46
Radium (pCi/l)	(12/11/1991-11/21/2008)	16	(0.58-29.64)	1.8	0.97	5.32	7.58	143	5.675	16.8975	0	0

Pinnabete Alluvial Wells GM-22	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Li ⁿ C Exc	vestock Criteria Seedance %
рН	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(7.2-8.2)	7.75	0.4	7.73	0.50	6.46	8.13	8.19	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(16103770.)	3420	335	3055	1012	33	3748	3766	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.005-0.25)	0.09	0.0725	0.109	0.113	104.330	0.175	0.235	1	25
Boron	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.1-0.93)	0.34	0.15	0.43	0.36	83.50	0.53	0.85	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.0005-0.005)	0.00275	0.00225	0.0028	0.0026	94.4755	0.0050	0.0050	0	0
Chromium												
Copper	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.003-0.015)	0.009	0.005	0.009	0.006	65.420	0.014	0.015	0	0
Iron (total)												
Lead	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.0005-0.065)	0.0405	0.02	0.0366	0.0296	80.6992	0.0583	0.0637	0	0
Manganese	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.003-0.165)	0.038	0.0215	0.061	0.071568	117.3248	0.0758	0.14715	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.000022-0.0005)	0.000225	0.000114	0.00024	0.00020	81.19555	0.00031	0.00046	0	0
Selenium	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.005-0.15)	0.015	0.01	0.046	0.070	150.932	0.056	0.131	1	25
Zinc	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(0.031-0.41)	0.095	0.0545	0.158	0.175	110.781	0.208	0.370	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(13800.)	21.5	6.5	214	391	183	220	684	1	25
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(1.51-5.7)	1.9	0.245	2.75	1.98	71.76	2.93	5.15	1	25
Nitrate	(06/27/1975-03/04/1977)	3	(0.8-9.)	3.7	2.9	4.50	4.16	92.40	6.35	8.47	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(11532000.)	1667.1	222.9	1622	362	22	1835	1967	4	100
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-03/04/1977)	4	(19523695.)	3124	361.5	2974	743	25	3381	3632	2	50
Radium (pCi/l)												

Pinnabete Alluvial Wells PA-1	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Li ⁿ C Exc	vestock criteria eedance %
рН	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	10	(7.48-7.78)	7.57	0.07	7.59	0.10	1.31	7.66	7.74	0	0
Conductivity (umho/cm)	(11/16/1974-06/15/2004)	1	(24802480.)	2480	0	2480			2480	2480	0	0
Arsenic	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.00025-0.0025)	0.0008	0.00055	0.001	0.001	73.284	0.003	0.003	0	0
Boron	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.17-0.787)	0.2	0	0.26	0.20	74.40	0.20	0.56	0	0
Cadmium	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.000025-0.0005)	0.000025	0	0.0002	0.0003	106.0293	0.0005	0.0005	0	0
Chromium	(09/12/1991-11/21/2008)	9	(0.0005-0.03)	0.005	0.001	0.006556	0.008984	137.0466	0.005	0.02	0	0
Copper	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.005-0.0151)	0.0079	0.0029	0.008	0.004	43.402	0.010	0.013	0	0
Iron (total)	(03/28/1995-11/21/2008)	9	(0.25-53.2)	4.43	4.18	15.81333	19.25661	121.7745	17.5	48.68	0	0
Lead	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.00005-0.0025)	0.0003	0.00025	0.0012	0.0012	102.9723	0.0025	0.0025	0	0
Manganese	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.005-0.488)	0.087	0.07	0.125889	0.152955	121.4997	0.138	0.38	0	0
Mercury	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.0001-0.0005)	0.0002	0.0001	0.00029	0.00020	70.18572	0.00050	0.00050	0	0
Selenium	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	10	(0.0025-0.014)	0.005	0.001	0.005	0.003	61.698	0.006	0.010	0	0
Zinc	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(0.002-0.053)	0.007	0.005	0.018	0.020	109.606	0.037	0.049	0	0
Chloride	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	10	(1436.)	20	5	22	7	33	25	33	0	0
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	9	(2.1-3.)	2.36	0.16	2.39	0.27	11.43	2.49	2.81	9	100
Nitrate	(06/27/1975-11/21/2008)	8	(0.025-0.72)	0.05	0.0225	0.21	0.30	142.30	0.24	0.70	0	0
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	10	(8051280.)	950	100	983	149	15	1055	1217	4	40
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-11/21/2008)	10	(15004310.)	1705	80	1986	832	42	1900	3284	1	10
Radium (pCi/l)	(12/11/1991-11/21/2008)	8	(0.58-12.65)	2.0975	1.2975	4.44	4.88	110	6.1875	12.265	0	0

Pinnabete Alluvial Wells PA-2	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Li ⁿ C Exc	vestock riteria eedance
	(02/20/4000 44/20/2000)	10	(7.40.7.0)	7.405	0.1	7.40	0.21	2.05	7.50		n	%
рн	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	10	(7.19-7.9)	7.405	0.1	7.43	0.21	2.85	7.50	1.11	0	0
(umho/cm)	(06/15/2004-06/15/2004)	1	(40404040.)	4040	0	4040			4040	4040	0	0
Arsenic	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.0007-0.0027)	0.0025	0.0002	0.002	0.001	42.303	0.003	0.003	0	0
Boron	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.19-2.1)	0.2	0.01	0.44	0.63	143.68	0.30	1.38	0	0
Cadmium	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.000025-0.0005)	0.000025	0	0.0002	0.0003	106.0293	0.0005	0.0005	0	0
Chromium	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.0005-0.03)	0.005	0.001	0.0075	0.008739	116.5237	0.006	0.0216	0	0
Copper	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.005-0.0508)	0.0116	0.0066	0.017	0.015	91.121	0.023	0.040	0	0
Iron (total)	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.13-63.9)	3.03	1.17	9.89	20.34657	205.7287	5.61	40.96	0	0
Lead	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.00005-0.0025)	0.0002	0.00015	0.0012	0.0013	108.4845	0.0025	0.0025	0	0
Manganese	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.0277-1.33)	0.135	0.045	0.293078	0.407376	138.9993	0.22	0.9804	0	0
Mercury	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.0001-0.0005)	0.0002	0.0001	0.00029	0.00020	70.18572	0.00050	0.00050	0	0
Selenium	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	10	(0.0007-0.018)	0.0095	0.004	0.009	0.006	65.054	0.012	0.016	0	0
Zinc	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(0.003-0.18)	0.009	0.005	0.033	0.057	170.686	0.025	0.128	0	0
Chloride	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	10	(2265.)	36.5	7.5	38	13	35	44	59	0	0
Fluoride	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	9	(2.4-3.3)	2.81	0.29	2.82	0.31	11.06	3.06	3.22	9	100
Nitrate	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(0.025-0.32)	0.08	0.03	0.12	0.11	87.64	0.15	0.30	0	0
Sulfate	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	10	(15502400.)	1945	230	1941	273	14	2138	2310	10	100
TDS - 180°C	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	10	(27803600.)	3285	255	3266	295	9	3530	3591	8	80
Radium (pCi/l)	(03/30/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(0.64-29.64)	1.8	0.835	6.19	9.88	160	4.6625	22.591	0	0

Baseline								Percent			Exce	edance
Fruitland	Datas	n	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	US	Percentile	Cr	iteria
Combined								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	203	(7.03-8.06)	7.8	0.27	7.9	0.7	9	8.1	8.7	8	4
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	180	(530046500.)	12150	3950	12342	5805	47	15925	23300		
Boron	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	193	(1.23-1.57)	0.53	0.14	0.55	0.22	40	0.68	0.84		
Iron (total)		143		0.77	0.67	6.05	30.76	508	4.02	15.28		
Manganese	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	194	(0.11-2.93)	0.1	0.088	0.532	2.589	487	0.318	1.587		
Selenium	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	194	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0025	0	0.003	0.007	223	0.003	0.008		
Chloride	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	194	(221028200.)	3670	1310	3482	2372	68	4593	7937	165	85
Fluoride	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	193	(0.92-1.08)	1.4	0.48	1.37	0.67	49	1.78	2.50	31	16
Sulfate	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	194	(55.)	15.75	13.25	294	677	230	88	2267	22	11
TDS - 180°C	(07/08/1984-07/10/1984)	194	(737050810.)	7260	2055	7161	3212	45	8575	13400	170	88

Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
Fruitland	Datas	5	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	Percentile	Cı	riteria
KF2007-01								Deviation			n	%
рН	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(8.12-9.56)	8.75	0.34	8.8	0.5	6	9.1	9.5	2	40
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)												
Boron	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(0.2-0.4)	0.329	0.071	0.33	0.08	25	0.40	0.40		
Iron (total)	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(0.025-1.2)	0.29	0.205	0.39	0.47	123	0.33	1.03		0
Manganese	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(0.0025-0.013)	0.0075	5E-04	0.008	0.004	49	0.008	0.012		
Selenium	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(0.004-0.006)	0.005	0.001	0.005	0.001	17	0.005	0.006		
Chloride	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(278364.)	338	24	332	35	11	362	364		
Fluoride	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(2.6-3.3)	2.7	0.1	2.86	0.32	11	3.10	3.26	5	100
Sulfate	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(3152050.)	740	425	1021	694	68	1380	1916	2	40
TDS - 180°C	(08/16/2007-11/20/2008)	5	(27505160.)	3460	670	3750	931	25	4130	4954	4	80

Baseline								Percent			Exc	eedance
Fruitland	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of L	ivestock
Coals	Dates		Nange	Iviculati		Average	Deviation	Standard	U.J	Percentile	С	riteria
KF98-02								Deviation			n	%
рН	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(7.53-12.6)	8.06	0.4	9.2	2.0	22	10.2	12.4	3	38
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)												
Boron	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(0.09-1.47)	0.4	0.1	0.49	0.42	85	0.46	1.13		
Iron (total)	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(0.14-1.01)	0.485	0.075	0.55	0.28	51	0.62	0.97		0
Manganese	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(0.0025-0.045)	0.008	0.006	0.017	0.018	107	0.030	0.045		0
Selenium	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(0.005-0.0333)	0.008	0.001	0.011	0.009	88	0.008	0.025		
Chloride	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(1701280.)	925	280	814	383	47	1015	1256	6	75
Fluoride	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(0.2-2.31)	1.65	0.2	1.51	0.61	41	1.80	2.13	1	13
Sulfate	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(36796.)	119	39	202	248	123	165	605		
TDS - 180°C	(03/29/1998-11/20/2008)	8	(22204100.)	3160	355	3321	623	19	3830	4079	7	88

Baseline								Percent			Exce	edance
Fruitland	Datas	5	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	Percentile	Cı	iteria
KF84-21A								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	32	(6.8-8.3)	7.9	0.1	7.9	0.3	3	8.1	8.2		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(661016800.)	14200	1200	13755	2272	17	14750	16600		
Boron	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(0.36-1.12)	0.6	0.05	0.63	0.14	23	0.65	0.90		
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-09/12/2001)	22	(0.01-1.36)	0.1	0.075	0.22	0.30	135	0.24	0.50		0
Manganese	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(0.0025-0.1)	0.025	0.015	0.045	0.039	86	0.099	0.100		0
Selenium	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(0.0005-0.05)	0.0025	0	0.005	0.012	245	0.003	0.027		
Chloride	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(28605960.)	4440	130	4394	429	10	4495	4675	31	100
Fluoride	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(0.94-2.38)	1.54	0.09	1.62	0.27	17	1.75	2.13	2	6
Sulfate	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(5316.)	64	21	74	71	95	82	223		
TDS - 180°C	(07/09/1984-09/12/2001)	31	(57309800.)	8380	140	8291	615	7	8515	8780	31	100

Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
Fruitland	Dates	n	Range	Median		Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of L	ivestock
Coals	Dates		Nange	Wiedian	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q.5	Percentile	Criteria	
Kf84-21c								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(8.08-8.08)	8.08	0	8.1			8.1	8.1		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(1260012600.)	12600	0	12600			12600	12600		
Boron	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.63-0.63)	0.63	0	0.63			0.63	0.63		
Iron (total)		1										
Manganese	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.38-0.38)	0.38	0	0.380			0.380	0.380		0
Selenium	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.001			0.001	0.001		
Chloride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(39803980.)	3980	0	3980			3980	3980	1	100
Fluoride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(1.79-1.79)	1.79	0	1.79			1.79	1.79		
Sulfate	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(184184.)	184	0	184			184	184		
TDS - 180°C	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(85058505.)	8505	0	8505			8505	8505	1	100

Baseline								Percent			Exce	edance
Fruitland	Datas	5	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates		Kalige	Wiculan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	Percentile	Cı	iteria
KF84-22A								Deviation			n	%
рН	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	23	(7.44-9.3)	8	0.05	8.1	0.3	4	8.1	8.2	1	4
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(490014500.)	6560	390	7070	2059	29	14750	16600		
Boron	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(0.15-0.58)	0.26	0.03	0.29	0.11	37	0.65	0.90		
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-09/18/2001)	19	(0.06-8.02)	0.42	0.31	0.98	1.86	190	0.24	0.50		0
Manganese	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(0.005-0.1)	0.0125	0.004	0.030	0.035	116	0.099	0.100		0
Selenium	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(0.0005-0.05)	0.0025	0	0.005	0.011	224	0.003	0.027		
Chloride	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(1674250.)	290	53	601	1064	177	4495	4675	2	10
Fluoride	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(0.8-3.52)	2.19	0.08	2.29	0.56	24	1.75	2.13	19	90
Sulfate	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(52600.)	2230	210	1934	700	36	82	223	19	90
TDS - 180°C	(09/12/1991-09/18/2001)	21	(40808540.)	4680	220	4861	944	19	8515	8780	21	100

Baseline								Percent			Exce	edance
Fruitland	Dates	n	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of Li	ivestock
Coals	Dates		Nange	Wieulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	Percentile	Criteria	
KF84-22B								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	27	(6.8-8.05)	7.4	0.1	7.5	0.3	3	7.5	8.0		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	25	(401038000.)	10900	400	11616	5736	49	11300	12460		
Boron	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	25	(0.28-0.54)	0.39	0.02	0.39	0.06	14	0.41	0.50		
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-09/18/2001)	23	(0.025-4.93)	1.13	0.97	1.98	1.75	88	3.90	4.76		
Manganese	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	26	(0.01-0.67)	0.3	0.105	0.275	0.167	61	0.378	0.605		
Selenium	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	26	(0.0005-0.05)	0.0025	0	0.005	0.010	214	0.003	0.019		
Chloride	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	26	(0.25-3364.)	3210	80	2953	788	27	3260	3353	25	96
Fluoride	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	25	(0.67-1.7)	0.89	0.09	0.93	0.21	23	0.99	1.24		
Sulfate	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	26	(0.5-115.)	5	2.5	12	24	195	7	46		
TDS - 180°C	(07/10/1984-09/18/2001)	26	(186370.)	6115	145	5671	1366	24	6188	6350	24	92

Baseline								Percent			Exce	edance
Fruitland	Datas		Pango	Madian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates	n	Kange	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	Cı	riteria
Kf84-22d								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(7.94-7.94)	7.94	0	7.9			7.9	7.9		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(1300013000.)	13000	0	13000			13000	13000		
Boron	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.5-0.5)	0.5	0	0.50			0.50	0.50		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.016-0.016)	0.016	0	0.016			0.016	0.016		0
Selenium	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.001			0.001	0.001		
Chloride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(34203420.)	3420	0	3420			3420	3420	25	100
Fluoride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(1.28-1.28)	1.28	0	1.28			1.28	1.28		
Sulfate	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(55.)	5	0	5			5	5		
TDS - 180°C	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(86108610.)	8610	0	8610			8610	8610	24	100

Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
Fruitland	Datas	n	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates		Kalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	US	Percentile	Cı	riteria
Kf84-22d								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(7.94-7.94)	7.94	0	7.9			7.9	7.9		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(1300013000.)	13000	0	13000			13000	13000		
Boron	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.5-0.5)	0.5	0	0.50			0.50	0.50		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.016-0.016)	0.016	0	0.016			0.016	0.016		0
Selenium	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.001			0.001	0.001		
Chloride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(34203420.)	3420	0	3420			3420	3420	25	100
Fluoride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(1.28-1.28)	1.28	0	1.28			1.28	1.28		
Sulfate	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(55.)	5	0	5			5	5		
TDS - 180°C	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	1	(86108610.)	8610	0	8610			8610	8610	24	100

Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
Fruitland	Datas	5	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of L	vestock
Coals	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	Criteria	
Kf84-22e								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(7.86-8.1)	7.98	0.12	8.0	0.2	2	8.0	8.1		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(1200012800.)	12400	400	12400	566	5	12600	12760		
Boron	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)		(0.46-0.56)	0.51	0.05	0.51	0.07	14	0.54	0.56		
Iron (total)		2										
Manganese	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(0.13-0.14)	0.135	0.005	0.135	0.007	5	0.138	0.140		0
Selenium	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.001	0.000		0.001	0.001		
Chloride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(40704300.)	4185	115	4185	163	4	4243	4289	2	100
Fluoride	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(1.03-1.43)	1.23	0.2	1.23	0.28	23	1.33	1.41		
Sulfate	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(544.)	24.5	19.5	25	28	113	34	42		
TDS - 180°C	(07/09/1984-07/09/1984)	2	(80358275.)	8155	120	8155	170	2	8215	8263	2	100
Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
--------------	-------------------------	----	-----------------	---------	-------	---------	-----------	-----------	-------	------------------	-------	---------
Fruitland	Datas		Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates	"'	Range	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	US	Percentile	Cı	riteria
KF84-20A								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	27	(7.6-10.05)	7.85	0.15	8.2	0.6	8	8.4	9.5	2	7
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(424016100.)	12525	725	11692	2388	20	13100	13475		
Boron	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(0.42-1.28)	0.545	0.05	0.57	0.16	28	0.58	0.71		
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-12/18/2001)	17	(0.1-15.1)	2.73	2.3	4.39	4.42	101	6.80	11.90		0
Manganese	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(0.007-0.22)	0.1	0.011	0.093	0.044	47	0.108	0.148		0
Selenium	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(0.0005-0.0025)	0.00175	8E-04	0.002	0.001	66	0.003	0.003		
Chloride	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(7004400.)	3715	253	3532	730	21	3942	4130	26	100
Fluoride	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(1.13-2.3)	1.39	0.13	1.47	0.27	18	1.62	1.91	1	4
Sulfate	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(0.5-823.)	5	2.5	46	161	348	18	123		
TDS - 180°C	(07/10/1984-12/18/2001)	26	(27757670.)	7260	210	6752	1284	19	7425	7658	25	96

Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
Fruitland	Datas	5	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	of Li	ivestock
Coals	Dates		Kalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	C	riteria
KF84-20C								Deviation			n	%
рН	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	24	(7.6-8.65)	7.865	0.165	8.0	0.3	4	8.0	8.5		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(36506140.)	4370	180	4355	477	11	4690	4792		
Boron	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(0.025-0.67)	0.42	0.05	0.42	0.11	27	0.05	0.52		
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-12/26/2001)	16	(0.18-13.5)	0.64	0.295	2.24	4.09	183	3.10	12.00		0
Manganese	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(0.03-0.305)	0.082	0.032	0.096	0.076	79		0.290		0
Selenium	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(0.0005-0.008)	0.0025	0.002	0.002	0.002	91	0.009	0.003		
Chloride	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(8.4-1090.)	715	28	686	197	29	750	821	21	91
Fluoride	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(0.53-2.44)	1.74	0.14	1.73	0.37	22	1.80	2.14	3	13
Sulfate	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(2.5-2600.)	7	4.5	162	552	340	5	666	1	4
TDS - 180°C	(09/16/1985-12/26/2001)	23	(25705300.)	2770	140	2974	695	23	2665	4723	4	17

Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
Fruitland	Datas		Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates		Range	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	US	Percentile	Cı	riteria
KF84-18B								Deviation			n	%
рН	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	26	(6.8-8.05)	7.1	0.25	7.3	0.4	6	7.7	7.9		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(1000018600.)	15900	1100	14935	2385	16	16500	18200		
Boron	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(0.49-1.2)	0.73	0.05	0.74	0.13	18	0.77	0.90		
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-09/26/2000)	16	(0.3-362.)	11.55	4.515	35.84	88.16	246	16.88	135.50		0
Manganese	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(0.1-6.)	0.38	0.12	0.845	1.498	177	0.500	4.620		0
Selenium	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(0.0005-0.0025)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.001	61	0.003	0.003		
Chloride	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(35606050.)	4900	300	4907	512	10	5210	5488	25	100
Fluoride	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(0.34-1.66)	0.44	0.06	0.55	0.29	53	0.61	1.02		
Sulfate	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(2156.)	5	2.5	24	42	178	17	135		
TDS - 180°C	(07/10/1984-09/26/2000)	25	(710012410.)	9300	250	9128	972	11	9460	9924	25	100

Baseline								Percent			Exce	eedance
Fruitland	Dates	2	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	of Li	vestock
Coals	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	Cı	riteria
KF84-18A								Deviation			n	%
рН	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	6	(7.2-8.05)	7.45	0.21	7.5	0.3	3	7.7	8.0		
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	6	(238025300.)	22900	1700	21131	4481	21	23300	24600		
Boron	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	1	(0.64-1.32)	0.72	0.05	0.77	0.15	19	0.79	1.00		
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-12/19/2001)	1	(0.1-21.1)	3.8	1.51	6.23	5.94	95	5.70	17.26		0
Manganese	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	1	(0.2-35.)	1.33	0.18	2.694	6.746	250	1.600	2.184		0
Selenium	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	6	(0.0005-0.005)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.001	66	0.003	0.003		
Chloride	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	6	(66808370.)	7900	185	7825	395	5	8060	8340	25	100
Fluoride	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	1	(0.57-1.5)	0.67	0.08	0.77	0.23	29	0.92	1.05		
Sulfate	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	3	(2.5-729.)	5	2.5	52	148	282	17	161		
TDS - 180°C	(09/16/1985-12/19/2001)	6	(1140014100.)	13400	100	13270	544	4	13500	13800	25	100

Non Pacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
Erwitland	Datas		Pango	Modian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	1.52	ostock	Ba	seline
Combined	Dates	"'	Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile		ESLOCK	Fru	itland
Combined								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	171	(7.06-8.68)	7.74	0.24	7.8	0.3	4	8.0	8.3			12	7
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	168	(203026900.)	11000	2000	11815	4056	34	13800	18550			7	4
Boron	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	149	(0.03-5.)	1.07	0.14	1.09	0.45	41	1.23	1.50			137	92
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-12/20/2010)	124	-(0.3-76.2)	0.275	0.205	2.24	8.71	388	0.76	8.92			11	9
Manganese	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	147	-(0.2-1.5)	0.025		0.068	0.152	224	0.100	0.228			7	5
Selenium	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	167	-(0.005-0.093)	0.0025	5E-04	0.006	0.012	209	0.003	0.034	1	1	32	19
Chloride	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	168	(268400.)	2257.5	1240	2272	1734	76	3340	4905	131	78	3	2
Fluoride	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	149	(0.005-5.3)	1.1	0.4	1.38	0.80	58	1.70	2.80	25	17	20	13
Sulfate	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	159	(0.5-5400.)	264	259	939	1450	154	1000	4342	39	25	102	64
TDS - 180°C	(12/12/1983-12/20/2010)	164	(145014100.)	7330	1300	7432	2028	27	8323	10200	160	98	4	2

Non Bacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Fruitland	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	Liv	estock	Ва	seline
Ritsui 2	2000						Deviation	Standard	20	Percentile			Fru	itland
Ditsuiz								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	27	(7.5-8.5)	8	0.1	8.0	0.2	2	8.1	8.3			2	7
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(203012100.)	8095	595	8476	1713	20	9463	10475				
Boron	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(0.27-1.1)	0.985	0.05	0.94	0.15	16	1.01	1.06			25	96
Iron (total)	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(0.025-0.7)	0.105	0.045	0.18	0.18	99	0.19	0.54				
Manganese	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(0.0025-0.025)	0.0058	0.003	0.008	0.006	76	0.010	0.024				
Selenium	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(0.0005-0.041)	0.0025	0	0.006	0.009	149	0.004	0.022			7	27
Chloride	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(1301270.)	1160	60	1076	243	23	1215	1258	25	96		
Fluoride	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(0.79-2.66)	1.7	0.1	1.66	0.34	21	1.77	1.97	1	4	1	4
Sulfate	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(4.5-1700.)	165	153	535	605	113	1150	1450	7	27	19	73
TDS - 180°C	(03/02/1995-12/20/2010)	26	(14506500.)	5145	185	5375	975	18	6128	6400	25	96		

Non Pacolino								Percent			Exc	ceedance	e of C	riteria
Fruitland	Datas	-	Pango	Madian		Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	15	actock	Ва	seline
	Dates	n	Kange	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	LIV	estock	Fru	itland
DILSUI 3								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	22	(7.3-7.83)	7.535	0.065	7.5	0.1	2	7.6	7.8				
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(1190015000.)	12900	400	13133	867	7	13800	14600				
Boron	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(0.9-1.22)	1.07	0.04	1.07	0.09	8	1.10	1.20			21	100
Iron (total)	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(0.12-1.18)	0.35	0.17	0.44	0.29	67	0.60	0.87				
Manganese	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(0.0025-0.025)	0.005	0.003	0.009	0.007	86	0.010	0.025				
Selenium	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(0.0005-0.036)	0.0025	0	0.006	0.010	162	0.003	0.035			5	24
Chloride	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(24203600.)	2820	220	2892	331	11	3070	3540	21	100		
Fluoride	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(0.005-1.3)	1.01	0.09	0.97	0.27	28	1.10	1.27				
Sulfate	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	21	(5640.)	317	213	288	235	82	509	604			14	67
TDS - 180°C	(03/02/1995-12/21/2009)	17	(73608240.)	7960	180	7866	276	4	8100	8224	17	100		

Non Bacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
Fruitland Kf83-	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Liv	estock	Ba: Fru	seline Iitland
1								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	(7.245-8.68)	7.7	0.1	7.8	0.3	4	8.0	8.5			4	10
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	(900013300.)	10800	900	10663	1048	10	11600	11900				
Boron	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	(0.1-5.)	1.01	0.08	1.09	0.67	62	1.08	1.23			38	93
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-09/26/2002)	32	-(0.3-1.06)	0.155	0.11	0.23	0.29	126	0.28	0.85				
Manganese	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	-(0.2-0.21)	0.02	0.01	0.030	0.057	188	0.030	0.100				
Selenium	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	-(0.005-0.05)	0.0025	0	0.003	0.009	329	0.003	0.003			2	5
Chloride	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	(462760.)	2255	355	2008	687	34	2485	2680	39	95		
Fluoride	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	(0.83-1.57)	1.07	0.14	1.15	0.22	19	1.30	1.57				
Sulfate	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	(51260.)	340	209	372	329	88	411	1000	2	5	36	88
TDS - 180°C	(12/12/1983-09/26/2002)	41	(56707750.)	7100	240	6883	611	9	7330	7460	41	100		

								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
Non-Baseline	Datas	_	Pango	Madian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	15.	actock	Ва	seline
Fruitland KF84	Dates		Kange	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	LIV	estock	Fru	iitland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	25	(7.605-8.56)	7.8	0.1	7.9	0.3	3	8.2	8.3			2	8
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(640022000.)	10000	515	10415	2845	27	10425	21805			1	4
Boron	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(0.03-1.66)	1.3	0.075	1.26	0.30	24	1.38	1.64			23	96
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-09/30/2001)	18	(0.41-76.2)	1.675	1.105	11.68	19.81	170	13.94	1.56			8	44
Manganese	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(0.03-1.5)	0.134	0.044	0.237	0.303	128	0.252	0.195			6	25
Selenium	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(0.0005-0.016)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.003	131	0.003	0.004			1	4
Chloride	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(181503.)	326.5	44	326	72	22	366	5004				
Fluoride	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(0.45-5.3)	2.7	0.195	2.75	0.86	31	2.89	0.91	23	96	19	79
Sulfate	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(25005400.)	3955	492.5	4014	688	17	4490	115	24	100	24	100
TDS - 180°C	(09/17/1986-09/30/2001)	24	(60609390.)	7760	425	7788	784	10	8190	10445	24	100		

Non Bacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Fruitland KF84-	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Liv	estock	Bas Fru	seline itland
10								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(7.3-8.65)	7.55	0.18	7.6	0.3	4	7.7	8.3			2	6
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(1300023500.)	16455	1300	16575	2487	15	17125	21805			3	9
Boron	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(0.3-1.88)	1.26	0.075	1.25	0.29	23	1.35	1.64			29	91
Iron (total)	(09/08/1993-09/24/2002)	23	(0.025-2.76)	0.37	0.24	0.57	0.62	109	0.70	1.56			1	4
Manganese	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(0.008-0.42)	0.05	0.03	0.076	0.079	105	0.100	0.195			1	3
Selenium	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	31	(0.0005-0.01)	0.0025	0	0.002	0.002	82	0.003	0.004			2	6
Chloride	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(35105300.)	4551	160	4524	346	8	4705	5004	32	100		
Fluoride	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(0.4-0.95)	0.69	0.06	0.70	0.12	18	0.75	0.91				
Sulfate	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(0.5-599.)	15.5	10.5	40	106	264	22	115			3	9
TDS - 180°C	(07/10/1984-09/24/2002)	32	(940011400.)	9955	145	10033	351	3	10125	10445	32	100	1	3

Non Pacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
Fruitland	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	Liv	estock	Ва	seline
	Dates		Nange	Wealan		Average	Deviation	Standard	Q.5	Percentile		ESTOCK	Fru	uitland
JIKF04 #J								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(8.12-8.12)	8.12	0	8.1			8.1	8.1				
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(59005900.)	5900	0	5900			5900	5900				
Boron	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(1.23-1.23)	1.23	0	1.23			1.23	1.23			1	100
Iron (total)														
Manganese	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(0.17-0.17)	0.17	0	0.170			0.170	0.170				
Selenium	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(0.0005-0.0005)	0.0005	0	0.001			0.001	0.001				
Chloride	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(360360.)	360	0	360			360	360				
Fluoride	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(2.07-2.07)	2.07	0	2.07			2.07	2.07	1	100		
Sulfate	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(55.)	5	0	5			5	5				
TDS - 180°C	(07/10/1984-07/10/1984)	1	(44704470.)	4470	0	4470			4470	4470	1	100		

Non Bacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Fruitland KF84-	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	Q3	95 th	Liv	estock	Ва	seline
184			U			0	Deviation	Standard		Percentile			Fru	itland
10/1								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(09/28/2005-09/30/2008)	3	(7.27-7.34)	7.29	0.02	7.3	0.0	0	7.3	7.3				
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(09/28/2005-09/30/2008)	3	(2630026900.)	26500	200	26567	306	1	26700	26860			3	100
Boron														
Iron (total)														
Manganese														
Selenium	(09/28/2005-09/30/2008)	3	(0.046-0.093)	0.047	0.001	0.062	0.027	43	0.070	0.088	1	33	3	100
Chloride	(09/28/2005-09/30/2008)	3	(78008400.)	8300	100	8167	321	4	8350	8390	3	100	3	100
Fluoride														
Sulfate	(09/28/2005-09/28/2005)	1	(55.)	5	0	5			5	5				
TDS - 180°C	(09/28/2005-09/30/2008)	3	(1380014100.)	13800	0	13900	173	1	13950	14070	3	100	3	100

Non Pacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Fruitland KEQA	Datas	n	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	Liv	ostock	Ва	seline
	Dates		Kange	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	LIV	ESLOCK	Fru	iitland
IOD								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(09/27/2002-09/24/2003)	2	(7.06-7.2)	7.13	0.07	7.1	0.1	1	7.2	7.2			2	100
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(09/27/2002-09/24/2003)	2	(1720017900.)	17550	350	17550	495	3	17725	17865				
Boron	(09/27/2002-09/27/2002)	1	(0.1-0.1)	0.1	0	0.10			0.10	0.10				
Iron (total)	(09/27/2002-09/27/2002)	1	(2828.)	28	0	28.00			28.00	28.00			1	100
Manganese														
Selenium	(09/27/2002-09/24/2003)	2	(0.0005-0.001)	0.00075	3E-04	0.001	0.000	47	0.001	0.001				
Chloride	(09/27/2002-09/24/2003)	2	(49504960.)	4955	5	4955	7	0	4958	4960	2	100		
Fluoride	(09/27/2002-09/27/2002)	1	(0.4-0.4)	0.4	0	0.40			0.40	0.40				
Sulfate	(09/27/2002-09/24/2003)	2	(55.)	5	0	5	0		5	5				
TDS - 180°C	(09/27/2002-09/24/2003)	2	(91309200.)	9165	35	9165	49	1	9183	9197	2	100		

Non Bacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Fruitland KF84-	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	Q3	95 th	Liv	estock	Ва	seline
200			0			0	Deviation	Standard	-	Percentile			Fru	iitland
200								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(09/26/2002-09/29/2008)	3	(7.81-7.96)	7.94	0.02	7.9	0.1	1	8.0	8.0				
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(09/26/2002-09/29/2008)	3	(44704870.)	4510	40	4617	220	5	4690	4834				
Boron	(09/26/2002-09/26/2002)	1	(0.05-0.05)	0.05	0	0.05			0.05	0.05				
Iron (total)	(09/26/2002-09/26/2002)	1	(3.1-3.1)	3.1	0	3.10			3.10	3.10			1	100
Manganese														
Selenium	(09/26/2002-09/29/2008)	3	(0.001-0.011)	0.007	0.004	0.006	0.005	79	0.009	0.011			2	67
Chloride	(09/26/2002-09/29/2008)	3	(720770.)	730	10	740	26	4	750	766	3	100		
Fluoride	(09/26/2002-09/26/2002)	1	(1.8-1.8)	1.8	0	1.80			1.80	1.80				
Sulfate	(09/26/2002-09/28/2005)	2	(55.)	5	0	5	0		5	5				
TDS - 180°C	(09/26/2002-09/29/2008)	3	(26202690.)	2640	20	2650	36	1	2665	2685				

Non Pacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
Fruitland KF84-	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	Liv	estock	Ва	seline
220	Dutes		nunge	median	1017 (B	/ Weituge	Deviation	Standard	QJ	Percentile		COLOCIA	Fru	uitland
227								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	9	(7.97-8.19)	8.09		8.1	0.1	1	8.2	8.2				
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	9	(71208030.)	7430		7424	266	4	7480	7810				
Boron	(09/23/2002-09/23/2002)	1	(0.05-0.05)	0.05		0.05			0.05	0.05				
Iron (total)	(09/23/2002-09/23/2002)	1	(0.8-0.8)	0.8		0.80			0.80	0.80				
Manganese	(09/23/2002-09/23/2002)	1	(0.025-0.025)	0.025		0.025			0.025	0.025				
Selenium	(09/23/2002-09/24/2008)	9	(0.0005-0.047)	0.012		0.015	0.016	107	0.017	0.041			6	67
Chloride	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	9	(26230.)	216		188	65	34	220	228				
Fluoride	(09/24/2002-09/24/2002)	1	(1.1-1.1)	1.1		1.10			1.10	1.10				
Sulfate	(09/24/2002-09/29/2006)	6	(23003050.)	2800		2725	252	9	2800	2988	6	100	6	100
TDS - 180°C	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	9	(48705540.)	5100		5180	212	4	5330	5456	9	100		

Non Bacolino								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Fruitland KF84-	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	Q3	95 th	Liv	estock	Ва	seline
22B			U			0	Deviation	Standard		Percentile			Fru	itland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	6	(7.42-7.9)	7.52	0.07	7.6	0.2	2	7.6	7.8				
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	6	(1140011900.)	11650	200	11633	225	2	11800	11875				
Boron	(09/24/2002-09/24/2002)	1	(0.05-0.05)	0.05	0	0.05			0.05	0.05				
Iron (total)	(09/24/2002-09/24/2002)	1	(1.5-1.5)	1.5	0	1.50			1.50	1.50				
Manganese	(09/24/2002-09/24/2002)	1	(0.025-0.025)	0.025	0	0.025			0.025	0.025				
Selenium	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	6	(0.0005-0.038)	0.0195	0.013	0.018	0.015	85	0.026	0.035			4	67
Chloride	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	6	(30003340.)	3280	60	3220	149	5	3340	3340	6	100		
Fluoride	(09/24/2002-09/24/2002)	1	(0.8-0.8)	0.8	0	0.80			0.80	0.80				
Sulfate	(09/24/2002-09/27/2005)	3	(55.)	5	0	5	0		5	5				
TDS - 180°C	(09/24/2002-09/24/2008)	6	(58406210.)	6030	125	6013	143	2	6090	6185	6	100		

								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
Spoils Wells	Datas	-	Pango	Madian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	15	actock	Ba	seline
Combined	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	US	Percentile	LIV	ESLOCK	Fru	itland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	64	(6.5-8.4)	6.975	0.275	7.1	0.4	6	7.4	7.7			41	64
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(43024600.)	17200	1200	16872	3590	21	18400	21290			5	8
Boron	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(0.11-4.7)	1.54	0.34	1.67	0.69	42	1.90	2.61			62	98
Iron (total)	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(0.06-20.)	1.09	0.75	2.50	4.16	166	2.20	11.43		0	17	27
Manganese	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(0.0025-7.05)	2.99	2.61	2.717	2.321	85	4.558	6.081		0	40	63
Selenium	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(0.0005-0.2)	0.0025	0.002	0.013	0.035	270	0.013	0.027	2	3	21	33
Chloride	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(45.7-1330.)	530	166	658	327	50	980	1221	28	44		
Fluoride	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(0.2-1.34)	0.3	0.04	0.56	0.36	65	1.00	1.12				
Sulfate	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	63	(355015500.)	7920	1920	7779	2502	32	9293	11380	63	100	63	100
TDS - 180°C	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	61	(116018000.)	14600	1600	13880	2530	18	15300	16700	60	98	57	93

								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Spoils Wells	Datas	n	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	Liv	ostock	Bas	seline
Bitsui 4	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	LIV	ESLOCK	Fru	itland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	21	(6.62-7.7)	6.8	0.1	6.9	0.3	4	7.0	7.7			19	90
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(1440024600.)	18100	950	18395	2205	12	18975	21845			3	15
Boron	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(1.3-2.5)	1.685	0.19	1.73	0.34	19	1.76	2.31			20	100
Iron (total)	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(0.67-18.6)	2.76	1.92	4.78	5.23	109	5.98	16.70			13	65
Manganese	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(2.08-7.05)	3.65	1.033	3.869	1.393	36	4.754	5.920			20	100
Selenium	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(0.0005-0.2)	0.0025	0.002	0.016	0.044	273	0.013	0.029	1	5	7	35
Chloride	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(45.7-696.)	504	63.5	491	145	30	563	661	5	25		
Fluoride	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(0.2-0.34)	0.3	0	0.30	0.03	10	0.31	0.33				
Sulfate	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(668013500.)	8900	520	9286	1491	16	9595	11505	20	100	20	100
TDS - 180°C	(01/26/1996-12/21/2010)	20	(1310017500.)	15150	450	15335	995	6	15875	16740	20	100	20	100

								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
Spoils Wells	Datas		Pango	Madian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	1.5.	actock	Ba	seline
Bitsui 5	Dates	n	Kange	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile		estock	Fru	iitland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(7.25-8.4)	7.45	0.1	7.6	0.3	4	7.6	8.2			2	9
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(1300019300.)	16200	1000	16070	1494	9	16850	19090				
Boron	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(0.11-1.7)	1.11	0.09	1.12	0.27	24	1.20	1.33			22	96
Iron (total)	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(0.06-2.05)	0.31	0.12	0.42	0.50	119	0.40	1.70				
Manganese	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(0.0025-0.41)	0.108	0.025	0.115	0.077	67	0.132	0.169			1	4
Selenium	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(0.0005-0.2)	0.0025	0.002	0.015	0.041	280	0.011	0.027	1	4	7	30
Chloride	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(6501330.)	1020	115	1041	174	17	1205	1314	23	100		
Fluoride	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(0.8-1.22)	1	0.04	1.00	0.09	9	1.03	1.12				
Sulfate	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	23	(35506200.)	5030	570	5173	750	14	5800	6190	23	100	23	100
TDS - 180°C	(02/13/1996-12/20/2010)	21	(116012700.)	11800	400	11298	2397	21	12200	12500	20	95	17	81

								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
Spoils Wells	Dates	n	Range	Median	ΜΛΟ	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	Liv	estock	Ba	seline
Bitsui 6	Dates		Nange	Wiedian	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q.3	Percentile	LIV	ESTOCK	Fru	itland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(6.5-7.25)	6.8	0.1	6.8	0.2	3	6.9	7.1			20	100
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(43023200.)	17600	1400	16271	5569	34	18525	21395			2	10
Boron	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(1.38-4.7)	2.07	0.47	2.24	0.81	36	2.46	3.47			20	100
Iron (total)	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(0.41-20.)	1.33	0.31	2.63	4.26	162	1.86	5.37			4	20
Manganese	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(0.13-7.05)	4.55795	1.042	4.558	1.573	35	5.600	6.623			19	95
Selenium	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(0.0005-0.042)	0.0025	0.002	0.008	0.010	129	0.013	0.021			7	35
Chloride	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(56.9-490.)	396	37	384	91	24	433	471				
Fluoride	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(0.2-1.34)	0.285	0.02	0.32	0.24	77	0.30	0.38				
Sulfate	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(470015500.)	8850	1040	9268	2145	23	10010	11795	20	100	20	100
TDS - 180°C	(02/12/1996-12/02/2010)	20	(1220018000.)	14850	900	15135	1385	9	16200	16860	20	100	20	100

								Percent			Exc	eedance	e of C	riteria
CCB Wells	Datas	-	Pango	Madian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	1.5.4	actock	Ba	seline
Combined	Dates		Nalige	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	LIV	ESLOCK	Fru	itland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	43	(4.7-10.1)	8.7	0.2	8.4	0.9	11	8.8	9.9	7	16	30	70
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	40	(86825900.)	15550	7450	12679	8558	67	19225	24235			8	20
Boron	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	38	(0.96-23.2)	10.25	3.36	10.60	6.00	57	15.53	18.81	31	82	38	100
Iron (total)	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	40	(0.12-216.)	1.16	0.75	12.41	36.49	294	7.18	48.00			16	40
Manganese	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	39	(0.001-2.68)	0.11	0.09	0.409	0.725	177	0.265	2.377			10	26
Selenium	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	39	(0.0005-0.141)	0.009	0.007	0.027	0.037	137	0.029	0.100	8	21	32	82
Chloride	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	40	(52310.)	900	856.6	1056	845	80	1840	2051	26	65		
Fluoride	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	40	(0.58-5.1)	2.61	0.96	2.79	1.33	48	3.83	4.92	30	75	25	63
Sulfate	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	40	(26114000.)	6325	1615	4835	3307	68	7055	8315	31	78	40	100
TDS - 180°C	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	34	(150018700.)	14200	2100	10996	5403	49	15150	16360	30	88	20	59

								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
CCB Wells	Datas	-	Bango	Madian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	154	ostock	Bas	seline
Bitsui 1	Dates	n	Kalige	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile	LIV	estock	Fru	itland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	28	(7.23-8.9)	8.7	0.1	8.5	0.5	6	8.8	8.9			23	82
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	26	(86825900.)	18200	2950	17987	5447	30	22200	24725			26	100
Boron	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	25	(6.98-23.2)	10.5	1.75	11.86	4.07	34	13.70	18.34	25	100	22	88
Iron (total)	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	26	(0.12-21.4)	0.66	0.33	2.62	4.83	185	1.61	12.19			26	100
Manganese	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	26	(0.02-2.68)	0.2	0.1	0.602	0.826	137	0.579	2.415			26	100
Selenium	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	26	(0.0005-0.09)	0.006	0.004	0.010	0.017	169	0.011	0.027	1	4	26	100
Chloride	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	26	(52310.)	1830	150	1529	653	43	1965	2065	24	92	26	100
Fluoride	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	26	(0.58-4.39)	2.25	0.425	2.11	0.87	41	2.62	3.03	17	65	26	100
Sulfate	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	26	(26114000.)	6995	569	6838	2201	32	7556	8525	25	96	26	100
TDS - 180°C	(03/01/1995-12/02/2010)	25	(843018700.)	14600	700	13906	2536	18	15300	17080	25	100	25	100

								Percent			Exc	eedance	of C	riteria
CCB Wells	Datas		Pango	Modian		Average	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	Liv	ostock	Ва	seline
Watson-4	Dates		Kange	Weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile		ESLUCK	Fru	itland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(9.145-10.1)	9.8	0.2	9.7	0.3	4	9.9	10.1	6	100	6	100
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(26105480.)	4195	665	4042	1021	25	4520	5248			6	100
Boron	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(8.9-20.)	17.4	1.45	16.33	3.92	24	18.43	19.65	6	100	6	100
Iron (total)	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(11216.)	34.85	21.55	66.38	78.30	118	76.00	183.50			6	100
Manganese	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(0.001-0.01)	0.01	0	0.008	0.004	50	0.010	0.010			6	100
Selenium	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(0.006-0.05)	0.017	0.01	0.021	0.016	77	0.027	0.045			6	100
Chloride	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(123647.)	248	101.5	341	228	67	522	638	2	33	6	100
Fluoride	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(3.17-4.46)	3.625	0.29	3.75	0.47	12	4.02	4.37	6	100	6	100
Sulfate	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(16202100.)	2020	65	1940	189	10	2068	2093	6	100	6	100
TDS - 180°C	(03/02/1995-10/10/1996)	6	(29004160.)	3620	240	3617	435	12	3875	4105	5	83	6	100

								Percent			Exc	ceedance	e of C	riteria
CCB Wells	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	Q3	95 th	Liv	estock	Ba	seline
Custer-2							Deviation	Standard		Percentile			Fru	litiand
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(07/18/1997-07/18/1997)	1	(7.9-7.9)	7.9	0	7.9			7.9	7.9				
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(07/18/1997-07/18/1997)	1	(11101110.)	1110	0	1110			1110	1110			1	100
Boron														
Iron (total)	(07/18/1997-07/18/1997)	1	(1.11-1.11)	1.11	0	1.11			1.11	1.11			1	100
Manganese														
Selenium														
Chloride	(07/18/1997-07/18/1997)	1	(3636.)	36	0	36			36	36			1	100
Fluoride	(07/18/1997-07/18/1997)	1	(0.98-0.98)	0.98	0	0.98			0.98	0.98			1	100
Sulfate	(07/18/1997-07/18/1997)	1	(440440.)	440	0	440			440	440			1	100
TDS - 180°C														

								Percent			Exc	ceedance	of C	riteria
CCB Wells	Datas	5	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	02	95 th	Liv	octock	Ва	seline
Doby-2	Dates		Range	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	QS	Percentile		ESLOCK	Fru	iitland
								Deviation			n	%	n	%
рН	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	8	(4.7-7.7)	7.5	0.1	7.2	1.0	14	7.6	7.7	1	13	1	13
Conductivity														
(umho/cm)	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(17802110.)	2070	40	2020	118	6	2100	2107			7	100
Boron	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(0.96-1.56)	1.14	0.06	1.19	0.18	16	1.22	1.46			7	100
Iron (total)	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(0.58-10.4)	2.3	1.64	4.14	4.32	104	6.85	10.34			7	100
Manganese	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(0.01-0.07)	0.027	0.006	0.035	0.022	63	0.045	0.067			7	100
Selenium	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(0.057-0.141)	0.09	0.016	0.093	0.028	30	0.107	0.133	7	100	7	100
Chloride	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(41.2-78.)	50	8.8	55	15	26	66	75			7	100
Fluoride	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(4.42-5.1)	4.9	0.2	4.76	0.26	6	4.92	5.05	7	100	7	100
Sulfate	(01/21/1997-06/14/1999)	7	(365610.)	488	112	504	103	20	601	607			7	100
TDS - 180°C	(01/21/1997-03/12/1997)	3	(15001530.)	1510	10	1513	15	1	1520	1528			3	100

PCS Baseline Combined	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria
			(Deviation			n	%
рН	(11/16/1974-	52	(11.8-7.)	8	0.4	8.3	1.0	12	8.6	10.1	10	19
Conductivity	(11/16/1974-											
(umho/cm)	03/04/1977)	20	(205003620.)	9590	2740	9893	4297	43	11950	16700		
Boron	(11/16/1974-	51	(370.05)	0.7	0.28	1.51	5.09	338	1.00	2.02	1	2
Iron (total)	(11/16/1974-	18	(5330.01)	0.805	0.77	32.37	125.13	386	2.32	105.02		
Manganese	(11/16/1974-	45	(0.34-0.001)	0.06	0.03	0.077	0.075	97	0.088	0.242		
Selenium	(11/16/1974-	51	(0.25-0.001)	0.005	0	0.032	0.073	232	0.007	0.250	6	12
Chloride	(11/16/1974-	51	(900039.)	970	650	1755	2279	130	1450	7080	31	61
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-	43	(4.9-0.2)	1.5	0.45	1.72	0.92	54	2.00	3.29	10	23
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-	51	(45350.5)	2500	800	2359	1198	51	3325	3950	42	82
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-	51	(18746800.)	6140	790	7214	3262	45	7440	14418	50	98

PCS Baseline							Standard	Percent Relative		95 th	Exceed	ance of stock
GM-11	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	Q3	Percentile	Crit	eria
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(03/25/1975-	4	(8.05-7.5)	7.6	0.05	7.7	0.2	3	7.7	8.0		
Conductivity	(03/25/1975-											
(umho/cm)	03/04/1977)	4	(1650011700.)	14715	1750	14408	2435	17	16448	16490		
Boron	(03/25/1975-	4	(1.2-0.2)	0.99	0.11	0.85	0.44	52	1.05	1.17		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(03/25/1975-	4	(0.34-0.08)	0.18	0.075	0.195	0.115	59	0.258	0.324		
Selenium	(03/25/1975-	4	(0.25-0.005)	0.0375	0.0325	0.083	0.116	140	0.115	0.223	2	50
Chloride	(03/25/1975-	4	(90006420.)	7267.5	677.5	7489	1160	15	8081	8816	4	100
Fluoride	(03/25/1975-	4	(1.6-0.8)	1.07	0.2	1.14	0.35	31	1.30	1.54		
Sulfate	(03/25/1975-	4	(3065375.)	2450	432.5	2085	1194	57	2791	3010	3	75
TDS - 180°C	(03/25/1975-	4	(1874613870.)	15963	1545	16136	2160	13	17407	18478	4	100

PCS Baseline GM-14	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria %
рН	(03/25/1975-	2	(87.7)	7.85	0.15	7.9	0.2	3	7.9	8.0		
Conductivity	(03/25/1975-											
(umho/cm)	05/20/1976)	2	(93506100.)	7725	1625	7725	2298	30	8538	9188		
Boron	(03/25/1975-	2	(0.97-0.61)	0.79	0.18	0.79	0.25	32	0.88	0.95		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(03/25/1975-	2	(0.059-0.026)	0.0425	0.0165	0.043	0.023	55	0.051	0.057		
Selenium	(03/25/1975-	2	(0.25-0.005)	0.1275	0.1225	0.128	0.173	136	0.189	0.238	1	50
Chloride	(03/25/1975-	2	(34002430.)	2915	485	2915	686	24	3158	3352	2	100
Fluoride	(03/25/1975-	2	(1.2-1.19)	1.195	0.005	1.20	0.01	1	1.20	1.20		
Sulfate	(03/25/1975-	2	(0.91-0.5)	0.705	0.205	1	0	41	1	1		
TDS - 180°C	(03/25/1975-	2	(67325078.)	5905	827	5905	1170	20	6319	6649	2	100

								Percent		th	Exceed	ance of
PCS Baseline	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard	Relative	03	95	Lives	stock
GM-15	Dates		hange			711010.80	Deviation	Standard	~	Percentile	Crit	eria
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(03/27/1975-	2	(9.2-8.92)	9.06	0.14	9.1	0.2	2	9.1	9.2	1	50
Conductivity	(03/27/1975-											
(umho/cm)	05/20/1976)	2	(127009880.)	11290	1410	11290	1994	18	11995	12559		
Boron	(03/27/1975-	2	(0.83-0.81)	0.82	0.01	0.82	0.01	2	0.83	0.83		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(03/27/1975-	2	(0.079-0.014)	0.0465	0.0325	0.047	0.046	99	0.063	0.076		
Selenium	(03/27/1975-	2	(0.25-0.005)	0.1275	0.1225	0.128	0.173	136	0.189	0.238	1	50
Chloride	(03/27/1975-	2	(74003910.)	5655	1745	5655	2468	44	6528	7226	2	100
Fluoride	(03/27/1975-	2	(2.26-2.)	2.13	0.13	2.13	0.18	9	2.20	2.25	1	50
Sulfate	(03/27/1975-	2	(386330.)	358	28	358	40	11	372	383		
TDS - 180°C	(03/27/1975-	2	(108798101.)	9490	1389	9490	1964	21	10185	10740	2	100

PCS Baseline GM-19	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria
pH	(11/16/1974-	4	(8.1-7.5)	7.865	0.135	7.8	0.2	3	8.0	8.1		70
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)												
Boron	(11/16/1974-	4	(1.03-0.3)	0.94	0.075	0.80	0.34	43	1.01	1.03		
Iron (total)	(11/16/1974-	1	(0.01-0.01)	0.01	0	0.01			0.01	0.01		
Manganese	(11/16/1974-	4	(0.245-0.06)	0.099	0.025	0.126	0.082	65	0.144	0.225		
Selenium	(11/16/1974-	4	(0.025-0.002)	0.005	0.0015	0.009	0.011	115	0.010	0.022		
Chloride	(11/16/1974-	4	(1077534.8)	844	204.5	825	265	32	1034	1068	3	75
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-	4	(1.7-0.76)	1.195	0.365	1.21	0.45	37	1.54	1.67		
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-	4	(45353685.)	4025	182.5	4068	351	9	4171	4462	4	100
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-	4	(92707810.)	8804.5	416.5	8672	685	8	9197	9255	4	100

								Percent			Exceed	ance of
PCS Baseline	Datas	5	Pango	Madian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	Lives	stock
GM-20	Dates		Nalige	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	U.S	Percentile	Crit	eria
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(11/16/1974-	8	(11.8-7.)	8.65	1	9.0	1.6	18	9.7	11.5	3	38
Conductivity	(06/27/1975-											
(umho/cm)	06/27/1975)	1	(87558755.)	8755	0	8755			8755	8755		
Boron	(11/16/1974-	7	(2.24-0.2)	0.88	0.32	0.90	0.70	77	1.05	1.93		
Iron (total)	(11/16/1974-	1	(0.03-0.03)	0.03	0	0.03			0.03	0.03		
Manganese	(11/16/1974-	6	(0.29-0.008)	0.0305	0.0225	0.088	0.114	130	0.129	0.258		
Selenium	(11/16/1974-	7	(0.025-0.001)	0.005	0	0.007	0.008	109	0.005	0.019		
Chloride	(11/16/1974-	7	(2118757.)	1280	250	1243	462	37	1355	1912	7	100
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-	3	(21.8)	1.95	0.05	1.92	0.10	5	1.98	2.00		
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-	7	(23801725.)	1880	155	1992	244	12	2150	2341	7	100
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-	7	(58805033.)	5711	169	5511	382	7	5822	5863	7	100

PCS Baseline GM-21	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria %
рН	(11/16/1974-	4	(7.9-7.)	7.25	0.15	7.4	0.4	5	7.5	7.8		,,,
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)												
Boron	(11/16/1974-	4	(1.1-0.7)	0.94	0.11	0.92	0.17	19	1.03	1.09		
Iron (total)	(11/16/1974-	1	(0.41-0.41)	0.41	0	0.41			0.41	0.41		
Manganese	(11/16/1974-	3	(0.07-0.03)	0.05	0.02	0.050	0.020	40	0.060	0.068		
Selenium	(11/16/1974-	4	(0.025-0.001)	0.005	0.002	0.009	0.011	120	0.010	0.022		
Chloride	(11/16/1974-	4	(780118.)	398	264	424	339	80	680	760	2	50
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-	2	(0.4-0.2)	0.3	0.1	0.30	0.14	47	0.35	0.39		
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-	4	(37402502.)	3112.5	549	3117	643	21	3635	3719	4	100
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-	4	(69236140.)	6497	242	6514	337	5	6699	6878	4	100

PCS Baseline GM-28	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(11/16/1974-	2	(8.85-8.1)	8.475	0.375	8.5	0.5	6	8.7	8.8		
Conductivity	(11/16/1974-											
(umho/cm)	08/04/1976)	2	(101009830.)	9965	135	9965	191	2	10033	10087		
Boron	(11/16/1974-	2	(0.5-0.05)	0.275	0.225	0.28	0.32	116	0.39	0.48		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(11/16/1974-	2	(0.16-0.001)	0.0805	0.0795	0.081	0.112	140	0.120	0.152		
Selenium	(11/16/1974-	2	(0.025-0.005)	0.015	0.01	0.015	0.014	94	0.020	0.024		
Chloride	(11/16/1974-	2	(4560240.)	2400	2160	2400	3055	127	3480	4344	1	50
Fluoride	(11/16/1974-	2	(1.1-0.8)	0.95	0.15	0.95	0.21	22	1.03	1.09		
Sulfate	(11/16/1974-	2	(754630.)	692	62	692	88	13	723	748		
TDS - 180°C	(11/16/1974-	2	(46594334.)	4496.5	162.5	4497	230	5	4578	4643	2	100

PCS Baseline GM-30A	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria
ρH	29108	3	(7.6-7.5)	7.5	0	7.5	0.1	1	7.6	7.6	- 11	70
Conductivity			()					_				
(umho/cm)												
Boron	29108	3	(0.96-0.46)	0.6	0.14	0.67	0.26	38	0.78	0.92		
Iron (total)	29108	1	(0.02-0.02)	0.02	0	0.02			0.02	0.02		
Manganese	29108	2	(0.07-0.04)	0.055	0.015	0.055	0.021	39	0.063	0.069		
Selenium	29108	3	(0.005-0.002)	0.005	0	0.004	0.002	43	0.005	0.005	4	133
Chloride	29108	3	(12151120.)	1203	12	1179	52	4	1209	1214	22	733
Fluoride	29108	1	(0.95-0.95)	0.95	0	0.95			0.95	0.95	1	100
Sulfate	29108	3	(3105422.)	3100	5	2209	1548	70	3103	3105	18	600
TDS - 180°C	29108	3	(70706573.)	6930	140	6858	256	4	7000	7056	26	867

								Percent			Exceed	ance of
PCS Baseline	Datas	5	Pango	Modian		Avorago	Standard	Relative	03	95 th	Lives	stock
GM-5	Dates		Nalige	weulan	IVIAD	Average	Deviation	Standard	CD	Percentile	Crit	eria
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(03/24/1975-	3	(9.1-8.)	8.3	0.3	8.5	0.6	7	8.7	9.0	1	33
Conductivity	(03/24/1975-											
(umho/cm)	03/03/1977)	3	(102003620.)	6900	3280	6907	3290	48	8550	9870		
Boron	(03/24/1975-	3	(2.4-0.5)	1.3	0.8	1.40	0.95	68	1.85	2.29		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(03/24/1975-	3	(0.092-0.012)	0.09	0.002	0.065	0.046	71	0.091	0.092		
Selenium	(03/24/1975-	3	(0.25-0.005)	0.005	0	0.087	0.141	163	0.128	0.226	1	33
Chloride	(03/24/1975-	3	(51741100.)	5000	174	3758	2304	61	5087	5157	3	100
Fluoride	(03/24/1975-	3	(3.7-1.05)	2.4	1.3	2.38	1.33	56	3.05	3.57	2	67
Sulfate	(03/24/1975-	3	(35412452.)	3400	141	3131	592	19	3471	3527	3	100
TDS - 180°C	(03/24/1975-	3	(129827894.)	11156	1826	10677	2578	24	12069	12799	3	100

PCS Baseline GM-6	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria
pH	(08/03/1976-	2	(8.2-7.8)	8	0.2	8.0	0.3	4	8.1	8.2		70
Conductivity	(08/03/1976-											
(umho/cm)	03/04/1977)	2	(205004100.)	12300	8200	12300	11597	94	16400	19680		
Boron	(08/03/1976-	2	(1.8-0.05)	0.925	0.875	0.93	1.24	134	1.36	1.71		
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(08/03/1976-	2	(0.069-0.021)	0.045	0.024	0.045	0.034	75	0.057	0.067		
Selenium	(08/03/1976-	2	(0.005-0.005)	0.005	0	0.005	0.000		0.005	0.005		
Chloride	(08/03/1976-	2	(323.6-320.)	321.8	1.8	322	3	1	323	323		
Fluoride	(08/03/1976-	2	(4.9-2.74)	3.82	1.08	3.82	1.53	40	4.36	4.79	2	100
Sulfate	(08/03/1976-	2	(35412193.)	2867	674	2867	953	33	3204	3474	2	100
TDS - 180°C	(08/03/1976-	2	(64874970.)	5728.5	758.5	5729	1073	19	6108	6411	2	100

PCS Baseline GM-8	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average		Percent	Q3		Exceedance of	
							Standard	Relative		95 th	Lives	stock
							Deviation	Standard		Percentile	Crit	eria
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(03/24/1975-	4	(8.2-7.9)	8.045		8.0	0.1	2	8.1	8.2		
Conductivity	(03/24/1975-											
(umho/cm)	10/06/1976)	4	(78006800.)	6930	130	7177	544	8	7148	7670		
Boron	(03/24/1975-	4	(371.)	1.1	0.1	13.03	20.76	159	10.38	31.68	1	25
Iron (total)												
Manganese	(03/24/1975-	3	(0.11-0.008)	0.059	0.051	0.059	0.072	122	0.089	0.106		
Selenium	(03/24/1975-	4	(0.005-0.005)	0.005	0	0.005	0.000		0.066	0.213	1	25
Chloride	(03/24/1975-	4	(1470970.)	1010	40	1150	278	24	1193	1415	4	100
Fluoride	(03/24/1975-	4	(3.2-2.87)	3.1	0.1	3.06	0.17	6	3.23	3.29	4	100
Sulfate	(03/24/1975-	4	(22031100.)	1670	533	1658	552	33	1803	2123	4	100
TDS - 180°C	(03/24/1975-	4	(57645220.)	5506	258	5497	272	5	5571	5725	4	100

PCS Baseline KPC-2007-01	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average	Standard Deviation	Percent Relative Standard Deviation	Q3	95 th Percentile	Exceed Lives Crit	ance of stock eria %
рН	(08/16/2007-	6	(10.3-8.19)	9.48	0.595	9.3	0.9	9	9.8	10.2	4	67
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)												
Boron	(08/16/2007-	6	(0.6-0.3)	0.4645	0.05	0.45	0.10	23	0.50	0.58		
Iron (total)	(08/16/2007-	6	(5330.0892)	1.02	0.7	89.48	217.28	243	1.46	400.14		
Manganese	(08/16/2007-	4	(0.0785-0.022)	0.0292	0.006	0.040	0.026	66	0.045	0.072		
Selenium	(08/16/2007-	6	(0.008-0.003)	0.005	0.0015	0.006	0.002	39	0.008	0.008		
Chloride	(08/16/2007-	6	(580292.)	342.5	35	373	107	29	372	529		
Fluoride	(08/16/2007-	6	(1.8-1.5)	1.6	0.1	1.62	0.12	7	1.68	1.78		
Sulfate	(08/16/2007-	6	(29002000.)	2625	225	2550	338	13	2788	2875	6	100
TDS - 180°C	(08/16/2007-	6	(67905640.)	5820	175	6000	452	8	6165	6663	6	100

PCS Baseline KPC-98-01	Dates	n	Range	Median	MAD	Average		Percent	Percent Relative		Exceedance of	
							Standard	Relative		95 th	Livestock	
							Deviation	Standard	Percentile	Crit	eria	
								Deviation			n	%
рН	(03/29/1998-	8	(9.1-7.7)	7.785	0.07	8.0	0.5	6	7.9	8.7	1	13
Conductivity												
(umho/cm)												
Boron	(03/29/1998-	8	(1.11-0.12)	0.655	0.05	0.64	0.27	42	0.70	0.97		
Iron (total)	(03/29/1998-	8	(29.5-0.16)	2.125	1.53	5.68	9.91	175	3.93	21.84		
Manganese	(03/29/1998-	8	(0.08-0.013)	0.0545	0.0142	0.051	0.021	41	0.064	0.076		
Selenium	(03/29/1998-	8	(0.011-0.0025)	0.005	0.0013	0.005	0.003	54	0.005	0.009		
Chloride	(03/29/1998-	8	(31039.)	227	16	209	78	37	238	287		
Fluoride	(03/29/1998-	8	(2.29-1.13)	1.4	0.1	1.48	0.35	24	1.50	2.01	1	13
Sulfate	(03/29/1998-	8	(3900350.)	3325	275	3010	1136	38	3500	3865	7	88
TDS - 180°C	(03/29/1998-	8	(6640800.)	5975	270	5308	1896	36	6135	6542	7	88













Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Chaco Alluvial Graphs

















Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Chaco Alluvial Graphs















































































Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Cottonwood Alluvial Graphs



Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Cottonwood Alluvial Graphs



Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Cottonwood Alluvial Graphs











Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Cottonwood Alluvial Graphs



Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary









Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Cottonwood Alluvial Graphs





Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary







Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary


















































































Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary





Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Baseline Fruitland Graphs















Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary





Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary


Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary





Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary





Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary











Area I Spoil Graphs

















Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary CCB Well Graphs







Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary CCB Well Graphs







Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary CCB Well Graphs









Appendix F - Groundwater Data Summary Baseline PCS Well Graphs


















Appendix G: Coal Combustion Byproduct Assessment

Table of Contents

Background	.3
Disposal History and Techniques	.3
Hydrologic Effects	.5
Leachate Studies	.5
Potential Offsite Migration	.7
Groundwater Modeling	.9
Conclusions	11
Bibliography	13

List of Tables

Table 1: Leachate Analysis of CCBs (Lamkin 1981)	6
Table 2: Concentration of Chemical Constituents in CCBs and Spoil (Lamkin 1981)	7
Table 3: Advection Dispersion Model Input and Output Parameters	11

List of Figures

Figure 1: Bitsui Ash Disposal Area Delineation and Monitoring Wells	4
Figure 2: Fruitland coal subcrop and San Juan Alluvium	8
Figure 3: Water Table elevation of Select Wells in the Bitsui Pit Pre-Law Area	9
Figure 4: Advection-Dispersion Modeling of a Boron Breakthrough Curve	11

Background

Under the Navajo Mine's fuel supply contract with Arizona Public Service, the Navajo Mine accepted CCBs from the Four Corners Power Plant units 4 and 5 for disposal in final pits and ramps from 1971 to 2008. CCBs disposed of at Navajo Mine included: fly ash, scrubber sludge, and bottom ash. CCBs from the Four Corners Power Plant were placed in mined-out pits and ramps of the Navajo Mine to help achieve approximate original contours (AOC) (NTEC, 2013).

Fly ash and bottom ash are generated by the combustion of coal at the Four Corners Power Plant. The fly ash is collected in emission control baghouses. Fabric bags in the baghouses act as a filter removing the fly ash from the flue gas stream of units 4 and 5. Ash too large to be carried by the flue gas to the baghouse falls to the bottom of the boiler during the combustion process and is removed as bottom ash. Scrubber sludge is the byproduct of removing SO₂ from the flue gas. The SO₂ reacts with lime to form calcium sulfite and calcium sulfate. The major chemical constituents of CCBs disposed of at the Navajo Mine include: Silicon Dioxide (SiO₂), Aluminum Oxide (AlO₃) and Calcium Sulfite (CaSO₃).

Coal fly ash is made up of 3 different types of materials: un-reactive and stable solids (Si0₂, Al2O₃, Fe₂O₃, etc.), semi-soluble solids (borates, sulfates, carbonates, etc.), and solids that react with water (CaO, MgO, Na₂O, etc.). The insoluble constituents of fly ash are composed of spherical, glassy mixtures of metal-oxides and sometimes other compounds. The chemistry of the coal determines whether the coal ash is basic or acidic, and this in turn affects leaching properties of the ash once it is in contact with water (Vories 2001). Coal ash typically exhibits a point of zero charge, PZC_{pH} , of around 4.6, and sorption/leaching properties within a given ash are greatly controlled by the pH of the mixture once it is slaked. With regards to alkaline or Class C coal ash, the main constituents of concern in terms of leaching are boron, arsenic, and possibly selenium (Manoharan 2007). Although arsenic is fairly susceptible to attenuation in the subsurface, boron can be quite chemically stable while being transported over large geographic areas.

Disposal History and Techniques

The Navajo Mine and the San Juan Mine formerly used CCBs from adjacent generating stations as a backfill material to achieve AOC. Approximately 4 million tons of ash was placed in mined out pits and ramps at the two mines annually. Disposal of CCBs in this manner at the Navajo Mine was seen as the best long-term solution for CCB disposal in the absence of other beneficial uses for the ash. Placement of ash was governed by a detailed ash disposal plan developed and approved for the Navajo Mine. It described performance standards for the use of ash as mine backfill.

The performance standards required physically characterizing the ash, covering the ash with spoil, not burying ash beneath large drainages, and performing reclamation on the affected areas. The precautionary measures were designed to prevent the ash from being exposed on the ground and to prevent plant roots and surface water from directly coming into contact with the buried ash. Due to the arid environment of Northwest New Mexico and the absence of any significant groundwater, ash placement was in dry pits and ramps.

The AOC surrounding all ash disposal areas was designed to have positive drainage away from the ash and avoid any puddling, sheet flow, or other collection of water above or adjacent to disposal areas. This design specification has kept most of the permanent program and interim ash disposal areas unsaturated, which can be verified from the monitoring well data. In addition to this, all post-mining drainages that intersected an ash disposal area were modified to flow across the ash disposal area at approximately right angles to the long axis of the disposal site to minimize potential infiltration of surface waters into the ash. This design specification limits the amount of contact time that running water has with the ash-reclaimed areas. Navajo Mine monitors a suite of wells in a historic, Pre-Law CCB disposal area (Bitsui and Watson Pits) that has become water-saturated due to NAPI activity adjacent to the area. It is important to note that disposal of CCB in this area occurred not only prior to SMCRA but prior to NAPI activities. A map displaying the outline of the Bitsui ash disposal area and relevant wells is seen in Figure 1. The influence of NAPI activity in the area has raised groundwater tables and increased surface water movement contributing to the saturation level of the buried CCBs.



Figure 1: Bitsui Ash Disposal Area Delineation and Monitoring Wells

Ash was covered by a minimum of 10 feet of spoil material, plus any required topdressing and the required topsoil thickness. The spoil material has a low hydraulic conductivity of 10^{-6} cm/sec (four samples ranged from 1.66 x 10^{-6} to 5.4 x 10^{-6} cm/sec), which has helped to minimize vertical infiltration of surface water. During the process of reclamation, active ash disposal areas were regularly overlain with spoil material to cover the surface and minimize fugitive dust as the ash was backfilled into the pits (NTEC, 2013).

The geological conditions surrounding the Navajo Mine pits where the ash was disposed create favorable condition for ash disposal in pits. After mining was completed in the ash disposal areas, the pit floor was directly on top of a low-conductivity $(10^{-7} \text{ cm/sec}, \text{ comparable to many commercial grade liners})$ shale/mudstone stratigraphic unit which is part of the lower shale members of the Fruitland Formation. This layer restricts vertical transport of CCB leachate-laden water into the underlying PCS unit. The surrounding spoil disposed in the pits along with the CCBs is a mixture of sandstones, mudstones, coal processing waste, and shale.

Hydrologic Effects

Pre-mine water level data from the coal seams record that the seams were dry (unsaturated) in the majority of the coal lease, particularly Barber, Pinto, and Doby pits, except for a few localized areas in Area III (Lowe/Dixon pits). Hydraulic conductivity within the coal seams in the Navajo Mine, determined from aquifer tests reaches a maximum of 2.68×10^{-5} cm/sec in some places (NTEC, 2013). It could potentially take quite a long time for ash disposal areas to become saturated in some places because of the slow groundwater velocities in the lease area and because of the small effective porosity of the coal seams through which transport occurs.

Regular irrigation of NAPI agricultural fields immediately east of the Bitsui mine pit area contribute to development of saturated conditions in portions of backfilled and reclaimed Bitsui pits. Shallow groundwater has accumulated in aeolian sand units south and east of the Bitsui area and is perched on top of the low permeability shale and mudstone units of the Fruitland Formation. The saturation measured in the reclaimed area results in part from excess irrigation water migrating down gradient from the agricultural fields and toward the backfilled pit and also from the gradient created by Morgan Lake (0.01 ft/ft). Regional shallow groundwater gradients (Keller-Bliesner 1997) in the sand unit indicate that the groundwater contained in the aeolian sand will discharge to Bitsui Wash.

The Bitsui area was mined during 1964-1965 and backfilled in the mid-1970s. Some of the backfill in this area consisted of ash from the Four Corners Generating Station. NAPI activity began in the late 1970s. The Navajo Mine monitoring program has been recording groundwater levels and quality in the Bitsui area since 1995. A total of seven monitoring wells were placed in both spoil and ash disposal areas, and in the No. 8 coal seam within the immediate Bitsui area as seen in Figure 1. Additionally, water level and chemistry data was collected from the No. 8 coal seam well KF84-16 that is 1,400 feet to the east of the Bitsui area. Monitoring of static water level in the No. 8 seam coal in the Bitsui area began in 1985 in wells KF83-1 and KF84-16. Over an 11-year period from 1985 to 1996, water levels in the No. 8 coal seam rose 11 feet in well KF83-1 to the southeast and 6 feet in well KF84-16, further to the east. Water levels in both wells appear to have reached an equilibrium stage with relatively little change since 1996. Monitoring of these two particular wells has since ceased.

No. 8 coal seam wells Bitsui-2 and Bitsui-3 are located in the former highwall adjacent to the mined out area and have been monitored since 1995. Water levels from these two wells record a pattern of initial recharge followed by a period of steady state that is similar to wells KF-84-16 and KF83-1. The cumulative effect of the return flows from irrigation has produced perennial surface water flows in Bitsui Wash and a large perennial pond upslope of the mined out area. These perennial sources of water located at a higher elevation than the former Bitsui pit would have sufficient volume of flow, given enough time, to migrate down slope and saturate the Bitsui mined out area. The likely sequence is that soon after NAPI began irrigating, return flows began accumulating in the mined out areas until a steady state condition developed. Due to the low groundwater velocities in the area and the large distance (about two miles) from Morgan Lake, it probably has contributed significantly less to the affected saturation levels in the Bitsui pit.

Leachate Studies

The CCBs from the Four Corners Power Plant were analyzed along with coal spoil from the Navajo Mine to determine chemical constituents. Column leaching tests were performed on the CCBs to measure how much a number of key constituents were susceptible to leaching. Chromium, boron, molybdenum, potassium, magnesium, calcium, and sodium were determined to be key species for evaluation (Lamkin 1981). These elements were selected because they were found to approach or exceed the drinking water standards in the RCRA leachates or because they were seen as being representative of the behavior of the

major species. The specific method used in this study was the Extraction Procedure (EP) method, which was congruent with RCRA requirements at the time the study was published. Furthermore, the attenuation capacity of the overburden was examined to ascertain the amounts of leachate that could be effectively removed by being filtered through it. The results from this study and a chemical analysis of the spoil and CCBs are presented in Table 1 and Table 2.

Chemical of Concern	Total Solid Phase Concentration in CCBs (mg/kg)	Leachable Concentration from CCBs (mg/kg)	Attenuation Capacity of Overburden (mg/kg)
Potassium	6000	34	10
Magnesium	2500	1	0
Calcium	24000	1570	1260
Sodium	16000	270	0
Chromium	30	0.22	0.49
Molybdenum		2.6	0
Boron	220	52	0

 Table 1: Leachate Analysis of CCBs (Lamkin 1981)

In the mid 1980s, an additional study was conducted on the Navajo Mine to determine whether leaching of spoil material and CCBs could potentially have any effects on the environment. Mixtures of spoil and CCBs were leached in the batch leaching process with natural waters from the site. The batch leaching procedures accelerated the leaching process and determined in a shorter time period what the long-term contact between native groundwater, CCBs, and spoil would produce in terms of water chemistry. The data collected from this study was evaluated to determine the net geochemical impact expected as a result of the CCB disposal at the mine site. Additionally, the attenuation properties of various solid materials was evaluated. This study was a follow up to the initial one that characterized the ash composition.

Concentrations in the surface water leachate for boron and selenium increased when leached through fly ash (NTEC, 2013). However, the levels of boron declined slightly when leached through a mixture of ash and spoil, and the increased selenium concentrations were similar to the selenium concentrations in leachate produced by spoil alone. The iron concentration in both surface and groundwater decreased following leaching through spoil, CCBs, or a mixture of the two.

Overall, the conclusions from the study were that the leachate nearly always had higher TDS than the initial groundwater. One exception to this was in the case of leachate produced from a particular mixture of ash and spoil that had lower TDS and lower trace metal concentrations than natural groundwater from coal seams #4-6, though this instance isn't representative of prevalent conditions in the reclaimed areas. Many different attenuation processes such as high cation exchange capacity (CEC) of the spoil, formation of polymeric iron hydroxide complexes, and sorption to CCBs and spoil were suggested.

Element	Concentration (m	centration (mg/kg)			
	CCBs	Spoil			
Aluminum	120000	7400			
Arsenic	32	6			
Barium	700	42			
Beryllium	<0.1				
Boron	220	8			
Cadmium	<1.6	0.9			
Calcium	24000	17000			
Chromium	30	3			
Cobalt	21	7			
Copper	61	6			
Iron	23000	13000			
Lead	55	32			
Magnesium	2500	3100			
Manganese	160	200			
Mercury	0.033	0.2			
Molybdenum	<0.40	<6			
Nickel	< 0.60	9			
Potassium	6000	1400			
Selenium	4	<2			
Silicon	260000				
Silver	< 0.40	<0.2			
Sodium	1.60%	2700			
Strontium	320				
Titanium	5100				
Uranium	<6.0				
Vanadium	97				
Zinc	150	63			

Table 2: Concentration of Chemical Constituents in CCBs and Spoil (Lamkin 1981)

Potential Offsite Migration

Based on the potentiometric surface for the No. 8 coal, the discharge locations for the re-saturated mine spoil within Area I are projected to be: the subcrop of the No. 8 coal and the Fruitland Formation beneath the alluvium of San Juan River Valley to the northeast of Area I and down-dip in the No. 8 coal Seam toward the drawdown influences of nearby coal bed methane wells (NTEC, 2013).

The subcrop of the No. 8 coal seam beneath the alluvium in the San Juan River Valley occurs at elevations below the water levels in the coal seam to the south. The approximate location for the coal subcrop is depicted in Figure 2. The extent of the San Juan River alluvium along the Fruitland Formation subcrop is also mapped out in this figure. This subcrop location along the alluvium of the San Juan River

is thought to be the primary discharge location for groundwater in the No. 8 coal seam and in the undifferentiated Fruitland Formation.



Figure 2: Fruitland coal subcrop and San Juan Alluvium

A hydraulic conductivity of 0.08 feet per day from this table is considered a reasonably conservative estimate for the No. 8 coal based on the test results for wells SJKF84 #3, SJKF84 #4 and SJKF84 #5 located in the coal down gradient of the Bitsui Pit. The porosity of coal seams is primarily associated with cleating and small scale fracturing of the coal. Porosity estimates ranging from 0.02 to 0.007 were obtained for the Fruitland Formation coals from tests conducted for the Western Cretaceous Coal Seam Project (Mavor 1992). An estimate of coal porosity of 0.01 was used for modeling. This estimate also appears to match the rate of transport from the Bitsui Pit to well Bitsui-2 and has been used in the model calibration and simulations.

An elevation difference of 63 feet is calculated for the water elevation of 5,164 feet measured in the Bitsui Pit and the water elevation of 5,101 feet estimated in the alluvium at the coal subcrop. The horizontal distance between the Bitsui Pit and the coal subcrop is approximately 7,300 feet resulting in an average hydraulic gradient between the Bitsui Pit and the groundwater at the coal subcrop of 0.0086 ft/ft.

Based on the porosity and hydraulic conductivity for the coal, the groundwater velocity is estimated to be 0.069 feet per day, and it would take 290 years for water from the mine pit to flow the 7,300 foot distance through the coal from the Bitsui Pit to the coal subcrop under the San Juan River alluvial aquifer. The groundwater velocity in the undifferentiated Fruitland Formation is expected to be at least 5 times lower based on an estimated effective porosity of 5% and because of the low hydraulic conductivity estimates



based on the extent of shale and claystone within the unit and the observations from mining and exploration drilling.

Figure 3: Water Table elevation of Select Wells in the Bitsui Pit Pre-Law Area

Groundwater Modeling

An advection-dispersion model simulation was applied to evaluate the characteristics of groundwater movement and leachate attenuation in the Area 1 Bitsui Pit. Specifically, the model considered the transport of boron, modeled as a conservative geochemical tracer, from the upgradient Bitsui CCB disposal area to the downstream Bitsui 6 spoil well. The distance between the maximum extent of the CCB disposal and the downgradient well is an approximate horizontal distance of 3 feet, or 10 meters (NTEC, 2013). Approximate concentrations of boron and other parameters of interest within this CCB disposal area are inferred by data recorded at the Bitsui 6 ash-disposal well. The groundwater gradients in the Bitsui area trend towards the northwest where discharge ultimately occurs in outcrops of the Fruitland Formation next to the San Juan River. In an effort to reduce the uncertainty and the number of variables, boron was chosen since other chemical species may degrade and attenuate considerably over time and distance.

Advection-dispersion models assume that a center of mass is traveling through the subsurface at the same speed as the average groundwater velocity (Fetter 2001). As the plume moves through the subsurface over time, dispersion effects cause it to exhibit a Gaussian normal-distribution concentration gradient, similar to a bell shaped curve. Dispersion is a function of the tortuosity in the subsurface, but in this model it was calculated based on an empirical formula. If the initial time in which transport began is known, as well as the distance the plume traveled, the groundwater velocity (pore water velocity) and hence the dispersion coefficient can be calculated iteratively.

Certain assumptions went into making the model. One primary assumption is that the aquifer is homogeneous. Additionally, since the area was reclaimed about 1975, and because extensive NAPI activity in the area didn't occur until 1980, the chemical transport is assumed to start in 1985. The assumption is based on the estimated time for the pit to become saturated, for the boron to start leaching out of the CCBs, and for the plume to start moving at any appreciable rate. The nature of the loading that created the plume is assumed to be impulse, or slug loading because it was found to support the data more accurately than a continuous load. Model parameters are shown in Table 3.

Depending on the distance assumption, the plume migrated from the source to the receiving well (Bistui 6), and different groundwater velocities can be calculated from the model. The results of the model were evaluated using two distances from the assumed point source to the downgradient well. In one case 33 feet was used since it is the distance between the maximum extent of the CCB disposal and Bitsui 6 well, and 172 feet was also used because it is the distance between Bitsui-1 (CCB well in Bitsui pit ash disposal) and Bitsui-6 (closest downgradient spoil well in the Bitsui pit). Based on the assumption that the distance between the source and downgradient well is 33 feet, a groundwater velocity of 0.6 meters/year, or about 10^{-6} cm/second, was calculated after calibrating the model to fit the breakthrough curve in the downgradient well is 172 feet a groundwater velocity of 3.285 meters/year, or 10^{-5} cm/second, is calculated. Because of the slow velocities involved in the groundwater transport, it is estimated to take 85 to 450 years for leachate to even reach the coal seams at the edge of the CCB and spoil disposal area of Bitsui Pit given the current conditions.

The results of the model indicate transport through the areas reclaimed with fly ash is considerably slower compared to transport through the coal seams. The model fit the data with a coefficient of determination (R squared) value of 0.96, suggesting good agreement with the data. However, there is always uncertainty concerning groundwater modeling given the simplifying assumptions. An alternative assessment approach assumes a continuous load rather than an impulse load from the ash disposal area, with down-gradient migration and attenuation in the spoil. Although this is an alternative possibility, the evidence in the literature concerning boron attenuation concludes that it remains fairly stable as it moves through the subsurface (Heebink 2001) (Manoharan 2007). In addition to this, based on the ash characterization studies, the amount of boron present within the ash is limited and most likely would have been released immediately following water-saturation as an impulse load.

The model was calculated using the following equation (Fetter 2001):

$$C = \frac{Co}{2} \left[erfc\left(\frac{L - vxt}{2\sqrt{Dlt}}\right) + \exp\left(\frac{vxL}{Dl}\right) erfc\left(\frac{L + vxt}{2\sqrt{Dlt}}\right) \right]$$

Where;

C=concentration at a specific x coordinate and timeCo=the initial source concentrationDl=aLvx =longitudinal dispersion coefficient $(\frac{Length^2}{Time})$ L=flow path length $aL=0.83(logL)^{2.414}$ = the apparent longitudinal dynamic dispersivity (length)vx=average ground water velocity $(\frac{Length}{Time})$ t=time since movement began

Year	1990	1992	1994	1996	1998	2000	2002	2004	2006	2008	2010
C (g/m ³)	0.016	0.221	0.874	1.959	3.246	4.510	4.783	3.786	2.930	2.226	1.667
Co (g/m ³)	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9
L (m)	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06	10.06
vx (m/d)	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002
$Dl (m^2/d)$	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
t (d)	1825	2555	3285	4015	4745	5475	6205	6935	7665	8395	9125
aL (m)	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835	0.835

 Table 3: Advection Dispersion Model Input and Output Parameters



Figure 4: Advection-Dispersion Modeling of a Boron Breakthrough Curve

Conclusions

There were varying hydraulic gradients during the timeframe that was modeled. This is important to consider because hydraulic gradient is the driving force for determining groundwater velocity, particularly in unconfined conditions (Fetter 2001). The gradients varied from extremes of 0.02 ft/ft in 1996 to 0.005 ft/ft in 2008, as is seen in Figure 3. The gradients could have also been greater at the beginning of the transport sequence while the reclaimed area was becoming saturated from NAPI water; however, there is no data available for analysis. The groundwater velocity calculated from the model

represents a steady state condition in the reclaimed area where there is minimal driving force for groundwater movement.

The reclamation of the CCB disposal areas at Navajo Mine has been sufficient in part because of the natural conditions prevalent in the area and also due to placement considerations during disposal and reclamation. The data evaluated indicate negligible impacts have resulted from the CCB disposal. It is also not anticipated that any significant future effects will ensue from the CCB disposal at the Navajo Mine because of the very slow groundwater movement and the likely attenuation of contaminants of concern as they migrate through the subsurface. Therefore, OSMRE concludes that potential impacts from CCB disposal at the Navajo Mine are negligible.

Bibliography

NTEC, 2013. "Permit Application Package (permit application) for Federal Permits NM-003 (Navajo Mine)." Denver, Colorado: Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Western Region Mine Plan Reference Center, 2013.

Fetter, C.W. Applied Hydrogeology. Prentice Hall, 2001.

Heebink, Loreal. Coal Fly Ash Trace Element Mobility in Soil Stabilization. IAUS, 2001.

Keller-Bliesner. *Projected Groundwater Changes in the Ojo Amarillo Drainage.* Farmington, New Mexico: Navajo Indian Irrigation Project, 1997.

Lamkin, A.G. A Laboratory Investigation of the Processing and Handling Options of Fly Ash and FGD Sludge from the Four Corners Generating Station. Radian Corporation, 1981.

Manoharan, V. Influence of Coal Fly Ash Application on Trace Element Mobility and Distribution in Soil, Plant, and Leachate. WOCA, 2007.

Mavor, M.J. *Gas Research Institute Topical Report No. GRI-92/0504.* Salt Lake City, Utah: Resource Enterprises, 1992.

Vories, Kim. "Proceedings of Coal Combustion Byproducts Associated with Coal Mining." 2001.



Technical Memorandum

Date February 26, 2015

To Mychal Yellowman (OSMRE)

CC Paul Clark (OSMRE); Kent Applegate (MMCo); Daphne Place-Hoskie (MMCo)

From Ed Epp

Our Ref Navajo Mine NM-0003F SMCRA Required Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements Technical Memorandum

This technical memorandum (TM) documents the activities conducted in fulfilment of water quality monitoring enhancements required by the U.S. Federal Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation, and Enforcement (OSMRE) as part of its approval of the Navajo Mine Pre-2016 Permit (Appendix 1). Specifically the TM describes:

- 1. Surface water station and ground water monitoring well installation progress since 2012.
- 2. Analysis of water quality data collected from these sites since installation.
- 3. Ongoing work to fulfil monitoring requirements.

1 Executed Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements:

1.1 Bedrock Monitoring Wells

BHP Billiton Mine Management Company (MMCo) reinstated monitoring at three (3) bedrock monitoring wells at Area 1 (Figure 1). Water quality monitoring is done quarterly at monitoring well Bitsui-2. The well is completed in the #8 Coal Seam. Water level measurements are collected quarterly at monitoring wells KF84-16, and KF83-1. These two wells are also completed in the #8 Coal Seam.

The three (3) groundwater monitoring wells (KF84-20A, B, and C) that monitored the #7, #4, and #3 Coal Seams, respectively, at the Lowe Pit were mined through in 2012. MMCo replaced these with three new monitoring wells in 2012 (KF3-12-1, KF4-12-1, and KF7-12-1) to the east of the final highwall of Lowe Pit in an area with no planned future disturbance (Figure 2) (Appendix 2).

MMCo originally intended to install one well each in the #8 and #3 Coal Seams along the north edge of the Gilmore Pit, in Area 4 North. However, because the #8 Coal Seam is "thin, discontinuous, and split into as many as four child seams" in the area proscribed by OSMRE for



the #8 well, OSMRE approved an alternate plan to install a second monitoring well in the #3 Coal Seam (Appendix 2 and 5). These wells are KF3-12-2 and KF3-12-3 (Figure 3).

Table 1 summarizes the new bedrock wells, target formations and their locations at the Navajo Mine.



Figure 1. Ground and surface water monitoring in Area 1 of the Navajo Mine.



Area CA-6 CA-3 QAC-1 CA-4 CA-5 KF84-18a KF84-18b CA-2 Area 1 (\cdot) Groundwater Monitoring - Alluvium CA-1 Groundwater Monitoring - Alluvium (Proposed) Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 4-6 CD-1A Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 7 Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 8 . Surface Water Monitoring

Figure 2. Ground and surface water monitoring in the vicinity of Chinde Arroyo at the Navajo Mine.



KF4-12-1 KF7-12-1 KF3-12-1 CN-2 Area 111 CWA-1b KF84-22a CNS-1 QACW-2 KF84-22b Cotton wood Arroyc CM-2 CWA-4 Middle Fork . KF3-12-3 ottonw CWA-2 KF3-12-2 \odot Groundwater Monitoring - Alluvium Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 3 Area Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 4 CWA-3 CS-2A IVN Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 4-6 Cottonwo Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 7 CS-2B Arroyo 0 Groundwater Monitoring - Coal No. 8 Area . Surface Water Monitoring 0.2 0.5 IVS

Figure 3. Ground and surface water monitoring in the vicinity of Cottonwood Arroyo at the Navajo Mine.



Table 1. Groundwater Monitoring Wells Installed at Navajo Mine Since Approval of the Pre-2016 Permit Application.							
Major Unit	Well Number	Location	Sampling Frequency	Status, Year Installed			
	KF84-22A	East of Dixon Pit	Annual	Active, 1984			
Fruitland Coal	Bitsui-2	Bitsui Pit	Quarterly	Active, 1994			
Seam #8	KF84-16	KF84-16 Bitsui Pit		Active, 1984			
	KF83-1 East of Bitsui Bit		Quarterly	Active, 1983			
Fruitland Coal	KF7-12-1	East of Lowe Pit	Annual	Active, 2012			
Seam #7	KF84-22B East of Dixon F		Annual	Active, 1984			
Fruitland Coal	KF84-18A	East of Yazzie Pit Annua		Active, 1984			
Seam #4-6	KF4-12-1 East of Lowe Pit		Annual	Active, 2012			
	KF3-12-1	East of Lowe Pit	Annual	Active, 2012			
Fruitland Coal Seam #3	KF3-12-2	North of Gilmore Pit	Annual	Active, 2012			
	KF3-12-3	KF3-12-3 North of Gilmore Pit		Active, 2012			

1.2. Alluvial Groundwater Wells

MMCo installed seven (7) alluvial groundwater monitoring wells in 2012 (Appendix 2) (Table 2). One (1) alluvial monitoring well, CA-2, was installed in 2013 (Appendix 3). Well CWA-1a was damaged by a flood event on the Cottonwood Arroyo during the fall of 2012. The well was subsequently abandoned and was replaced by well CWA-1b (Appendix 4) in 2013. All abandonments and installations were supervised and documented in the field by a representative of Norwest Corporation (see Figures 2 and 3 for alluvial well locations). Two (2) wells have not been installed. See Section 3 for discussion of progress to install Chinde Alluvium monitoring wells CA-1 and CA-6.



Table 2. Alluvial Wells Installed at Navajo Mine Since Approval of the Pre-2016 Permit Application. Well **General Location** Monitoring Sampling Status, Year Designation Frequency Installed Type Hand augur Chinde Arrovo -CA-1 pre-packed NA Proposed Downgradient of NAPI well Chinde Arroyo -Monitoring Wetland east of mining Quarterly Active, 2013 CA-2 Well influence Chinde Arroyo – Monitoring CA-3 Quarterly Active, 2012 Wetland on lease Well Chinde Arroyo -Monitoring CA-4 Quarterly Active, 2012 Wetland on lease Well Chinde Arrovo -Monitoring CA-5 Quarterly Active, 2012 Wetland on lease Well Chinde Arroyo -Monitoring Downgradient of mine Proposed CA-6 NA Well lease Cottonwood Arroyo, Monitoring Damaged, CWA-1a NA Abandoned upgradient of mining Well Cottonwood Arroyo – Monitoring CWA-1b North Fork, upgradient Quarterly Active, 2013 Well of mining Cottonwood Arroyo -Monitoring CWA-2 Middle Fork, upgradient Quarterly Active, 2012 Well of mining Arroyo – South Fork, Monitoring CWA-3 Quarterly Active, 2012 upgradient of mining Well Cottonwood Arrovo -Monitoring CWA-4 Quarterly Active, 2012 Downgradient of mining Well

1.3 Surface Water Monitoring Stations

MMCo installed passive water quality monitoring stations upstream and downstream of mining in the Cottonwood Arroyo. The stations consist of one (1) crest gauge and a minimum of two (2) single stage sediment samplers (Figures 4 and 5). The sediment samplers are constructed of 4-inch PVC pipe and contain 1-liter sample bottles. The bottles have an intake and a vent tube



attached. The stations begin to capture water samples when flow reaches the apex of the intake tube. Once the bottle is full, the sampler can no longer capture water. Once flow in the arroyo ceases, and the arroyo is safe to enter, the samples are removed from the 4-inch PVC tubes. The maximum height of flow is recorded from the staff gauge. Cleaning and maintenance of the station is done, if necessary, and the samples are shipped to an analytical laboratory.

The locations, monitoring frequency, and equipment installation details for surface water stations are summarized in Table 3. One station is located downstream of each of four (4) major culverts beneath the Burnham Road within the Cottonwood Arroyo. One station (CN-2) is on the North Fork, while a second station (CM-2) is located on the Middle Fork of Cottonwood Arroyo. The South Fork of Cottonwood Arroyo consists of two smaller (sub)-forks that merge just downstream of the Burnham Road. Station CS-2A is located on the northern of these sub-forks and CS-2B is located on the southern sub-fork (Figure 2). A fifth flow meter is located on the Cottonwood Arroyo, Arroyo, downstream of mining at the historical location CNS-1.

Teledyne ISCO 2110 Ultrasonic Flow Modules were installed at Cottonwood surface water monitoring stations CN-2, CM-2, CS-2A, CS-2B, and CNS-1. These flow meters were installed in 4-foot diameter culverts, set vertically into the ground, to protect the instruments (Figure 6). The sondes hang from the roofs of the Burnham Road culverts, which afford relatively constant cross sections. The data from the flow meters can be converted to cross sectional area of flow and the runoff volumes can then be calculated.

Initial data collected by these flow meters in April, 2014 indicated that the detection range of the sondes installed was insufficient to reach the floors of the culverts. Further discussion on corrective actions can be found in Section 3.

A Teledyne ISCO 2110 Ultrasonic flow meter will be installed at CD-2A on the Chinde Arroyo at the downstream end of the Big Fill culvert. Installation of an ultrasonic sonde is planned at the upstream station (CD-1A). Further discussion on CD-1A can be found in Section 3.

The upstream (CD-1A) and downstream (CD-2A) Chinde Wash stations are inspected on a quarterly schedule. In accordance with Navajo Mine Permit NM-0003F, water samples are collected when flowing conditions are observed during quarterly inspections. Flow meters are being installed at CD-2A and one is planned at CD-1A (see section 3.2).



Table 3. Surface Water Stations Installed at Navajo Mine Since Approval of the Pre-2016Permit Application.							
Station ID	Drainage	Location	Sampling	Instrumentation			
CD-1A	Chinde	Upstream	Quarterly Grab Sample	None installed (see section 3.2)			
CD-2A	Chinde	Downstream	Quarterly Grab Sample, Flow Gauge	Construction in progress			
CN-2	North Fork Cottonwood	Upstream	Passive Sampler, Flow Gauge	6' Ultrasonic sonde installed. Need 10' Ultra-sonic sonde			
CM-2	Middle Fork Cottonwood	Upstream	Passive Sampler, Flow Gauge	6' Ultrasonic sonde installed. Need 10' Ultra-sonic sonde			
CS-2A	South Fork Cottonwood	Upstream	Passive Sampler, Flow Gauge	6' Ultrasonic sonde installed. Need 10' Ultra-sonic sonde			
CS-2B	South Fork Cottonwood	Upstream	Passive Sampler, Flow Gauge	6' Ultrasonic sonde installed. Need 10' Ultra-sonic sonde			
CNS-1	Cottonwood	Downstream	Passive Sampler, Flow Gauge	6' Ultrasonic sonde installed. Need 10' Ultra-sonic sonde			





Figure 4. Schematic of Single Stage Sampler.





Figure 5. Schematic of Crest Gauge.



Page 11

Navajo Mine NM-0003F SMCRA Required Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements Technical Memorandum



Figure 6. Example of 4-foot diameter culvert station used to house flow meter equipment.

2 Analysis of water quality data collected from these sites since installation.

MMCo contracted with Norwest Corporation to produce **a**n analysis **o**f data collected from the surface water stations and groundwater monitoring wells installed since 2012. The report is included as Appendix 6 Hydrology Report for OSMRE CHIA Update. The format of the report is identical to the Navajo Mine Hydrology Report that is submitted twice each permit term to OSMRE. The monitoring data has been updated through September of 2014, and emphasis of analysis is on data collected between 2012 and September, 2014. Historical analysis is included for comparative purposes.

3 Ongoing work to fulfil monitoring requirements.

3.1 Groundwater Monitoring

MMCo submitted application for water use permits to the Navajo Nation Water Code Administration on September 24, 2012, to install alluvial monitoring wells CA-1 upstream and CA-6 downstream of the Navajo Mine lease. MMCo subsequently contracted for the performance of biological and archaeological surveys and received conditional approval for construction from Navajo Nation Fish and Wildlife on January 30, 2013 and a cultural resources compliance form from the Navajo Nation Historic Preservation Department on January 29, 2013. MMCo received approval from Navajo Nation Water Code Administration to drill both CA-1 and CA-6 on April 15, 2013, for duration of 1 year, expiring on April 15, 2014. MMCo will need to



Page 12

renew this drilling permit. MMCo also received the permit for water use from both CA-1 and CA-6 on April 15, 2013 for the duration of 5 years, expiring on April 15, 2018.

In early 2013, MMCo consulted with Navajo Nation Environmental Protection Agency (NNEPA) and Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) for the off-lease monitoring wells and was instructed that a Right of Way (ROW) for the proposed monitoring well sites should be obtained. In March 2013, MMCo submitted a ROW application package to the BIA and the Navajo Nation for review and approval. In October 2013, MMCo was informed by Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) Reality Office that a Categorical Exclusion (CatEx) would be necessary to grant approval for access to the wells. A CatEx was prepared by Ecosphere Environmental Inc. and submitted later that month (October 24, 2013) to BIA Division of Environmental, Cultural and Safety Management. MMCo was then informed by the Navajo Nation Land Office that ROW applications require an Environmental Assessment (EA). Additionally, MMCo was informed that the ROW was not required for permitting the monitoring wells and instead a Revocable Use Permit (RUP) would be required. Numerous correspondences and consultations were conducted - in person, by phone, letter, and email to determine the correct course of action for the permitting process through the remainder of 2013 and into 2014.

MMCo conducted an in-person meeting in June 2014 with BIA Reality Office and the Navajo Nation Land Department to get a final determination on the permitting process to gain access to the sites of the proposed monitoring wells. At this meeting the BIA and Navajo Nation parties concluded that the RUP would, in fact, be the appropriate process to undertake to gain access to CA-1 and CA-6. MMCo re-submitted the application package as an RUP, in person, in November 2014. However, at this time, the RUP application package is still under review with Navajo Nation with continued uncertainty whether it will proceed as an RUP or go back to an ROW. Once the departments arrive at an agreement, a final permit can be issued, and the wells will be installed.

3.2 Surface Water Monitoring

MMCo installed five (5) ISCO Ultrasonic flow samplers at surface water monitoring stations on the Cottonwood Arroyo in early winter 2013. The data from the first flows, recorded in April 2014, indicated that the flow sensors were only collecting data at peak flow and not low flow. A conversation with the manufacturer's representative indicated that MMCo had purchased sondes with a six foot sonic emission and detection range. The height of the culverts requires a sonde with a ten foot range. MMCo is in the process of purchasing new sondes to install in the Cottonwood stations.

MMCo maintains a RUP for surface water sampling at CD-1A. At this location, a large culvert passes under Navajo Highway 3005. MMCo estimates that this RUP was last utilized for installation of flow measurement equipment at the Chinde culvert sometime around 1999. MMCo is investigating whether the RUP allows it to install flow monitoring equipment beside the culvert, in a small parking area on the west side of the road, or at the crest of the culvert. Upon final determination, either a 4-foot culvert station will be installed adjacent to the Chinde Arroyo (Figure 1), or a metal box will be welded to the top of the highway culvert, to house the flow monitoring equipment. Further permitting with the Navajo Nation may also be necessary.



Appendices

Appendix 1: Section 5.2.1.1 Monitoring Program Updates, from the 2012 Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment of the BHP Billiton Navajo Coal Company [sic] Navajo Mine

Appendix 2: Norwest Corporation - Technical Memorandum: Completion and Development of 2012 Navajo Mine Groundwater Monitoring Wells

Appendix 3: Norwest Corporation - Technical Memo: Navajo Mine Monitoring Well CA-2 Installation

Appendix 4: Norwest Corporation - Technical Memo: Navajo Mine Monitoring Well CWA-1A Replacement with CWA-1B

Appendix 5: Letter_120626_Groundwater Well Drilling and Surface Water Monitoring Site Status

Appendix 6: Ground and Surface Water Quality Monitoring Results and Analysis



Appendix 1: Section 5.2.1.1 Monitoring Program Updates, from the 2012 Cumulative HydrologicImpact Assessment of the BHP Billiton Navajo Coal Company [sic] Navajo Mine

cation/anion balance for quality assurance. Additional monitoring parameters, are only used if the reference criteria are exceeded, and are found in the Navajo Mine PAP, Chapter 6, Section 6.6.13.2 and footnote 1 of Table 6.5 Additional monitoring parameters include iron, manganese, nitrate, and boron. Table 6.5 lists the reference criteria. OSMRE finds that the groundwater monitoring program has supplied sufficient information to support the required evaluation for material damage potential in this CHIA.

5.2.1.1 Monitoring Program Updates

Monitoring programs are periodically updated to enhance the available data sets for predictive analysis. OSMRE recently approved enhancements to the hydrologic monitoring program proposed by BNCC. Monitoring program enhancements are outlined below (BNCC 2012):

Surface Water:

- 1. Chinde Wash
 - a. One continuous flow gauge will be installed upstream, off lease in the proximity of agricultural fields.
 - b. One continuous flow gauge will be installed on-lease, downstream of the "big fill"
- 2. Cottonwood Arroyo
 - a. Four upstream flow gauges will be installed (one each) along the North Fork, Middle Fork and two branches of the South Fork
 - i. Above mentioned upstream gauges will be installed at the outfall of culverts along the proposed Burnham Road re-route
 - b. One downstream flow gauge will be installed on an already existing cable structure across the channel; periodic channel surveys will confirm accurate channel cross section
 - c. All stations will consist of flow meters to sample flow quantity and water samplers for water quality analysis
- 3. Implementation Schedule
 - a. Chinde gauges upon approval of off-lease monitoring
 - b. Cottonwood upstream gauges dependent on permit approval and construction schedule of Burnham Road re-route; proposed for June 2012 (North Fork) and October 2012 (Middle and South Fork)
 - c. Cottonwood downstream monitoring scheduled for completion in May 2012

Groundwater:

- 1. Bitsui Area used on part to evaluate the Area I groundwater model
 - a. Existing well Bitsui-2 will be used for #8 seam groundwater level monitoring and for groundwater sampling.
 - b. Existing wells KF84-16 and KF83-1 will be used for monitoring #8 seam groundwater levels.
- 2. Chinde Wash Area
 - a. One off-lease, upstream pre-packed well (CA-1) will be installed via hand augur
 - b. CA-2 will be installed near the lease boundary as a well to monitor water quality of Chinde Arroyo up gradient of mining activities.
 - c. One off-lease, downstream pre-packed well (CA-6) may be installed via hand augur; this will be replaced by a drilled well once final approvals have been acquired
 - d. Three piezometers (CA-3, CA-4, CA-5) will be installed in the "big fill" wetland area
 - e. All Chinde wells and piezometers will be monitored quarterly for a period of two years, followed by an assessment of continued monitoring frequency.
- 3. Cottonwood Arroyo Area
 - a. A new alluvial well (proposed CWA-4) will be installed to replace the hand-dug, dry well QACW-2B along the main Cottonwood Arroyo just south of Dixon.

- b. A new alluvial well (proposed CWA-1) will be installed to replace the abandoned well GM-17 along the North Fork of the Cottonwood Arroyo just inside the lease boundary.
- c. Two new alluvial wells (proposed CWA-2 and CWA-3) will be installed along the Main Fork and South Fork, respectively, of the Cottonwood Arroyo near the lease boundary.
- d. Two new Fruitland wells (proposed KF-1 #3 and KF-1 #8) will be installed on the northwest side of Area IV North near the lease boundary. These will be used to evaluate Area IV north groundwater model predictions of drawdown, recharge and TDS transport. Monitoring of the No. 3 and No. 8 coal seam should provide information about potential impacts prior to influences on the alluvial water system, which will be protective of downstream alluvial users on the Cottonwood and Chaco.
- 4. Groundwater Reference Criteria
 - a. Criteria will be recalculated using the entire set of baseline data from 10/17/2011
 - b. Reference criteria will be established for QACW-2
 - c. QACW-2B is a dry, unsuitable hand-dug well and will be replaced by well CWA-4; new reference criteria will be developed for well CWA-4
 - d. GM-17 well will be replaced by proposed well CWA-1; local variation in natural soil properties precludes comparing these two wells as being chemically equivalent so new reference criteria will be developed for CWA-1
 - e. Reference criteria are based on the median + 2 median absolute deviations for the baseline monitoring data through year 2001; detection values are calculated as the product of 0.5 and the detection limit
 - f. Reference Criteria have been established for well QACW-2 as requested; detection values were calculated as the product of 0.5 and the detection limit.
- 5. Implementation Schedule
 - a. All replacement wells, with the exception of CA-6, are scheduled to be installed during April and May of 2012
 - b. Chinde downstream drilled well CA-6 will be installed when necessary approvals are acquired
 - c. Well development is scheduled to be completed during June, 2012
 - d. The monitoring plan revision to the permit is planned for submittal in August, 2012

Modifications to the Chinde alluvial monitoring are particularly important in light of the potential mining related impacts to this system discussed in section 5.3.7.1.2.2. The objective of these new monitoring locations is to characterize and monitor hydrogeologic conditions of the Chinde Alluvium as follows:

The first monitoring location would be a drive point well that would be installed down-gradient of the NAPI fields and up-gradient of the wetland east of the mine lease. The purpose of this monitoring location would be to assess the groundwater quality immediately down-gradient of NAPI.

- The second monitoring location would be a well installed adjacent to the wetland east and upgradient of the mining activities. The purpose of this well would be to monitor water quality immediately up-gradient of mining activities.
- The third monitoring location would be a well installed in the Chinde Wash down-gradient of existing well QAC-1. The purpose of this well would be to monitor water quality down-gradient of the mine. Since this monitoring location is located off-lease it is anticipated that installation will be delayed due to the approvals that must be obtained. BNCC is proposing that a drive point be installed prior to well installation to expedite the collection of data. Once the necessary approvals are acquired for the monitoring location, the drive point will be removed and replaced with a monitoring well.
- The remaining three new monitoring locations would be installed in the wetland immediately upgradient of the Big Fill. The purpose of these is to monitor potential impacts of the wetland on

alluvial water quality, and to monitor groundwater elevations and enable groundwater flow direction to be determined.

BNCC proposes to sample these six new monitoring locations for a period of two years, after which BNCC will discuss with OSMRE the efficacy of continued monitoring of the new monitoring wells. These proposed additions are outlined in Table 6 and approximate locations are shown in Figure 22.

Target Unit	Well Designatio n	General Location	Monitoring Type	Screen Interval	Sampling Frequency
Top of competent bedrock	CA-1	Chinde Wash – downgradient of NAPI	Drive Point	Dependent on refusal	
Alluvium	CA-2	Chinde Wash – adjacent to wetland east of mine lease	Monitoring	Varies – 5' above the	Quarterly
	CA-3* CA-4* CA-5*	Chinde Wash – wetland on lease	Well	of aquifer	
	CA-6	CA-6 Chinde Wash – downgradient of mine lease		Dependent on refusal/ Varies – 5' above the water table plus thickness of aquifer	

 Table 6: Proposed Chinde Alluvium Monitoring (BNCC 2012)

*Water level measurements only

5.3 Impact Assessment

The assessment presented in Chapter 5 of this document considers available quantity and quality information related to surface water and groundwater potentially affected by BNCC operations. The assessment approach used for each resource is outlined in Table 7. Impact assessment relied upon analysis of monitoring data, several models, relevant published and unpublished reports and papers, experience from past mining and reclamation operations at Navajo Mine and other mines located along the western rim of the San Juan Watershed, as well as observations made by BNCC and OSMRE staff during the day-to-day operations and regulation of the mine. Impacts are designated as negligible, minor, moderate or major as defined in Table 7. Table 7 also outlines current minimize techniques and updates to the BNCC monitoring program.



Appendix 2: Norwest Corporation - Technical Memorandum: Completion and Development of 2012 Navajo Mine Groundwater Monitoring Wells



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

То	Jeff Mattern, BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal	Ref #	350-15-TM-DRAFT			
СС	Art O'Hayre	Date	August 17, 2012			
From	Landon Beck and Orion Cannon					
Subject	Completion and Development of 2012 Navajo Mine Groundwater Monitoring Wells					

This technical memorandum documents field activities conducted for the completion and development of groundwater monitoring wells at the Navajo Mine during the spring of 2012. The following supervision and documentation activities were performed by Norwest Corporation:

- Detailed notes of all field activities
- Supervised drilling of soil borings
- Selected well screen intervals from drilling logs
- Supervised monitoring well installation and development
- Prepared figures, data tables, bore logs, and well installation reports (attached).

Two separate phases of well installation and associated sampling work were performed at the Navajo Mine in the spring of 2012. These were:

- 1. Drilling, logging of core samples, and installation of 1.5 inch PVC alluvial monitoring wells with pre-packed well screens.
- 2. Drilling, logging of core samples, and installation of 2 and 4 inch PVC coal seam monitoring wells.

Figure 1 shows where these monitoring wells were installed at the Navajo Mine. A summary of each investigative drilling and well installation works performed are presented in the remainder of the memorandum.

Monitoring and Observation Well Installation

Field Activity Period

Activity	Start	Complete
Survey and stake planned well locations	March 2012	March 2012
Install 8 wells using Geoprobe	10 March '12	22 March '12
Install 5 wells using a Sonic drill rig	10 April '12	13 May '12
Develop monitoring wells	5 June '12	7 June '12

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

Methodology

Survey:

- The proposed well installation locations were staked by BHP-Billiton prior to commencement of the drilling and well installation program.
- The locations of the 1.5 inch monitoring wells drilled with the Geoprobe 6610DT trackmounted drill rig (simply referred to as the Geoprobe drill rig from here on) were surveyed by BHP-Billiton after completion of the first drilling program. The locations of the larger, 2 and 4 inch wells installed with a sonic rotary rig have also been surveyed.
- The locations of the monitoring wells are shown on **Figure 1**.

Well Installation (Geoprobe Drill Rig):

- A relatively small and maneuverable Geoprobe drill rig (**Figure 2**) was used to drill, collect core samples, and install monitoring wells during the first of two phases of the monitoring well installation program. A total of 8 wells were installed with the Geoprobe drill rig.
- Monitoring wells were constructed using 1.5 inch diameter PVC risers and pre-packed screen sections. The pre-packed screen sections are made of standard 1.5 inch PVC slotted screen pipe that are wrapped with stainless steel mesh. Filter sand is neatly packed between the stainless steel mesh and the 1.5 inch PVC slotted screen pipe.
- Attachment 1 shows well construction details and lithology that was encountered during drilling of each of these 8 wells.
- Monitoring wells were completed to design specifications, including surface completions. **Figure 5** shows typical surface completion details for monitoring wells.
- Monitoring well details including total depth and depth to water are summarized in **Table 1**.
- Two-inch diameter AMS sample tubes were used with a core barrel to take soil samples. Core sample tubes were split open to be photographed.
- Field Lithology Log forms were used to record descriptions of soil/rock materials and water-bearing zones by depth interval. Unconsolidated soil materials were qualitatively classified using the Unified Soil Classification system, e.g., SP, poorly graded sand. Color of soil and bedrock materials was visually identified using a Munsell color classification system chart, e.g., dark yellowish brown (10YR4/2). These descriptions have been transferred into the monitoring well installation reports; however the original field notes and hand-written field lithology logs have been scanned and included as **Attachments 2 and 3**, respectively.

Well Installation (Sonic Rotary Drill Rig):

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

- A total of 5 monitoring wells were installed using a Sonic drilling method, a double-cased system using an inner core barrel and a larger override casing. Monitoring wells were constructed from either 2 or 4 inch diameter PVC risers and screen sections. **Figure 3** shows a sonic drill rig.
- Sample core, as shown in **Figure 5**, was extruded to be photographed and logged as shown.
- Detailed field notes of activities at each location, including photograph subjects were recorded in an all-weather field book and scanned copies are included as **Attachment 2**.
- Field Lithology Log forms were used to record descriptions of soil/rock materials and water-bearing zones by depth interval in the same way as described in the Geoprobe Drill Rig section above. These forms are included as **Attachment 3**.
- Depths to water measurements were collected, when there was water in the well, using a reel-type tape.
- Field Well Installation Report forms were used to record well installation details.
- Attachment 1 shows well construction details and lithology that was encountered during drilling for each of the 5 wells installed using a sonic rig.

Well Development

- A total of 9 wells were either developed or bailed dry; 3 wells were dry and were not developed. The five coal seam monitoring wells were each drilled into dry bedrock formation. Because of difficult drilling conditions, water was used while drilling these wells. Due to the relatively low permeability of bedrock at the well completion intervals, stagnant potable drilling water was still present at the time of development approximately 3 weeks later. The water inside these three wells was bailed out as best as possible.
- Details of the well development are included as **Table 2**.
- The four wells installed in the lower Chinde wetlands were not developed by Norwest / Boart-Longyear and are therefore documented in this memorandum. They were developed by another contractor that specializes in wetlands work.
- Detailed field notes of activities at each location, including photograph subjects were recorded in an all-weather field book.
- Depths to water measurements were taken using a standard water level indicator tape.
- Development methods generally included bailing to purge settled and suspended solids followed by pumping to purge fine suspended solids until produced water was clear and purge parameters stabilized.
- A minimum of three casing volumes of water was purged from wells with yields sufficient for pumping. Low-yield wells were developed as best as possible under minimal well recovery conditions using a bailer. Very low-yield wells with minimal saturated thickness and slow recovery rates were typically bailed dry three times with adequate time to recharge in-between.

TABLES

SOIL BORING AND WELL COMPLETION SUMMARY									
Soil Bore	Location	Depth to First Water-Producing Zone (fgs) ¹	Type of Water- Producing Zone	Depth to Bedrock (fgs)	Total Depth Drilled (fgs)	Water Level When Drilled (fgs)	Land Surface Elevation (fmsl)	Bore Completion Date	Notes
		6.5	Unconsolidated clayey	10.2	20		5262.6	2/17/2012	
CA-3	Lower Chinde Wetlands	6.5	sand & gravelly sand	19.3	20	not measured	5260.6	3/1//2012	Drill rig broke down.
CA-4	Lower Chinde Wetlands	10.5	Unconsolidated sandy clay & clayey sand	27.6	30	not measured	5236.8	3/16/2012	
CA-5	Lower Chinde Wetlands	19	Unconsolidated sandy gravel & silty sand	54.1	55	not measured	5252.1	3/14/2012	
CAE-7	Lower Chinde Wetlands	5	Highly weathered sandstone	1.8	12	not measured	5252.1	3/16/2012	No sandpack. Hole caved in to a depth of 2' during well installation.
CWA-1a	Cottonwood Arroyo, North Fork	8	Unconsolidated sand	11.5	14	not measured	5351.0	3/12/2012	
CWA-2a	Cottonwood Arroyo, North Fork	NA	NA	9.9	13.5	dry	5316.3	3/11/2012	
CWA-3c	Cottonwood Arroyo, South Fork	9	Unconsolidated sandy gravel	9	14.4	not measured	5307.9	3/11/2012	
CWA-4	Cottonwood Arroyo	23	Unconsolidated sandy gravel & clayey sand	27	29.5	not measured	5257.0	3/10/2012	
KF3-12-1	Lowe Highwall, #3B Seam	NA	NA	5	227.5	dry	5398.4	4/25/2012	
KF3-12-2	Area IV North, #3 Seam	NA	NA	0	92.5	dry	5365.6	5/11/2012	
KF3-12-3	Area IV North, #3 Seam	NA	NA	0.5	41	dry	5295.5	5/12/2012	
KF4-12-1	Lowe Highwall, #4 Seam	NA	NA	4	207.5	dry	5398.4	5/9/2012	
KF7-12-1	Lowe Highwall, #7 Seam	NA	NA	0	183.5	dry	5398.6	5/9/2012	

TABLE 1

Footnotes:

1 fgs = feet below ground surface

2 fmsl=feet above mean sea level
TABLE 2
MONITORING AND OBSERVATION WELL DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY

Well	Type of Water-Producing Zone	Development Method	Installed Well Depth (fgs) 1	Water Level Pre- Development (fgs)	Water Column (feet)	PVC Casing/ Screen Diameter (inches)	Three Casing Volume (gallons)	Volume Purged (gallons)	Final Pumping Rate (gpm)	Well Development Date	Notes
	Unconsolidated gravelly	Not developed			Not						Wells in the Lower Chinde wetlands not
CA-3	sand	by Norwest	19.7	Not measured	measured	1.5			NA	NA	developed by Norwest/Boart-Longyear
	Unconsolidated silty sand	Not developed			Not						Wells in the Lower Chinde wetlands not
CA-4	and clayey sand	by Norwest	27.7	Not measured	measured	1.5			NA	NA	developed by Norwest/Boart-Longyear
	Unconsolidated gravelly	Not developed			Not						Wells in the Lower Chinde wetlands not
CA-5	sand	by Norwest	53.3	Not measured	measured	1.5			NA	NA	developed by Norwest/Boart-Longyear
	Highly weathered	Not developed			Not						Wells in the Lower Chinde wetlands not
CAE-7	sandstone	by Norwest	9.0	Not measured	measured	1.5			NA	NA	developed by Norwest/Boart-Longyear
	Unconsolidated poorly										Minimal saturated thickness and slow recharge.
CWA-1a	graded fine sand	Bail	11.2	10.5	0.7	1.5	0.4	4	NA	6/9/2012	Bailed dry multiple times.
	Unconsolidated poorly										
CWA-2a	graded fine sand	NA, dry	10.2	Dry	0.0	1.5	0.0	NA	NA	NA	
	Unconsolidated fine sand										
CWA-3c	and sandy gravel	NA, dry	10.2	Dry	0.0	1.5	0.0	NA	NA	NA	
	Unconsolidated gravelly										Minimal saturated thickness and slow recharge.
CWA-4	sand	Bail	26.8	25	1.8	1.5	0.9	5	NA	6/9/2012	Bailed dry multiple times.
		Bail out drilling			Not						
KF3-12-1	Coal	water	225.1	Not measured	measured	4		Bail until dry	NA	6/5/2012	
		Bail out drilling			Not						
KF3-12-2	Coal	water	88.9	Not measured	measured	2		Bail until dry	NA	6/6/2012	
KF3-12-3	Coal	NA, dry	35.9	Dry	0.0	2	0.0	NA	NA	NA	
		Bail out drilling			Not						
KF4-12-1	Coal	water	205.4	Not measured	measured	2		Bail until dry	NA	6/5/2012	
		Bail out drilling			Not						
KF7-12-1	Coal	water	178.9	Not measured	measured	2		Bail until dry	NA	6/5/2012	
BITSUI-2	unknown	Bail and pump	123.0	60	63.0	2	32.1	80	2.00	6/6/2012	An existing well previously drilled.
KF83-1	unknown	Bail and pump	Not measured	Not measured	Not measured	4		150	2.00	6/6/2012	An existing well previously drilled.
KF84-16	unknown	Bail and pump	294.0	110	184.0	2	93.8	120	NA	6/7/2012	An existing well previously drilled.

Footnotes:

1 fgs = feet below ground surface

2 ftoc = feet below top of PVC casing; toc is measuring point for all depth measurements

3 fmsl = feet above mean sea level

FIGURES





Figure 3 Boart-Longyear Drillers and Geoprobe 6610DT Drill Rig



Figure 4 Sonic Rotary Rig and Support Rig



Figure 4 Completed Well with Protective Well Cover and Bollards



Figure 5 Sonic Rotary Rig Extruded Samples



Figure 6 Typical Well Head Completion Diagram

WELL INSTALLATION REPORTS

	WELL INSTAL	LATION REPORT
	WELL ID: CA-3 PA SITE: Navajo Mine Ne COUNTY: San Juan EA STATE: New Mexico	AD ELEVATION: 5263.5 ft DRTHING (NAD 27): N 2,054,287.6 ASTING (NAD 27): E 314,735.7
-	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 4.5 - 19.5 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 19.7 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/17/12 DEVELOPMENT DATE:	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: O. Cannon METHOD OF DRILLING: Direct Push HOLE DIAMETER: 3 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
5	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has b removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	e e en e en e en e en e en e en e en e
20-		1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap
NC	REGRATION	Page 1 of 1

· · · · ·	WELL INSTALLA	TION REPORT
	WELL ID:CA-4PADSITE:Navajo MineNORTCOUNTY:San JuanEASTSTATE:New Mexico	ELEVATION: 5239.1 ft THING (NAD 27): N 2,053,048.7 TING (NAD 27): E 314,735.7
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
C C DI	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 7.5 - 27.5 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 27.7 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/16/12 EVELOPMENT DATE:	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: O. Cannon METHOD OF DRILLING: Direct Push HOLE DIAMETER: 3 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	A inch Steel Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 10-20 Silica Sand 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Pre-Packed Screer 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug
NO	RWEST	Page 1 of 1

	WELL INST	ALLATION	REPORT	
	WELL ID: CA-5 SITE: Navajo Mine COUNTY: San Juan STATE: New Mexico	PAD ELEVAT NORTHING (EASTING (N	FION: 5235.9 f NAD 27): N 2,051, AD 27): E 311,	t 710.4 049.7
	COMPLETION INFORMATION		DRILLIN	IG INFORMATION
C C DE	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well OMPLETION ZONES: 38 - 53 ft bgs OMPLETION DEPTH: 55 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/13/12 EVELOPMENT DATE:		DRILLING GEOLOG METHOD OF DRILL HOLE DIAME	CO.: Boart-Longyear GIST: O. Cannon ING: Direct Push TER: 3 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION		WELL C	CONSTRUCTION
5- 10- 15- 20- 25- 30- 40- 45- 55-	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(lithology/ formation is confidential and h removed by BHP Billiton Mine Manager Company.	(i) the as been nent		Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 10-20 Silica Sand 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Pre-Packed Screen 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug
NO	RWEST			Page 1 of 1

	WELL INSTALL	ATION REPORT
	WELL ID:CAE-7PASITE:Navajo MineNOCOUNTY:San JuanEASTATE:New Mexico	D ELEVATION: 5254.9 ft RTHING (NAD 27): N 2,054,271.6 STING (NAD 27): E 313,637.7
1	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 3.8 - 8.8 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 12 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/16/12 DEVELOPMENT DATE:	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: O. Cannon METHOD OF DRILLING: Direct Push HOLE DIAMETER: 3 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
5-	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) th lithology/ formation is confidential and has b removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	e een een een
NC	DRWEST	Page 1 of 1

-	WELL INS	TALLATION REP	ORT	
	WELL ID: CWA-1a SITE: Navajo Mine COUNTY: San Juan STATE: New Mexico	PAD ELEVATION: NORTHING (NAD EASTING (NAD 27	5354.0 ft 27): N 2,012,939.6 7): E 309,075.4	
	COMPLETION INFORMATION		DRILLING INF	ORMATION
	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 6.0 - 11.0 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 11.2 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/12/12 DEVELOPMENT DATE: 6/9/12	MET	DRILLING CO.: GEOLOGIST: HOD OF DRILLING: HOLE DIAMETER:	Boart-Longyear O. Cannon Direct Push 3 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION		WELL CONST	RUCTION
	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3 lithology/ formation is confidential and removed by BHP Billiton Mine Manage Company.)(i) the has been ement		 4 inch Steel Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 10-20 Silica Sand 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Pre-Packed Screen 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug
NC	DRWEST			Page 1 of 1

	WELL INS	TALLATION REP	ORT			
	WELL ID: CWA-2a SITE: Navajo Mine COUNTY: San Juan STATE: New Mexico	PAD ELEVATION: NORTHING (NAD EASTING (NAD 27	5316.3 ft 27): N 2,007,180.3 7): E 308,041.1			
1	COMPLETION INFORMATION	-	DRILLING INFORMATION			
	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 5.0 - 10.0 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 10.2 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/11/12 DEVELOPMENT DATE:	MET	Drilling Co.: E Geologist: (Thod of Drilling: I Hole Diameter: 3	Boart-Longyear D. Cannon Direct Push 3 in.		
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION		WELL CONST	RUCTION		
5-	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(lithology/ formation is confidential and removed by BHP Billiton Mine Manag Company.	3)(i) the thas been lement		 4 inch Steel Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 10-20 Silica Sand 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Pre-Packed Screen 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 		
NC	REST			Page 1 of 1		

	WELL IN	STALLATION R	EPORT	
	WELL ID: CWA-3c SITE: Navajo Mine COUNTY: San Juan STATE: New Mexico	PAD ELEVATION NORTHING (N. EASTING (NAI	ON: 5310.5 ft AD 27): N 2,002,38 D 27): E 306,10	35.0 92.9
(COMPLETION INFORMATION	1	DRILLING	INFORMATION
C C DE	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Wel OMPLETION ZONES: 5.0 - 10.0 ft bgs OMPLETION DEPTH: 10.2 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/11/12 EVELOPMENT DATE:	Ν	DRILLING C GEOLOGIS METHOD OF DRILLIN HOLE DIAMETE	O.: Monitoring Well ST: O. Cannon IG: Direct Push :R: 3 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION		WELL CO	NSTRUCTION
	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d) lithology/ formation is confidential an removed by BHP Billiton Mine Mana Company.	(3)(i) the d has been gement		4 inch Steel Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 10-20 Silica Sand 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Pre-Packed Screen 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug
NO	RWEST			Page 1 of 1

	WELLI	NSTALLATIO	N REPORT	
	WELL ID: CWA-4 SITE: Navajo Mine COUNTY: San Juan STATE: New Mexico	PAD ELEV NORTHING EASTING	ATION: 5259.0 6 (NAD 27): N 2,008 NAD 27): E 298	ft 3,708.0 3,116.4
	COMPLETION INFORMATIC	N	DRILLI	NG INFORMATION
CC	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring We OMPLETION ZONES: 16.4 -26.4 fbgs OMPLETION DEPTH: 26.6 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/10/12 EVELOPMENT DATE: 6/9/12	11 5	DRILLING GEOLO METHOD OF DRIL HOLE DIAME	G CO.: Boart-Longyear GIST: O. Cannon LING: Direct Push ETER: 3 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	[]] []	WELL	CONSTRUCTION
0				4 inch Steel Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup
5	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6 lithology/ formation is confidential removed by BHP Billiton Mine Ma Company.	(d)(3)(i) the and has been nagement		3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 1.5 inch SCH 40
10 -				PVC
20 -				10-20 Silica Sand
-				1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Pre-Packed Screen
25 -				1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap
ł				3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug
NO	RWEST			Page 1 of 1

	WELL INSTALL	ATION REPORT
	WELL ID:KF3-12-1PASITE:Navajo MineNOCOUNTY:San JuanEASTATE:New Mexico	D ELEVATION: 5398.4 ft RTHING (NAD 27): N 2,016,895.5 STING (NAD 27): E 304,658.7
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
CON CON CON CON DEV	OMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well MPLETION ZONES: 220-225 ft bgs MPLETION DEPTH: 225.1 ft bgs OMPLETION DATE: 4/25/12 /ELOPMENT DATE: 6/5/2012	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: Landon Beck METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 9 in.
EPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
$ \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 5 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 25 \\ 30 \\ 35 \\ 40 \\ 45 \\ 55 \\ 60 \\ 65 \\ 70 \\ 75 \\ 80 \\ 85 \\ 85 \\ 86 \\ 85 \\ 86 \\ 85 \\ 86 \\ 85 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86 \\ 86$	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) th lithology/ formation is confidential and has b removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	e een

	WELL INSTALLATIO	NREPORT
	WELL ID:KF3-12-1PAD ELEVSITE:Navajo MineNORTHINGCOUNTY:San JuanEASTINGSTATE:New Mexico	ATION: 5398.4 ft 5 (NAD 27): N 2,016,895.5 (NAD 27): E 304,658.7
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
1	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 220-225 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 225.1 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 4/25/12 DEVELOPMENT DATE: 6/5/2012	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: Landon Beck METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 9 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
90 95- 100 - 105 - 110 - 115 - 120 - 125 - 130 - 135 - 130 - 135 - 140 - 155 - 160 - 155 - 160 - 175 - 170 -	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	Neat Cement / 5% Bentonite Gel Mix 4 inch SCH 80 PVC
180 1		

	WELL INSTALLATIO	N REPORT
	WELL ID:KF3-12-1PAD ELEVSITE:Navajo MineNORTHINCOUNTY:San JuanEASTINGSTATE:New Mexico	VATION: 5398.4 ft G (NAD 27): N 2,016,895.5 (NAD 27): E 304,658.7
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
C C DI	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well OMPLETION ZONES: 220-225 ft bgs OMPLETION DEPTH: 225.1 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 4/25/12 EVELOPMENT DATE: 6/5/2012	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: Landon Beck METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 9 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
180 185 190 195 200 205 210 215 220 225	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management company.	3/8 inch Bentonite Chips 10-20 Silica Sand 4 inch SCH 80 PVC 0.02 inch Slot Machine-Cut Screen 4 inch SCH 80 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips
NO	RWEST	Page 3 of 3

1	WELL INSTALLATI	ON REPORT	
	WELL ID:KF3-12-2PAD ELSITE:Navajo MineNORTHCOUNTY:San JuanEASTINSTATE:New Mexico	EVATION: 5365.6 ft ING (NAD 27): N 2,006,837.7 G (NAD 27): E 296,022.5	
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION	
C	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well OMPLETION ZONES: 80.5-90.0 ft bgs OMPLETION DEPTH: 90.4 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 5/11/12 EVELOPMENT DATE: 6/6/2021	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: Landon Beck METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 6 in.	Ī
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION	
0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 55 60 65 70	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	6 inch Steel Protector Casin, with 3 ft. Stickup Neat Cement / 5 Bentonite Gel M 2 inch SCH 40 PVC	ng p 5% Mix
75 - 80 -		3/8 inch Benton Chips	nite
85		10-20 Silica Sar	nd
90		2 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch S Machine-Cut Screen	Slot
		2 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap	
		3/8 inch Benton Chips	nite
NO	RWEST	Page 1 of	1

· · · · · ·	WELL INSTA	LLATION REPORT
	WELL ID: KF3-12-3 SITE: Navajo Mine COUNTY: San Juan STATE: New Mexico	PAD ELEVATION: 5295.5 ft NORTHING (NAD 27): N 2,007,887.5 EASTING (NAD 27): E 300,506.7
(COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
C C D	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 30.5-35.5 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 35.9 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 5/13/2012 EVELOPMENT DATE: 6/6/2012	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: Landon Beck METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 6 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
0 5 10 10 20 25 30 30 35 40	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i lithology/ formation is confidential and ha removed by BHP Billiton Mine Managem Company.	the s been ent Neat Cement / 5% Bentonite Gel Mix 2 inch SCH 40 PVC 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips 10-20 Silica Sand 2 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Machine-Cut Screen 2 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips
NC	RWEST	Page 1 of 1

	WELL INSTALLATION	REPORT
	WELL ID:KF4-12-1PAD ELEVSITE:Navajo MineNORTHINGCOUNTY:San JuanEASTING (STATE:New Mexico	ATION: 5,398.4 ft 6 (NAD 27): N 2,016,911.2 NAD 27): E 304,659.9
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
C	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 195-205 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 205.1 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 4/25/2012 DEVELOPMENT DATE: 6/5/2012	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: O. Cannon METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 6 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 55 60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 100 105 110 115 120 115 110 115	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	Bentonite Gel Mix 2 inch SCH 40 PVC

	WELL INSTALL	ATION REPORT
	WELL ID:KF4-12-1PADSITE:Navajo MineNOFCOUNTY:San JuanEASSTATE:New Mexico	D ELEVATION: 5,398.4 ft RTHING (NAD 27): N 2,016,911.2 STING (NAD 27): E 304,659.9
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
C C D	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 195-205 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 205.1 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 4/25/2012 EVELOPMENT DATE: 6/5/2012	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: O. Cannon METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 6 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
130 135 140 145 155 160 165 170 175 180 195 200 205	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has be removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	en 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips 10-20 Silica Sand 2 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Machine-Cut Screen 2 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips
NO	RWEST	Page 2 of 2

	WELL INSTALLATIO	N REPORT	
	WELL ID:KF7-12-1PAD ELESITE:Navajo MineNORTHINCOUNTY:San JuanEASTINGSTATE:New Mexico	VATION: 5,398.6 NG (NAD 27): N 2,016 G (NAD 27): E 304	ft 6,928.8 9,657.8
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLI	NG INFORMATION
	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 173.5-178.5 fbgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 178.9 ft COMPLETION DATE: 5/8/2012 DEVELOPMENT DATE: 6/5/2012	DRILLING GEOLO METHOD OF DRIL HOLE DIAME	GCO.: Boart Longyear GIST: O. Cannon LING: Sonic Rotary ETER: 6 in.
EPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL	CONSTRUCTION
0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 55 60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 100	h accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management company.		 6 inch Steel Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup Neat Cement / 5% Bentonite Gel Mix 2 inch SCH 40 PVC

1	WELL INSTALLATIO	N REPORT
	WELL ID:KF7-12-1PAD ELEVSITE:Navajo MineNORTHINCOUNTY:San JuanEASTINGSTATE:New Mexico	VATION: 5,398.6 ft IG (NAD 27): N 2,016,928.8 (NAD 27): E 304,657.8
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
C C DI	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well OMPLETION ZONES: 173.5-178.5 fbgs OMPLETION DEPTH: 178.9 ft COMPLETION DATE: 5/8/2012 EVELOPMENT DATE: 6/5/2012	DRILLING CO.: Boart Longyear GEOLOGIST: O. Cannon METHOD OF DRILLING: Sonic Rotary HOLE DIAMETER: 6 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
100 - 105 - 110 - 115 - 120 - 125 - 130 - 135 - 140 - 145 - 155 - 160 - 165 - 170 - 175 - 180 -	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	3/8 inch Bentonite Chips 10-20 Silica Sand 2 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Machine-Cut Slots 2 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips
NO	RWEST	Page 2 of 2



Navajo Mine NM-0003F SMCRA Required Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements Technical Memorandum

Appendix 3: Norwest Corporation - Technical Memo: Navajo Mine Monitoring Well CA-2 Installation



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

То	Edward Epp, BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal	Ref #	350-22-TM-FINAL
CC	Art O'Hayre	Date	January 22, 2014
From	Landon Beck		
Subject	Navajo Mine Monitoring Well CA-2 Installation		

This technical memorandum (TM) documents the field activities conducted for the installation of the alluvial monitoring well CA-2, located in the Chinde Wetland at the BHP Billiton Navajo Mine. Due to the wetland environment in which CA-2 was to be located, access by traditional or even track-mounted Geoprobe, sonic or rotary drill rigs was not a feasible option. With the expected shallow target interval depth, a hand auger system was used to bore the hole and the screen and casing was installed by hand. The following were supervision activities and work performed by Norwest Corporation for this program:

- Conducted soil augering at CA-2; collected and described cuttings samples.
- Designed and installed 2" PVC monitoring well into augered hole as CA-2.
- Prepared location map figure, well installation report and lithology log. (attached)

The following **Location Map** shows CA-2, completed in 2013 as well as the rest of the monitoring wells that were completed at the Navajo Mine in 2012-2013.

Monitoring Well Installation

Field Activity Period

Activity	Start	Complete
Auger, sample, and log (1) 2-1/4" hole,	22 April 2012	22 April 2012
complete as 2" PVC monitoring well (CA-2)	25 April 2015	25 April 2015

Methodology

Preparation:

- The CA-2 monitoring well location was intended to monitor the alluvium below the Chinde Wetland area therefore a location was targeted with consideration to be within reasonable proximity to the existing adjacent alluvial channel.
- The final location of the CA-2 was selected and bored with onsite consensus of BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal and Norwest representation in consideration of safe work access during installation and future monitoring activities.

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

CA-2 Installation:

• The Location Map shows the location of CA-2. The survey data for CA-2 with elevation at ground surface is:

Name	Northing	Easting	Elevation
CA-2	2048951	316967	5321.37 ft amsl
Projection: State Plane Datum: NAD27		Zone: New Mexico V	West Units: Feet

- One 2-1/4" soil boring was bored using an AMS Regular Soil Auger, with quick-connect rods as a hand-operated system.
- Two-inch diameter AMS auger samples were retrieved with every approximate one foot of advance vertically into the undisturbed subsurface soil.
- A Field Lithology Log form was used to record descriptions of soil materials and document presence of water-bearing zones by depth interval and is presented in the attached Lithology Log.
- The soil boring was advanced until penetrating substantially into a sand aquifer from 10.5 to 12.75 feet below ground surface (ftbgs). The total depth of boring was limited by collapsing borehole conditions within this sand aquifer.
- Saturated conditions were documented beginning at surface, in fact the boring location was in standing water approximately 0.5 feet in depth. This water flowed into the borehole during boring but quickly equalized as the clay interval was very impermeable; however it was clear from observation of the clay cuttings that from surface to 10.5 ftbgs this clay was naturally saturated.
- The well installation details are presented in the attached **Well Installation Report**; the well was completed with 2" flush joint schedule 40 PVC casing and screen. The screen section is factory-slotted 0.01". A natural filter pack was utilized, consisting of the formation sand encountered from 10.5 to 12.75 ftbgs collapsing around the screen section.
- A 4-1/2" X 6' locking steel casing wellhead protector was set into place to a depth of 3 ftbgs centered within the hand-dug 8" diameter X 2.5' deep starter hole. This slipped over the 2" PVC wellhead extending above ground surface. 3/8" bentonite chips were installed inside and outside of the wellhead protector in order to seal the surface water from the completion interval. As the bentonite was installed into standing water, it instantly hydrated. Furthermore, the clays encountered from surface to 10.5 ftbgs certainly swelled to seal against the 2-3/8" outer diameter of the PVC well casing.
- A 2' X 2' X 4" concrete pad was installed around the wellhead protector. **Photo 1 & 2**.
- This annular seal was confirmed by a CA-2 depth to water level measurement 1 hour after bentonite hydration that was 4.53 ftbgs and falling. The water was still standing in the wetland so at this time there was already a 4.53' head difference from surface to the screened aquifer.
- No bollards were installed as the location is within a wetland and no vehicle traffic could reach the well to impact it.

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

• Detailed field notes of activities at each location, including photograph subjects were recorded in an all-weather field book.

Closing:

• BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal to file this monitoring well installation TM of CA-2 with New Mexico Mining and Minerals Division (MMD) as well as complete internal documentation of the installation.

LOCATION MAP



WELL INSTALLATION REPORTS

	WELL INSTALLATIO	IN REPORT
	WELL ID: CA-2 PAD ELE SITE: Navajo Mine NORTHIN COUNTY: San Juan EASTING STATE: New Mexico	VATION: 5321.37 ft asl G (NAD 27): N 2048951 : (NAD 27): E 316967
	COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 7.39 - 12.75 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 12.75 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 4/23/13 DEVELOPMENT DATE: NA	DRILLING CO.: Norwest Corporation GEOLOGIST: Landon Beck METHOD OF DRILLING: Hand Auger HOLE DIAMETER: 2-1/4 in.
DEPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
	In accordance with 30 CFR 773(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	38 inch Bentonite Chips in 8 inch Hole 4-1/2 Inch Casing Locking Steel Protector with 3 ft Stickup 2 inch SCH 40 Flush Joint PVC (2.375 inch OD) with 2.62' Stickup 2 inch SCH 40 Flush Joint PVC (2.375 inch OD) 0.01 inch Slot Machine-Cut Screen 2 inch SCH 40 Flush Joint PVC (2.375 inch OD) 0.01 inch Slot Machine-Cut Screen 2 inch SCH 40 Flush Joint PVC (2.375 inch OD) Flat Bottom End Cap
NC C O	REPORATION	Page 1 of 1

LITHOLOGY LOG

Well No. <u>CA-2</u>	Norwest Geologist/Supervisor Landon Beck			
Drilling Co.: Norwest Corp	Driller: Landon Beck	Drilling Method: Hand Auger - 2-1/4"		
Date Commenced: 4/23/13	Date Completed: 4/23/13	TD 12.5 ft		
Ground Elev. 5321.37 ft MSL	Pad Elev. 5,321.37 ft MSL			
Location Navajo Mine - Chinde Wetlands - Northing 2048951, Easting 316967				

Top (fbgs)	Bottom (fbgs)	Description
0.0	6.0	Clay, organic, saturated, light brown, some plant debris.
6.0	10.5	Clay, silty, saturated, light brown.
10.5	12.75	Sand, fine to medium-grained, subangular, fair sorting, some clay but likely sample contamination (slough) from overlying zones, saturated, medium light brown.
12.75	TD	Total depth drilled.



PHOTOS



Photo 1. CA-2 Completed Wellhead



Photo 2. CA-2 SCH 40 2" Flush Joint PVC Casing Inside Locking 4-1/2" Steel Casing Wellhead


Navajo Mine NM-0003F SMCRA Required Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements Technical Memorandum

Appendix 4: Norwest Corporation - Technical Memo: Navajo Mine Monitoring Well CWA-1A Replacement with CWA-1B



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

То	Edward Epp, BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal	Ref #	350-23-TM-FINAL
CC	Art O'Hayre	Date	January 22, 2014
From	Landon Beck		
Subject	Navajo Mine Monitoring Well CWA-1A Replacement with CWA-1B		

This technical memorandum (TM) documents the field activities conducted for the replacement of alluvial monitoring well CWA-1A with CWA-1B. CWA-1A was completely silted-in during a major storm event that overtopped the well. The following were supervision activities and work performed by Norwest Corporation for this program:

- Supervised direct-push drilling of CWA-1B; collected, described, and photographed core samples.
- Designed and supervised well installation.
- Supervised abandonment of CWA-1A.
- Prepared location map figure, well installation report and lithology log. (attached)

The following **Location Map** shows CWA-1A, completed in 2012 and its replacement CWA-1B as well as the rest of the monitoring wells that were completed at the Navajo Mine in 2012.

Monitoring Well Replacement

Field Activity Period

Activity	Start	Complete
Drill, sample, and log 1 direct push drill hole,		
complete as 2" PVC monitoring well (CWA-	25 March 2013	25 March 2013
1B) and abandon CWA-1A		

Methodology

Preparation:

• CWA-1B is a replacement monitoring well therefore its' location was to be as near as reasonably possible to CWA-1A, targeting the same alluvial aquifer yet in a location less vulnerable to flooding.

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

• The final location of the CWA-1B was selected and drilled with onsite consensus of BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal, Norwest and Boart Longyear representation in consideration of safe work access during installation and future monitoring activities.

CWA-1B:

• The Location Map shows the final location of CWA-1B. The relative distances between the abandoned CWA-1A and replacement CWA-1B have been exaggerated to ease identification on this map. The survey location of CWA-1B with elevation at ground surface is:

Name	Northing	Easting	Elevation
CWA-1B	2012959	309052.3	5353.84 ft amsl
Projection: State Pla	ane Datum: NAD27	Zone: New Mexico V	Vest Units: Feet

- One 3" soil boring was advanced using a Geoprobe truck-mounted direct push drill rig, allowing continuous sample collection to total depth. See **Photo 1** of the Geoprobe.
- A Field Lithology Log form was used to record descriptions of soil materials and document presence of water-bearing zones by depth interval and is presented in the attached Lithology Log.
- Unconsolidated soil materials were qualitatively classified using the Unified Soil Classification system, e.g., SP, poorly graded sand. Color of soil materials was visually identified using a Munsell color classification system chart, e.g., dark yellowish brown (10YR4/2).
- Two-inch diameter AMS sample tubes were used together to sample soils. Core sample tubes were split open to be described and photographed.
- The soil boring was advanced until penetrating substantially below alluvium (1.6 feet) into weathered bedrock at 15.0 feet below ground surface. Saturated conditions were documented beginning at 6 feet below ground surface.
- The well installation details are presented in the attached **Well Installation Report**; the well was completed with 2" flush joint schedule 40 PVC casing and screen. The screen is factory-slotted 0.01" with an annular filter pack consisting of #2-/16 silica sand.
- A new 6" X 6' square steel wellhead protector was pressed into place over the 2" PVC wellhead extending above ground surface. The four bollards from CWA-1A were salvaged and installed to protect the wellhead at CWA-1B. See **Photo 2**.
- Detailed field notes of activities at each location, including photograph subjects were recorded in an all-weather field book.

CWA-1A:

- The original CWA-1A Well Installation Report follows in the Well Installation Report section.
- The 6" X 6' steel wellhead protector was pulled from the ground with a backhoe.

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

- The entire 14.2' length of 1.5" PVC well casing was pulled from the ground in one section with the backhoe. The hole immediately collapsed upon itself as the casing was withdrawn; this is an effective and acceptable means of well abandonment for CWA-1A.
- The Location Map shows the location of the abandoned CWA-1A. The relative distances between the abandoned CWA-1A and replacement CWA-1B have been exaggerated to ease identification on this map. The survey location of the abandoned CWA-1A with elevation at ground surface is:

Name	Northing	Easting	Elevation
CWA-1A	2012940	309075.4	5354 ft amsl
Projection: State Pla	ane Datum: NAD27	Zone: New Mexico V	Vest Units: Feet

• The old casing and steel wellhead protector were removed from the location and properly disposed.

Closing:

• BHP Billiton New Mexico Coal to file this well installation and abandonment TM with New Mexico Mining and Minerals Division (MMD) as well as complete internal documentation of the installation of CWA-1B and abandonment of monitoring well CWA-1A.

LOCATION MAP



WELL INSTALLATION REPORTS

WELL INSTALLATION	REPORT
WELL ID: CWA-1B PAD ELEVAT SITE: Navajo Mine NORTHING (I COUNTY: San Juan EASTING (NA STATE: New Mexico	FION: 5353.84 ft asl NAD 27): N 2,012,959 AD 27): E 309,052.3
COMPLETION INFORMATION	DRILLING INFORMATION
COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 7.37 - 12.09 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 12.5 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/25/13 DEVELOPMENT DATE: NA	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: Landon Beck METHOD OF DRILLING: Direct Push HOLE DIAMETER: 3 in.
DEPTH LITHOLOGY / FORMATION	WELL CONSTRUCTION
In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3)(i) the lithology/ formation is confidential and has been removed by BHP Billiton Mine Management Company.	S-1/4 inch X 5-1/4 inch Locking Square Steel Protector with 3 ft Stickup 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips 2 inch SCH 40 Flush Joint PVC 4/2/16 Silica Sand 2 inch SCH 40 Flush Joint PVC 0.01 inch Slot Machine-Cut Screen 2 inch SCH 40 Flush Joint PVC Threaded Flat Bottom End Cap Native Fill/Slough
CORPORATION	Page 1 of 1

	WELL ID: CWA-1a SITE: Navajo Mine COUNTY: San Juan STATE: New Mexico	ALLATION REPORT PAD ELEVATION: NORTHING (NAD 27): EASTING (NAD 27):	5354.0 ft N 2,012,939.6 E 309,075.4
	COMPLETION INFORMATION		DRILLING INFORMATION
	COMPLETION TYPE: Monitoring Well COMPLETION ZONES: 6.0 - 11.0 ft bgs COMPLETION DEPTH: 11.2 ft bgs COMPLETION DATE: 3/12/12 DEVELOPMENT DATE: 6/9/12	METHOD HO	DRILLING CO.: Boart-Longyear GEOLOGIST: O. Cannon OF DRILLING: Direct Push LE DIAMETER: 3 in.
EPTH	LITHOLOGY / FORMATION		WELL CONSTRUCTION
5-	In accordance with 30 CFR 773.6(d)(3 lithology/ formation is confidential and removed by BHP Billiton Mine Manage Company.	e)(i) the has been ement	4 inch Steel Protector Casing with 3 ft Stickup 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 10-20 Silica Sand 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC 0.01 inch Slot Pre-Packed Screen 1.5 inch SCH 40 PVC End Cap 3/8 inch Bentonite Chips Holeplug
N	DRWEST		Page 1 of 1

LITHOLOGY LOG

Well No. <u>CWA-1B</u>	Norwest Geologist/Supervisor Landon Beck			
Drilling Co.: Boart Longyear	Driller: Don Hansen	Drilling Method: Direct-push - Geoprobe, 3"		
Date Commenced: 3/25/13	Date Completed: 3/25/13	TD 15.0 ft		
Ground Elev. 5,353.84 ft MSL	Pad Elev. 5,353.84 ft MSL			
Location Navajo Mine - Cottonwood Arroyo - N 2012959, E 309052.3				

Top (fbgs)	Bottom (fbgs)	Description
0.0	2.5	Sand, very fine to fine, well sorted (wind blown), moderate yellowish brown (10YR 5/4), dry.
2.5	4.0	Sand, silty, some wood/plant material, moderate yellowish brown (10YR 5/4), moist/damp.
4.0	5.0	Clay, silty, moderate yellowish brown (10YR 5/4).
5.0	13.4	Sand, fine, well sorted, moderate yellowish brown (10YR/5/4), saturated beginning at 6 feet.
13.4	15.0	Claystone, weathered, light olive gray (5Y 5/2), damp but not saturated.
15.0	TD	Total depth drilled.



PHOTOS



Photo 1. Boart Longyear Geoprobe Mounted on Ford F-550 Box Truck



Photo 2. CWA-1B Completed



Navajo Mine NM-0003F SMCRA Required Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements Technical Memorandum

Appendix 5: Letter_120626_Groundwater Well Drilling and Surface Water Monitoring Site Status

BHP Navajo Coal Company



BHP Billiton Limited BHP Navajo Coal Company PO Box 1717 16 Miles South of Fruitland on CR 6675 Fruitland, New Mexico 87416 USA Tel +1 505 598 4200 Fax +1 505 598 3361 bhpbilliton.com

June 26, 2012

Mr. Mychal Yellowman Navajo Mine Team Leader Indian Programs Branch Office of Surface Mining/Western Regional Coordinating Center 1999 Broadway, Suite 3320 Denver, Colorado 80202-3050 myellowman@osmre.gov

Re: Navajo Mine Permit Number NM-0003F; Groundwater Well Drilling and Surface Water Monitoring Site Status

Dear Mr. Yellowman,

BHP Navajo Coal Company (BNCC) is submitting this letter to provide a status update on groundwater well drilling and surface water monitoring site installation at Navajo Mine.

Bedrock Replacement Wells – Lowe Pit Highwall

Due to expanded surface disturbance and Incidental Boundary Revision, three existing bedrock wells KF84-20A (#7 seam), KF84-20B (#4 seam), and KF84-20C (#3 seam) were abandoned. These have since been replaced by wells KF7-12-1 (#7 seam), KF4-12-1 (#4 seam) and KF3-12-1 (#3 seam). Results from drilling indicate that all three of these seams are dry; this will be confirmed after well development that will take place in June 2012. Monitoring of these wells will begin in 3rd Quarter 2012.

New Bedrock Wells – Area IV North

Two adjacent wells were originally planned in the northwest area of Area IV North, one to monitor the #8 seam and the other to monitor the #3 seam. Examination of the geologic model in this area shows that the #8 seam is thin, discontinuous, and split into as many as four child seams. Several communications between BNCC and OSM Hydrologists confirmed that installing adjacent wells in an upper seam (#8 or #7) and the lower #3 seam would not be possible due to geologic and operational constraints. It was decided that two separate #3 seam wells would be installed, one in each of the OSM prescribed areas. Both of these wells (KF3-12-2 and KF3-12-3) were successfully installed.

Alluvial Wells – Cottonwood Arroyo

The following alluvial wells were completed in the Cottonwood Arroyo drainage area:

• CWA-1: Installed adjacent to the main Cottonwood Arroyo, just inside the lease line in between

Area III Dixon area and Area IV North. This well replaces the hand-dug, dry well QACW-2B. At completion of drilling this well had approximately seven feet of water in the well bottom; well development will occur during June 2012.

- CWA-2: Installed in the upper reaches of the Middle Fork Cottonwood Arroyo. This well is dry. CWA-3: Installed along the upper reaches of South Fork Cottonwood Arroyo. Six inches of water was in the well bottom at end of drilling. The water level will be measured again, and development completed by hand if feasible.
- CWA-4: Installed along the North Fork Cottonwood Arroyo upstream of the Burnham Road crossing as a replacement for well GM-17. Six feet of water was measured in the well after drilling; well development will occur in June 2012.

Alluvial Wells – Chinde Arroyo and Wetlands

Three piezometers (CA-3, CA-4, CA-5) were installed in the "big fill" wetland area. These wells will be developed by hand due to vehicle access restrictions.

Two other off-lease wells, one upstream pre-packed well (CA-1) and one downstream pre-packed well (CA-6), will be installed via hand auger. As discussed and agreed upon at the OSM – BNCC meeting on February 27, 2012, BNCC must necessarily wait for requisite approvals prior to installing monitoring sites off-lease. BNCC is currently working with the Navajo Department of Water Resources Water Code Administration to acquire the approvals. Upon receipt of the required approvals, arrangements will be made for installation of these wells.

Flow Monitoring on Chinde and Cottonwood Arroyos

Seven ISCO 2110 Ultrasonic Flow Modules have been purchased and were delivered Monday, June 4, 2012. Downstream monitoring stations on Cottonwood and Chinde will be installed first. Construction of the Burnham Road has commenced, and as the construction progresses, upstream Cottonwood stations will be installed in culverts beneath the road. The upstream Chinde station will be installed once necessary permits and permissions have been acquired from the Navajo Nation EPA. Single Stage samplers will be installed in conjunction with each flow meter to collect water quality samples.

Updates to the permit water monitoring plan revision are planned for submittal in August, 2012. If you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact me at 505-598-2821 or <u>Steven.R.Perkins@bhpbilliton.com</u>.

Sincerely,

Steven Perkins Superintendent Environmental Permitting and Technical Services



Navajo Mine NM-0003F SMCRA Required Water Quality Monitoring Enhancements Technical Memorandum

Appendix 6: Ground and Surface Water Quality Monitoring Results and Analysis

Hydrology Report For OSMRE's Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment (CHIA) Update

Table of Contents

Section	Title	Page No.
1.0	Introduction	1
1.1	Hydrologic Setting	1
1.1.1	Surface Water	1
1.1.2	Groundwater	2
1.1.3	Precipitation	3
2.0	Surface Water Monitoring Program	4
2.1	Approved Program	4
2.2	Navajo Indian Irrigation Project Discharges	5
2.3	Surface Water Quantity	7
2.4	Surface Water Quality	7
2.5	Summary	10
3.0	Groundwater Monitoring Program	11
3.1	Approved Monitoring Program	11
3.2	Groundwater Quality	
3.2.1	Groundwater Quality – Coal Seams	
3.2.1.1	No. 8 Coal Seam	
3.2.1.2	No. 7 Coal Seam	
3.2.1.3	No. 4-6 Coal Seam	
3.2.1.4	No. 2-3 Coal Seam	14
3.2.2	Pictured Cliffs Sandstone	14
3.2.3	Quaternary Alluvium	14
3.3	Groundwater Quantity	16
3.4	Summary	17
4.0	Precipitation	17

List of Tables

Table	Title	Page No.
Table 2-1	Surface Water Monitoring Locations	4
Table 3-1	Groundwater Wells and Major Units	12
Table 4.1	2012 Precipitation Summary	19
Table 4.2	2013 Precipitation Summary	19
Table 4.3	2014 (Jan -August) Precipitation Summary	20

List of Appendices

Appendix	Title
Appendix 6-1	2013 and 2014 Surface Water Sample Data
Appendix 6-2	Surface Water Statistical Report
Appendix 6-3	Surface Water Time versus Concentration Graphs
Appendix 6-4	Surface Water Trilinear Diagrams:
	-Chinde
	-Cottonwood
	-Chinde and Cottonwood
Appendix 6-5	2012-14 Groundwater Quality Report
Appendix 6-6	Groundwater Statistical Report
Appendix 6-7	Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time versus Concentration Graphs for:
	-Coal Seam 4-6
	-Coal Seam 7
	-Coal Seam 8
	-QAL
Appendix 6-8	Groundwater Piper Trilinear Diagrams Alluvium:
	-QAL-Chinde
	-QAL-Cottonwood
Appendix 6-9	Navajo Mine Total Precipitation Data

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report summarizes the results of hydrologic data collected for the monitoring period comprised of calendar year (CY) 2012, 2013 and CY 2014 through September. The report also evaluates water quality and quantity trends of annual and quarterly hydrology data collected from 1985 through September 2014. The type of data collected includes surface water quality and quantity, groundwater quality and quantity, and precipitation quantity. Hydrology quantity and quality data are presented in tables in this report, and in appendices at the end of this report. A detailed discussion of the hydrology monitoring program can be found in the Navajo Mine Electronic Permit NM0003F, Part 6 - Section 42.

1.1 Hydrologic Setting

1.1.1 Surface Water

Navajo Mine has collected surface water data derived from precipitation based runoff events and to Navajo Agricultural Products Industries (NAPI) discharges since 1985. The purpose of monitoring surface water in the two main channels, Chinde Wash and Cottonwood Arroyo, is to document the quality and quantity of the hydrologic balance and to evaluate predictions made concerning the hydrologic balance in the Probable Hydrologic Consequences (PHC) section of the Navajo Mine Electronic Permit (NM0003F). This report summarizes water quality data collected from 1985 through September2014 for two active monitoring stations (CD-1A and CD-2A) on Chinde Arroyo. The report also summarizes data collected between 1998 and 1999 and from July 2013 through September 2014 on CNS-1, the downstream site on Cottonwood Arroyo (CN-2, CM-2, CS-2A, and CS-2B) is also summarized.

The station CNS-1 on the Cottonwood Arroyo located downstream at the mine permit boundary was washed out by a series of large surface water flows that occurred in the summer of 1999. Consequently, Navajo Mine, in agreement with OSMRE (May 3, 2000), discontinued monitoring for station CNS-1. This station was reactivated starting in the winter of 2012 and the first samples were captured during flow events in July 2013. The new station CN-2 was established on Cottonwood North upstream of mining near the old station location CN-1. CM-2 is located on the Cottonwood Middle-Fork, upstream of the former site CM-1. The station CS-1 was located on the main stem of Cottonwood Arroyo within the lease area. Stations CS-2A and CS-2B were established at suitable locations on Cottonwood South-Fork tributaries upstream of the former station CS-1.

The relationship between the quality and quantity of water (hydrologic balance) of the monitored drainages at Navajo Mine is characteristic of typical sand-bed washes found in the arid, southwestern United States. The ephemeral flows in sand-bed washes that cross the permit boundary are extremely sediment rich and exhibit wide variations in water quality and quantity. The natural variability coupled with impacts from NAPI, including direct discharges from irrigation channels and groundwater return flows produce a complex monitoring environment.

1.1.2 Groundwater

Navajo Mine has collected groundwater data on annual and quarterly frequencies from 1985 to present. The groundwater-monitoring program for Navajo Mine is challenging for several reasons: (1) Monitoring sites are distributed over a large geographical area, 26.2 square miles, within several discrete coal resources that have been, are currently, or will be mined over an approximate 60-year period; (2) The coal seams are lenticular in nature, which limits the spatial continuity of discrete aquifers to localized areas; and (3) Lands within the permitted area are classified as Pre-SMCRA, Interim, or Permanent Program and the mine lease boundary abuts directly to planned and permitted mining activities. Therefore little land, undisturbed by mining activities, remains inside the permit boundary for the establishment of environmental monitoring locations.

Coal seams within the Cretaceous Fruitland Formation are the water bearing units that are monitored. Overburden and interburden strata between or overlying coal seams do not yield sufficient water to be monitored. Due to the low yield and poor water quality, local groundwater is not used for potable drinking water, as a livestock watering source, or for irrigation purposes. Quaternary alluvial deposits fill valley bottoms of Chinde Arroyo and Cottonwood Arroyo to an average of 10 to 15 feet thick. These alluvial deposits range from finegrained eolian sands to coarse-grained channel deposited gravels. The quality of groundwater, when present, is monitored in both of these unconfined alluvial fill deposits.

Groundwater monitoring conditions include both unconfined and confined groundwater flow. The naturally low water-yielding formations contain poor to very poor water quality due to elevated levels of dissolved constituents (total dissolved solids [TDS]). The natural elevated levels of TDS result from aquifer material consisting of alternating marine and nonmarine strata that are commonly cemented with gypsum (CaSO₄), calcite (CaCO₃), and other soluble salts (i.e., NaCl and KCl). In addition, these strata often contain minor trace elements such as barium, boron, and selenium. The spatial variation of cementation, porosity, and solubility of salts can cause wide variations in concentrations of major ions (Na, SO₄, and Cl) and trace elements. Thus, sporadic parameter concentrations above the reference criteria are expected and are occasionally observed throughout the data record.

1.1.3 Precipitation

Navajo Mine has collected climatological data since 1991 from two on-site meteorological monitoring stations: Met 1 and Met 2, and since 2007 from Met 3. The annual average net evaporation rate is 55.9 inches (Class A Pan method). The evaporation rate is a factor of approximately ten times greater than the average precipitation rate of 5.48 inches annually.

Most precipitation in the region occurs from July through September during localized, high-intensity, short-duration thunderstorms. Other precipitation in the region usually occurs as snow during winter months.

2.0 SURFACE WATER MONITORING PROGRAM

2.1 Approved Program

The surface-water monitoring program is comprised of two monitoring stations located on the Chinde Wash and five monitoring stations on Cottonwood Arroyo (Exhibit 8-1 -Electronic Permit NM0003F). Station CD-1A is located upstream of the Navajo Mine permit area and station CD-2A is located downstream of mining on Chinde Arroyo (Table 2-1). The Cottonwood Arroyo Station CNS-1 located on the main stem, downstream of mining, was reactivated starting in winter 2012-2013. The new station CN-2 was established on Cottonwood North-Fork upstream of mining at a suitable location near the old station location CN-1. Also, new stations CM-2, CS-2A and CS-2B were established at suitable upstream locations on Cottonwood tributaries near the lease boundary.

Station ID	Drainage	Location
CD-1A	Chinde	Upstream
CD-2A	Chinde	Downstream
CN-2	North Fork Cottonwood	Upstream
CM-2	Middle Fork Cottonwood	Upstream
CS-2A	South Fork Cottonwood	Upstream
CS-2B	South Fork Cottonwood	Upstream
CNS-1	Cottonwood	Downstream

Table 2-1Surface Water Monitoring Locations

Data from these stations is used to assess water entering and leaving the permit area.

Flow in Chinde Wash was monitored with continuous flow monitoring equipment during CY 1999. The continuous flow data, in combination with synoptic quarterly field measurements, were used to analyze gain/loss in Chinde Wash (See gain/loss study below).

The majority of the stage data collected at station CD-1A from 1999 through 2001 may not be representative of actual flow stage within Chinde Wash. During that time period, culvert maintenance at the downstream outlet caused backwater conditions inside the culvert and beneath the sensor. The Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) undertook culvert work sporadically from 1999 through 2001. The artificial channel conditions and their influence on collecting representative stage data were reported to OSMRE in the quarterly hydrologic monitoring reports from 1999 through 2001.

Typically, the maintenance work was done in the fall and spring. During winter months, the pooled water inside the culvert froze solid, affecting stage readings in January and February of the following year. These conditions persisted until the ice melted and large flows eroded fill material to an elevation below the level of the culvert, eliminating the backwater area.

Grab samples are collected quarterly from surface water in the Chinde Wash at stations CD-1A and CD-2A. The water quality samples are analyzed for sediment concentrations and general chemical water quality parameters A combination of in-stream single-stage sediment samplers to sample water quality and in-stream crest gages to monitor peak flows were established at the upstream stations on the Cottonwood Arroyo tributaries and at the Cottonwood Arroyo downstream station CNS-1. Samples are collected from the stations on a quarterly basis.

2.2 Navajo Indian Irrigation Project Discharges

The Navajo Indian Irrigation Project (NIIP) directly discharges to the headwaters of both Cottonwood Arroyo and Chinde Wash. NIIP controls water distribution for NAPI. These direct discharges affect the hydrologic regime of the two channels. Direct discharges from NIIP occur throughout the irrigation season, which typically occurs from April through October. Chinde Wash is further affected by NAPI irrigation return flows in the form of springs which produce a perennial base flow to an otherwise ephemeral dry wash in the Chinde Arroyo.

Perennial flows in Chinde Wash combined with large, periodic, direct discharges have increased vegetative growth in the channel bottom. The large direct discharges have likely increased channel and bank erosion rates compared to background conditions. The net effect of NIIP irrigation activities for the Chinde is a volumetric increase in sediment transported downstream toward the permit boundary and the creation of a perennial, vegetated stream through the permit area.

Due to the artificial, perennial nature of Chinde Wash and possible gains/losses to surface flows, Navajo Mine completed a one-year study specifically to quantify gains/losses along specific reaches on the Chinde Wash. The main conclusions of the study (NM0003F, Part 6, Section 41, Probable Hydrologic Consequences) are provided below:

"Synoptic flow measurements and continuous flow data have adequately characterized and documented gains and losses of surface water flows along specific reaches of Chinde Wash. Specifically, the data collected support the conclusion that future reconstructed channels built in spoils will not significantly alter surface water flows due to vertical infiltration. The data also record that flow volume increased from CD-1A to CD-2A during large, high intensity storm events."

The Cottonwood Arroyo is also affected by NIIP irrigation return flows; however, discharges have not produced perennial flow. The lack of perennial flow in Cottonwood compared to Chinde Wash is due to many factors, including; (1) the amount of water discharged from the NIIP canal; (2) the greater distance between the NIIP operations and Navajo Mine monitoring station (CN-2 is approximately 8 miles downstream from the NIIP canal); (3) a larger drainage area than Chinde Wash drainage area; (4) a different local geology and geomorphology; and (5) the greater distance from irrigation return flows from irrigated fields.

Although Cottonwood Arroyo lacks perennial flow, upstream NIIP discharges are eroding and remobilizing significant amounts of stored sediment from large Holocene, eolian sand dunes. Due to these discharges, very large headcuts and channel widening follows immediately downstream of the NIIP discharge points resulting in considerable sediment volume moving downstream toward Navajo Mine in the North Fork and Main Fork of Cottonwood Arroyo. This volume of sediment moving past monitoring stations CN-1 and CNS-1 influenced data that was collected by Navajo Mine. Monitoring at these locations was discontinued in May 2000, but was reactivated in July 2013.

2.3 Surface Water Quantity

The Chinde Wash Study characterized both the NAPI and storm flows in detail upstream, downstream, and across the Navajo Mine. The results are presented in Electronic Permit NM0003F and include hydrographs for various flow events and a summary of flow volumes. Surface water quantity data collected with continuous stage recorders (including 1999 data) from Cottonwood Arroyo is summarized in Part 2, Section 18, PAP NM0003F.

2.4 Surface Water Quality

Surface water quality data generated during 2013 through September 2014 are provided in Appendix 6-1 and statistical reports with historical data are presented in Appendix 6-2. The TDS concentrations are lower at the Cottonwood tributary upstream stations CS-2A and CS-2B that are not impacted by NAPI irrigation than at the Cottonwood tributary upstream stations CN-2 that is impacted by NAPI irrigation. The TDS concentrations at the Cottonwood downstream station CNS-1 are typically higher than at the tributary upstream stations not impacted by NAPI irrigation but lower than at the tributary upstream stations that are impacted by NAPI irrigation. The TSS concentrations are extremely variable at all the monitoring stations.

Time versus concentration plots were compiled for the following parameters: pH, specific conductance, total dissolved solids (TDS), total suspended sediment (TSS), total iron, dissolved iron, total manganese, dissolved manganese, sulfate, chloride, fluoride, boron, and selenium (Appendix 6-3). Total recoverable manganese and total recoverable iron were analyzed during the monitoring period for the samples from the Cottonwood Arroyo monitoring stations. These data were plotted and compared with total iron and total manganese concentrations previously monitored at CNS-1. The parameters graphed were selected because they are associated with regulatory requirements and because they are considered indicators for potential constituents resulting from mining activities.

For the main channels, upstream data is plotted against downstream data for the same parameters (Appendix 6-3). Caution must be exercised when making upstreamdownstream comparisons of only water quality data because the plots do not account for differences in flow due to variations in precipitation duration and intensity and channel flow dynamics between monitoring stations, channel segments, and individual watersheds. Despite these limitations, the plots do show general agreement for chemical constituents, particularly in Chinde Wash.

Constituent levels in Chinde Wash flows are variable within a year. However, TDS, sulfate, chloride, and total iron concentrations appear to be higher at the downstream station CD-2A compared to the upstream station CD-1A. This is expected as dissolved ions typically increase in the downstream direction due to evapotranspiration influences. On the other hand, concentrations of total suspended solids, dissolved iron and dissolved manganese appear to be higher at the upstream station. The variability in fluoride concentrations and the mean fluoride concentration are both lower at the downstream station (CD-2A) compared to the upstream station (CD-1A). Boron outliers were observed at station CD-1A on 12/19/2007 and at station CD-2A on 2/28/2005. These outliers are about 3 orders of magnitude higher than the other boron concentrations, indicating that perhaps the results in ug/l were reported as mg/l concentrations. Selenium concentrations are similar at the two stations except for the 0.1 mg/l selenium spikes observed at station CD-2A on 12/5/2001 and on 3/24/2010.

Dissolved solid concentrations appear to be seasonal with the greatest concentrations occurring during winter periods and the lowest concentrations occurring during summer periods. This relationship provides an indication that NAPI irrigation return flows are impacting the Chinde Wash hydrologic system. In autumn, the pivot head irrigation systems are shut off, resulting in reductions of return flow. The reduced fresh water recharge from the irrigation return results in longer residence times and increased concentration of TDS in winter.

The variability in TSS concentrations and the mean TSS concentration at the downstream station (CNS-1) appear higher for the 2013-2014 monitoring period compared to the results obtained during the 1997-1999 monitoring period. TDS concentrations at the downstream station (CNS-1) appear similar in the 2013-2014 and the 1997-1999 monitoring periods.

Another tool for presenting and comparing water quality data are Piper trilinear diagrams. A trilinear diagram plots groupings of major dissolved ionic constituents in terms of percentages on an equilateral triangle. Applications of the diagram include determining the water type for a particular stream station or well, determining water sources or identifying mixtures of different water types. For this report, the trilinear diagrams are used for making comparisons of water types between upstream station samples and downstream station samples.

The trilinear diagram plot (Appendix 6-4) of grab samples collected at the Chinde Wash stations depicts a sodium-sulfate water type with minor differences between upstream and downstream stations. Samples from CD-2A have relatively less sodium and more sulfate and calcium than station CD-1A located nine miles upstream on the Chinde Wash. The difference in water types likely reflects the typical increase in calcium and sulfate concentrations in the small streams crossing the Fruitland Formation. Although sodium and chloride are in relatively lower proportions in the samples as indicated by the piper diagram, the concentrations of these constituents also increase in the downstream direction, indicating the effects of evaporation and the evapotranspiration by vegetation communities that has formed in the Chinde Wash. The same affect is likely the major cause for the increase in mean TDS concentrations from 952 mg/l upstream to 1441 mg/l downstream in Chinde Wash for surface water data recorded during 2013 through August 2014.

Water quality data plotted on the diagram for the stations on Chinde Wash and the CNS-1, CN-1, CN-2 and CS-1 stations on Cottonwood Arroyo depict relatively similar water types. The plots show minor differences in the relative composition of sulfate for stations CN-1 and CN-2 on Cottonwood North. These results are for samples taken at approximately the same location but for different time periods. These differences are likely due to natural variability in ion composition in storm water flows and, perhaps, differences in NAPI irrigation influences between the two time periods. The relative composition of sulfate is similar at stations CN-1 and CN-2 on Cottonwood North and at the Chinde Wash downstream station CD-2A; however the waters at CD-2A are less sodium dominated and instead have slightly more calcium compared with the Chinde Wash upstream and Cottonwood Arroyo samples. Finally, the Cottonwood Arroyo upstream tributary station CS-2B samples are bicarbonate dominated and have little chloride and low sulfate compared to the samples from the other locations. The differences in the ionic composition at these locations are related to differences in source waters, evapotranspiration effects, and differences in local surficial geology and soils.

Due to the stochastic nature of water quality as a result of uneven and localized precipitation events, varied geologic conditions, and sources of surface water (i.e. precipitation events versus NAPI discharges and return flows), OSMRE agreed in 2012 to eliminate reference criteria for surface water flows. Navajo Mine will continue to monitor and report surface water quality measured at Navajo Mine. The 2013-2014 data continue to indicate that surface waters flows through the Navajo Mine permit area are not being significantly impacted by Navajo Mine operations. The greatest potential for any adverse impacts to the hydrologic system appear to result from NAPI irrigation return flows and direct discharges.

2.5 Summary

The surface water quality data reported is shown to be variable both historically and during the period between2013 and September 2014. The variability in water quality is representative of ephemeral sand-bed wash hydrologic environments with influences from irrigation discharges and return flows.

3.0 GROUNDWATER MONITORING PROGRAM

3.1 Approved Monitoring Program

In 2012 and 2013, Navajo Mine expanded its Groundwater Monitoring Program by drilling several new wells and by increasing the monitoring frequency at some existing wells. Twenty-two wells are now monitored at Navajo Mine. The geologic unit represented by each well is presented in Table 3-1. Data generated from 2013 through September 2014 from the monitoring wells are presented in Appendices 5 through 8. Well locations are shown on Exhibit 8-1 of Electronic Permit NM0003F.

The well identification number translates to the symbol for the geologic time period of the formation being monitored (i.e., K = Cretaceous); the symbol for the geologic formation that the well is completed in (i.e., f = Fruitland Formation); and the year it was constructed. The suffix (i.e., b) added to the end of the well number designates a well cluster at one location. Bedrock wells are sampled in the third quarter each year. Alluvial wells were sampled semi-annually until 2012, and are now sampled on a quarterly basis. A more detailed description of the Groundwater Monitoring Program is provided in Part 6, Section 42 of Electronic Permit NM0003F.

Major Unit	Well Number	Location	Sampling Frequency
Coal Seam No. 8	Kf84-16	Bitsui	Annual
	KF83-1	Bitsui	Annual
	Kf84-18b	Hosteen/Yazzie	Annual
	Kf84-22a	Dixon	Annual
	Bitsui-2	Bitsui	Annual
Coal Seam No. 7	Kf84-22b	Dixon	Annual
	KF7-12-1	Lowe	Annual
Coal Seam No. 4-6	Kf84-18a	Hosteen/Yazzie	Annual
	KF4-12-1	Lowe	Annual
Coal Seam No. 3	KF3-12-1	Lowe	Annual
	KF3-12-2	Cottonwood	Annual
	KF3-12-3	Cottonwood	Annual
Quaternary Alluvium (QAL)	QAC-1	Chinde	Quarterly
	QACW-2	Cottonwood	Quarterly
	CWA-1b	Cottonwood	Quarterly
	CWA-2	Cottonwood	Quarterly
	CWA-3	Cottonwood	Quarterly
	CWA-4	Cottonwood	Quarterly
	CA-2	Chinde	Quarterly
	CA-3	Chinde	Quarterly
	CA-4	Chinde	Quarterly
	CA-5	Chinde	Quarterly

Table 3-1Groundwater Wells and Major Units

3.2 Groundwater Quality

Laboratory results for groundwater samples collected from 2013 through September are presented in Appendix 6-5. A statistical summary, listed by well number, of the historic data from 1985 through September 2014 is presented in Appendix 6-6. Time versus concentration plots for data generated from 1985 through September 2014 were compiled for the indicator parameters of pH, specific conductance, TDS, sulfate, selenium, potassium and magnesium. These data are presented in Appendix 6-7. The parameters graphed were selected because of their regulatory significance and because they are considered indicators for potential constituents resulting from mining activities.

Groundwater data from 2013 through September 2014 were compared to historic data to determine trends. In addition, the 2013 through September 2014 data were compared to

reference criteria (Table 42-6 NM0003F). Sample parameters that were greater than reference criteria are identified and discussed below by geologic unit. Historic data from 1985 through September 2014 are plotted on Piper trilinear diagrams by geologic unit (Appendix 6-8).

3.2.1 Groundwater Quality – Coal Seams

An assessment of each geologic unit or coal seam is provided in this section.

3.2.1.1 No. 8 Coal Seam

No exceedances of reference criteria were noted in samples from KF84-22a and KF84-18b during the 2013 through September 2014 timeframe. Since Bitsui-2 was added to the sampling routine in 2012, a statistically significant number of groundwater samples have not yet been collected to develop reference criteria.

The Piper trilinear diagram of lab samples obtained from the No. 8 seam wells depicts some variability in the water type between wells (Appendix 6-8). The water type is dominated by sodium, and varies between sodium chloride (Kf84-18b) and sodium sulfate (Kf84-22a).

3.2.1.2 No. 7 Coal Seam

No parameters exceeded reference criteria in well KF84-22b in 2013. The water type in No. 7 Coal Seam is dominated by sodium, and varies between a sodium chloride (KF84-22b). KF84-20c was affected by mining activities in 2012 and was replaced with KF7-12-1. Well KF7-12-1 has been dry since it was added to the sampling routine in 2012.

3.2.1.3 No. 4-6 Coal Seam

No parameters measured in 2013 and 2014 from well KF84-18a exceeded reference criteria. KF84-18a water is classified as sodium chloride. KF84-20b had been dry since 1999. In 2012, the well was affected by mining activities and abandoned. It was replaced by KF4-12-1. Although KF4-12-1 contained some groundwater in September of 2012, the amount was insufficient to sample. KF4-12-1 has been dry during annual

monitoring in 2013 and 2014 and will continue to be monitored annually to monitor groundwater recovery in the No. 4 Coal Seam adjacent to the Lowe Pit.

3.2.1.4 No. 2-3 Coal Seam

Well KF84-20a had insufficient water quantity to sample in 2011. The well was abandoned in 2012 and replaced with KF3-12-1. When the sample collected from KF3-12-1 in 2012 was compared to the reference criteria of the abandoned KF-84-21a, there were no exceedances. Well KF3-12-1 had insufficient water quantity to sample in 2013 and 2014. No. 3 Coal Seam Wells KF3-12-2 and KF3-12-3 were also installed in year 2012 the near the Cottonwood Pit. These wells were dry during annual monitoring visits in 2013 and 2014.

3.2.2 Pictured Cliffs Sandstone

Well KP84 was completed in the Pictured Cliffs Sandstone. Monitoring was discontinued 2002 (effective 8-8-02), because this well did not yield sufficient quantities of water for sample collection. The well was subsequently abandoned.

3.2.3 Quaternary Alluvium

The Navajo Mine Groundwater Monitoring Program was expanded in 2012 and 2013 to include four additional wells on the Cottonwood Arroyo and five additional wells in the Chinde Arroyo.

Monitoring well CWA-1a was installed along the Cottonwood North Branch in latespring 2012. The well was damaged in July 2012 by a flood event to such a degree that it needed to be replaced. In April 2013, CWA-1a was abandoned and replaced with CWA-1b. Initial sampling of CWA-1b began in May 2013. The water is a calcium/sodium sulfate type water.

CWA-2 in the Middle Branch of Cottonwood Arroyo has been dry since installation. CWA-3, in the South Branch of Cottonwood Arroyo, upstream of mining, has occasionally had some water, but this amount has been insufficient to sample.. Monitoring Well QACW-2, on the Cottonwood Arroyo downstream of mining, has been dry since 1992. CWA-4 has been sampled quarterly in 2013 and 2014. The water is a sodium sulfate type water, as opposed to the sodium/calcium sulfate water in CWA-1b. Alluvial well CWA-1b was first sampled in August 2013. Reference criteria have not been developed for the recently installed wells CWA-1b and CWA-4. During the 2013-2014 monitoring period the TDS and sulfate concentrations were higher at the Cottonwood Arroyo upstream alluvial monitoring well CWA-1b compared to the concentrations observed at the Cottonwood Arroyo alluvial monitoring well CWA-4 located downstream of mining.

Monitoring Well QAC-1 has been monitored consistently since 1985. Groundwater samples collected from well QAC-1 quarterly during the 2013 through September 2014 monitoring period exceeded the reference criteria for TDS. The reference criteria for sulfate were exceeded in four of the seven quarterly samples collected during the monitoring period.

A long-term shift in pH levels in the range from 7.5 to 8.0 to pH levels in the range from 7.0 and 7.5 is evident at QAC-1, and appears to have stabilized at this range (Appendix 6-7). However, occasional spikes of pH to levels slightly above 8.0 are still observed. A long term trend of increasing conductivity appears to have leveled off, and may even be decreasing. Since 2009, conductivity appears to have dropped by approximately 2000 µmhos/cm from peak concentrations between 2004 and 2009. This trend is even more apparent in the chart of TDS. All of the TDS data collected in the 2013-2014 period is above the reference level of 13,400 mg/L. There are no apparent long-term trends in the concentrations of sulfate, selenium or potassium. A long term increasing concentration trend does appear in the plot for magnesium.

The monitoring record is too short to reliably detect trends in the constituent concentrations at the Chinde alluvial wells CA-2, CA-3, CA-4 and CA-5. Well CA-5, located just above the Big Fill, exhibits the highest TDS and sulfate concentrations while

well CA-4, located within the cottonwood stand just above the Big Fill, exhibits the lowest TDS and sulfate concentrations for these wells that were recently completed in the Chinde alluvium. Likewise, the monitoring record is too short to reliably detect trends in the constituent concentrations at the recently completed Cottonwood alluvial wells CWA-1b and CWA-4.

3.3 Groundwater Quantity

Static water level elevations are presented as hydrographs in Appendix 6-7. The static water level elevation is measured from a designated location (reference elevation) at each well.

The hydrographs for the No. 8 coal seam monitoring wells show that water level elevations have increased for KF84-18b from 2002 to present. Water level elevations in KF84-22a show a decreasing trend that accelerated in about 2003. Well KF84-22b (No. 7 seam) also shows a decline in water level elevations. The decreasing trends above indicate drawdown due to advancing mining operations. The static water level elevation measurements for well KF84-18a (No. 4-6 seam) declined from the period of 1985 to 1996; stabilized from 1997 through 1998; since then static water level elevation measurements have remained relatively stable. Recovery and/or stabilization of water levels in the KF84-18 wells probably indicate recovery where pits have been backfilled. Static water level elevations in wells KF84-20a and KF84-21a (affected by mining operations and subsequently abandoned), completed in the No. 2-3 seams, had been gradually decreasing throughout the data record. These decreases indicated localized drawdown resulting from advancing mining operations.

The Navajo Mine Electronic Permit, Part 6, Section 41, Probable Hydrologic Consequences, Section 41.3.1 predicts a local drop in water level elevations for the water bearing units of the Fruitland Formation while mine-pits are open. Following mining, recharge to bedrock water bearing units adjacent to the mine is expected to result in gradual water level elevation increases.

The Chinde alluvium at the downstream lease boundary (QAC-1) is characterized by steadily increasing water level elevations. These water level elevation increases likely result from NAPI irrigation water return flows as opposed to precipitation. Water levels driven by precipitation would show much greater fluctuation over time due to drought and heavy precipitation cycles. Until recently, increasing concentrations in TDS and sulfate have also been observed. This increase in TDS and sulfate concentrations may be caused as rising groundwater encounters sediments previously enriched with soluble salts from capillarity. In addition, these sediments would be expected to be relatively non-weathered and therefore would be enriched in soluble minerals available for dissolution into groundwater. However, there are likely multiple factors leading to the increase in TDS, including evapotranspiration.

3.4 Summary

Constituent concentrations slightly above reference criteria were identified in groundwater samples from several wells during the 2013-2014 monitoring period. However, no trends in water quality parameters associated with mining activities were identified in bedrock wells. Trends in groundwater quantity and quality parameters at QAC-1 suggest that the NAPI irrigation water return flows could be affecting alluvial groundwater in the Chinde. Periodic, anomalous values (high or low) are considered typical of natural groundwater quality fluctuations for water bearing units at Navajo Mine. In both the bedrock units and the alluvium water types are typically dominated by sodium sulfate, although some wells have chloride or bicarbonate as the dominant anion.

As predicted by the PHC model, recorded static water levels show a decline in elevation of water levels in wells near the open pits.

4.0 **PRECIPITATION**

Continuous precipitation monitoring data is collected at Navajo Mine from three locations, Met I and Met II and Met III (locations shown in Electronic Permit NM003F Part 1, Section 9, Exhibit 9-1). Met I and II have collected continuous rainfall data since
April and May of 1991 respectively. Met III has collected rainfall data since April of 2006.

The mean annual precipitation for Navajo Mine, determined from data collected from 1991 through 2014 (for Met I, II) and III (starting from 2006), is 5.48 inches with a maximum of 9.07 inches recorded in 1997 and a minimum of 3.12 inches recorded in 2012.

The continuous precipitation data collected for the year 2012 is summarized in Table 4.1. Precipitation in 2012 was 3.02 inches below average at MET I, 1.89 inches below normal at MET II, and 2.5 inches below normal at MET III. Precipitation data combined from MET I, MET II and MET III for 2012 was 2.47 inches below normal.

The continuous precipitation data collected for 2013 is summarized in Table 4.2. Precipitation in 2013 was 1.63 inches above average at MET I, 1.27 inches above normal at MET II, and 0.05 inches above normal at MET III. Precipitation data combined from MET I, MET II and MET III for 2013 was 0.65 inches above normal.

The continuous precipitation data collected for Jan-August 2014 is summarized in Table 4.3. Precipitation was 0.11 inches below average (to the end of the 2^{nd} quarter) at MET I, 0.45 inches below normal at MET II, and 0.71 inches below normal at MET III. Precipitation data combined from MET I, MET II and MET III for Jan-August 2014 was 0.40 inches below normal (to the end of the 2^{nd} quarter).

Met Station data summarized in a tabular format can be found in Appendix 6-9.

			Met Station II (in)				Average Precipitation values		
Station	Met Stati	on 1 (in.)	Met Stati	on II (in.)	Met Statio	on III (in.)	(i	in.)	
	Normal ¹	2012	Normal ¹	2012	Normal ¹	2012	Normal ²	2012	
1st Qtr	1.18	0.42	0.92	0.35	0.97	0.24	1.02	0.34	
2nd Qtr	1.32	0.16	0.89 0.35		0.95	0.34	1.05	0.28	
3rd Qtr	2.14	1.56	1.95	1.8	2.74	2.05	2.28	1.80	
4th Qtr	1.38	0.86	1.19	0.56	1.19	0.67	1.25	0.70	
Total	6.02	3.00	4.95	3.06	5.84	3.30	5.60	3.12	
Yearly									
Departure	3.02 inche	es below	1.89 inch	es below	2.5 inche	s below	2.47 inch	es below	
from	average of	r 50% of	average o	r 61% of	average or 56% of		average or 56% of		
normal	normal		normal		normal		normal		

Table 4.12012 Precipitation Summary

1= Normal calculated using the quarterly averages of precipitation data from 1992-2012.

2= Normal calculated using the quarterly averages of precipitation data from 2007-2012.

3= Normal calculated using the average of quarterly averages of precipitation data from 1992-2012 for both Met I and Met II and quarterly values 2008-2012 for Met III.

Station	Met Stati	ion 1 (in.)	Met Stati	on II (in.)	Met Statio	on III (in.)	Average Precipitation value (in)	
~	Normal ¹	2013	Normal ¹	2013	Normal ¹	2013	Normal ²	2013
1st Qtr	1.19	1.35	0.92	1.08	0.97	0.96	1.03	1.13
2nd Qtr	0.99	0.40	0.87	0.45	0.88	0.48	0.91	0.44
3rd Qtr	2.23	3.94	2.01	3.18	2.75	2.80	2.33	3.31
4th Qtr	1.39	0.86	1.21	1.57	1.24	1.54	1.28	1.32
Total	5.80	7.43	5.01	6.28	5.83	5.78	5.55	6.20
Yearly				•				•
Departure	1.63 inche	es above	1.27 inch	les above	0.05 inch	es below	0.65 inch	es above
from	average o	r 128% of	average o	r 125% of	average o	r 100% of	% of average or 112% of	
normal	normal		normal		normal		normal	

Table 4.22013 Precipitation Summary

1= Normal calculated using the quarterly averages of precipitation data from 1992-2013.

2= Normal calculated using the quarterly averages of precipitation data from 2007-2013.

3= Normal calculated using the average of quarterly averages of precipitation data from 1992-2013 for both Met I and Met II and quarterly values 2008-2013 for Met III.

Station	Met Statio	n 1 (in.)	Met Station	II (in.)	Met Statio	n III (in.)	Average Precipitation (in.)	on values	
	Normal ¹	2014	Normal ¹	2014	Normal ¹	2014	Normal ²	2014	
	(Jan-Augu	st)	(Jan-Augus	t)	(Jan-Augu	st)	(Jan-Augu	st)	
1st Qtr	1.20	1.31	0.92	0.78	1.11	0.81	1.08	0.97	
2nd Qtr	0.98	0.76	0.86	0.65	0.82	0.40	0.89	0.60	
3rd Qtr	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
4th Qtr	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Total	2.18	2.07	1.78	1.33	1.93	1.21	1.97	1.57	
Yearly									
Departure	0.11 inche	s below	0.45 inches below		0.71 inche	es below	0.40 inche	es below	
from	average or	95% of	average or 75% of		average or	63% of	average or 80% of		
normal	normal		normal		normal		normal		

Table 4.32014 (Jan - August) Precipitation Summary

1= Normal calculated using the quarterly averages of precipitation data from 1992- August 2014.

2= Normal calculated using the quarterly averages of precipitation data from 2007- August 2014.

3= Normal calculated using the average of quarterly averages of precipitation data from 1992-August 2014 for both Met I and Met II and quarterly values 2008- August 2014 for Met II.

Appendix 6-1

2013 and 2014 Surface Water Sample Data

Station Name	Sample Date	Lab pH	Lab Conduct	TDS -180	TSS mg/l	Settl. Solids	Alkalin as CaCO3	Hardness as CaCO3	Boron mg/l	Fluoride mg/l	Bicarb as CaCO3	Bicarb as hCO3	Carb as CO3	Hydroxide mg/l
		S.U.	umho/cm	mg/l		mL/l	mg/l	mg/l			mg/l		mg/l	
CD-1A	3/26/2013	7.9	2600	1530	6	< 0.5	450	362	0.60	2.80	427	520	12.0	<4
CD-1A	4/17/2013	8	1300	797	8	< 0.5	260	219	0.20	1.40	246	300	6.0	<4
CD-1A	8/2/2013	8.4	1090	679	<2		260	205	0.2	1.3	230	280	19	<4
CD-1A	8/9/2013	8.5	1190	774	4	<1.0	300	227	0.3	0.6	263	320	22	<4
CD-1A	11/19/2013	8.3	2250	1490	10	< 0.5	490	299	0.6	3	443	540	27	<4
CD-1A	3/10/2014	8	2340	1610	<2	<1.0	460	293	0.6	2.6	459	560	<4	<4
CD-1A	5/7/2014	8.3	527	342	79	< 0.5	130	116	< 0.1	0.4	131	160	<4	<4
CD-1A	8/18/2014	8.3	628	396	8	< 0.5	160	153	0.1	0.7	164	200	<4	<4
CD-2A	4/17/2013	8.2	2590	1760	52	< 0.5	260	484	0.2	1.3	254	310	8	<4
CD-2A	3/10/2014	8.2	3280	2410	6	<1.0	380	626	0.3	1.2	377	460	<4	<4
CD-2A	5/7/2014	8.4	1640	1130	18	< 0.5	280	302	0.2	0.9	271	330	5	<4
CD-2A	8/18/2014	8	695	465	310	< 0.5	140	120	0.1	0.7	139	170	<4	<4
CM 2	0/24/2013	8.1		300	22200		87							
CM-2	10/22/2013	7.8		870	167000		100							
CM-2 CM-2	10/22/2013	7.8		1240	161000		110							
CN-2	7/16/2013	8	2690	1830	52	640	98	343	0.1	17	98	120	<1	-1
CN-2	0/24/2013	75	2050	1550	13200	040	120	545	0.1	1.7	20	120		~7
CN-2	9/24/2013	7.5		1250	12200		150							
CN-2	10/22/2013	7.5		1000	12/000		120							
CN-2	10/22/2013	7.0		1700	114000		00							
CN-2	7/14/2014	7.0		1790	204000		90							
CN-2 CN-2	7/14/2014	7.5			124000									
CN-2	2/10/2014	7.0 7.2			434000									
CIN-2	0/19/2014	7.2			240000									
CN-2	0/19/2014	7.4			224000									

Station	Sample	Chloride	Sulfate	Calcium	Magnesium	Potassium	Sodium	Bicarbonate	Chloride	Sulfate	Calcium
Ivanie	Date	IIIg/1	mg/1	mg/1	mg/1	mg/1	IIIg/1	meq/1	meq/1	meq/1	meq/1
 CD-1A	 3/26/2013	120	620	96.6		1.5	416	6 99	3 39	12 91	4.82
CD-1A	4/17/2013	45	320	62.6	15.2	2.4	206	4.03	1.27	6.66	3.12
CD-1A	8/2/2013	19	280	58.6	14.3	1.5	169	4.09	0.54	5.83	2.92
CD-1A	8/9/2013	25	290	64.6	15.8	1.4	183	5.24	0.71	6.04	3.22
CD-1A	11/19/2013	110	560	81.5	23.1	1.1	413	8.85	3.10	11.66	4 07
CD-1A	3/10/2014	110	580	81.3	21.9	2	421	9.18	3.10	12.08	4.06
CD-1A	5/7/2014	7	120	34.1	7.4	2.3	65	2.62	0.20	2.50	1.70
CD-1A	8/18/2014	8	130	43.1	11.2	2.3	109	3.28	0.23	2.71	2.15
02 111	0/10/2011	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i						0120	0.20	21/1	2110
CD-2A	4/17/2013	110	930	141	32.1	11.3	413	4.17	3.10	19.36	7.04
CD-2A	3/10/2014	160	1200	181	42	9.1	528	7.54	4.51	24.98	9.03
CD-2A	5/7/2014	59	540	87.7	20.2	6.2	248	5.41	1.66	11.24	4.38
CD-2A	8/18/2014	9	180	37.8	6.1	6.8	98.1	2.79	0.25	3.75	1.89
CM-2	9/24/2013										
CM-2	10/22/2013										
CM-2	10/22/2013										
CN 2	7/16/2012	00	1100	114	14.2	6.8	152	1.07	2.48	22.00	5 60
CN-2	0/24/2013	00	1100	114	14.2	0.8	455	1.97	2.40	22.90	5.09
CN-2	9/24/2013										
CN-2	9/24/2013										
CN-2	10/22/2013										
CN-2	10/22/2013										
CN-2	7/14/2014										
CN-2	7/14/2014										
CN-2	8/19/2014										
CN-2	8/19/2014										

Station Name	Sample Date	Magnesium meq/l	Potassium meq/l	Sodium meq/l	Fe mg/l	Mn mg/l	Se mg/l	Total Fe mg/l	Total Mn mg/l	T-Rec Fe mg/l	T-Rec Mn mg/l	T-Rec Al mg/l	T-Rec Hg mg/l
CD-1A	3/26/2013	2.42	0.04	18.10	< 0.05	0.17	0.008	0.15	0.168				
CD-1A	4/17/2013	1.25	0.06	8.96	< 0.05	0.058	0.002	0.35	0.064				
CD-1A	8/2/2013	13.91	0.12	0.02	< 0.05	0.057	0.001	0.08	0.057				
CD-1A	8/9/2013	15.06	0.13	0.03	< 0.05	0.071	0.002	0.08	0.067				
CD-1A	11/19/2013	33.99	0.23	0.13	0.2	0.1	0.007	< 0.05	0.094				
CD-1A	3/10/2014	34.64	0.23	0.13	0.07	0.222	0.006	0.27	0.23				
CD-1A	5/7/2014	5.35	0.07	0.01	< 0.05	0.014	< 0.001	2.2	0.043				
CD-1A	8/18/2014	8.97	0.08	0.01	< 0.05	0.04	0.003	0.36	0.046				
CD-2A	4/17/2013	2 64	0.29	17 97	<0.05	0.014	0.002	16	0.032				
CD-2A	3/10/2014	43.45	0.19	0.20	< 0.05	0.013	0.005	0.21	0.015				
CD-2A	5/7/2014	20.41	0.14	0.07	< 0.05	0.011	< 0.001	0.51	0.014				
CD-2A	8/18/2014	8.07	0.07	0.01	0.11	0.006	0.001	7.77	0.087				
CM-2	9/24/2013									563	9.51	606	
CM-2	10/22/2013									2810	81.2	2410	
CM-2	10/22/2013									3560	137	2680	
CN-2	7/16/2013	37.28	0.05	0.11	< 0.05	0.01	0.006	0.9	0.019				0.00002
CN-2	9/24/2013									3200	84.8	3080	
CN-2	9/24/2013									1650	54.9	1620	
CN-2	10/22/2013									3610	162	2950	
CN-2	10/22/2013									2980	109	2540	
CN-2	7/14/2014									3190		2960	
CN-2	7/14/2014									3820		3320	
CN-2	8/19/2014									4310		3970	
CN-2	8/19/2014									3750		3610	

Station Name	Sample Date	Lab pH S.U.	Lab Conduct umho/cm	TDS -180 mg/l	TSS mg/l	Settl. Solids mL/l	Alkalin as CaCO3 mg/l	Hardness as CaCO3 mg/l	Boron mg/l	Fluoride mg/l	Bicarb as CaCO3 mg/l	Bicarb as hCO3	Carb as CO3 mg/l	Hydroxide mg/l
CNS-1	7/12/2013	7.6	904	900	36600		250	95	<01	<01	254	310		
CNS-1	7/16/2013	8.1	1440	880	281	<2	94	112	<0.1	13	98	120	<4	<4
CNS-1	7/16/2013	7.9		1000	524000		120		<0.1	1.5	20	120		
CNS-1	9/24/2013	8.2		410	9130		77							
CNS-1	9/24/2013	8.1		360	40000		82							
CNS-1	10/22/2013	7.6		940	112000		140							
CNS-1	10/22/2013	7.7		940	68600		160							
CNS-1	7/14/2014	7.6			312000									
CNS-1	7/14/2014	7.6			261000									
CNS-1	7/29/2014	7.6			182000									
CNS-1	8/19/2014	7.4			909000									
CNS-1	8/19/2014	7.2			685000									
CNS-1	9/3/2014	8			58300									
	10/22/2012	0.5		120	24500		100							
CS-2A	10/22/2013	8.5		430	24500		100							
CS-2A	10/22/2013	8.5		390	28400		110							
CS-2A	8/19/2014	7.7			195000									
CS-2A	8/19/2014	7.8			157000									
CS-2B	6/19/2013	8.3	830	650	65400		600	58	< 0.1	< 0.1	582	710	10	<4
CS-2B	10/22/2013	8.6		390	19300		95							
CS-2B	10/22/2013	8.5		460	19000		120							
CS-2B	8/19/2014	7.9			287000									
CS-2B	8/19/2014	8			41600									

Station Name	Sample Date	Chloride mg/l	Sulfate mg/l	Calcium mg/l	Magnesium mg/l	Potassium mg/l	Sodium mg/l	Bicarbonate meq/l	Chloride meq/l	Sulfate meq/l	Calcium meq/l
CNS 1			210	34.3				5.08	0.14	4 27	1.71
CNS-1	7/16/2013	23	530	30.1	3.5	5.1	244	1.07	0.14	4.57	1.71
CNS-1	7/16/2013	23	550	39.1	5.5	5.1	244	1.97	0.05	11.05	1.95
CNS-1	0/24/2013										
CNS-I	9/24/2013										
CNS-I	9/24/2013										
CNS-I	10/22/2013										
CNS-1	10/22/2013										
CNS-1	7/14/2014										
CNS-1	7/14/2014										
CNS-1	7/29/2014										
CNS-1	8/19/2014										
CNS-1	8/19/2014										
CNS-1	9/3/2014										
CS 24	10/22/2012										
CS-2A	10/22/2013										
CS-2A	8/10/2014										
CS-2A	8/19/2014										
CS-2A	8/19/2014										
CS 2P	6/10/2012	6	170	20.1	2	47	160	11.64	0.17	2 5 4	1.00
CS-2D	10/22/2012	0	170	20.1	2	+./	100	11.04	0.17	5.54	1.00
CS-2B	10/22/2013										
CS-2B	10/22/2013										
CS-2B	8/19/2014										
CS-2B	8/19/2014										

Station Name	Sample Date	Magnesium meq/l	Potassium meq/l	Sodium meq/l	Fe mg/l	Mn mg/l	Se mg/l	Total Fe mg/l	Total Mn mg/l	T-Rec Fe mg/l	T-Rec Mn mg/l	T-Rec Al mg/l	T-Rec Hg mg/l
CNS-1	7/12/2013	12.84	0.13	0.01	0.34	0.019		1010	16.6				
CNS-1	7/16/2013	20.08	0.05	0.03	< 0.05	0.015		7.65	0.091				
CNS-1	7/16/2013		0.05	0.05	(0100	01010		100	0.071	5840	177	97.8	
CNS-1	9/24/2013									772	14.6	788	
CNS-1	9/24/2013									964	25.4	880	
CNS-1	10/22/2013									1780	52.8	1450	
CNS-1	10/22/2013									1790	52.0	1470	
CNS-1	7/14/2014									2910	52.0	2660	
CNS-1	7/14/2014									3330		2000	
CNS-1	7/29/2014									2780		2590	
CNS-1	8/19/2014									9190		4570	
CNS-1	8/19/2014									4260		3810	
CNS-1	9/3/2014									1090		1100	
CIN5-1	<i>) 3 2</i> 014									1070		1100	
CS-2A	10/22/2013									398	7.09	402	
CS-2A	10/22/2013									624	12.7	559	
CS-2A	8/19/2014									4340		4200	
CS-2A	8/19/2014									2040		2020	
CE 2D	c/10/2012	12 17	0.20	0.01	1 97	0.119	0.001	757	10.2				
CS-2B	0/19/2013	13.17	0.30	0.01	1.07	0.118	0.001	131	10.5				
CS-2B	10/22/2013									515	5.05 10.4		
CS-2B	10/22/2013									2520	10.4		
CS-2B	8/19/2014									2330			
CS-2B	8/19/2014									4/00			

Station: CD-1a

HISTORIC (1996-2012)

HISTORIC (1996-2)	012)								
			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
pН	(s.u.)	8.2	0.2	8.3	8.2	1.3	7.3	8.6	107
EC	(umhos/cm)	1586	796	1530	2200	2800	260	3060	107
TDS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1095	573	1100	785	2070	170	2240	107
TSS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	<191	559	20	<2.5	3639	<1	3640	107
Boron	(<i>mg/l</i>)	<6.9	68.02	< 0.3	< 0.05	703.98	< 0.025	704.00	107
Fluoride	(mg/l)	<1.78	1.20	1.37	3.00	4.44	0.05	4.49	107
Chloride	(mg/l)	<51	39	38	<5	156	3	159	107
Sulfate	(mg/l)	484	248	540	460	1014	46	1060	107
Dissolved Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.107	0.26	< 0.025	< 0.025	2.3	< 0.005	2.29	107
Dissolved Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.056	0.11	< 0.025	< 0.005	0.94	< 0.0025	0.943	107
Se	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.006	0.011	< 0.003	< 0.003	0.100	< 0.0005	0.100	107
Total Fe	(mg/l)	<3.66	12.12	0.37	< 0.10	89.184	0.016	89.2	107
Total Mn	(mg/l)	< 0.199	1.10	0.04	< 0.030	11.395	< 0.005	11.4	107

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
pН	(s.u.)	8.2	0.2	8.3	8.3	0.6	7.9	8.5	8
EC	(umhos/cm)	1491	801	1245	N/A	2073	527	2600	8
TDS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	952	517	786	N/A	1268	342	1610	8
TSS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	<15	26	7	8	78	<1	79	8
Boron	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.3	0.23	< 0.25	0.6	0.55	< 0.05	0.6	8
Fluoride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1.60	1.05	1.35	N/A	2.6	0.4	3	8
Chloride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	56	49	35	110	113	7	120	8
Sulfate	(<i>mg/l</i>)	363	200	305	N/A	500	120	620	8
Dissolved Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.05	0.06	< 0.03	< 0.03	0.18	< 0.03	0.20	8
Dissolved Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.092	0.070	0.065	N/A	0.208	0.014	0.222	8
Se	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.004	0.003	< 0.003	0.002	0.008	< 0.0005	0.008	8
Total Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.44	0.723	< 0.21	0.080	2.175	< 0.03	2.200	8
Total Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.096	0.067	0.066	N/A	0.187	0.043	0.230	8
Aluminum, T-REC	(<i>mg/l</i>)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Iron, T-REC	(mg/l)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Manganese, T-REC	(mg/l)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Station: CD-2a

Historic (1997-2012)

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
рН	(s.u.)	8.3	0.1	8.3	8.3	0.7	7.9	8.6	56
EC	(umhos/cm)	2281	1006	2235	3910	4620	390	5010	56
TDS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1713	819	1555	1400	3620	250	3870	56
TSS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	<59.9	130	<17.9	8	838	<2.5	840	56
Boron	(<i>mg/l</i>)	<4.32	30.30	< 0.30	0.30	226.95	< 0.05	227.00	56
Fluoride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1.24	0.43	1.20	1.60	2.42	0.29	2.71	56
Chloride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	83	51	76	135	169	5	174	56
Sulfate	(<i>mg/l</i>)	910	447	825	1550	1883	87	1970	56
Dissolved Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.14	0.32	< 0.03	< 0.03	2.18	< 0.01	2.18	56
Dissolved Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.030	0.071	< 0.010	< 0.005	0.501	< 0.003	0.503	56
Se	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.011	0.020	< 0.005	< 0.003	0.100	< 0.001	0.100	56
Total Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	<1.31	2.06	< 0.40	0.18	10.38	< 0.03	10.40	56
Total Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.410	2.802	< 0.025	< 0.010	20.998	< 0.003	21.000	56

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
рН	(s.u.)	8.2	0.2	8.2	8.2	0.4	8.0	8.4	4
EC	(umhos/cm)	2051	1127	2115	N/A	2585	695	3280	4
TDS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1441	835	1445	N/A	1945	465	2410	4
TSS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	97	144	35	N/A	304	6	310	4
Boron	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.20	0.08	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.10	0.30	4
Fluoride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1.03	0.28	1.05	N/A	0.60	0.70	1.30	4
Chloride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	85	65	85	N/A	151	9	160	4
Sulfate	(<i>mg/l</i>)	713	447	735	N/A	1020	180	1200	4
Dissolved Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.05	0.04	< 0.03	< 0.03	0.09	< 0.03	0.11	4
Dissolved Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.011	0.004	0.012	N/A	0.008	0.0060	0.014	4
Se	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.002	0.002	< 0.002	N/A	0.005	< 0.001	0.005	4
Total Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	2.523	3.549	1.055	N/A	7.560	0.210	7.770	4
Total Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.037	0.034	0.024	N/A	0.073	0.014	0.087	4
Aluminum, T-REC	(<i>mg/l</i>)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Iron, T-REC	(mg/l)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Manganese, T-REC	(mg/l)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Station: CN-2

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
рН	(s.u.)	7.5	0.2	7.5	7.5	0.8	7.2	8.0	9
TDS	(mg/l)	1702	252	1790	N/A	640	1350	1990	5
TSS	(mg/l)	177361	139466	134000	N/A	433948	52	434000	9
Alkalinity as CaCO3	(mg/l)	117	21	120	98	52	98	150	5
Aluminum, T-REC	(mg/l)	3006	711	3020	N/A	2350	1620	3970	8
Iron, T-REC	(mg/l)	3314	796	3405	N/A	2660	1650	4310	8
Manganese, T-REC	(mg/l)	102.7	45.3	96.9	N/A	107.1	54.9	162.0	4

СМ-2

Station:

2013

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
рН	(s.u.)	8.0	0.3	7.8	7.8	0.6	7.8	8.4	3
TDS	(mg/l)	803	474	870	N/A	940	300	1240	3
TSS	(mg/l)	116733	81923	161000	N/A	144800	22200	167000	3
Alkalinity as CaCO3	(mg/l)	99	12	100	N/A	23	87	110	3
Aluminum, T-REC	(mg/l)	1899	1128	2410	N/A	2074	606	2680	3
Iron, T-REC	(mg/l)	2311	1560	2810	N/A	2997	563	3560	3
Manganese, T-REC	(<i>mg</i> / <i>l</i>)	75.9	63.9	81.2	N/A	127.5	9.5	137.0	3

Station: CS-2A

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
pН	(s.u.)	8.1	0.4	8.2	8.5	0.8	7.7	8.5	4
TDS	(mg/l)	410	28	410	N/A	40	390	430	2
TSS	(mg/l)	101225	87740	92700	N/A	170500	24500	195000	4
Alkalinity as CaCO3	(mg/l)	105	7	105	N/A	10	100	110	2
Aluminum, T-REC	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1795	1761	1290	N/A	3798	402	4200	4
Iron, T-REC	(<i>mg/l</i>)	1851	1812	1332	N/A	3942	398	4340	4
Manganese, T-REC	(<i>mg/l</i>)	9.9	4.0	9.9	N/A	5.6	7.1	12.7	2

Station: CS-2B

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
pН	(s.u.)	8.3	0.3	8.3	N/A	0.7	7.9	8.6	5
TDS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	500	135	460	N/A	260	390	650	3
TSS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	86460	113725	41600	N/A	268000	19000	287000	5
Alkalinity as CaCO3	(mg/l)	272	285	120	N/A	505	95	600	3
Aluminum, T-REC	(mg/l)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Iron, T-REC	(mg/l)	2028	2079	1519	N/A	4445	315	4760	4
Manganese, T-REC	(mg/l)	8.0	3.4	8.0	N/A	4.8	5.7	10.4	2

Station: CNS-1

Historic (1997-1999)

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
рН	(s.u.)	8.2	0.2	8.2	8.1	0.8	7.8	8.6	19
EC	(umhos/cm)	861	269	810	640	1000	590	1590	19
TDS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	639	189	580	540	790	360	1150	19
TSS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	97282	35178	84600	145000	120200	48800	169000	17
Boron	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.08	0.08	0.06	0.05	0.37	0.03	0.39	18.00
Fluoride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.74	0.22	0.80	0.81	0.96	< 0.03	0.98	19.000
Chloride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	17	11	13	11	41	6	47	19
Sulfate	(<i>mg/l</i>)	277	157	268	N/A	668	50	718	19
Dissolved Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 6.65	8.57	<3.33	< 0.01	34.29	< 0.01	34.30	18.000
Dissolved Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.337	0.430	0.150	0.005	1.345	0.005	1.350	19.000
Se	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.003	0.001	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.005	19
Total Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.34	0.43	0.15	0.01	1.35	0.01	1.35	19
Total Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	5.843	6.207	4.920	N/A	22.040	0.060	22.100	19.000

			Standard						
Parameter	Units	Mean	Deviation	Median	Mode	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Count
pН	(s.u.)	7.7	0.3	7.6	7.6	1.0	7.2	8.2	13
EC	(umhos/cm)	1172	379	1172	N/A	536	904	1440	2
TDS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	776	270	900	940	640	360	1000	7
TSS	(<i>mg/l</i>)	245993	289494	112000	N/A	908719	281	909000	13
Boron	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.05	0.00	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.00	< 0.05	< 0.05	2
Fluoride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.68	0.88	< 0.68	N/A	1.25	< 0.05	1.30	2
Chloride	(<i>mg/l</i>)	14	13	14	N/A	18	5	23	2
Sulfate	(<i>mg/l</i>)	370	226	370	N/A	320	210	530	2
Dissolved Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	< 0.18	0.22	< 0.18	N/A	0.32	< 0.03	0.34	2
Dissolved Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	0.017	0.003	0.017	N/A	0.004	0.0150	0.019	2
Se	(<i>mg/l</i>)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Total Fe	(<i>mg/l</i>)	508.825	708.768	508.825	N/A	1002.350	7.650	1010.000	2
Total Mn	(<i>mg/l</i>)	8.346	11.674	8.346	N/A	16.509	0.091	16.600	2
Aluminum, T-REC	(<i>mg/l</i>)	2030	1386	1470	N/A	4472	98	4570	11
Iron, T-REC	(mg/l)	3155	2522	2780	N/A	8418	772	9190	11
Manganese, T-REC	(mg/l)	64.5	65.1	52.8	52.8	162.4	14.6	177.0	5

Appendix 6-3

Surface Water Time versus Concentration Graphs



Appendix 6-3. Surface Water Time Versus Concentration Graphs













Appendix 6-3. Surface Water Time Versus Concentration Graphs













Appendix 6-3. Surface Water Time Versus Concentration Graphs















































Appendix 6-3. Surface Water Time Versus Concentration Graphs








Appendix 6-3. Surface Water Time Versus Concentration Graphs



Appendix 6-4 Surface Water Trilinear Diagrams: -Chinde -Cottonwood -Chinde and Cottonwood







Appendix 6-5 2012-14 Groundwater Quality Report

Coal Seam 2-3: 2012 & 2014 Lab Data

		S.U.	umho/cm	mg/l							
Name	Date	pН	Conduct	-180	Cl	S04	Са	Mg	К	Na	Se
Well	Sample	Lab	Lab	TDS							

KF84-20A was abandoned in February, 2012. KF3-12-1 was drilled to replace it.

KF3-12-1 KF3-12-1 KF3-12-1	9/27/2012 8/19/2013 Insuf 7/18/2014 Insuf	8.2 3200 fficient water f fficient water f	0 1840 or sample or sample	240	47	9.4	4.5	79.6	735	<0.001
KF3-12-2 KF3-12-2 KF3-12-2	8/30/2012Qnsuf 9/23/2013Qnsuf 7/18/2014 Insuf	fficient water f fficient water f fficient water f	or sample or sample or sampleG							
KF3-12-3 KF3-12-3 KF3-12-3	8/30/2012 Dry 9/23/2013 Dry 7/18/2014 Dry									

Coal Seam 4-6: 2012 & 2014 Lab Data

Well	Sample	Lab	Lab	TDS							
Name	Date	pН	Conduct	-180	Cl	S04	Са	Mg	К	Na	Se
		S.U.	umho/cm	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l
KF84-18A	9/27/2012	7.6	22400	11600	8300	1	176	49.3	17.5	4580	< 0.001
KF84-18A	9/20/2013	8	10100	11300	8100	43	151	48.2	19.4	4500	< 0.001
KF84-18A	8/26/2014	7.5	19600	11600	7100	<10	139	43.2	19	4320	< 0.001

KF84-20B was abandoned in February, 2012. KF4-12-1 was drilled to replace it.

$M^{-1}L^{-1}$ $J/L//LO1LOIISUIIICIEIIC water for sample$	KF4-12-1 9	/27	2012Qnsufficient water for sample
---	------------	-----	-----------------------------------

- KF4-12-1 8/19/2013 Insufficient water for sampleG
- KF4-12-1 7/18/2014 Dry

Coal Seam 7: 2012 & 2014 Lab Data

Well	Sample	Lab	Lab	TDS							
Name	Date	pН	Conduct	-180	Cl	S04	Ca	Mg	Κ	Na	Se
		S.U.	umho/cm	mg/l							

KF84-20C was abandoned in February, 2012. KF7-12-1 was installed to replace it.

KF84-22B KF84-22B KF84-22B	9/13/2012 No 9/19/2013 7/18/2014 Ins	sample 8.1 ufficient	12400 water to sa	5670 mple	3900	5*	61.1	18.8	12.8	2540	<0.001
KF7-12-1 KF7-12-1 KF7-12-1	9/27/2012Gns 8/19/2013 Ins 7/18/2014 Dry	ufficient ufficient 7	water to sa water to sa	mple mpleG							

Sample Date	Lab pH S.U.	Lab Conduct umho/cm	TDS -180 mg/l	Cl mg/l	SO4 mg/l	Ca mg/l	Mg mg/l	K mg/l	Na mg/l	Se mg/l
9/27/2012 9/9/2013 8/26/2014	7.2 7.5 Well dam	17100 18300 naged. Repa	8790 8980 irs being :	5600 5700 scheduleo	1 12 1.G	147 148	28.2 30.3	12.5 16.1	3440 3770	<0.001G <0.001G
9/13/2012 9/19/2013 7/18/2014	No samp 8.0 Insufficie	leG 6650 ent water to	4140 sampleG	270	2300	14.6	3.5	6.1	1620	0.002
9/20/2012 12/6/2012	8.0 8.2	10600 9980	7240 6660	800 810	1800 1700	12.6 11.5	5.3 5.3	7.2 8.3	2600 2600	0.162G 0.003G
3/26/2013	8.0	10700	6980	870	2200	12.7	4.7	8.4	2530	0.307G
6/4/2013	8.0	10400	7550	890	2500	12.8	4.9	8.7	2600	0.011G
9/20/2013	8	10200	6100	900	2300	11.5	4.6	8.5	2550	0.008
12/20/2013	8.0	10800	7350	860	2300	12	4.6	7.7	2570	<0.001G
3/12/2014	7.9	10200	7030	870	2300	13.5	5.4	7.9	2710	
8/6/2014 8/6/2014	8 8.2	9760 9970	7330	680	1700	11.4	4.7 4.58	8.1 7.6	2640 2400	<0.015
	Sample Date 9/27/2012 9/9/2013 8/26/2014 9/13/2012 9/19/2013 7/18/2014 9/20/2012 12/6/2012 3/26/2013 6/4/2013 9/20/2013 12/20/2013 12/20/2013 3/12/2014 6/3/2014	Sample Lab Date pH S.U. S.U. 9/27/2012 7.2 9/9/2013 7.5 8/26/2014 Well dan 9/13/2012 No samp 9/19/2013 8.0 7/18/2014 Insufficient 9/20/2012 8.0 12/6/2012 8.2 3/26/2013 8.0 9/20/2013 8.0 9/20/2013 8.0 9/20/2013 8.0 9/20/2014 8.0 9/20/2013 8.0 9/20/2014 8.0 9/20/2013 8.0 6/3/2014 8.2	Sample Lab Lab Date pH Conduct S.U. umho/cm 9/27/2012 7.2 17100 9/9/2013 7.5 18300 8/26/2014 Well damaged. Repa 9/13/2012 No sampleG 9/19/2013 8.0 6650 7/18/2014 Insufficient water to 9/20/2012 8.0 10600 12/6/2012 8.2 9980 3/26/2013 8.0 10700 6/4/2013 8.0 10400 9/20/2013 8.0 10800 3/12/2014 7.9 10200 6/3/2014 8 9760 8/6/2014 8.2 9970	Sample Lab Lab TDS Date pH Conduct -180 S.U. umho/cm mg/l 9/27/2012 7.2 17100 8790 9/9/2013 7.5 18300 8980 8/26/2014 Well damaged. Repairs being stress 9/13/2012 No sampleG 9/19/2013 8.0 6650 4140 7/18/2014 Insufficient water to sampleG 9/20/2012 8.0 10600 7240 12/6/2012 8.2 9980 6660 3/26/2013 8.0 10700 6980 6/4/2013 8.0 10400 7550 9/20/2013 8 10200 6100 12/20/2013 8.0 10800 7350 3/12/2014 7.9 10200 7030 6/3/2014 8 9760 7330 8/6/2014 8.2 9970 7330	Sample Lab Lab TDS Date pH Conduct -180 Cl S.U. umho/cm mg/l mg/l 9/27/2012 7.2 17100 8790 5600 9/9/2013 7.5 18300 8980 5700 8/26/2014 Well damaged. Repairs being scheduled 9/13/2012 No sampleG 9/19/2013 8.0 6650 4140 270 7/18/2014 Insufficient water to sampleG 9/20/2012 8.0 10600 7240 800 12/6/2012 8.2 9980 6660 810 3/26/2013 8.0 10700 6980 870 6/4/2013 8.0 10400 7550 890 9/20/2013 8.0 10800 7350 860 3/12/2014 7.9 10200 7030 870 6/3/2014 8 9760 7330 710	Sample Date Lab pH Conduct Conduct -180 mg/l Cl mg/l S04 mg/l 9/27/2012 7.2 17100 8790 5600 1 9/27/2012 7.2 17100 8790 5600 1 9/9/2013 7.5 18300 8980 5700 12 8/26/2014 Well damaged. Repairs being scheduled.G 12 9/13/2012 No sampleG 9/19/2013 8.0 6650 4140 270 2300 7/18/2014 Insufficient water to sampleG 9/20/2012 8.0 10600 7240 800 1800 12/6/2012 8.2 9980 6660 810 1700 3/26/2013 8.0 10700 6980 870 2200 6/4/2013 8.0 10400 7550 890 2500 9/20/2013 8 10200 6100 900 2300 12/20/2013 8.0 10800 7350 860 2300 3/12/2014 7.9	Sample Lab Lab TDS Date pH Conduct -180 Cl S04 Ca S.U. umho/cm mg/l mg/l mg/l mg/l mg/l 9/27/2012 7.2 17100 8790 5600 1 147 9/9/2013 7.5 18300 8980 5700 12 148 8/26/2014 Well damaged. Repairs being scheduled.G 14.6 9/13/2012 No sampleG 9/19/2013 8.0 6650 4140 270 2300 14.6 7/18/2014 Insufficient water to sampleG 9 10600 7240 800 1800 12.6 12/6/2012 8.0 10600 7240 800 1800 12.7 6/4/2013 8.0 10700 6980 870 2200 12.7 6/4/2013 8.0 10400 7550 890 2500 12.8 9/20/2013 8 10200 6100 900	Sample Lab Lab TDS Date pH Conduct -180 Cl S04 Ca Mg S.U. umho/cm mg/l mg/l mg/l mg/l mg/l mg/l mg/l 9/27/2012 7.2 17100 8790 5600 1 147 28.2 9/9/2013 7.5 18300 8980 5700 12 148 30.3 8/26/2014 Well damaged. Repairs being scheduled.G 14.6 3.5 9/13/2012 No sampleG 270 2300 14.6 3.5 7/18/2014 Insufficient water to sampleG 11.5 5.3 3/26/2013 8.0 10600 7240 800 1800 12.6 5.3 12/6/2012 8.2 9980 6660 810 1700 11.5 5.3 3/26/2013 8.0 10400 7550 890 2500 12.8 4.9 9/20/2013 8 10200 6100 900 2300 11.5 4.6 12/20/2013 8.0 <t< td=""><td>$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td><td>Sample Lab Lab TDS Date pH Conduct -180 Cl S04 Ca Mg K Na S.U. umho/cm mg/l mg/l<!--</td--></td></t<>	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Sample Lab Lab TDS Date pH Conduct -180 Cl S04 Ca Mg K Na S.U. umho/cm mg/l mg/l </td

Coal Seam 8: 2012 to 2014 Lab Data

Quarternary Alluvium Groundwater 2012-2014 Lab Data

Well	Sample	Lab	Lab	TDS							
Name	Date	pН	Conduct	-180	Cl	S04	Са	Mg	К	Na	Se
		S.U.	umho/cm	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l
QAC-1	3/5/2012	7.2	23300	15700	5600	4000	432	142	16.1	4810	< 0.001
QAC-1	6/6/2012	7.4	23400	15700	5900	4200	485	158	18.3	5060	< 0.001
QAC-1	9/18/2012	7.4	22700	14300	5900	4400	436	143	18.1	4850	< 0.001
QAC-1	12/3/2012	7.2	22600	15400	5400	4300	431	142	16.9	4820	< 0.001
QAC-1	2/13/2012	7.3	23400	15400	5800	5300	452	150	18.9	5230	0.002
QAC-1	4/17/2013	7.3	23000	14300	5400	5000	442	146	17.6	5150	< 0.001
QAC-1	8/21/2013	7.3	23100	13500	5800	5300	452	155	16.8	4900	< 0.001
QAC-1	11/4/2013	7.4	21300	15900	5200	4800	423	138	17.8	4890	< 0.001
QAC-1	3/6/2014	7.3	21900	15400	5400	5100	447	144	18.4	4870	< 0.001
QAC-1	5/27/2014	7.3	22700	15800	4800	4100	411	146	16.5	4840	< 0.001
QAC-1	9/4/2014	7.2	20800	16100	5000	4300	438	143	16.7	5010	< 0.001
CA-2	5/9/2013	6.9	6130	4830	190	2200	566	130	7.1	980	< 0.001
CA-2	8/9/2013	6.6	6010	4660	190	2300	525	120	7.2	932	< 0.001
CA-2	12/5/2013	6.9	5850	4930	200	2400	509	119	7	876	< 0.001
CA-2	3/4/2014	6.7	5950	4840	190	2400	520	119	5.6	891	< 0.001
CA-2	5/20/2014	6.6	6120	5030	150	2300	471	128	7.2	951	< 0.001
CA-2	8/7/2014	6.6	5800	4590	130	1900	483	111	6.6	883	< 0.001

Quarternary Alluvium Groundwater 2012-2014 Lab Data

Well	Sample	Lab	Lab	TDS							
Name	Date	pН	Conduct	-180	Cl	S04	Са	Mg	К	Na	Se
		Ś.U.	umho/cm	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l
 CA-3	 9/19/2012	7.1	6140	5100	58	3300	445	232		 771	< 0.001
CA-3	12/3/2012	71	8100	6790	290	3700	529	276	4.4	1320	<0.001
CA-3	2/13/2012	7.1	8310	7090	270	4300	467	250	3.2	1640	<0.001
CA-3	4/22/2013	7.4	5720	4920	82	3100	407	230	2.2	749	<0.001
CA-3	8/26/2013	7.0	6/30	5100	110	4000	166	224	2.5	950	<0.001
CA-3	12/10/2013	69	5350	4760	66	3000	504	223	2.0	602	<0.001
CA-3	3/5/2013	7.1	5000	5070	110	3300	1/8	157	2	002	0.001
CA-3	5/22/2014	6.9	6460	6070	61	3500	/187	203	5	1040	<0.001
	9/7/2014	0.3	5730	5140	52	2000	407	102	26	728	<0.001
CA-3	0/7/2014	'	5750	5140	JZ	2900	470	195	2.0	720	<0.001
CA-4	9/20/2012	7.0	3820	2700	37	1200	286	50.6	4.3	591	0.011
CA-4	11/15/2012	7.9	3500	2540	40	1200	262	42.8	5	581	< 0.001
CA-4	3/4/2013	7.5	4100	2970	78	1500	323	48.7	5.9	661	< 0.001
CA-4	5/2/2013	7.1	3950	2910	66	1500	299	45.7	5.4	643	< 0.001
CA-4	8/26/2014	7.0	4470	3150	85	1900	340	58.4	5.2	742	0.001
CA-4	12/19/2013	7.0	4560	3390	76	1800	354	59.6	5.8	696	0.001
CA-4	3/6/2014	7	4630	3560	84	2000	343	60.2	6.4	762	0.001
CA-4	5/22/2014	7	4000	3220	47	1500	305	52.6	5	706	< 0.001
CA-4	7/29/2014	7.7	3560	2490	85	1300	79.2	15.4	3.9	696	< 0.001
CA-5	9/27/2012	7.3	4160	3420	64	1700	354	45.9	3.8	685	< 0.001
CA-5	11/15/2012	8.1	11700	9070	130	5800	128	110	10.1	2960	0.002
CA-5	3/5/2013	7.8	11500	9000	180	5700	141	93.6	9.4	2770	0.002
CA-5	5/2/2013	7.8	11300	8870	180	5600	129	101	9.4	2710	0.002
CA-5	9/23/2013	8.0	11400	7780	170	5800	137	116	9.7	2730	0.002
CA-5	12/10/2013	7.8	11200	9290	180	5900	138	112	9.2	2760	0.001
CA-5	3/3/2014	7.8	11300	8770	170	5900	156	103	10.5	2640	0.001
CA-5	5/21/2014	8.5	11500	10000	130	5800	149	117	10.2	3030	0.001
CWA-1a	Well damaged h	ov flood	event shortly	v after be	ing drille	đ					
CWA-1a	Well damaged			,		-					
CWA-1a	Well damaged										
CWA-1b	6/12/2013	7.4	4560	4020	56	2400	482	56.5	5.5	616	< 0.001
CWA-1b	8/5/2013	7.3	4530	3910	59	2400	497	58.5	6.2	627	0.001*
CWA-1b	10/31/2013	7.3	4430	3880	65	2200	511	58.7	5.9	548	0.001*
CWA-1b	2/27/2014	7.3	4730	4100	77	2400	516	66.5	5.9	646	0.001
CWA-1b	5/14/2014	7.4	4720	4080	62	2500	503	64.9	5.3	731	0.001*
CWA-1b	7/30/2014	7.6	5020	4420	59	2500	534	63.1	5.9	726	0.001*
CWA_2	9/18/2012	Dry									
CWA_2	10/1/2012	Dry									
CWA_2	1/25/2012	Dry									
CWA-2	1/23/2013 1/11/2012	Dry									
CWA-2	9/5/2013	Dry									
CWA-2	10/21/2012	Dry									
CWA_2	2/12/2013	Dry									
CWA_2	4/29/2014	Dry									
CWA_2	7/18/2014	Dry									
01111	// 10/ 2014	Diy									

Well	Sample	Lab	Lab	TDS							
Name	Date	pН	Conduct	-180	Cl	S04	Са	Mg	К	Na	Se
		S.U.	umho/cm	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l	mg/l
CWA-3	9/18/2012	Dry									
CWA-3	10/1/2012	Dry									
CWA-3	1/25/2013	Dry									
CWA-3	4/11/2013	Dry									
CWA-3	8/5/2013	Dry									
CWA-3	10/31/2013	Dry									
CWA-3	2/13/2014	Dry									
CWA-3	5/14/2014	Insuffici	ent Water to	Sample							
CWA-3	7/18/2014	Insuffici	ent Water to	Sample							
CWA-4	9/18/2012	7.7	3560	2450	88	1300	79.3	15.5	5.1	704	0.003
CWA-4	12/11/2012	7.8	3640	2360	110	1100	82.4	16.8	4.4	738	< 0.001
CWA-4	3/4/2013	7.6	3700	2180	110	1300	81.1	16.5	4.3	782	< 0.001
CWA-4	4/22/2013	7.9	3690	2180	130	1300	71.4	14.6	4.1	759	< 0.001
CWA-4	8/27/2014	7.7	3680	2390	99	1400	76	15.9	4.1	757	< 0.001
CWA-4	12/10/2013	7.7	3560	2530	110	1300	74.6	14.8	3.8	719	< 0.001
CWA-4	3/4/2013	7.7	3650	2560	110	1300	85.6	17	4.5	780	< 0.001
CWA-4	5/14/2014	7.8	3620	2450	97	1400	78.9	16.1	4.1	773	0.001*
CWA-4	7/29/2014	7.7	3560	2490	85	1300	79.2	15.4	3.9	696	0.001*

Appendix 6-6 Groundwater Statistical Report

APPENDIX 6-6 GROUNDWATER STATISTICAL REPORT

CA-2 (2013-2014)

			5	Stats		
	pН	EC	TDS	Chloride	Sulfate	Selenium
	(s.u.)	(umhos/cm)	(mg/l)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)
Mean	6.68	5946	4810	172	2260	< 0.0005
Standard Deviation	0.13	127	183	30	207	0.000
Median	6.60	5950	4840	190	2300	< 0.0005
Mode	6.60	N/A	N/A	190	2300	0.001
Range	0.30	320	440	70	500	0.000
Minimum	6.60	5800	4590	130	1900	< 0.0005
Maximum	6.90	6120	5030	200	2400	< 0.001
Count	5	5	5	5	5	5

CA-3 (2012-2014)

	Stats					
	pH	EC	TDS	Chloride	Sulfate	Selenium
	(s.u.)	(umhos/cm)	(mg/l)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)
Mean	7.06	6470	5570	122	3456	< 0.0006
Standard Deviation	0.15	1046	861	92	469	0.0002
Median	7.00	6140	5140	82	3300	< 0.0005
Mode	7.10	N/A	N/A	110	3300	< 0.0005
Range	0.50	2960	2330	238	1400	0.0005
Minimum	6.90	5350	4760	52	2900	< 0.0005
Maximum	7.40	8310	7090	290	4300	0.001
Count	9	9	9	9	9	9

CA-4 (2012-2014)

	Stats					
	pH	EC	TDS	Chloride	Sulfate	Selenium
	(s.u.)	(umhos/cm)	(mg/l)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)
Mean	7.19	4144	3077	62	1578	< 0.0018
Standard Deviation	0.31	373	327	19	282	0.003
Median	7.00	4100	3150	66	1500	< 0.0005
Mode	7.00	N/A	N/A	N/A	1500	< 0.0005
Range	0.90	1130	1020	48	800	0.0105
Minimum	7.00	3500	2540	37	1200	< 0.0005
Maximum	7.90	4630	3560	85	2000	0.011
Count	9	9	9	9	9	9

APPENDIX 6-6 GROUNDWATER STATISTICAL REPORT (Continued)

CA-5 (2012-2014)

	Stats					
	pH	EC	TDS	Chloride	Sulfate	Selenium
	(s.u.)	(umhos/cm)	(mg/l)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(mg/l)
Mean	7.89	10573	8411	147	5289	< 0.0015
Standard Deviation	0.32	2412	1966	40	1355	0.0006
Median	7.80	11300	9000	170	5800	0.002
Mode	7.80	11500	N/A	180	5800	0.002
Range	1.20	7540	6580	116	4200	0.0015
Minimum	7.30	4160	3420	64	1700	< 0.0005
Maximum	8.50	11700	10000	180	5900	0.002
Count	9	9	9	9	9	9

CWA-1b (2013-2014)

	Stats					
	pH	EC	TDS	Chloride	Sulfate	Selenium
	(s.u.)	(umhos/cm)	(mg/l)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)
Mean	7.38	4686	4078	64	2400	< 0.0005
Standard Deviation	0.13	226	215	7	122	0.0002
Median	7.30	4720	4080	62	2400	< 0.0005
Mode	7.30	N/A	N/A	59	2400	< 0.0005
Range	0.30	590	540	18	300	0.001
Minimum	7.30	4430	3880	59	2200	< 0.0005
Maximum	7.60	5020	4420	77	2500	0.001
Count	5	5	5	5	5	5

CWA-4 (2012-2014)

	Stats					
	pH	pH EC TDS Chloride Sulfate				Selenium
	(s.u.)	(umhos/cm)	(mg/l)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)	(<i>mg/l</i>)
Mean	7.73	3629	2399	104	1300	< 0.0008
Standard Deviation	0.09	57	139	14	87	0.0008
Median	7.70	3640	2450	110	1300	< 0.0005
Mode	7.70	3560	2450	110	1300	< 0.0005
Range	0.30	140	380	45	300	0.0025
Minimum	7.60	3560	2180	85	1100	< 0.0005
Maximum	7.90	3700	2560	130	1400	0.003
Count	9	9	9	9	9	9

APPENDIX 6-6 GROUNDWATER STATISTICAL REPORT (Continued)

QAC-1 (1985-2014)

-	Stats								
_	pH	EC	TDS	Boron	Fluoride	Chloride	Sulfate	Selenium	
	(s.u.)	(umhos/cm)	(<i>mg/l</i>)						
Mean	7.41	18964	13843	1.46	1.37	4256	4539	< 0.018	
Standard Deviation	0.27	4875	1698	0.24	1.40	996	707	0.058	
Median	7.32	20100	13700	1.46	0.85	4500	4420	0.002	
Mode	7.30	14000	14300	1.40	0.70	4900	4400	0.001	
Range	1.17	25420	9800	2.18	7.50	5000	5300	0.500	
Minimum	7.02	1280	7700	0.74	0.01	1200	500	< 0.0005	
Maximum	8.19	26700	17500	2.92	7.50	6200	5800	0.500	
Count	119	119	117	71	71	119	118	119	

Appendix 6-7 Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time versus Concentration Graphs for: -Coal Seam 4-6 -Coal Seam 7 -Coal Seam 8 -QAL



Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time Versus Concentration Graphs for Coal Seam 3







Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time Versus Concentration Graphs for Coal Seam 3







Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time Versus Concentration Graphs for Coal Seam 3





Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time verses Concentration Graphs for Coal Seams 4-6















Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time verses Concentration Graphs for Coal Seams 4-6













Appendix 6-7. Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time verses Concentration Graphs for Coal Seam 7























2



























Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time versus Concentration Graphs for Cottonwood Alluvial Wells









Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time versus Concentration Graphs for Cottonwood Alluvial Wells







Appendix 6-7: Groundwater Static Water Levels and Time versus Concentration Graphs for Cottonwood Alluvial Wells

Appendix 6-8 Groundwater Piper Trilinear Diagrams-Alluvium: -QAL-Chinde -QAL-Cottonwood



▲CWA-1B (2013-2014, 5) ■CWA-4 (2012-2014, 9)

<u>Legend Key</u> Station ID (Sample Date Range, Count of Analyses)


Appendix 6-9 Navajo Mine Total Precipitation Data

														ANNUAL	ANNUAL
<u>NAVAJO MET I</u>													ANNUAL	MONTHLY	MONTHLY
	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEP	OCT	NOV	DEC	TOTAL	MAXIMUM	MINIMUM
1991	*	*	*	0.1	0.71	0.11	0.28	0.78	1.52	0.47	1.96	1.43		1.96	0.1
1992	0.14	0.17	0.97	0.04	1.27	0.01	0.88	1.58	0.52	0.39	0.19	0.48	6.64	1.58	0.01
1993	1.79	0.69	0.48	0.12	0.19	*	0.01	2.55	0.55	0.89	*	0.07	7.34	2.55	0.01
1994	0.04	0.38	0.12	0.24	1.27	0.11	0.18	0.59	1.18	0.85	0.47	0.42	5.85	1.27	0.04
1995	0.44	0.28	0.79	1.2	0.45	0.38	0.13	0.76	0.97	0.03	0.18	0.49	6.1	1.2	0.03
1996	0.16	0.31	0.24	0.14	0.14	0.67	0.08	0.36	0.47	1.73	0.32	0.16	4.78	1.73	0.08
1997	0.53	0.1	0	2.62	0.71	0.66	1.02	1.61	1.28	0.26	0.54	0.6	9.93	2.62	0
1998	0.24	0.53	0.23	0.03	0.01	0	0.54	1.37	0.68	1.87	1.00	0.04	6.54	1.87	0
1999	0.16	0	0.14	1.18	1.43	0.41	1.29	3.34	0.23	0.01	0.13	0.14	8.46	3.34	0
2000	0.47	0.1	1.8	0	0	0.05	0.28	0.57	0.35	1.14	0.46	0.14	5.36	1.8	0
2001	0.39	0.41	1.39	0.36	0.6	0.01	0.32	1.23	0.31	0.26	0.41	0.36	6.05	1.39	0.01
2002	0.01	0	0.06	0.32	0	0	0.09	0.22	2.77	1.33	0.57	0.26	5.63	2.77	0
2003	0.18	1.15	0.37	0.01	0.06	0	0.01	0.66	0.22	1.12	0.07	0.03	3.88	1.15	0
2004	0.19	0.38	0.01	0.06	0.03	0.04	0.37	0.16	1.78	0.56	0.56	0.14	4.28	1.78	0.01
2005	1	1.3	0.33	0.86	0.22	0.23	0.21	1.67	0	0.72	0	0.02	6.56	1.67	0
2006	0.12	0.04	0.12	0.28	0.01	0	1.26	0.18	0.63	1.35	0	0.28	4.27	1.35	0
2007	0.38	0.3	0	0.06	0.23	0.02	1.23	1.34	0.54	0.16	0.01	0.2	4.47	1.34	0
2008	0.62	0.68	0.02	0.08	0.27	0.03	0.99	1.01	0.08	0.39	0.67	0.61	5.45	1.01	0.02
2009	0.19	0.15	0.13	0.47	1.3	0.47	0.15	0.03	0.08	0.47	0.19	0.12	3.75	1.3	0.03
2010	1.2	0.85	0.72	0.23	0.1	0.13	0.54	1.25	0.81	1.05	0.06	0.57	7.51	1.25	0.06
2011	0.15	0.04	0.24	0.91	0.47	0	0.56	0.2	0.42	1.71	0.62	0.18	5.50	1.71	0
2012	0.06	0.3	0.06	0	0.05	0.11	0.84	0.29	0.43	0.14	0.12	0.6	3.00	0.84	0
2013	0.87	0.16	0.11	0.34	0.11	0.33	0.11	0.99	2.84	0.9	0.67	0.17	7.60	2.84	0.11
2014	0.06	0.28	0.97	0.22	0.28	0.26	0.43	1.11	-	-	-	-	3.6	1.11	0.06
Monthy Average	0.42	0.38	0.38	0.42	0.42	0.17	0.49	0.99	0.81	0.77	0.42	0.33	5.86	1.75	0.02

Data collected from Custer plot (2000). MET II substituted in portions (2004) and (2007) due to missing data at MET I

NAVAJO WET II		EED	MAD		MAV	II INI		ALIC	SED	ОСТ		DEC			
1001	JAN *	ГСD *		AFK *	1.01	0.07	JUL	AUG 1 22	0 1 2	0.10	0.2	0.20	TOTAL	IVIAAIIVIUIVI	
1991	0.1	0.11	0.97	0.01	1.01	0.27	0.05	1.33	0.12	0.19	0.2	0.29	F 77	2.47	0.01
1992	1.00	0.11	0.07	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.04	2.47	0.57	0.33	0.1	0.27	5.77	2.47	0.01
1993	1.23	0.5	0.33	0.2	0.55	0.40	0.07	1.13	1.10	0.8	0.45	0.0	0.44	1.23	0.07
1994	0.01	0.5	0.14	0.27	1.07	0.13	0.6	0.19	1.02	0.69	0.33	0.3	5.25	1.07	0.01
1995	0.19	0.22	0.35	0.61	0.37	0.31	0.2	0.96	0.58	0.01	0.07	0.44	4.31	0.96	0.01
1996	0.06	0.16	0.07	0.05	0.03	1.15	0.42	0.88	0.26	0.93	0.29	0.06	4.36	1.15	0.03
1997	0.22	0.05	0	2.23	0.87	0.27	1.38	1.26	0.94	0.23	0.27	0.48	8.2	2.23	0
1998	0.1	0.33	0.17	0.05	0	0	0.38	0.52	0.48	1.5	0.67	0.01	4.21	1.5	0
1999	0.13	0	0.38	1.04	0.94	0.11	0.84	2.19	0.17	0	0	0.04	5.84	2.19	0
2000	0.34	0.05	1.5	0.03	0	0.01	0.5	0.54	0.14	0.93	0.27	0.1	4.41	1.5	0
2001	0.25	0.28	0.93	0.19	0.35	0.01	0.94	1.03	0.16	0.10	0.11	0.25	4.60	1.03	0.01
2002	0	0	0.03	0.27	0	0	0.13	0.39	2.36	0.84	0.49	0.16	4.67	2.36	0
2003	0.14	0.79	0.35	0.17	0.08	0.01	0.66	0.92	0.69	0.88	0.49	0.05	5.23	0.92	0.01
2004	0.19	0.38	0.01	0.04	0	0.1	0.2	0.03	1.45	0.87	0.42	0.13	3.82	1.45	0
2005	0.65	1.26	0.22	0.63	0.25	0.08	0.48	1.06	0.4	0.56	0	0.1	5.69	1.26	0
2006	0.12	0.02	0.12	0.08	0.08	0.07	1.15	0.05	0.03	1.32	0	0.39	3.43	1.32	0
2007	0.39	0.38	0.38	0.36	1.38	0.01	1.23	1.27	0.3	0.19	0.43	0.12	6.44	1.38	0.01
2008	0.81	0.51	0.06	0.04	0.18	0.15	0.37	0.09	0	0.35	0.45	0.37	3.38	0.81	0
2009	0.19	0.1	0.18	0.4	0.44	0.21	0.06	0.07	0.1	0.35	0.16	0.14	2.40	0.44	0.06
2010	0.99	0.45	0.36	0.21	0.08	0.14	0.17	0.64	0.51	2.91	0.03	0.46	6.95	2.91	0.03
2011	0.00	0.09	0.14	0.99	0.11	0.00	0.81	0.3	1.29	1.19	0.25	0.26	5.43	1.29	0.00
2012	0.00	0.14	0.21	0.00	0.08	0.27	1.28	0.15	0.37	0.08	0.04	0.44	3.06	1.28	0.00
2013	0.79	0.00	0.09	0.23	0.22	0.00	0.5	1.13	1.55	0.56	0.90	0.11	6.08	1.55	0.00
2014	0.02	0.17	0.59	0.16	0.29	0.20	0.75	1.72	-	-	-	-	3.90	1.72	0.02
Monthy Average	0.31	0.29	0.31	0.37	0.39	0.15	0.54	0.81	0.64	0.69	0.28	0.23	5.00	1.47	0.01

NAVAJO MET III 2006	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR 0	MAY 0.08	JUN 0.09	JUL	AUG	SEP 0.89	OCT	NOV 0	DEC 0.73	ANNUAL TOTAL	ANNUAL ANNUAL MONTHLY MAXIMUM	ANNUAL ANNUAL MONTHLY MINIMUM
2007	0.39	0.39	0.42	0.23	1.32	0.11	0.4	0.62	0.75	0.07	0.44	0.56	5.7	1.32	0.07
2008	0.89	0.52	0.09	0.06	0.39	0.07	2.49	2.81	0.18	0.56	0.48	0.55	9.09	2.81	0.06
2009	0.35	0.35	0.37	0.41	0.55	0.28	0.31	0.1	0.2	0.58	0.19	0.18	3.87	0.58	0.1
2010	1.1	0.75	0.59	0.17	0.13	0.17	0.87	2	1.1	0	0	0	6.88	2	0
2011	0.03	0.17	0.48	1.26	0.18	0.00	0.54	0.51	1.5	1.21	1.04	0.58	7.5	1.5	0
2012	0.01	0.16	0.07	0.00	0.15	0.19	1.20	0.32	0.53	0.13	0.18	0.36	3.3	1.2	0
2013	0.70	0.03	0.23	0.43	0.13	0.02	0.75	1.08	0.97	0.56	0.87	0.11	5.88	1.08	0.02
2014	0.03	0.18	0.60	0.12	0.14	0.14	0.72	2.37	-	-	-	-	4.3	2.37	0.03
Monthy Average	0.50	0.34	0.32	0.32	0.37	0.12	0.95	0.94	0.77	0.60	0.40	0.38	6.03	1.50	0.04

MET station III installed April 2006 in Area 4North

MET I & II Average													ANNUAL	MONTHLY	MONTHLY
	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEP	OCT	NOV	DEC	TOTAL	MAXIMUM	MINIMUM
1991					0.86	0.19	0.17	1.06	0.82	0.33	1.08	0.86	#DIV/0!	1.08	0.165
1992	0.12	0.14	0.92	0.03	1.08	0.02	0.46	2.03	0.55	0.36	0.15	0.38	6.21	2.03	0.015
1993	1.51	0.60	0.41	0.16	0.37		0.04	1.84	0.87	0.85	0.45	0.07	6.89	1.84	0.040
1994	0.03	0.44	0.13	0.26	1.17	0.12	0.39	0.39	1.10	0.77	0.40	0.36	5.55	1.17	0.025
1995	0.32	0.25	0.57	0.91	0.41	0.35	0.17	0.86	0.78	0.02	0.13	0.47	5.21	0.91	0.020
1996	0.11	0.24	0.16	0.10	0.09	0.91	0.25	0.62	0.37	1.33	0.31	0.11	4.57	1.33	0.085
1997	0.38	0.08	0.00	2.43	0.79	0.47	1.20	1.44	1.11	0.25	0.41	0.54	9.07	2.43	0.000
1998	0.17	0.43	0.20	0.04	0.01	0.00	0.46	0.95	0.58	1.69	0.84	0.03	5.38	1.69	0.000
1999	0.15	0.00	0.26	1.11	1.19	0.26	1.07	2.77	0.20	0.01	0.07	0.09	7.15	2.77	0.000
2000	0.41	0.08	1.65	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.39	0.56	0.25	1.04	0.37	0.12	4.89	1.65	0.000
2001	0.32	0.35	1.16	0.28	0.48	0.01	0.63	1.13	0.24	0.18	0.26	0.31	5.33	1.16	0.010
2002	0.01	0.00	0.05	0.30	0.00	0.00	0.11	0.31	2.57	1.09	0.53	0.21	5.15	2.57	0.000
2003	0.16	0.97	0.36	0.09	0.07	0.01	0.34	0.79	0.46	1.00	0.28	0.04	4.56	1.00	0.005
2004	0.19	0.38	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.07	0.29	0.10	1.62	0.72	0.49	0.14	4.05	1.62	0.010
2005	0.83	1.28	0.28	0.75	0.24	0.16	0.35	1.37	0.20	0.64	0.00	0.06	6.13	1.37	0.000
2006	0.12	0.03	0.12	0.18	0.05	0.04	1.21	0.12	0.33	1.34	0.00	0.34	3.85	1.34	0.000
2007	0.39	0.34	0.19	0.21	0.81	0.02	1.23	1.31	0.42	0.18	0.22	0.16	5.46	1.31	0.015
2008	0.72	0.60	0.04	0.06	0.23	0.09	0.68	0.55	0.04	0.37	0.56	0.49	4.42	0.72	0.040
2009	0.19	0.13	0.16	0.44	0.87	0.34	0.11	0.05	0.09	0.41	0.18	0.13	3.08	0.87	0.050
2010	1.10	0.65	0.54	0.22	0.09	0.14	0.36	0.95	0.66	1.98	0.05	0.52	7.23	1.98	0.045
2011	0.08	0.07	0.19	0.95	0.29	0.00	0.69	0.25	0.86	1.45	0.44	0.22	5.47	1.45	0.000
2012	0.03	0.22	0.14	0.00	0.07	0.19	1.06	0.22	0.40	0.11	0.08	0.52	3.03	1.06	0.000
2013	0.83	0.08	0.10	0.29	0.17	0.17	0.31	1.06	2.20	0.73	0.79	0.14	6.84	2.20	0.080
2014	0.04	0.23	0.78	0.19	0.29	0.23	0.59	1.42	-	-	-	-	3.76	1.42	0.040
Met I & II Average	0.37	0.33	0.35	0.40	0.40	0.16	0.52	0.90	0.72	0.73	0.35	0.27	5.43	1.54	0.03

Annual I otal inche	S
---------------------	---

	Met I	Met II	Met III	AVERAGE
1991	*	*		
1992	6.64	5.77		6.21
1993	7.34	6.44		6.89
1994	5.85	5.25		5.55
1995	6.1	4.31		5.21
1996	4.78	4.36		4.57
1997	9.93	8.2		9.07
1998	6.54	4.21		5.38
1999	8.46	5.84		7.15
2000	5.36	4.41		4.89
2001	6.05	4.6		5.33
2002	5.63	4.67		5.15
2003	3.88	5.23		4.56
2004	4.28	3.82		4.05
2005	6.56	5.69		6.13
2006	4.27	3.43	*	3.85
2007	4.47	6.44	5.7	5.54
2008	5.45	3.38	9.09	5.97
2009	3.75	2.4	3.87	3.34
2010	7.51	6.95	6.88	7.11
2011	5.5	5.43	7.5	6.14
2012	3	3.06	3.3	3.12
2013	7.6	6.08	5.88	6.52
2014**	3.61	3.9	4.3	3.94

Mean 1992-2001	6.02
Mean 1992-2002	5.94
Mean 1992-2003	5.83
Mean 1992-2004	5.69
Mean 1992-2005	5.72
Mean 1992-2006	5.60
Mean 1992-2007	5.59
Mean 1992-2008	5.62
Mean 1992-2009	5.49
Mean 1992-2010	5.57
Mean 1992-2011	5.60
Mean 1992-2012	5.48
Mean 1992-2013	5.53
Mean 1992-2014**	5.46

Mine Average = 5.53 * Year was excluded from average - 12 months of data not captured ** Totals only through August, 2014

Max	9.93	8.2	9.09	9.07
Min	3	2.4	3.3	3.12